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GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Message from the President 
Phil Delsaut 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________________		
	

WELCOME TO ASSEMBLY 2017! 
	
Whenever God’s people gather we have the Lord’s promise that even when two or 
three gather in His name, ‘there am I in the midst of them’ (Matt 18:20). The 
Corinthians are reminded that as they gather, ‘that you yourselves are God’s temple 
and that God’s Spirit lives in you’ (1 Cor 3:16).  Every time that God’s people gather in 
His name, we are in ‘sacred assembly.’  In Assembly 2017 we are for that time and 
that place the gathered people of God in Christ, the visible manifestation of His body, 
the Church.   
 
As we gather for Assembly 2017 let’s come with this sense of sacred expectation. Our prayer is, ‘Lord, we 
ask that your presence would be manifest in every aspect of this gathering in Your holy name.  We ask that 
you would be glorified in the lives of your people individually and corporately in this gathering.  We know that 
this one more special occasion to experience the reality of what the apostle Peter described, “being built 
into a spiritual house to be a holy priesthood, offering spiritual sacrifices acceptable to God through Jesus 
Christ (1 Pet 2:5).”  
 
By Your Spirit be at work as we prepare for this gathering, as we travel and then as we participate.  We want 
to see you high and lifted up. Our prayer echoes the prayer of Jacob when he wrestled with the angel of the 
Lord, “We will not let you go until you have blessed us.”  May Your blessing to us abound among us, and 
may it overflow to the ends of the earth. We seek Your face as we deliberate over the things of our common 
life together and decide, not least about our next leader.   
 
Come to bless and to be blessed. Come to experience the presence of God as He leads us. 
 
So come well and welcome!   
 
 
 
In Jesus, 
 

 
President Phil Delsaut 
pdelsaut@emcc.ca 
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Welcome	to	General	Assembly	2017	
Coast	Plaza	Hotel	
Calgary,	Alberta	

 
Greetings to our EMCC Family!!!  
 
Welcome to Calgary’s finest western hospitality and the Coast Plaza Hotel and Conference Centre for the 
2017 EMCC General Assembly. After months of prayer and planning, we are delighted to welcome our 
Pastors, Leaders and Delegates from around the world to celebrate what God is doing among us and to 
prepare us for the work that is ahead. 
 
This year’s General Assembly is especially significant for us, as we give tribute to God’s Reign in Canada 
from sea to sea over the past 150 years, and celebrate the work that has been done in His name to the 
ends of the earth. We also celebrate and give honor to our EMCC President, Phil Delsaut, for all that he has 
accomplished during his leadership. And, we look forward to voting on our next EMCC President, as we 
prayerfully anticipate and prepare for the ministry to which God is calling us as a denomination. 
 
As we seek God throughout the course of our General Assembly, please be praying: 

• that our worship will be a fragrant offering to the Sovereign King, 
• that we will respond to God’s heart cry for the marginalized, the needy and the afflicted,  
• that we will be encouraged and inspired in our call to follow Jesus, make disciples and equip 

leaders, 
• for the strengthening bonds of fellowship and unity among us as a family. 

 
Here are a few important “Things to Know” 

• There will be a message board at the Registration Desk. Please use it for coordinating meeting at 
meal times, for transportation requests or words of encouragement. 

• Please sign up at the Registration Table for your preferred restaurant choice for Tuesday evening. 
• If you are not able to attend any of the scheduled meals, we would very much appreciate if you 

would let us know at the Registration Desk. 
• The EMCC website will be updated with schedule, business agenda, workshop and exhibitor 

information.  
• Get all of the relevant information about General Assembly from the EMCC App (Look for EMCC at 

the App Store) 
• Follow General Assembly on Twitter at #emccassembly 

 
It has been a tremendous privilege to serve as your coordinator for this incredible event and to work 
alongside the Design Team in preparation for General Assembly. If you have any questions or concerns, 
please do not hesitate to let us know. 
 
On behalf of the EMCC General Assembly Design Team, 
For His Kingdom & glory, 
 
Janice Franzen 
2017 General Assembly Coordinator 
janice.a.franzen@gmail.com 

See all the details about General 
Assembly on the EMCC App 
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GENERAL ASSEMBLY 2017 WORKSHOPS 
 

 
Tuesday, May 2nd 11:15am – 12:15pm 
 
When Leaders’ Questions Run Deep Ruth Esau 
Following hard after God can stretch us. What we do with those opportunities can grow us or cause us to get 
stuck in ways and places that we cannot fix, “Even though…And Yet”. If you are a leader who wonders why 
some things are the way they are, and you can’t seem to fix them, come join us and the wisdom of Habakkuk 
as we learn that in the ‘even though’ of life there will always be “And Yet God” moments to sustain and spur 
us on for His glory and the edification of those He calls us to serve. 
 
Why People Leave the Church and Will They Come Back?  Dr. Joel Thiessen 
In this session, we will draw on material from my recent book, The Meaning of Sunday – based on interviews 
with those who attend church weekly, mainly for religious holidays and rites of passage, or not at all – and 
examine eight leading reasons for why people who formerly attended church on a regular basis no longer do. 
Attention is also given to the likelihood of people re-engaging in church involvement in the future, and if so, 
what factors may contribute to this possibility. In contrast to what many assume, larger social and cultural 
realities may have more to contribute to this discussion than what churches do or do not do. 
 
For the Healing of the Nations Mark Buchanan 
This workshop explores the biblical theology of reconciliation and provides practical steps both individuals 
and churches can take toward healing the relationship between the church and First Nations peoples. 
 
Purity in a Pornified World Garett Thackery 
"In a world where 90% of boys and 60% of girls have seen pornography before the age of 18, it can be no 
surprise that 6 out of 10 Christian men and 1 in every 6 Christian women are dealing with a compulsive porn 
addiction. In such a pornified world, is there truly a way out? How can we as a church do a better job, protecting 
our families, encouraging accountability, and most importantly walk in freedom ourselves." 
 
Building Relationships Across Cultures for a Stronger Canada David Benjamin  
Where is God when people are on the move? This workshop will explore the advancing church in today’s 
multicultural Canada, with a focus on: 

• Observations, challenges and celebrations of several Calgary ministries. 
• Testimonies of new Canadians from Asia, Africa and Latin America  
• Some practical ideas for your congregation 

 

Tuesday, May 2nd 1:30 – 2:30pm 

When Leaders’ Questions Run Deep Ruth Esau 
Following hard after God can stretch us. What we do with those opportunities can grow us or cause us to get 
stuck in ways and places that we cannot fix, “Even though…And Yet”. If you are a leader who wonders why 
some things are the way they are, and you can’t seem to fix them, come join us and the wisdom of Habakkuk 
as we learn that in the ‘even though’ of life there will always be “And Yet God” moments to sustain and spur 
us on for His glory and the edification of those He calls us to serve. 
 
Flourishing Congregations in a Canadian Context Dr. Joel Thiessen 
In this session, we will explore central findings from interviews and focus groups with over 100 Catholic, 
mainline, and conservative Protestant leaders from five Canadian regions: Vancouver, Calgary, Winnipeg, SW 
Ontario, and Halifax. The focus will be on common internal traits and characteristics found in many flourishing 
congregations in Canada based on leader self-reports, including: clear self-identity, vibrant collective spiritual 
life, discipleship, leadership, thinking “outside the box,” hospitable community, neighborhood presence and 
involvement, evangelism, and diversity. 
 
For the Healing of the Nations Mark Buchanan 
This workshop explores the biblical theology of reconciliation and provides practical steps both individuals 
and churches can take toward healing the relationship between the church and First Nations peoples. 
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Refugee Sponsorship: from Application to Integration Lou Geense and Panel 
Our constituents are asking questions about refugee sponsorship. This workshop will deal with EMCC’s 
relationship with the Christian & Missionary Alliance Church as our Sponsorship Agreement Holder (SAH) with 
the Canadian government. You will hear from someone who has walked through the application process, and 
from a church that has received their refugee family and is now working to help the family integrate into 
Canadian life. There will be ample time for questions and answers. 
 
Family Ministry: Are We Losing Our Families and How to Engage Them Sam Seifert 
Scripture calls parents to disciple their children. Discover why family ministry needs to be a priority and how 
your church can equip parents to be the primary disciple-makers in their kids’ lives, moving beyond mere 
programming into genuine spiritual formation.  
 
 

2017 GENERAL ASSEMBLY EXHIBITORS 
 
MINISTRY RESOURCES 

CSC Resource Ministries  April Wannamaker 

 
EMCC  

Benefits and Retirement Plan Pauline Zondervan 

EMCC Relief and Development  Lou Geense 

EMCC World Partners  Sandra Tjart 

 
EMCC RECOGNIZED MISSIONARIES 

Canadian Network of Ministries To Muslims (CNMM) Eldon Gamble 

Christar   Eldon Gamble 

One Mission Society Canada  Tina Markeli 

 
CAMP MINISTRY 

Rivers Edge Camp Juan Manigault 

 
POST SECONDARY & CONTINUING EDUCATION 

CREST Leadership  Dan Reinhardt 

Rocky Mountain College & PATHWAYS  Robert Harris 

Taylor Seminary  Rick Heavenor 

Ambrose University  Andreas Striefler 

 
AFFILIATED ORGANIZATIONS 

Abundance Canada  Peter Dryden & Kevin Davidson 

Focus on the Family – Kerith Creek Marshall Eizenga 

Hope Story Jon Warner 

Mennonite Mutual Insurance  Marguerite Jack 
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ASSEMBLY ORGANIZATION AND PROCEDURES   
 

 
STANDING RULES FOR EMCC GENERAL ASSEMBLY 2017 

 
1. Delegates shall wear proper identification. 
2. Each member shall go to a microphone when he/she wishes to speak, wait to be recognized by the chair 

and give his/her name and home church before beginning to speak. 
3. Members shall speak only once for two (2) minutes on each subject, except by permission of the chair. 
4. It is the recognized right of a duly seated member of the General Assembly to speak, in keeping with the 

Rules of Order, on any subject and to make proper motions. 
5. Sessional committees (Tellers, Resolutions, Credentials, Minutes Approval Committee) have been 

appointed by the EMCC Moderator and Secretary. 
6. All committees or boards, in presenting reports to the General Assembly shall limit their 

recommendations to matters which they have fully studied and are prepared to support.  
7. The Credentials Committee will report at the beginning of a) the first business session of Assembly or b) 

the first business session each day. A member may request an updated Credentials Committee report at 
any time during the business sessions. 

8. The official program shall constitute the agenda. The chair shall be empowered to effect changes in the 
best interest of the Assembly. 

9. Motions/resolutions, other than routine, shall be prepared in writing, signed by the mover and the 
seconder and presented to the Secretary. The Moderator and the Secretary will review and 

a. refuse to present it to the body; or 
b. negotiate its revision; and/or 
c. expedite its legislation; and/or 
d. deliver a recommendation regarding its adoption. 

10. Ballots will be destroyed by the Secretary after 30 days. 
11. The rules contained in Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised 11th Edition, shall govern the meeting in 

all cases in which they are not inconsistent with the EMCC Bylaw #1 and these Standing Rules.  
 
The adoption of these Rules is by a Special Resolution of the Members. 
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GENERAL ASSEMBLY 2017 SCHEDULE 
 
Monday, May 1st 

11:00 Registration 
   AFTERNOON SESSION BEGINS AT 1:00 P.M. 

1:00  Opening Worship/Scripture/Prayer – Ps 72:8 HE REIGNS 
1:45  Plenary Session #1: Phil Delsaut  
2:15  Roundtable Conversation 
2:30  Break 
3:00  Business I  
4:30  Break  
5:00   Dinner (buffet with Assembly registered guests) 

 EVENING BEGINS AT 6:30 P.M. 
6:30  Gathering & Pre-service music 
7:00  Presidential Celebration (open to EMCC family & guests) 

Worship 
7:30  Plenary Session #2: Phil Delsaut  
8:00  Presentation – video tributes & gift presentation 
8:30  Dessert Reception 

 
Tuesday, May 2nd  
   MORNING SESSION BEGINS AT 8:30 A.M. 

8:30  Coffee & Continental breakfast 
9:00  Worship/Scripture/Prayer  
9:30 Plenary Session #3: Presidential Nominee Kervin Raugust  
10:15 Moderated Q and A with Presidential Candidate  
11:00 Break 
11:15 Workshops  
12:30 Lunch (on site) 

   AFTERNOON BEGINS AT 1:30 P.M. 
1:30  Workshops 
2:45 Business Session II  
3:15 Presentations - Camps, Youth, Colleges 
3:30  Break 
4:00 Plenary Session #4: President Elect  

 PRESIDENT’S RECEPTION & CELEBRATION IN HONOUR OF EMCC FAMILY  
5:00 Appetizer Reception to Celebrate Retirements, Tribute to EMCC Family who have 

passed on, Newly Credentialed Pastors,  
New Churches & New EMCC Leadership  

6:30  Dinner off site – a variety of restaurants will be recommended 
 
Wednesday, May 3rd 
   MORNING BEGINS AT 8:30 A.M. 

8:30  Coffee & Continental breakfast 
9:00  Business Session III 
9:30  Worship/Scripture/Prayer 
10:00 World Partners Presentation 
10:30 Break  
11:00 Plenary Session #5: EMCC Installation  
11:45 Communion & Closing worship 
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BUSINESS SESSIONS – Agenda (subject to change) 
 

Location: Coast Plaza Hotel and Conference Centre, Calgary, Alberta 
3 pm, Monday, May 1 – Business Session I 
 

1. Call to Order – Moderator, Kerry Belt 
2. Credentials Report/Establishment of Quorum – Credentials Committee 
3. Prayer 
4. Approval of Agenda – Motion EMCC17001: “to approve the agenda of General Assembly 2017.” 
5. Standing Rules for Assembly 
6. Announcement of Sessional Committees: Bylaw Committee, Credentials Committee, Resolutions 

Committee, Tellers, Publications Secretary, Assembly Minutes Approval Committee.  
7. Approval of Minutes: Motion EMCC17002: “that the Minutes of General Assembly, May 4-6, 2015 

be approved.” Motion EMCC17003: “that the Minutes of the Ordinary Annual Meeting, Nov 24, 
2016 be approved. 

8. Reception of Reports – The 2017 Assembly Book was distributed electronically, with hard copy 
available upon request. Motion EMCC17004: “that we receive all 2016 Reports to Assembly.” 
(Sponsors/spokespersons for reports available for questions. Reports from Finance and other 
ministries tba will be amplified by other presentations). 

9. Finance Presentation: Chair of the Finance Committee – Matt Hillier.  Motion EMCC 17005: “that 
the audited financial statements for 2015 and 2016 be adopted.” 

10. Appointment of the Auditor Motion EMCC17006: “that the Firm of Clarke Starke & Diegel be 
appointed as the EMCC Auditor for the fiscal year 2017.  

11. Special Resolution, Governance Committee Chair, Lillian Whitmore   
Motion EMCC17007: “WHEREAS: 
1. The Not-for-Profit Incorporations Act (Canada) governing EMCC as a legal corporation stipulates 

certain requirements which differ from those under the previous governing legislation for EMCC, 
including matters which require updating of the Bylaws in some respects to accord to those 
requirements; 

2. Under the direction of the Board of Directors, an update of the Bylaws (including update of the 
Articles of Governance) has been undertaken to bring its provisions into accordance with those 
requirements, and to make certain improvements in clarity or expression of certain matters; 

3. The Board pursuant to its powers under the new Act referred to above, passed the proposed 
revised Bylaws, including revised Articles of Governance and existing Articles of Faith and 
Practice, to become effective (subject to any amendments by the members) upon adoption by 
the members by Special Resolution; 

4. The Members have had opportunity to review the proposed revised Bylaws; 
5. BE IT RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT the revised and restated Evangelical 

Missionary Church of Canada Bylaw #1, including Appendix 1 (the Articles of Faith and Practice, 
which remain unaltered from their previous form) and Appendix 2 (the Articles of Governance), 
be adopted to replace and supersede all previous Bylaws of the Evangelical Missionary Church 
of Canada, effective upon passing this resolution.” 

12. Report of the Nominating Committee – Chair of the Nominating Committee, Scott Clubine - Motion 
EMCC17008: “that the nominees presented by the Nominating Committee be the slate for 
nomination for the EMCC Board of Directors.” 

13. Nomination of President, Chair of the Presidential Search Committee, Jordan Polson– Motion 
EMCC17009: “that the EMCC Presidential Nominating Committee with support of the National 
Board presents Kervin Raugust for election as President of the Evangelical Missionary Church of 
Canada to serve a four year term to expire at General Assembly 2021. 

14. Adjournment of Business Session 1. This meeting will reconvene in this venue at 2:45 pm on 
Tuesday, May 2. 
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2:45 pm, Tuesday, May 2 – Business Session II 
1. Call to Order 
2. Prayer 
3. Election Results re Board of Directors 
4. Election Results re President  
5. Adjournment of Business Session 2. This meeting will reconvene in this venue at 9:00 am on 

Wednesday, May 3. 
 

 
9:00 am, Wednesday, May 3 – Business Session III 
 

1. Call to Order 
2. Prayer 
3. Adoption of all reports to Assembly. Motion EMCC:17011: “that all 2016 reports to Assembly be 

adopted as printed or read.” 
4. Unfinished Business from Business Session I and II 
5. Reports from Sessional Committees: 

a. Resolutions Committee. Motion EMCC17012: “that we accept the report of the 
Resolutions Committee.” 

b. Minutes Committee. Motion EMCC17013: “that we accept the report of the Minutes 
Committee.” 

c. Bylaw Committee Motion EMCC 17014: “that we accept the report of the Bylaw 
Committee.” 

6. Final Business. Motion EMCC 17015: “that any unfinished business be referred and assigned to 
the EMCC Board of Directors.” 

7. Adjournment of Business Session III. Motion EMCC17016: “that the final business session of 
General Assembly 2017 be adjourned.” 
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Minutes of EMCC General Assembly 2015 
University of Calgary 

May 4-6, 2015 
Moderator: Rev. Peter Gibbins 
Secretary: Rev. John Stokoe 
 
Monday, May 4 
Plenary Session I – 1:00 pm 

Brian Archer opened the Assembly.  A team from Centre Street Church led a time of worship.  Joseph 
Steeves, pastor of Whitewood EMCC in Saskatchewan, shared stories of disciple making in his 
community.   
 
Vishal Mangalwadi addressed the Assembly from Isaiah 42, posing the question “Is it possible to 
dispel the darkness?”  

 
Business Session I – 3:00 pm 
 The moderator, Peter Gibbins, called the meeting to order.   
 Video greetings were presented from Bruce Clemenger, President of the Evangelical Fellowship of 

Canada.   
 Members of the EMCC Board were introduced.   
  
Agenda 

Motion EMCC15001:  “to approve the agenda for Assembly 2015.”  Carried.  
 
Rules of Procedure  
 The Moderator pointed to the procedural rules that were printed in the Assembly manual.   
 
Sessional Committees 
 The secretary read the list of appointees to the various sessional committees.   
 Motion EMCC15002: “to approve the appointment of Sessional Committees.”  Carried.  
 
Minutes 
 Motion EMCC15003: “to approve the minutes of Assembly, May 6-8, 2013.”  Carried.  
 Motion EMCC15004:  “to approve the minutes of the Ordinary Annual Meeting, June 16, 2014.”  

Carried.  
 
Reports 
 The reports had been circulated prior to the meeting.   
 Motion EMCC15005:  “to receive all of the reports that had been circulated in the Assembly 

manual.”  Carried. 
 Opportunity was given for questions from the floor.   
 
Financial Report 
 John Stokoe presented the audited financial statements for 2014.  

Motion EMCC15006:  “to approve the audited Financial Statements for 2014.”  Carried 
 
 John Cressman presented a challenge to churches to support the broader ministry of the EMCC by 

including the EMCC in their church budgets.  The target is that churches contribute 5% of their 
revenues to the EMCC.  It was suggested from the floor that there should be some form of 
accountability applied to churches that fall short of that level of contribution.   

 
Appointment of the Auditor 
 Motion EMCC15007:  “that the accounting firm Clarke Starke and Diegel be appointed auditor for 

2015 and 2016.”  Carried.   
 
Nominating Committee 
 Kerry Belt presented the report of the Nominating Committee.  He began by recognizing three 

current members of the National Board who will not be continuing: Milly Siderius, Peter Gibbins, and 
Ron Epp.   
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 Kerry introduced the 3 people who are nominated to be elected to the Board at this Assembly: Scott 

Clubine, Jordan Polson and Lillian Whitmore.   
 Ballots were distributed to members of Assembly.  These ballots are to be submitted to the ballot 

box before the 9:00 am session tomorrow.  Nominees are required to receive at least 70% approval 
to be elected.  The Board is to be composed of 7 members elected by the Assembly and 2 appointed 
by the Board, but in this instance the Board has deferred to Assembly its option of appointing 2 
members to the Board.   

 
 Motion EMCC15008:  “that the nominees presented by the Nominating Committee be the slate for 

nomination for the EMCC Board of Directors.”  Carried.   
 
Adjourn 
 Motion EMCC15009: “that Business Session 1 be adjourned.”  Carried. 
 
 
Plenary Session II - 7:00 pm 
Missionary Introductions 
 Sandra Tjart introduced the missionaries who were present.  
 
World Partners Reports 
 Sandra Tjart and Nicole Jones read stories from missionaries in Romania, Thailand and South Africa.   
 
 Sandra reported that WP is opening a new field in India and is recruiting missionaries for this field.  
 
Global Initiatives Report 
 Lou Geense reported on current relief and development programs in Nepal, Haiti, India and South 

Africa.   EMCC is providing technology that can be used to build schools far more quickly and at far 
less ecological cost than historic construction methods in India. 

 
Recognitions 
 Mike Morgan presented a tribute to people who have been a significant part of the EMCC and their 

loved ones who have passed away since the last Assembly.   
 
 Phil Delsaut presented a tribute to credentialed personnel who have retired since the last Assembly: 

Rev. Clare Rattai (Jan), Rev. Barbara-Anne Ramer (Alvin), Rev. Henry Runhart (Ruth), Rev. Steve 
Heemskerk (Norma), Rev. Mark Bolender (Karen), Rev. David Lanigan (Peggy), WP Missionary Ken 
Misener (Sharon), Rev. Dennis Punter (Linda).  

 
 Phil recognized those who have moved from one level of credential to another.   
 
Pentecost Offering 
 An opportunity was given for donations to the Pentecost Offering.  The projects this year are in 

Winnipeg, Calgary and Oshawa.   
 
President’s Message 
 Phil Delsaut challenged the Assembly to consider how best to engage our world, pointing to 3 key 

factors:   
1. the importance of truth telling  
2. the need to recognize that our society embraces Christian values in many ways  
3. the importance of living the truth  
We are called to take this message to the world.  

 
Adjourn  
 The second plenary session was adjourned.  
 
 
  

Following Jesus Together

12 Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada



Tuesday May 5, 2015 
Plenary Session II - 9:00 am 

The worship team led in worship. Durwin Gray told of God’s working in Hillside Community Church, 
Coquitlam, BC.   
 
Vishal Mangalwadi spoke again from Isaiah.  He said that the underlying problem of humanity is a 
lack of knowledge of God, leading to sin.  This lack of knowledge has led western society to move 
away from Biblical principles for living.  God wants all men to be saved and to come to the 
knowledge of Christ.   
 

Business Session II – 2:45 pm 
The Chair called the session to order.   

 
President’s Report 

Peter referred to Phil’s statement in the President’s report that he will not be continuing in the role 
of President of the EMCC beyond his current term.  Kerry Belt commended Phil for his good 
leadership through the past years, and in particular through the restructuring of EMCC.  

 
Member Election  
 The Nominating Committee reported that all three candidates, Scott Clubine, Jordan Polson, and 

Lillian Whitmore were elected to the EMCC Board with the approval of well over the 70% required.   
 
 Motion EMCC15010: “to destroy the election ballots.”  Carried. 
 
Bylaws 
 The following amendment was proposed to 6.3.1. Ordinary Annual Meeting to comply with the 

requirements of the timing of Ordinary Annual Meetings held biannually within the dates of EMCC 
fall board meetings.  

 
 Amendment to 6.3.1. Annual Meeting 

Motion EMCC15011: “that…The specific date of the convening of an Annual Meeting shall be at the 
discretion of the Board of Directors, provided that the Board of Directors shall call an Annual 
Meeting no longer than 19 months after the last Annual Meeting.”  Carried unanimously.  

  
An amendment to section 5. Articles of Faith and Practice is necessary to make it clear that the 
Statement of Faith as contained in Appendix 1 is an integral part of Bylaw #1. The current text 
remains unchanged.  

 
Amendment to section 5. Articles of Faith & Practice (new first sentence below) 
Motion EMCC15012: “that The Articles of Faith and Practice is an integral part of Bylaw #1 and is 
filed as Appendix #1.”  Carried unanimously. 
 
Amendment to 6.2.2. Articles of Governance (new first sentence below) 
Motion EMCC15013: “that The Articles of Governance is an integral part of Bylaw #1 and is filed as 
Appendix #2)    Carried unanimously. 
 

Adjourn  
 Motion EMCC15014:  “to adjourn the second business session.” 
  
 
Plenary Session IV – 3:40 pm 

Darren Pries-Klassen made a presentation on behalf of the Mennonite Foundation of Canada.   
 
Vishal Mangalwadi suggested a hypothetical model for Christian higher education based in a church 
with curriculum delivered on line by an accredited college and a youth pastor who coaches these 
students.  Technology has made education learner-centred rather than teacher-centred.  To know 
the truth you must study the word of God and the works of God and understand them by plain 
reason, but God’s word trumps the others.   
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Wednesday May 6, 2015 
Plenary Session V - 9:00 am 

 The worship team led in worship.  Brian Archer opened the session.  Will Born reported from River’s 
Edge Camp and Darren Duncalfe from Charis Camp.   
 
Daniel Howard and a group of young adult leaders from Centre Street Church led a presentation 
describing some of their ministries.   
Mark Boughan, President of Emmanuel Bible College, and Kerry Belt, President of Rocky Mountain 
College, presented new innovations in their ministries. They announced that the two colleges have 
entered into an agreement to use the Pathways platform to deliver education to anyone, anywhere, 
anytime.  
 
Gavin Wark, Alison Lefebvre and Mark Anderson reported on current developments in youth ministry 
among EMCC churches.   
 

Business Session III – 11:30 am 
 The Moderator called the meeting to order.   
 
Reports 
 Motion EMCC15015: that all reports to the Assembly be adopted as printed or read.  Carried.  
 
Resolutions Committee 
 The Resolutions Committee presented their Report.  
  Motion EMCC15016:  “that the report of the Resolutions Committee be accepted.”  Carried.  
 
Minutes Committee 
 The Minutes Committee reported that they had reviewed the minutes up to the break prior to this 

business session and found them to be complete and accurate.  
 Motion EMCC15017: “that the report of the Minutes Committee be accepted.”  Carried.  
 
Bylaw Committee 
 The Bylaw Committee reported that in their opinion, the business of this Assembly was conducted in 

a manner consistent with the bylaws of the EMCC.   
 Motion EMCC15018:  “that the report of the Bylaw Committee be accepted.”   
 
Adjourn 
 Motion EMCC15019:  “that the final business session of General Assembly be adjourned.”  Carried.  
 
Conclusion – 11:45 to 12:15 pm 
Acknowledgements 
 Janice Franzen, Assembly coordinator, expressed thanks to all of those who made the event run so 

well.   
 
Communion 
 Following the celebration of Communion Assembly 2015 concluded.  
 
 
 
The Assembly approved these Minutes on the ____ day of _______________, 2017. 
 
 
 
 
Rev. John Stokoe 
Secretary 
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BOARD MODERATOR REPORT 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________	
Reporting: Kerry Belt 
Position: Moderator, EMCC Board of Directors 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________	
 

 “The prayer of a righteous man is powerful and effective” James 5:16 
 
As we assemble in Calgary in May 2017, Canada will be in the midst of celebrating its 150th birthday. What a 
great event to celebrate and one that should cause much prayerful reflection about our spiritual heritage. 
 
Traveling across this great country one sees the many churches that dot our landscape. Those churches remind 
us of the efforts of previous generations to create a spiritual heritage that would shape the values of our 
country.  Those many sacrifices played a key role in the positive development of Canada.  
 
In the midst of the daily grind of life we can easily forget that we have the same responsibility to carry that 
legacy forward for future generations. The theme chosen for our Assembly “He Reigns from Sea to Sea and to 
the ends of the earth” is a great anthem reminding us of that charge.  My prayer is that we will be true to the 
challenge passed down to us and that The Way of Jesus lifestyle would be its hallmark value.  
 
As part of our preparation you have received an Assembly package. Enclosed in the package are a number of 
reports and business items. As you read those reports I ask that you, and your church family, regularly 
remember our upcoming Assembly in your public and private prayers. Below is a list of significant items that you 
can pray about: 
 

o Connecting and reconnecting with EMCC folks from all across Canada 
o Gathering for praise, worship and prayer times for our nation 
o Hearing from the Word of God 
o Our presidential election   
o The election of new EMCC National Board members 
o The crafting and revising of some of our guiding bylaws 
o Celebrating President Phil Delsaut’s many years of sacrificial leadership 

 
As a National Board we wish to thank President Phil for over 35 years of faithful service in the EMCC. First as a 
pastor, then as the District Superintendent in the Canada East District, and now finally as our national President 
since 2004. The EMCC has come a long way under Phil’s leadership including the creation of a single national 
entity, a national reorganization of how we are structured, the development of a national team and the 
establishment of a national office building in Kitchener, a strengthened benefits program, a stronger 
denominational identity centered on The Way of Jesus, and the continuation of international ministries that 
punch above our weight. At Assembly it will be an honor for all of us, as a national body, to pause and celebrate 
Phil’s leadership.  
 
I am very thankful to the Nominating Committee for their dedicated work in bringing new names forward as 
prospective national Board members. Their efforts are so important in finding folks with wisdom, experience, 
and gifting that suits our needs as a board at this time. Please prayerfully consider who God is leading to serve 
on the National Board in the future.  
 
As we welcome new board members we are also saying goodbye to others. I want to say thank you to Matt 
Hillier, Arvin Nagules, and Krista Bennet for their service on the board. They have been very generous in giving 
their time, expertise and wisdom in service to the EMCC and God’s Kingdom.   
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A number of years ago the EMCC chose to operate on a “governance by policy” model. Such a model requires 
that we, as a constituency, craft and approve bylaws which order the day to day business of our denomination. 
This model has a series of checks and balances including reviewing and revising some of those bylaws and 
processes at Assembly. You will see on the Assembly agenda a scheduled time for this business. Please join us 
as we do that work. 
 
As the National Board meets in face to face meetings twice a year we receive detailed monitoring reports that 
note and describe the day to day strategic efforts of the National team under our President’s leadership. A key 
element of those meetings are financial updates, approval of budgets and the receiving of Auditor’s reports. 
Some of that material will be brought before the Assembly as a practice of openness, transparency and 
accountability. Please be prepared for these and other discussions. 
 
Each time we meet for National Board meetings and read the monitoring reports it is striking that we are so very 
fortunate to have a national team that does so much to serve us well. We are very thankful for and appreciative 
to each of the staff for the role they play in serving God’s Kingdom. In particular, it is appropriate to say thank 
you to Jean Winker, Sandra Tjart and Lou Geense for their many years of service in God’s Kingdom. We wish 
them God’s best as they move into retirement and new chapters of ministry.   
 
The National Board also extends a sincere heartfelt thanks to our constituency for all of your support of the 
EMCC over the last few years. Without your support we could not do what God is asking us to do across Canada 
and around the world. We have a lot to be thankful for!  
 
Thank you to the many folks who have crafted and presented reports here. Please respectfully review the 
Assembly Book and join us at Assembly to seek God’s wisdom and blessings.  
 
Many blessings to all of you across this great land of ours. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Kerry Belt 
kbelt@rockymountaincollege.ca 
 

 
NOMINATING COMMITTEE 2017 REPORT 

______________________________________________________________________________________________	
Reporting: Scott Clubine 
Position: Chair, Nominating Committee 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Members: Bruce Archer, Krista Bennett, Scott Clubine (Chair), Denise Mazik, and Murray Swalm   
 
The Nominating Committee was appointed by the Board of Directors to bring forward a slate of capable 
candidates for election to the EMCC Board of Directors at Assembly 2017. Much appreciation goes to each 
Nominating Committee member for their diligence and attention to the leading of the Holy Spirit as they 
engaged in this process.  
 
As a committee, we have sought to bring names forward that, when elected, will complement the current Board 
members with skills and gifts, while aiming to represent the national flavour of the EMCC within the Board.  The 
discerning process for the Nominating Committee began by determining if any current Board members with 
expiring terms would permit their name to stand for re-election. After we determined those who would be 
interested in re-election, we reached out to the EMCC constituency, receiving a healthy list of nominees, 
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narrowing that list to those who would let their name stand for election, and, by interview, discerning three 
candidates from that list to present for election on the 2017 Assembly ballot.  
 
We would like to present the following candidates for election to the Board of Directors at Assembly 2017. Their 
names appear in alphabetic order with their term length in parentheses. The biographical sketches of the 
nominees follow the current EMCC Board of Directors chart along with their terms.  
 

1. Kerry Belt  (Term expiry 2021) 
2. Charlie Bowen  (Term expiry 2021) 
3. Liz Froese  (Term expiry 2021) 
4. Jim Hazzard  (Term expiry 2021) 
5. Alan Shantz  (Term expiry 2019) 
6. John Stokoe  (Term expiry 2021) 

 
This election will fill the maximum nine member Board according to article 5.04 of the Bylaws of the EMCC.   
 

EMCC Board of Directors 
Name Terms Email 
Moderator:   
Mr. Kerry Belt 
 

(term expires in 2017) kbelt@rockymountaincollege.ca 

   
Secretary:   
Mr. John Stokoe (term expires in 2017)  

jstokoe@rockymountaincollege.ca 
   
Treasurer:   
Mr. Matthew Hillier (stepping down at Assembly) mhillier@refugeadvisory.ca 

 
   
Mrs. Krista Bennett 
 

(stepping down at Assembly) Krista_bennett316@hotmail.com 
 

   
Mr. Arvin Nagules  (stepping down at Assembly) Arvin.nagules@westjet.com 
   
 
Rev. Alan Shantz 
 

 
(term ends in 2017) 

	
refrn@shaw.ca 

   
Rev. Scott Clubine 
 

(term ends in 2019) scott@hillsidechurchmountalbert.com 

   
Mrs. Lillian Whitmore 
 

(term ends in 2019) lighthouseconsult@shaw.ca 

   
Mr. Jordan Polson 
 

(term ends in 2019) JordanP@crossroadschurch.ca  

   
Advisor:   
Rev. Phil Delsaut 
President of the EMCC 
 

(stepping down at Assembly) pdelsaut@emcc.ca 
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EMCC Board of Directors Nominees 
 
KERRY BELT BIOGRAPHY 

A native Albertan, Kerry grew up attending McDougal Chapel EMCC in Sundre and spent 
many summers at James River Bible Camp. After high school, he studied at Mountain View 
Bible College and then at Canadian Theological Seminary. Following seminary, Kerry began 
his teaching ministry at Mountain View Bible College and then taught youth ministry at Rocky 
Mountain College for 17 years. In 2007, he transitioned from teaching to serve as President 
of RMC. Kerry lives in Calgary with Allison, his wife of 27 years. Allison keeps very busy as 
the Principal of Rundle College Senior High School. 

 
Kerry continues to invest his time in leadership development by speaking at retreats; leading seminars, 
facilitating adult education modules and mentoring leaders. He currently serves as the Moderator of the EMCC 
National Board and has chaired the Mustard Seed Educational Advisory Committee and served as Vice Chair of 
the Bearspaw Christian School Board. 
 
In his leisure time, he enjoys biking, doing renovations to their home, running and traveling. Allison and Kerry 
continue to express their passion for the less fortunate by volunteering with the Mully Children Family Ministries 
just outside Nairobi, Kenya.   
 
CHARLIE BOWEN BIOGRAPHY 

Charlie Bowne has been a part of the Missionary/Evangelical Missionary Church for the 
vast majority of his life. He grew up attending the Missionary church in the town of Castor 
Alberta, went to Mountain View Bible College before it merged and became Rocky 
Mountain College, graduated from Mountain View Bible College with a Bachelor of 
Religious Education and later took a Master of Ministry degree through Prairie Graduate 
School. Presently serving as Pastor of the Macoun EMC for the past 14 years, Charlie has 

served as Pastor for three different churches, including Macoun, for a total of 26 years. Twenty-one of those 
years have been within the EMCC.  Charlie has served on local church boards and committees as well as the 
Constitution committee and a summer camps committee for the EMCC. He served on the Echo Lake Bible 
Camp board for the past 14 years (stepping down from this board as of January 1, 2017, feeling the board and 
he could use a change). Charlie is a standing member of the Credential Interview Team and the Ethics 
Committee for Saskatchewan EMCC churches. In the village of Macoun, Charlie is presently serving on the 
School Community Council and Volunteer Fire Services. Charlie is the proud husband of Darlene for the past 27 
years with three adult sons; Jason, Randy and Ryan. So far he has inherited two amazing daughters and is 
looking forward to being a grandparent at some point in the future. Golf is one hobby that he truly enjoys and 
Charlie is thankful Darlene has grown to enjoy golf as well. Charlie also looks forward to travelling and annual 
mission trips to Haiti. He has a soft spot in his heart for smaller churches here in Canada and around the world 
and his passion is to see local churches, small and large, being salt and light in their communities and being a 
blessing to as many people as possible. Charlie loves proclaiming God’s truth in word and in action and being a 
part of God building his Kingdom. He is currently blessed and honored to have the opportunities to become 
more and more of a spiritual father to those around him and he believes a big part of that is to encourage and 
to see them impact people for Jesus as well.    
 
LIZ FROESE BIOGRAPHY 

Liz Froese was born and raised on a tender fruit farm in Niagara-on-the-Lake and graduated 
from Brock University with an Honours degree in Political Science.  After University, she 
headed to Quebec to complete a diploma in French Immersion studies, and then started 
working in Ottawa as a Legislative Assistant for various Members of Parliament.  Liz made a 
career change and landed at the University of Toronto’s Masters of Social Work Program.  
After university, the traveling bug hit and she was off to spend a year living in Southern 
Germany working for the Salvation Army and Seneca College’s satellite school on the 

Canadian Forces Base in Lahr, Germany.  Back in Canada, Liz then worked at a Children’s Mental Health Centre 
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in Niagara in the areas of family counseling, pre-school services and day treatment programs.  Again, her 
adventurous spirit took over, and she spent three years with the Mennonite Central Committee (MCC) in Port-
au-Prince, Haiti working with refugee families and street children.  Finally, Liz landed back in the Niagara region 
permanently working in Child Protective Services, and currently working for a Faith-based agency, Bethesda 
Community Services, in the field of Developmental Disabilities. Liz has experience working on several provincial, 
national and international boards, a strong interest in board governance and a desire to see organizations 
governed well. 
 
JIM HAZZARD BIOGRAPHY 

Jim Hazzard’s strong sense and commitment to faith, family, career, and community has 
led to significant involvement with increasing responsibilities in these four areas of life. 
He has experience working in difficult situations to realize positive outcomes and 
direction. Highlights include: 
• Committed follower of Jesus since 1975. Although a work in progress, seeking to 
be led, empowered, and taught by the indwelling Holy Spirit day by day, moment by 
moment in all areas of life and particularly in "rough and tumble" life elements. 

• Married for 42 years to Anne whom he loves and adores. They have three beautiful married children and 
their spouses - Benjamin (Erica), Nathan (Monique), and Emily (Ryan). They also enjoy seven precious 
grandchildren. 

• Career has been in the agriculture sector for 45 years. Began in a business that his father started after he 
came back from the Navy following WWII. Held positions from labourer, Branch Manager, General 
Manager/CEO, Operations Manager, President, Vice President, Board member and Director. Evolved small 
business with family shareholders to Joint Venture corporation, South West Ag Partners Inc., with major 
multinational company and is also a shareholder in other businesses in agriculture sector. 

• Community involvement includes member of St. Clair Community Church (EMCC), past church board 
member and board chairperson, palliative care volunteer with VON, past member of local public school 
board Accommodation Review Committee, past member and chair of local public high school Parent 
Council, past board member of various Para-church organizations including Family Seminars of Canada Inc., 
Back to the Bible Canada, and BGEA John Wesley White Crusade (Dresden 1996). In partnership with 
Lambton College Sarnia, Jim is the present chair of Agriculture sub committee of One Seed Project in 
Zambia enabling small household farmers to increase corn yields. 

 
Jim seeks to love God with all of his heart, to love himself, and those around him. He does this by helping 
himself and others believe and realize that all are precious in God's sight, and that He wants to restore His 
relationship with people, and to produce the fruit of the Spirit through them. The Holy Spirit is the catalyst in His 
endeavour and His Church will be the result despite any and all opposing forces.  
 
ALAN SHANTZ BIOGRAPHY 

Alan Shantz has been part of the EMCC since his infancy.  He was in the first nursery at 
Bethany in Kitchener, Ontario and remained an active part of that congregation throughout 
his formative years. Licensed in 1979, ordained in 1985 and following graduation from 
Emmanuel Bible College (B.Th.) and Canadian Theological Seminary (M.Div.), Alan served 
congregations in Ontario and Manitoba until his retirement in 2016.  He has served on 
various denominational boards, as well as been active in each neighborhood and city where 
he has lived.   He has been married to Cindy for more than 35 years, has two married sons 

and two grandchildren.  Among his many interests and ways of being involved in the lives of others, Alan works 
for the NHL as an Off-Ice Official in Winnipeg.” 
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JOHN STOKOE BIOGRAPHY 
John Stokoe is recently retired as V.P. Operations at Rocky Mountain College after 33 years 
at RMC and Mountain View Bible College.  He and his wife, Audrey, live in Calgary.  They have 
2 sons, a daughter, and 6 grandchildren.  They enjoy travelling around Canada and the U.S. 
and take in as much live theatre as they can.  John currently serves on 3 boards and is 
committed to providing good leadership to Christian ministries.  
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
  
Reverend Scott Clubine 
scott@hillsidechurchmountalbert.com 
 

PRESIDENTIAL SEARCH COMMITTEE REPORT 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	
Reporting: Jordan Polson 
Position: Chair of the Presidential Search Committee 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	
 
Over the past year and few months, it has been a joy for the committee to serve the EMCC as we sought after 
God and his heart for who our next president might be, and as well, listen to you and our National Board and 
Team in what we sense together that we should be pursuing in the next chapter of the EMCC. We are extremely 
grateful for all that President Phil Delsaut has led us into and towards as a denomination, and today we build 
upon his efforts and upon his personal calling from the Lord, as he faithfully led us over the past many years. 
 
Appointment and Mandate 
In November 2015, the National Board appointed Jordan Polson (committee chair) and Arvin Nagules to form a 
search committee for the next president of the EMCC. Our mandate from the National Board was to present a 
single nomination for president to the General Assembly of 2017 as outlined in our bylaws. Since the president 
is an actual employee of the National Board, and in keeping healthy relation between the National Board and 
the president, it was also mandated that the National Board agree fully with the nomination being presented to 
the General Assembly. 
 
Search Committee  
Following the appointment, Jordan, Arvin and our Moderator, Kerry Belt searched for and selected the following 
members for the committee: 
 

• Jordan Polson (Board member, committee chair) – CrossRoads Church, Red Deer, Alberta 
• Arvin Nagules (Board member) – Albright Church, East St. Paul, Manitoba 
• Larry Shantz – Bethany Community Church, St. Catharines Ontario 
• Wayne Smele – Centre Street Church, Calgary, Alberta 
• Andrew Epp – Plattsville Evangelical Missionary Church, Plattsville, Ontario  
• Marilyn Schmitt – Hanover Missionary Church, Hanover, Ontario 
• Wilma Vander Leek (administrative support) – CrossRoads Church, Red Deer, Alberta 

 
Our Process 
Since November of 2015, the National Board and Search Committee has not stopped praying and asking for 
direction and wisdom from God. In the early spring of 2016, we began calling all members of the EMCC to join 
with us in prayer as we placed our trust in the Lord. The Committee is extremely grateful for your participation in 
this way, and heard often from many of you that you were most interested, and joining with us in prayer. We are 
grateful to you, and to the Lord for his presence throughout 2016 and leading up to the Assembly.  
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The committee met together throughout this time via phone conference, email, and once in person. The various 
activities of the Committee consisted of the following: 
 

• Reviewed bylaws and policies to define and eventually create a detailed job profile for the President 
• Reviewed surveys that were conducted earlier by the National Board, where the National Team and 

various church leaders were asked questions related to the future of the EMCC and what type of 
President we should be considering.  

• Invited input from our members at our Regional Gatherings in 2016. 
• Invited input from the National Board on the type of leader they felt that the EMCC would benefit from. 
• Invited input from the National Board on 4 things they considered highly critical that our next president 

should address in the next 4 years.  
• Consulted with professionals that have had experience with hiring high level positions.  
• From these inputs, the Committee formed a weighted list of skills and abilities, experiences, 

competencies, and personality type that would be the best fit for the next chapter of the EMCC. 
• Produced an application package that would be informative and directive for potential candidates to 

apply. It was published in early July and open for applications into September. 
• Conducted interviews in early November and from that point on through to December, walked with the 

candidates, praying for them and the process, gaining understanding in their ways and fit for the role 
based on previously determined criteria.  

• Presented to the National Board Rev. Kervin Raugust as our preferred nomination, and following 
discussion and prayer, received their affirmation of our decision.  

• After the National Board’s affirmation, began the process of communicating that decision with the 
candidates, President Phil Delsaut, and the National Team;  

• Presented our Nomination to the EMCC constituents and asked them to begin praying specifically for 
Kervin, and God’s leadership in this matter leading up to Assembly. 

• Posted further Press Releases on the EMCC website to inform the EMCC constituents of the Nominee’s 
background, qualifications, response to key issues facing EMCC, call to serve as EMCC President, and 
vision for the denomination.    

 
Communications Leading Up to General Assembly 

1. January 11th, presented Rev. Kervin Raugust and a brief bio to the members as our nomination for 
President of the EMCC. 

2. January 26th, published a detailed bio for Kervin. 
3. March 13th, posted an interview Kervin to become better acquainted with him.   
4. March 31st, published a detailed document where Kervin shared his thoughts with us regarding the four 

things the National Board feels we need to address in the next 4 years. Kervin also shared with us his 
personal calling and vision for the EMCC. 

5. March 31st, invited all members to engage in Q & A with Kervin throughout the coming weeks leading up 
to General Assembly. Questions are to be submitted to PresidentNominee@emcc.ca and Kervin’s 
responses will be posted throughout the following weeks leading up to General Assembly. 
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President Nominee Rev. Kervin Raugust 

Over the past few months, we have come to have a great sense of  
clarity from the Lord as we have sought after His will in this matter.  
Kervin Raugust is a deeply spiritual man who pursues God with passion. He longs to 
see God’s Kingdom come, and for the church to be all that God intended it to be. He 
is a person of integrity who serves faithfully and humbly without pretense. He has 
been engaged in pastoral ministry as well as in senior leadership capacities in various 
churches, a college and district office over the years: 

•   Senior Pastor, Lethbridge (Evangelical) 1982-86; 
•   Senior Pastor, Chilliwack (Evangelical) 1986-87;  
•   President, Hillcrest Christian College 1987-92; 
•   Senior Pastor, Salem – Calgary (EMCC) 1992-95; 
•   Assistant to Canada-West EMCC Superintendent, Calgary 1995-96; 
•   Executive Pastor, Centre Street – Calgary 1996-2011; 
•   Lead Pastor of Disciple-Making Leadership, Centre Street – Calgary 2011-present. 

Kervin has a solid theological education, having earned a BCE (Hillcrest Christian College, 1980) and an M.Div. 
(Western Evangelical Seminary, 1982).  His teaching, preaching and writing align with the doctrines and 
convictions of the EMCC. 
 
Kervin exemplifies a heart after God.  His life models self-discipline, consistency, trustworthiness, and most 
importantly, integrity.  Kervin has a propensity for spiritual disciplines that nurture his inner life, especially 
prayer and meditation, and he devotes time and energy to developing habits which foster his spiritual growth. 
He loves the Lord, he loves the church, and he loves people. 
 
Kervin’s professional life is consistent with his personal life, which is essential for a person serving in a publicly 
visible leadership role in Christian ministry. He has a special yearning for the development of competent Godly 
leaders, and is energized by multiplying his ministry through investing in them through small groups and one-to-
one interaction. Kervin can consistently encourage and motivate with a positive message. His ministry impact is 
enhanced by his approachable manner and his thoughtful and passionate oral communication both in public 
speaking and in person. He leads with a shepherd’s heart, inspires followership, and empowers others as they 
lead. 

Nomination to 2017 General Assembly 
With prayer-filled hearts, and with all due diligence, the Presidential Search Committee presents Reverend 
Kervin Raugust as our President Nominee to the 2017 General Assembly for their consideration and vote.    
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
Jordan Polson 
jordanp@crossroadschurch.ca 
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2017 PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________	
Reporting: Phil Delsaut 
Position: President 
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________	

 
Following Jesus on Mission Together 

Preamble 
 
God bless Canada! This year, 2017, marks the 150th year of the ‘birth’ of the Dominion of Canada -- the official 
term for this anniversary is the Sesquicentennial! More than 300 years before Confederation, Jacques Cartier 
and his intrepid band of French companions were exploring the great St. Lawrence basin, looking for a way to 
the far East with visions of gold and jewels dancing in their heads and of their patron.  On July 24, 1534 
Jacques Cartier planted a cross on the shores of the Gaspé to claim the land for France. Cartier was the first 
European who documented the name ‘Canada’, the common Huron-Iroquois word for settlement or village, 
mistakenly thinking that it was the place name for the region and so he called its Iroquois inhabitants 
‘Canadiens.’  Over time the name, Canada, grew to embrace the small French colony established on the banks 
of the St. Lawrence and by the middle of the 19th century it had become the name for the British loyalist 
colonies along the Great Lakes and eventually for all of British North America.  
 
In 1840 the British Parliament passed the Act of Union that formed the Province of Canada effective in the year 
1841.  This province was divided into two parts, Canada West (Ontario previously called Upper Canada) and 
Canada East (Quebec previously called Lower Canada). In both cases the territories were much smaller and 
confined to the lands near the Great Lakes and the St. Lawrence River.  Subsequently talks were initiated with 
the colonies of New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island and the first steps taken to forge a new 
nation.  The yes side won and the British Parliament passed legislation. 
 
The British North America Act became effective July 1, 1867 unifying the colonies of  Nova Scotia and New 
Brunswick with the province of Canada (Ontario and Quebec) under the name of CANADA. Other provinces and 
territories followed: Manitoba July 15, 1870; NWT July 15, 1870; British Columbia July 20, 1871; Prince Edward 
Island July 1, 1873; Yukon June 13, 1898; Alberta Sept 1, 1905; Saskatchewan Sept 1, 1905; Newfoundland-
Labrador March 31, 1949; Nunavut April 1, 1999.  
 
The Statute of Westminster in 1931 further established Canadian sovereignty but the British parliament still 
retained the power to amend Canada’s constitution. Removal of this power and the full patriation of the 
constitution happened in 1982 by the passing of the Canada Act in Britain and the Constitution Act in Canada. 
Canada is still a nation in formation.   
 
We must not despair knowing that the process of nation building is not done.  Our hopes and dreams for a 
better Canada must continue to grow undiminished.  The Canada of the past has benefitted immeasurably from 
the influence of the Good News of Jesus.  Every institution from our law courts, our hospitals to our schools and 
universities has deeply ingrained elements of a Christian worldview.  Foundational ideas such as the equality of 
people, the sanctity of life, and the worth of the individual to name a few are rooted in Christian values. Let us 
not despair of our place at the table of nation building.  Our Saviour declared, “You are the light of the world… 
Let your light shine before men that they may see your good works and glorify your Father in heaven” (Mat 
5:14, 16).  Peter in his first letter echoes this teaching, “Live such good lives among the pagans that, though 
they accuse you of doing wrong, they may see your good deeds and glorify God on the day he visits us” (1 Pet 
2:12). 
 
The beginnings of the new Canadian nation contain recognizable themes that continue important in the 
unfolding story of Canada.  Exploration, growth, the clash of cultures, the quest for wealth, the struggle for 
power, confusion over the nature of the kingdom of Christ and its relationship to the worldly ambitions of rulers, 
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plus a good measure of mutual misunderstanding; these themes are all present at the outset and they persist 
throughout the Canadian drama.   
 
Many voices will be quick to remind us that the story of this land goes back to times immemorial.  The ‘First 
Nations’ were here already and the terra nova, the new land, was new only to the newly arrived Europeans.  The 
choice of the word, Canada, as the name was based on a misunderstanding by the Europeans, as was the 
conclusion, that they had found India, hence the term Indians.  We all know the outlines of subsequent history 
and some of it is not pretty.  It would be easy to make judgements based on the attitudes of our own time or 
ideology, and to decide the identity of the heroes and villains, the conquerors and victims. There will be much 
disagreement on how to assess the past, largely because we are not conscious that we are probably not using a 
common yard, er, metric, measuring stick.  Adding to the complexity is that it is too easy for any one of us to be 
unconsciously switching between multiple measuring systems.  For we who are followers of Jesus the task of 
sorting things is not easier, except for this, we have an unchanging benchmark and we are also aware of a 
dangerous flaw in the human condition. There is a profound biblical insight about the human condition that we 
ignore to our detriment.  It is called ‘sin’.  Let’s apply this to the themes of Canada’s beginnings. 
 
They are really universal themes.  These themes were current in the world of the First Nations before the 
Europeans darkened the shores of North America.  And these universal themes, dressed in the fashions of 
one’s own time and place, are still at work today.  Having said this, it is not a matter for despair.  It is good to be 
realistic about the human condition. We are beautiful, powerful creatures made in the image of God, but since 
the disobedience of our first parents, we have also had a fatal flaw. When we live our lives unyielded to Our 
Creator and refuse to receive His work as Our Redeemer, inevitably the good we do becomes corrupt.  This truth 
in the history of the human race is writ so large that it boggles that we do not see it.  The apostle Paul said it 
well in Romans 7:19, “For what I do is not the good I want to do; no, the evil I do not want to do — this I keep on 
doing.” 
 
C. S. Lewis, in Mere Christianity, has put it succinctly and well:  
 

What Satan put into the heads of our remote ancestors was the idea that they could ‘be 
like gods’—could set up on their own as if they had created themselves—be their own 
masters—invent some sort of happiness for themselves outside God, apart from God. And 
out of that hopeless attempt has come nearly all that we call human history—money, 
poverty, ambition, war, prostitution, classes, empires, slavery—the long terrible story of 
man trying to find something other than God which will make him happy. 
 
The reason why it can never succeed is this. God made us: invented us as a man invents 
an engine. A car is made to run on petrol, and it would not run properly on anything else. 
Now God designed the human machine to run on Himself. He Himself is the fuel our 
spirits were designed to burn, or the food our spirits were designed to feed on. There is no 
other. That is why it is just no good asking God to make us happy in our own way without 
bothering about religion. God cannot give us a happiness and peace apart from Himself, 
because it is not there. There is no such thing. 
 
That is the key to history. Terrific energy is expended—civilisations are built up—excellent 
institutions devised; but each time something goes wrong. Some fatal flaw always brings 
the selfish and cruel people to the top and it all slides back into misery and ruin. In fact, 
the machine conks. It seems to start up all right and runs a few yards, and then it breaks 
down. They are trying to run it on the wrong juice. That is what Satan has done to us 
humans. 
 
And what did God do? First of all He left us conscience, the sense of right and wrong: and 
all through history there have been people trying (some of them very hard) to obey it. 
None of them ever quite succeeded. Secondly, He sent the human race what I call good 
dreams: I mean those queer stories scattered all through the heathen religions about a 
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god who dies and comes to life again and, by his death, has somehow given new life to 
men. Thirdly, He selected one particular people and spent several centuries hammering 
into their heads the sort of God He was—that there was only one of Him and that He cared 
about right conduct. Those people were the Jews, and the Old Testament gives an 
account of the hammering process. 
 
Then comes the real shock. Among these Jews there suddenly turns up a man who goes 
about talking as if He was God. He claims to forgive sins. He says He has always existed. 
He says He is coming to judge the world at the end of time. Now let us get this clear. 
Among Pantheists, like the Indians, anyone might say that he was a part of God, or one 
with God: there would be nothing very odd about it. But this man, since He was a Jew, 
could not mean that kind of God. God, in their language, meant the Being outside the 
world, who had made it and was infinitely different from anything else. And when you have 
grasped that, you will see that what this man said was, quite simply, the most shocking 
thing that has ever been uttered by human lips. 

 
As we anticipate the future and consider at the past, we can and should admit that there are bad things about 
Canada’s past but by several measures there is even more to celebrate and even more to hope for. Thank God 
for the land of Canada, a home where many have already found refuge, and a nation whose destiny is yet to be 
revealed.  God give us the faith and courage to see it unfold in ways that will make the planting of the cross in 
1534, a symbol of the hope and justice found in the Prince of Peace rather than the expedient tool of King 
Francis I, who among others things ushered in a wave of persecution in France against of Protestants resulting 
in thousands of dead and tens of thousands more homeless, motivated by his urge for power and control. It is 
worth noting that one of the great leading lights of the Reformation, John Calvin, was among those who in 1533 
fled for his life leaving Paris for safer precincts. 
 
Some will protest that the idea of sin has no place in modern thought.  Why?  In a time when many self-serving 
voices insist that there is no absolute truth, surely this view is as good as any other.  Moreover, it has certain 
advantages to recommend it.  It is true to life.  It describes the human condition really well.  And, best of all, not 
only is there sin, a moral and spiritual condition, but there is also a remedy for sin.  Jesus died to pay the price 
for our sins – thank God for the gift of forgiveness!  Jesus’ Spirit presently endows those who follow Him with 
His power to overcome our sins.  And Jesus is coming back to deliver us finally and totally from the very 
presence of our sins, and in the meantime receives those who die in Him into His presence, free from the 
presence of sin. There is much to be gained by rediscovering a moral framework that includes an awareness of 
sin.  And no one has a right to dismiss it out of hand simply because it is out of fashion. 
 
We are living in a time when social justice activism is in fashion.  Good, but let’s be careful to keep our 
bearings.  We cross the dunes of Sahara by keeping our eye on the fixed stars above, not on the shifting 
mountains of sand.  How can we assess right and wrong when we measure by the changing standard of our 
time.  We want to redress the perceived wrongs of the past and in doing so often are blind to the new injustices 
that we are creating.  For example, in our day, we have seen our government leaders approve assisted suicide 
out of compassion for those who are experiencing unmeasured pain. However, we are seeing these same 
government leaders struggling with protecting the rights of health professionals who cannot in good conscience 
participate in assisted suicide.  How can these same people show so little understanding about the anguish 
that these good people face? If there is no legislative protection for these ‘prisoners of conscience, we consign 
them untold anguish as well as horrendous social and financial loss. And how do we redress the wrongs of the 
past? How do we find reconciliation? We do no one a favour by wallowing in the mire of the past.  My maternal 
grandfather, an Italian cavalry officer, for words overheard in a public place fled the clutches of Mussolini’s 
murderous intentions. Having fled to southern France, less than 15 years later he and his family were now living 
under the rapacious regime of another monster. My father was a refugee from northern France living under an 
assumed name to escape the sweep of all young able-bodied men to feed Hitler’s war machine.  And there were 
millions who suffered. How will anyone redress these wrongs multiplied many times over?  Shall we permit past 
evil done to us to cripple us? Shall we perpetuate the injuries done to us by hanging on to the past?  Shall we sit 
on the dunghill of our sorrows feeling sorry for ourselves, blaming others, and bleating that you must fix it!  Or, 
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shall we find hope and liberation in the Way of the Master, Who said, “But I tell you who hear me: Love your 
enemies, do good to those who hate you, bless those who curse you, pray for those who mistreat you” (Luke 
6:27, 28). 
 
Al Gore is famous for his environmental propaganda called an inconvenient truth.  The Jesus idea that we are to 
bless those who curse us, and do good to those who hate us, is dismissed as unrealistic.  But it is at worst an 
inconvenient truth, that is, a truth that we do not want to face.  There is only one way forward for any of us.  
There are many testimonies of those who have embraced it and found healing for themselves and who then by 
turn bring healing to others.  There is no way forward for any of us unless we let go of hate and take hold of 
good.  And there is no one who can renew us in doing this impossible thing like Jesus.  Echoing Lewis’ 
metaphor, this is the ‘right juice.’  Let’s bring our best to Canada and recall that those who founded the new 
nation got some things right. 
 
Our Assembly theme this year is based on the Canadian motto, ‘A Mari Usque Ad Mare,’ (‘from sea to sea’) 
which is found affixed to the Canadian Coat of Arms. This motto was drawn from Psalm 72:8, “He shall have 
dominion also from sea to sea, and from the river unto the ends of the earth” (KJV).  Those who applied this 
motto to Canada at the time thought it fitting for a nation that they could envision would one day stretch from 
sea to sea. What were prayers and hopes and dreams of those in 1867 with deeper understanding of the ways 
of God?  We will not know until the day we stand before the One Who reigns.  But we know the mind of the One 
Who gave us these words through the life of the Psalmist, 3000 years ago.  In the words of Scripture, we have 
an insight into the mind and purposes of God. 
 
This Psalm is a prayer of aspiration for the new king Solomon and what he yearns to be toward God and for his 
people.  What Solomon, the author of the psalm, could pray for aspirationally, and achieve in part, could be 
prayed descriptively in anticipation of the yet Greater Son, Who would bring to pass even the most extravagant 
statements in this Psalm.  Could there be a King whose reign would extend to the ends of the earth? A King who 
would bless all the nations?  
 
Isaac Watts in 1719 penned a great hymn based on this psalm.  The age of modern missions had not begun 
and Watts could not know how soon the day when 
 

Jesus shall reign where’er the sun 
Does his successive journeys run; 

His kingdom stretch from shore to shore, 
Till moons shall wax and wane no more. 

 
In our day, it is true that His kingdom (His power, presence and blessing) does stretch from sea to sea and to 
the ends of the earth.  There is a flood of reports from every corner as to what Jesus is at work doing.  In India, 
for example, where many authorities are standing in vocal and open opposition to the Gospel, there is a 
massive turning to Jesus.  In the face of great hostility there are many hungry for the life-giving good news of 
Jesus.   
 
Every place where the Gospel message has been sown and where a living relationship with the Living God has 
begun to take root, there is a demonstration of the liberating power of this Good News.  James Montgomery a 
century after Watts in 1821 wrote another hymn based on this psalm. 
 

Hail to the Lord’s anointed, great David’s greater Son! 
Hail in the time appointed, His reign on earth begun! 

He comes to break oppression, to set the captive free; 
To take away transgression, and rule in equity. 

 
In one country, they have deregistered some thousands of agencies in their own country from the ability to 
receive foreign monies because of this unceasing flow of generosity from Christians.  In refugee camps across 
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the middle East thousands are embracing Jesus, placing themselves at risk, because they have seen in God’s 
people, and then in Jesus Himself, what James Montgomery renders poetically based on Psalm 72:  
 

He comes in succour speedy to those who suffer wrong; 
To help the poor and needy, and bid the weak be strong; 

To give them songs for sighing, their darkness turn to light, 
Whose souls, condemned and dying, were precious in His sight. 

 
Our Canadian impulse toward ‘humanitarianism’ and ‘justice’ finds its foundations in the One Who comes to 
break oppression and to set the captive free.  And let it be known that the followers of Jesus in Canada, though 
we still fall short of our Master, are amongst the best practitioners of these two touchstones of Canadian 
society.  Statistically we are the most likely to volunteer and the most generous in charitable donations.  Many 
of our congregations are known as centres where the Good News is demonstrated as much as proclaimed.  This 
is good.  Let’s keep growing to be like Our King Who ‘will defend the afflicted among the people and save the 
children of the needy.’   
 
There are so many stories of what our own EMCC tribe has done and is doing in Gospel demonstration and 
proclamation.  It is not one or the other. Ours is an integrated vision.  It is the life of Jesus flowing through us.  
The apostle John wrote, “If anyone has material possessions and sees his brother in need but has no pity on 
him, how can the love of God be in him?” (1 John 3:17). Or, again, James, the Lord’s half-brother: “If one of you 
says to him, ‘Go, I wish you well; keep warm and well fed,’ but does nothing about his physical needs, what 
good is it?” (James 2:16). 
 
Of the messianic King, the psalmist (72:17) could proclaim, “All nations will be blessed through him, and they 
will call him blessed.”  It is happening in our day. 
 
But we are living in the time of the King’s reign that is ‘now and not yet.’  During WWII, the turning point of the 
war in Europe happened on D-day, the day of the Normandy invasion, June 6, 1944, but it was not the end of 
the war!  There were bloody days ahead.  VE-Day (Victory in Europe) when the German troops laid down their 
arms was nearly a year later, May 8, 1945.  And the Lord Jesus told us that this would be the way that His reign 
would unfold. With His First coming, we experienced D-Day and at His Second Coming we will have the Final 
Victory.  To explain this, he told the parable of the Wheat and the Weeds (Matt 13:24-30 and 36-43).  In this 
parable, Jesus explains that the kingdom of heaven, that is, the power and the presence of God, is like a field 
sown with wheat.  But the enemy sneaks into the field to sow weeds in the midst of the wheat. The master says, 
“Let both [the wheat and the weeds] grow together until the harvest” (v. 30). 
 
As the Lord explains later, “The harvest is the end of the age, and the harvesters are angels. As the weeds are 
pulled up and burned in the fire, so it will be at the end of the age.  The Son of Man will send out his angels, 
and they will weed out of his kingdom everything that causes sin and all who do evil.   As the weeds are pulled 
up and burned in the fire, so it will be at the end of the age.  The Son of Man will send out his angels, and they 
will weed out of his kingdom everything that causes sin and all who do evil” (Matt 13:39-41). 
 
This is our experience in this in-between time.  We do see the way in which the wheat and the weeds are 
growing up together.  The Lord explains that “The field is the world, and the good seed stands for the sons of 
the kingdom. The weeds are the sons of the evil one” (v. 38).   How are we to live in the present? We, who are 
the sons, that is, the heirs of the kingdom are said to be the good seed.  We are to be planted in the field and 
we are to bring forth a harvest of good and of blessing.   This is what it means to be a ‘son of the kingdom’ -- like 
father, like son, is the key idea.  We who are heirs have the power and know the presence of God and we are 
called to be fruitful and to multiply ourselves. And here is the welcome surprise. The weeds, that is, those who 
are like their father, the evil one, are those who become wheat! This is why the weeds are not pulled until the 
end of the age. It is our privilege to invite others to join us and to become heirs of the kingdom instead of heirs 
of the evil one.   In order for this to happen we must be planted in the field, and “the field is the world”!  How do 
we live in the world? By blessing!  All the nations of the earth will be blessed through the King, says Psalm 72.  
And how will that kingdom blessing come? Through us, we who have been called heirs of the kingdom.  Let the 
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following be a byword amongst us: ‘I am being sent by Jesus to bless others and to invite them to follow Him’ – 
Way of Jesus, Marker 2. 
 
I would be remiss if I did not also note that 2017 is the 500th Anniversary of the Reformation. It is apropos to 
take note of this anniversary as we look to the future. On October 31, 1517, Martin Luther nailed 95 Theses to 
the door of the Wittenberg church decrying abuses and distortions that had corrupted the Church. This act 
symbolizes the beginning of the Reformation which has changed the course of history. It has fallen out of 
fashion to celebrate Reformation Day, but on this the 500th Anniversary, and in light of our theme and our 
hopes for the future of our nation, it is good to find inspiration in the courage Luther, Calvin, Zwingli, Menno 
Simons and Knox to name a few. When standing before his accusers who wanted him to renounce his views, 
Luther is reputed to have said, ‘Here I stand, I can do no other.’ We owe them much. May God raise up faithful 
men and women, who will speak truth into our world in our time. Luther gives us more food for thought with his 
observation, ‘Everything that is done in this world is done by hope.’ Lord Jesus, make us a people who sow love, 
spread blessing and extend hope!  
 
Because of our hope in Jesus, we have the best reason to believe that the best days for Canada are ahead.  
There will be challenges; there will be reversals; there may be hardship and there may be persecution.  But, 
again in the words of Montgomery, 
 

O’er every foe victorious, He on His throne shall rest; 
From age to age more glorious, all blessing and all blest. 

The tide of time shall never His covenant remove; 
His name shall stand forever, His name to us is Love. 

 
He shall reign from sea to sea and to the ends of the earth! Amen.  
 
And what of our future, that is, the future of the Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada? Our future is tied 
inextricably to our willingness to stay close to the Lord of the nations. He has given us an unusual place in this 
nation.  Our tribe is not large, though some of our congregations are amongst the largest in the land.   But we 
have reason to believe that God is not finished with us yet.  It has never been my vision for us to be the biggest.  
This is not a metric we have used. There is a saying, that it is not the size of the dog in the fight, but the size of 
the fight in the dog that counts.  Perhaps we can refine this a little by saying, that it is not the size of the gift in 
the heart, but it is the size of the heart in the gift that matters.  The widow with her mite gave “more than all the 
others because she gave all her living” (Mark 12: 42-44). 
 
We have not sought to compare ourselves to others.  We have sought to be faithful to the vision that God has 
set before us.  We have sought to be faithful.  And God has honoured and will honour this.  As I leave office, I 
have not done all things well, but I have done them as well I could.  And to the heirs of EMCC, may the 
movements represented in EMCC that God has blessed for more than 200 years, find in your day and on your 
watch, that you have cherished and you have invested to His glory, and to the good of this world that needs His 
glory and His blessing.  And you have been ready to go where He goes and to do what He does.  And to my 
successor may you receive the mantle of leadership and the blessing and empowerment of God for the coming 
days sufficient for its challenges and replete with promise.  
 
Introduction 
 
It has been a joy for me to serve as EMCC president since July 2004.  This is my sixth report to Assembly since 
taking office in July 2004.  It has not always been easy but the Lord has sustained me through these last 13 
years. I began my journey of serving the larger EMCC church, first as District Superintendent Canada East in 
1998.  At the time CED was facing a crisis needing to downsize and to retool and re-vision for the future.  My 
first address to the CE District Conference in 1999 was on the theme, ‘The Main Thing is to Keep the Main 
Thing, the Main Thing.’  My service has been an attempt to keep the main thing the main thing.   
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Autobiographically my journey began as I wrestled with the Lord about His will.  I was on a track to a full time 
engagement with EBC but over 5 consecutive days in February 1998 five different individuals spoke a word 
saying that I should make myself available to serve as DS.  The answer to my wrestling and indecision came in 
early March as I was driving through SW Ontario having an intense conversation with the Lord about whether I 
should agree to this attempt to draft me as the next DS.  After driving through a number of small towns I said to 
the Lord, ‘I will do this if you will allow us to be the movement that plants at least a cell in each of these 
villages.’  I realized that the Lord had given me an answer.  Like Paul I can say, “I have been faithful to the 
heavenly vision.” But I am fully cognizant that while I have been faithful, I have been unequal to this vision: ‘A 
cell in every village, A congregation in every town, a celebration in every city.’ There is still much to be done. This 
was the early watchword for my vision.  It still resonates but there has been some refinement in my 
understanding of the how and the what. 
 
We still thought that to plant churches was to disciple. We continued to wrestle with the fundamental question, 
What is it to be a follower of Jesus? What is it to fulfill the Great Commission? In seeking to answer this 
question, we began a journey that is becoming a hallmark of EMCC. In those early days my pledge to advance 
the Great Commission was seen through the lens of ‘planting churches.’  And God in His grace has allowed us 
to plant churches or to catalyze the planting of churches or to nurture new church plants in some measure.  
Over the course of time we came to approach this more organically and more driven by values than by program 
or strategic plan.  (See our church planting manifesto: New Groups for New People.) Even though we jettisoned 
‘church planting’ as such, our ‘success rate’ judged in numbers has been on a par or better than most sister 
denominations.  This is quite astonishing when assessed in terms of ‘bang for the buck.’ We have spent very 
little in ‘church planting.’  But the Lord was teaching us to take a road less traveled, the road that we now call 
the Way of Jesus. 
 
My search for a good answer to this question involved learning from others, including participation in the 
Keystone Training offered by World Partners USA. Six of us traveled to Keystone SD for this training. The key 
take away for me was that the basic unit of the Great Commission was not the congregation/church but rather 
the disciple. We had already learned by bitter experience how true it is that you can plant a church without 
making disciples, but making disciples inevitably results in the formation of Christian communities. In early 
2007 I asked Joel Zantingh to join me in the project of distilling the teaching of KTI. We soon abandoned this 
project because it became apparent that it gave no simple, clear and comprehensive way of describing what it 
is to be a follower of Jesus. It was out of this work that the sevenfold statement now known as the Way of Jesus 
was born. We did not realize how formative these seven markers would become and the deep impact that it 
would have on the members of the national team and that is now touching people across Canada and to the 
ends of the earth. God continues to use these 7 simple, centering marker statements to shape and direct our 
lives. In our national team meetings we continue to take turns sharing stories that either illustrate or give 
insight in what it means to live ‘like Jesus, for Jesus, and in the power of the Spirit of Jesus.’  He continues to 
teach us.  I will say more about this below.  
 
It is good to be reminded about our key guiding statements:  
 

Mission  
His Mission - Our Mission 
The EMCC is passionately committed to following Jesus on mission together.  

Vision  
 Seeking God passionately for dramatically increasing numbers of Jesus followers, led by  

Christ-inspired leaders.  

National Team Purpose 
The EMCC National Team coaches, catalyzes, resources, and networks Great Commission  
EMCC congregations, leaders and followers of Jesus. 

 
As I write this last report it will be helpful to once again revisit that journey that we have been on. Back in the 
early days following the 1993 merger, there had been some talk and some dreaming of creating a church that 
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would extend ‘from sea to sea.’  Make no mistake the merger in 1993 of the Evangelical Church and the 
Missionary Church was a remarkable achievement in its own right. It happened very quickly. Some will 
remember the words of Alf Rees, the first president of the merged entity, ‘Let’s elope!’ That left a lot of the 
logistical stuff to get sorted.  It is striking that a decade later in October 2003 a collaboration of the Canada 
West directors, the Canada East directors and the EMCC directors resulted in a decision to propose a 
restructuring that would create a truly national entity centralize administration and decentralize ministry 
support.  I was asked to draft a proposal for the restructuring. The Regional Minister paradigm was key to this 
restructuring.   The boards supported the proposal and by January through a series of forums and information 
meetings we began to share the vision.  There was a recognition that the God Who had called the EMCC into 
being was now calling its people to take another step towards His preferred future.  In 2004, the two District 
Conferences strongly endorsed this direction. Assembly 2004 saw the delegates endorse this move in principle 
and then elect the first full time president to lead through the change.  And so began my journey of being 
accountable to three boards and working with a fourth!  From September 2004 to April 2005, there were many 
hours of consultation and more regional forums, and 17 revisions of the new constitution (bylaws). My thanks to 
Graham Burkhart who was my chief correspondent through the bylaw journey and to Don Adolf who travelled 
many times and many miles advancing the vision at forums across SK, MN, AB and BC.  Then came Special 
Assembly 2005 video linking St. Catharines and Calgary. The amazing result was the strong votes in favour of 
this direction.  No resolution passed with less than 96% and some were unanimous. Vision drove our corporate 
sense of direction. We believed that God was leading us to reshape the organization to better achieve His 
kingdom purposes.  For a year, I worked with four boards! The following year it dropped to only three! (And this 
demanding scenario would continue until 2011.)  Getting this far depended on the good will and the trust of so 
many who had a sense that the Lord was indeed leading.   
 
We had begun this journey in 2004 with a vision of what could be.  Organizationally we would centralize our 
administration and decentralize our ministry support.  And that is what we have done.  In this last year 2016, as 
I travelled to the pastors’ retreats across our nation, this was a chorus that was repeated often.  We were 
seeking a ‘high touch’ impact through our Regional Ministers who would multiply the amount of contact with 
pastors, congregations and boards.  Let’s not forget how far we have come.  Part of the goal was to move from 
a supervisory function to a coaching function for our ministry focus as a national team.  This flattening of the 
demographic has served well.  
 
Administratively we have continued on this journey of consolidating and streamlining our operations.  We used 
to have four bookkeepers/financial administrators. On many fronts we have seen this happen.  Our overall 
staffing has not grown but we have been able to deploy them much more efficiently and effectively. When we 
began this journey, we had very few national policies in place.  When we began we had files spread across the 
country.  Now most of our records of pastors and churches have not only been centralized, but they have been 
digitized (and, yes, still kept securely). Credentialing applications have moved online.  Communications have 
moved online. Even though our team is spread across this wide land, and sometimes on assignment elsewhere, 
we pull them together through electronic means on a regular basis and face to face once a year. We have come 
a long way in these last 13 years. 
 
We have sought an integration of our entire team.  When we began, we had two districts that had their own 
policies, budgets, and kept their own statistics.  We had a ‘national church’ that was an umbrella entity that 
operated on a shoestring budget of $66,000.  And then we had EMCC Missions that functioned pretty much on 
its own.  Philosophically, it was our intent from the beginning to see an integration, for the National Church to 
have an ‘Acts 1:8 Profile,’ that is, that we should see our ministry in terms of our ‘Jerusalem, Judea, Samaria 
and Ends of the Earth.’  This has happened.  We have deliberately and profitably fostered interaction between 
our entire ministry team and what we do internationally as well as nationally.  This has allowed our international 
workers/ missionaries to benefit from the skills and training of our Regional Ministers and has allowed us to 
strengthen international partnerships and to initiate new partnerships with a great deal of impact on the ground 
globally.  This approach has enriched our Regional Ministers by broadening their horizons and by learning by 
doing ministry cross culturally – a good way to discover one’s cultural blind spots.  Our team is stronger for it 
and has brought that strength of experience and collaboration to the entire EMCC family.  We have not been 
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able to do everything that some have expected but we have done more than might have been expected with the 
resources that have been entrusted to us.   
 
There was still a lot to do. There was the hard work of taming the administrative animal, ‘shoeing the galloping 
horse, and getting on with kingdom work!  Administratively we tried the patience of some and depended on the 
grace of all.  From an administrative standpoint 2008 was the first year that felt as though we had almost 
moved out of the transitional phase.  The staff and board had carried an immense load.  We had done 
something quite difficult.  We did not simply merge three entities but we transferred pieces of the 
administration and responsibilities from the districts and assigned them to the national entity.  We also 
redirected the funding from the district entities to the national, but we also left virtually all of the capital assets 
in the district administration.  There were good reasons for it at the time but it also demanded extra work to 
make this function.  
  
From 2005 to 2011, I worked with three boards. In my report to Assembly 2009, I wrote, ‘making three 
corporations that do not have interlocking board members keep in step takes a certain level of energy and 
intentionality.  We are at a point where we can give that attention and there are now good reasons for us to 
explore next steps.’   I wrote a proposal in 2010 that set out a course to Amalgamation. This was done in 
anticipation of the new federal Not for Profit Corporations Act.  One of the major roadblocks at the time was the 
fact that the legislation governing the amalgamation of ‘not for profit’ corporations had not been modernized 
the way it had been in the case of ‘for profit’ corporations.  Assembly approved it with a 94% vote.  Because of 
the newness of the Act, it took until 2013 for the Amalgamation to be finalized by the government. In the 
meantime, we began the further integration of the operations and the work of writing and aligning policy to take 
into account the entire entity.  It has been complicated enough that many are still doing catch up in 
understanding and terminology.  And we have seen the benefits of operating a single entity. Our vision of one 
national office with two campuses and some outliers has served us well for 13 years.  
 
At Assembly 2017, you will consider some further bylaw amendments.  When we did our revisions in 2011 with 
legal guidance, it was to bring our existing bylaws sufficiently into line with the new act so that we could carry 
on, but we knew that there would be more work that needed to be done subsequently.  We are thankful for the 
good help of lawyer Victor Howard along the way, particularly noting the work on bylaws in 2005, 2011 and now 
in 2017.  
 
My Thanks 
How can I express my sense of gratitude for having had the privilege of serving the EMCC family for these last 
13 years as president?  I came into the family as a pastor in 1982 and then took on the superintendency of 
CED in 1998, and then the presidency in 2004.  These last 13 years have been part of the same fabric of 
belonging to this tribe.  I have grown much and been enriched in my own spiritual life through my journey.  It has 
been my privilege to visit many congregations and to meet many.  The sense of welcome and of family has been 
strong.  I am thankful for the dedication and example of pastoral leaders across the land and for our 
missionaries in other lands.  There may be other tribes that have their equal but I have not met them.  Courage, 
faith, sacrifice, humility are the hallmarks seen so often.  The interactions at pastors retreats across the nation 
have been a highlight for me for more than a decade.   
 
I joined the EMCC board as a director in 1995, two years after merger and have served in one capacity or 
another ever since, some 22 years, the last 13 in an advisory role and reporting to the board.  When some 
would step off and new directors added, it was always with a sense of wonder that God could bring new people 
with such different giftings and personalities and yet the essential character of the board would continue.  It has 
been a joy to serve and to report to the directors of the board: ‘the fellowship of the King’ on mission together 
for Jesus.  As my term of service has matured, it was a joy to find the opportunity for increased contact with our 
international partners.  These coworkers have been part of God’s blessing to me in opening new perspectives 
and ideas on how to step into the future.  I will miss them too.   
 
And to my team.  Since 2004 there has been quite a bit of turnover, but somehow the ethos of the team has 
been preserved.  Many have commented on the fact that our team enjoys being together.  We feel privileged to 
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have a strong sense of family.  Our team is widely dispersed across our nation.  And we can only get most 
everyone into the same venue a couple of times a year, but for this, God has knit us together in a good way.  We 
have been a small team but a lot has gotten done because of a willingness to pitch in and help in a cross 
disciplinary fashion.  The character and the beauty of Jesus has been evident time and again especially in those 
times that test us.  During our days together, we take the opportunity to express our appreciation for one 
another.  And there is never any lack of affirmation.  Without naming each one in the team – I will save that for 
another time – I want to thank you for being my family and my community on mission to the world.  We have 
recently in February said our good byes to Pam Hicks and welcomed Lotoya Mahorn.  We will be saying farewell 
to Lou Geense and to Sandra Tjart later this year and to Jean Winker who has done so much to keep me on 
track over the last thirteen years and done it with grace and aplomb.  Psalm 133:1 reads, “How wonderful and 
beautiful it is when brothers and sisters live and work together in unity.”  This overarching and all-embracing 
sense of unity is something that I will miss.  Thanks to my team and to my larger EMCC family for allowing me to 
serve.   
 
Finances 
 
The Audit  
We are thankful for the efficient way in which staff has prepared for audits on a yearly basis.  The auditors are 
happy and so are we.   The Assembly receives high level reports on the finances that try to give an accurate 
snapshot of our finances.   You will find those reports elsewhere in the Assembly Book. 
 
One of the extraordinary chapters in the early days of restructuring is the work of bringing a new order to the 
finance and audit side of EMCC.  We had three different accounting systems and practices.  It was the audit for 
2007 that was the first that gave us a solid basis in a form that was more transparent.  Our staff did a lot of 
hard work, but it was the outgoing treasurer at the time, Bruce Karcher, who provided the auditor with a new 
format.  He redid the year 2006 in order to provide the basis for the 2007 audit.  This has been the basis for 
every audit since, and we have been blessed with staff that make the annual audit look easy.  Once again the 
audit for the year 2016 is presented to Assembly and the auditors had praise for the accounting and for the 
staff.  Our thanks to those past and present who have worked to get and keep our financial house in good 
order.   
 
Funding EMCC 
This is another year in which we are celebrating God’s provision through the faithfulness of His people. We are 
thankful for the generous way that many have increased their support of our Common Cause.  The year 2016 
has been a year of the Lord’s provision in which we have been encouraged by the increased support of 
congregations who are moving to more intentionally move to embrace the 5% Common Cause target.  We say 
thanks for this.  We are trying to be good stewards of what we receive.  I am including some of the rationale that 
has appeared in past reports.  I hope that it is helpful. 
 
In 2005 we adopted a simple formula to fund our shared ministry as an EMCC: Congregations are to target 5% 
of total income minus capital as a contribution to EMCC.  
 
There are several key principles that underlie this approach. 
 

1. It is a good faith target of 5%. It is not a tax.  When an individual joins a congregation, we do not tax, but 
we teach good stewardship.   

2. A percentage number allows the ‘fortunes’ of EMCC to rise and fall with the fortunes of congregations.  
It does not favour a particular size of congregation.   

3. God has called EMCC into being and wants to see it thrive. Giving is ministry, and raising funds is 
ministry that God blesses. 

4. We will keep our national church infrastructure small.  Unlike other national churches that take a larger 
share of the tithes and offerings, we will leave the vast majority of the resources in the hands of 
congregations. 

General Assembly 2017 33



	
	

5. Surpluses will not be accumulated but rather disbursed for ministry. Beyond a three month reserve we 
do not hold surplus funds.  As such we have established a number of funds that go directly back into 
ministry.   

6. As a National Team we will provide support and service to congregations, irrespective of their 
willingness or ability to achieve the 5% target.   

 
Investments 
Part of the growth in our ability to better handle our finances is that establishment of a renewed investment 
committee.  This is a small but important part of our funding stream.  We are thankful for the work done by 
Wendel Schlumberger, on staff for a little more than a year, but who brought 20 years of investment expertise, 
allowing us to develop a sound investment policy.  He fell in love with EMCC and has chosen to serve on our 
investment committee with good results.   
 
Pension and Benefits 
You will see elsewhere a report on P&B.  I want to express my thanks to those who have made our pension and 
benefits a sound and useful addition to our life together.  Thanks to Pauline Zondervan who continues as 
administrator.  Pauline demonstrates the care and the skill that we strive for in our service to you.   
 
Operations 
You will see in the statements that we have ended in the black, a direct indication of the support of 
congregations in the year 2016.  The World Partners fund was close.  Again, we have much for which to be 
thankful.  We will say more about the changing face of missions below.  You will also read the reports from the 
WP Director and the Associate WP Director elsewhere in the Assembly manual.   
 
Canadian Ministry 
 
When you turn to the Regional Ministers Report you will get a window on the National Team’s involvement in the 
larger work of EMCC.  We know that our work happens largely through the people of God planted in 
communities across our nation.  We are looking forward to some story sharing during Assembly.  We have seen 
over the last two years a number of new congregations both associate and some already as full members of 
EMCC.  What is exciting to see is that some are ‘new Canadians’ who are finding a home among us.  Some are 
congregations who have been attracted by the Way of Jesus ethos.  We now have ‘new groups for new people’ 
planted from sea to sea.  Our prayer is that these will indeed be increasingly ‘disciple making communities’ and 
that all of our established congregations will continue to be ‘infected’ by the good yeast of disciple making.  It is 
worth reflecting for a moment on the nature of EMCC.  
 
Denomination versus National Church? Is this important? 
Is EMCC a denomination or a national church?  The language we use is important.  For example, which shall we 
use, ‘pro-life’ or ‘anti-abortion’?   The language we use tends to shape perceptions.  It is not uncommon for the 
word ‘denomination’ to be used with a dismissive or even pejorative tone.  In North America we have also 
tended to be overly enamored with the myth that as Hybels puts it, ‘the local church is the hope of the world.’  
This is not biblical.  Neither is the idea that the local church is the only entity that has a right to appropriate the 
term church.  It is a straightforward bit of concordance work to show that in the NT the word ‘church’ is used for 
a ‘house gathering,’ the ‘believers in a given city,’ the ‘believers in an extended geographical region’ as well as 
‘believers in all ages both in heaven and on earth’ (the universal church).  Moreover, when the Lord Jesus, said, 
“I will build my church,” He had in mind a single macro entity that would be manifest on a micro level in a 
variety of expressions.  The essence of this entity we call the church is found in the words of Jesus, “For where 
two or three come together in my name, there am I with them” (Matt. 18:20).  
 
The reason that this is important is that ‘evangelical’ theology, which is to say, ‘congregationalist’ theology 
creates a strange inconsistency in our theology of the church.  It is common for us to speak of some 
organizations that are ‘parachurch.’  But this cannot be correct.  How can part of the ‘church’ be ‘parachurch’?  
If the essence of the church is the presence of believers and Jesus, isn’t the parachurch, church?  In many 
communions there is a recognition of a variety of structures parish churches, of orders and societies and 
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institutes.  Without detailing any of the particulars it is worthy of noting that a conception of the church that 
cannot account for major expressions of the body of Christ and that must resort to the language of ‘parachurch’ 
is deficient.  All this to say that there is something important that we are privileged to steward.   
 
I have put this question to some in the past and I believe that it bears repeating.  Did God call EMCC into being? 
If he has, then let us cherish and nurture it and do our best to make it everything that God intends.  Thankfully 
most of us recognize that it is God at work in what we call the EMCC.  There is a value to the ‘connectionalism’ 
that shapes our common doctrine, our common mission and our common life. Let’s recognize that the network 
nature of EMCC is no stranger than the network nature of our congregations.  In other words, our congregations 
are affinity based networks that are not strictly tied to geography. How many congregational gatherings do you 
drive by to get to ‘your’ church?   
 
Thank you to each one who has been part of my journey in the EMCC.  Thank you EMCC, that is, you the people 
of EMCC, who have taught me much of being part of the family of God. It has been a joy to visit many 
congregations and to get to know many people who are living to His glory. 
 
Communications 

I have appreciated the growth in our capacity in the area of communications.  The vehicle of communications 
may go unnoticed unless you recall how far we have come in the last five years.  Thanks to Gavin Wark who has 
transitioned from youth to communications in a seamless and selfless way.    
 
EMCC Youth 

We are thankful for Mark Anderson and Alison Lefebvre for their leadership.  Their report indicates their heart 
for youth and their desire to see disciple making be the living heart of what we are doing in ministering to youth 
and through youth in a cross generational way.    
 
Chinook Village 

Our relationship to Chinook Village is on the cusp of a major change.  We have sought over the last couple of 
years to disentangle the relationship and to allow Chinook Village to move into the next stage of its growth.  
Along the way there has been a good deal of clarification on past promises and understandings in order to 
complete this process. At present it is still a ‘controlled entity’ of EMCC.  It was the intent in 2005 to see 
Chinook Village established in its own right.  We are now at a new juncture and looking to see Chinook Village 
achieve that next level of organizational integrity.  When we reported in 2013, it was our hope to see the 
disentanglement done by 2015.  Now our hope is that it will happen by the end of 2017.  God bless this 
ministry endeavour to seniors as they navigate in the changing currents of different times.  
 
Camps 
There are a total of six camps across our great land.  Charis in BC, Rivers Edge and Whispering Pines in AB, 
Echo Lake in SK, Stayner and Mishewah in ON.  There are a number of camp specific reports in this book.  None 
of the camps are ‘controlled entities.’ These camps have distinct heritages and serve regional constituencies.  
They are incorporated entities with their own boards and the attendant responsibilities of managing their own 
affairs.  They were born in a time when camping was simpler, and cheaper, and when there was a stronger and 
clearer commitment to camping ministry.   They were born in a time when the ‘camp meeting’ was a vital part of 
the life of the conference.  As I wrote to someone this last year, ‘it is no longer your grandfather’s camping 
experience.’ The road for the camps has not been easy.  They are looking to find a new place in the economy of 
the Kingdom.  Since we last reported each of the camps has found a way forward and continues to bring 
blessing.     
 
Rocky Mountain College and Emmanuel Bible College 
You will have reports elsewhere for the two colleges.  Thank God for the strong, creative and courageous 
leadership that He is providing in these demanding days.  We note the retirement of Dr. Mark Boughan and 
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appointment of Dr. Steven Roy as the new President and Dean of EBC.  Our thanks to President Mark for five 
years of service and may God bless him in this next transition.   
 
Recently there came an interesting opportunity to enter into an MOU involving EMCC, RMC, EBC, C&MA and 
Ambrose University. The net result is that EBC will be an approved institution in Eastern Canada for C&MA, 
Ambrose will be an approved institution for EMCC in Alberta.  RMC will be the approved institution for 
distributed learning.  No one is certain of all the ramifications but it was an idea that took its time to be birthed 
and we pray that it will prove beneficial to all the institutions.  
 
The Changing Face of Missions 
 
I begin this section by paying tribute to our missionaries past and present who have been part of the vast horde 
of men and women who have given themselves to the task of taking the Good News by demonstration and 
proclamation to the ends of the earth.  We have a rich history of sending out workers and we continue to send 
out many.   
 
Our missionary sending record is a long and storied history in both the Evangelical and Missionary Church 

• 1850-1860’s – China, Turkey, India 
• 1850’s – Germany, Switzerland, France, Russia 
• 1876 – Japan 
• 1890’s – Africa 
• 1905 – Nigeria – 1930 – “What will it take to arouse the church at home? Perhaps some of us may 

have to lay down our lives before people will awaken to Nigeria’s need” – Eldon Brubaker. 
• 1950’s and onward – Brazil, Peru, Boliva, Indonesia, Thailand 

 
Presently EMCC is represented in Sierra Leone, Jamaica, Haiti, Dominican Republic, Brazil, Ecuador, Hungary, 
Romania, Ireland, Middle East (Creative Access Countries), Asia, Ukraine, Russia, Italy, Niger, Singapore, 
Caribbean, Paraguay, Guatemala, Spain, Burkina Faso, Ghana, Mexico, Papua New Guinea, South Africa, Cuba, 
China, Turkey, Japan, Canada (First Nations and Quebec), USA. 
 
EMCC has a ‘in house’ sending agency, World Partners, that continues to serve a cadre of workers.  The number 
going out through WP has not grown.  This is not a reflection on the quality of the work we are doing or of the 
people who are serving.  It is rather an indication of a direction that we set some years ago.  Sandra writes in her 
report “As the ‘in-house sending agency’ for EMCC we have a very special opportunity and obligation. We are 
learning to be even more intentional in fulfilling the EMCC mandate.  Our goal is to deploy Canadians only in those 
places where deploying a Canadian is the best answer. We deploy Canadians in cross-cultural and international 
contexts only where a Canadian is the best answer to the strategic need or opportunity. Where there is a member 
of World Partners International, EMCC WP will seek to work with the WPI partner. Where there is an existing 
indigenous church planting movement and no WPI partner, EMCC WP will work strategically with a like-minded 
partner. Where there is no existing indigenous church planting movement, EMCC WP will consider initiating a 
pioneer work with the end of establishing an indigenous church planting/disciple-making movement. The 
situation will be assessed with a holistic perspective in mind.” 
 
This stance means that we are being selective about who and where.  Our desire is to see a maximum value for 
the investments we are making.  There is still a need for the deployment of Canadians in cross-cultural contexts.   
 
But there is another factor.  The very definition of long term missionary service is changing.  There was a time 
when a missionary would pack his or her barrels and a coffin too.  The intent was to die on the field.  Today the 
dominant trend is to define long term as a block of 3 to 5 years.  Major ‘faith’ missions, whose sole reason for 
existence is to send out workers, have seen a dramatic decrease in the number of new long term missionaries.  
In a recent cooperative survey done with EFC in cooperation with faith missions the thing that we have known 
anecdotally has been quantified. The other thing is that there is a number of views as to what we mean by 
‘mission’ or ‘missions.’  
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One particular manifestation of this shift in perspective is the rise of individual congregations, small, medium and 
large, choosing to engage directly in cross cultural and international ministry, often by establishing a short term 
‘missions trip.’  There have been good results and bad results out of this approach.  For our purposes it is enough 
to note that this phenomenon has had an impact on the shape of our cross cultural and international work.   
 
Another reality is that there are very few places where there is no viable church.  There are some and those are 
also very often the ‘creative access’ fields, where there are political or social obstacles to being a ‘missionary’ but 
where followers of Jesus can make a real impact by simply being present and living their lives of blessing 
transparently for Jesus.  For EMCC, World Partners International is the name of international partnership with 
other likeminded national churches.  A number are the result of our missionary activity a generation or two ago, 
but the more recent ones are of entities born out of disciplemaking movements that have a spiritual kinship to 
WP.  For example, in February 2016, we recognized partners in Malawi and Zambia.  James Chikopa, the leader 
of the church in Malawi has established 77 disciple making centres that are non- or inter- denominational.  But 
of these centres more than 30 have decided to band together to form the Missionary Church of Malawi, a natural 
outgrowth of an indigenous disciple making movement born out of the KTI training offered by World Partners USA.  
They are far better positioned to evangelize and to disciple their fellow Malawians.  But we have a role to bring 
strategic resources to bear.  In this particular case, James had asked that we should bring the Way of Jesus 
training to them.  It was privilege to train some 20 of these leaders from across Malawi to good effect. The level 
of encouragement that comes from this is disproportionate to the size of the investment.  The second thing we 
saw was the potential of extending the training in Conservation Agriculture, Farming God’s Way, a way of bringing 
tangible blessing in a land where the rains are uncertain. Plans are afoot to see this happen.   
 
We have called these new nascent relationships Global Initiatives.  And for a relatively small investment but well 
targeted investment in ministry or training the returns are enormous.   
 
As we plan for the future we want to care for our WP workers well and we also want to take advantage of the 
opportunities that God provides for relief and development and to selectively choose those places where we can 
make the most impact.   
 
I also want to add my thanks to Sandra Tjart and to Lou Geense.  They are coming close to retirement as well.  
They have served well and with joy. It has been a great pleasure to have them as part of the national team.  As 
we look at leadership for WP into the future, we are exploring pulling this into the sphere of our Regional Ministers.  
There are several possible configurations but our intent is to assure that our international workers are cared for 
and to do it in a model that is viable organizationally and financially.  The fact that we have embraced an Acts 1:8 
profile and that every member of the National Team has a heart for and an interest in our international work puts 
us in a position where it is possible to consider this option. We have worked through what could be the future 
direction but it will fall to my successor to set the course into the future.   
 
The Way of Jesus 
 
Earlier in my report, I indicated that God had been speaking to us early in my tenure about what it means to 
carry out the Great Commission.  We discovered along the way that God was also speaking to others in much 
the same way.  It was about returning to an older and deeper path to making disciples.  What is it?   Mike Breen 
put it well. He writes, ‘If you make disciples, you always get the church, but if you make a church, you rarely get 
disciples.  …Most of us have become quite good at the church thing. And yet, disciples are the only thing that 
Jesus cares about, and it’s the only number that Jesus is counting. Not our attendance or budget or buildings.’ 
 
Leonard Sweet has added his own insight: 
 

Jesus said, ‘Go and make disciples.’ We stopped and built worship warehouses. 
Jesus said, ‘Follow me.’ We heard, ‘Be a leader.’ 
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‘We have come to believe that we have a leadership crisis while all along we have been in a drought of 
discipleship.  The Jesus paradox is that only Christians lead by following.’   
 
 ‘First followers are always trying to get out of the way and make others first followers of Jesus as well.’  
 
Here is one more: ‘Following Jesus is just that.  It is following him. The destination is not the foremost 
issue.  Our future condition is not the issue.  Our survival is not even at issue.  The focus, the goal, and 
the reward lie not just in the following but in whom we are following.  The essence of following is the 
journey itself – being with Jesus.’ 

 
As I have said, the Lord had been speaking to us also along the same lines.  It was 2007 when we began to use 
the sevenfold Way of Jesus statements to describe what it is to ‘be a disciple.’  At that point, we had a growing 
sense that this was something that needed to be nurtured and better understood and better articulated.  We 
began to get some requests for helps or resources but still did not know how best to help.  A number of things 
happened in 2013 that gave more clarity on next steps.  It was Alberto, the missions director of our sister 
church in Ecuador that invited us to come and teach the Way of Jesus but to give time for ‘questions and 
interaction.’  Part of our dilemma was that we did not see the Way of Jesus as a curriculum but rather as a 
matrix that could accommodate a wide curriculum. So what do you teach if we were to do a training?  We never 
did get to Ecuador with the training but it stimulated some new growth in our understanding.  In 2013 we had 
invited WPUSA to do a Keystone training in Canada. I wanted to see if this ‘church planting by disciple making’ 
might be the way for us to catalyze God’s people here in Canada.  We had made a sizeable investment, inviting 
some key pastors and missionaries to the training, and seconding key members of our national team to coach 
and assist the trainers.  There was value in it but it was not scratching where I thought the itch was. We had 
done enough brief Way of Jesus overviews and seen enough harvest from this that we had to try to take it to the 
next level.  
 
In the summer of 2013 in response to an invitation, Joel and I travelled to Haiti to do a truncated Way of Jesus 
training to good effect.  In the Fall of that year, a group of about 30 from Christian Family Worship Centre in 
Toronto met three hours on a Tuesday evening for eight weeks.  Through this pilot we began to understand that 
there was a way to train for impact.  We continued to learn and in faith we organized our first 5-day training at 
Rivers Edge Camp.  We saw that this had potential to set people free to live their lives ‘like Jesus, for Jesus, and 
in the power of the Spirit of Jesus.’  Not everyone ‘got it’ but enough that it was clear that we were onto 
something.  
 
Since 2014 we have now delivered the full Way of Jesus training in Canada 11 times, and internationally 9 
times.  Three trainings are ongoing delivered in 3 one day blocks a month apart. The number of trainers 
continues to grow with alumni of earlier trainings becoming trainers. But we are most excited about seeing the 
chain of disciples making disciples happening ‘in the wild.’  In other words the Way of Jesus is taking root 
without the need of the ‘turbocharging’ of a training event.  This is what gives me hope for the future, not only 
for the Way of Jesus as such, but the for the ability of a disciple making ethos to embed itself in our people.  We 
are still in early days but there are many who have already told us how much it means to them in their journey 
with Jesus. 
 
I conclude about the Way of Jesus with some insights from various Way of Jesus trainings.  I have endeavoured 
to deepen and widen the pool of people who can catch the ethos of it.  I arranged for several from EMCC to 
participate in Way of Jesus training in India.  Pastor David Barbour from Powers Creek Community Church in 
West Kelowna joined me for the training of 28 church planting network leaders in Kolkata, and then a second 
training in Ranchi with the pastors of a particular regional network. David wrote: “I was profoundly impacted by 
the opportunity to help facilitate The Way of Jesus training in India, February 2017.  I think what impacted me 
the most was how receptive the leaders were to receiving this framework for relational living. These men and 
women are serving on the front lines of ministry and to see them light up with the simplicity and power of simply 
living out The Way of Jesus, was incredible. In the responses following the teaching, many participants 
expressed an excitement of returning to their ministries empowered by an intentional, authentic, and intimate 
relationship with Jesus. Thank You, to everyone who made this life-changing trip possible and I look forward to 
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continue building The Way of Jesus into my ministry here in BC…. I have begun to embrace them as formational 
in who I am in Jesus.”  
 
Akash Nandi, the leader of the Ranchi network wrote: “There were 28 dedicated leaders from nearby Ranchi 
city who were invited to participate in this training which has given them new direction to Live a life into the Way 
of Jesus every day. As it was held in the beginning of new year with the new enthusiasm all the leaders have got 
the right direction to move throughout the year and years ahead of their life and ministry. Indeed, it has 
revolutionized life and ministry of each leader who participated in Way of Jesus training.” 
 
On a personal note, Akash wrote: “I have participated in many seminars/workshop. In most of the 
seminar/training – teachings was given on ‘What to Do-How to Do’ and method of doing things so we can be 
successful and effective in ministry. But in Way of Jesus I have learned what it means to live for Jesus.  a way of 
Jesus can affect my family, friends and community. Seven saying of Jesus is now my core value of life and 
ministry upon which I would develop my life and ministry. If this training would be given to more leaders of our 
state, surely they too live a way of Jesus and affect positively the state of Jharkhand.” 
 
Shane Dsouza, who is the South East Asia director for KTI, a training that teaches church planting through 
disciple making, is a pastor and superintendent in the UMS of India, started by our missionaries back in the 
50s.  He assisted in a pilot training in Allahabad, India in October 2015. He was personally impacted by the Way 
of Jesus training and began to implement it in his own life and ministry.  During WPI summit in Thailand, he 
broached our bringing this training to his networks.  He recognized what Akash expressed above. With this in 
mind, Shane organized the two trainings.   
 
From the Kolkata training, Yesudass (Bangalore) wrote, “I have learned to live out what I have missed all my 
journey as a Christian.”   
 
His wife, Gracy Yesudass (Bangalore) wrote, “I thank God for the love and mercy which He showed upon me to 
be at this seminar.  For past 17 yrs I am serving the Lord actively but without good and proper relationship with 
Him.  But before attending this seminar, for past 4 months God is talking with me to have continuous 
relationship always. I am hearing His still small voice and to added to that experience, I have been confirmed in 
this training that I should not only have His presence always but to have His attitudes and behaviours.  Teaching 
and preaching is not effective until and unless I personalise Him and love Him and love His commandments.”   
 
I also invited Pastor Simon Beadle, Pastor Ken and Neila Lehman, Claran Martin, and Sandra Tjart to join me for 
a larger training event in Allahabad.  (Simon, David, Ken all have an India connection.) We did a hybrid session 
(part together, part separate) for men and women leaders and rising leaders in Yeshu Darbar movement that is 
now 3 million and counting.  The impact on the Canadians was profound, and the impact on the 93 students 
was no less so.  Despite some logistical challenges we saw the Lord work deeply in the lives of the participants.  
We continue to hear reports from the previous two trainings.  Here is the testimony from one young woman of 
this latest training, 
 
Babali Kumari wrote, “What I learned: Thank the Lord who brought me here! He blesses my life. I thank Jesus. I 
want to thank you for these great teachers who taught me! I want to tell you that I lacked love in my life. I 
wanted to love others but I could not.   1. The seven words that our teachers taught us went deep down in my 
heart.   2. I have started to walk with Jesus.  I am depending on the spirit of Jesus.  3. I am being sent by 
Jesus to bless others and to invite others to walk with Him  4. With my walk and life and manners, I am 
learning to develop a character like Jesus  5. I am learning to love God and others  6. I am learning the 
teachings of Jesus  7. I am helping another person and somebody else is helping me so that I can become 
mature as a disciple of Jesus  8. As a follower of Jesus I am becoming a member of the community of Jesus, 
which is completing the mission of Jesus is this world. I want to thank Jesus a lot and changed my life.” 
 
Asiz, one of the GPST young men who had helped us previously told us that he had been using the Way of Jesus 
ever since October 2015.  He had been a translator and not our target audience but he had embraced the Way 
of Jesus as his platform for following Jesus.  He is a young pastor assisting his father.  He took it into his home 
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congregation and it has resulted in more than doubling the size of their congregation as the people have been 
released to live ‘like Jesus, for Jesus, and in the power of the Spirit of Jesus.’   
 
Here are a couple of quotes from the Malawi and Zambia trainings in December of last year.  James Chikopa, 
the leader of the disciple making network in Malawi, wrote, “The Way of Jesus training has been very eye 
opening and timely. … The training will be used as a vehicle to touch and reach many people here in Malawi. A 
once in a life time transformational seminar to me and the churches will benefit wherever I go.” 
  
I end this list of quotes, with the comment of Benson Chembe, team leader for the KTI network, of Zambia, 
“This training has revolutionized how we can do evangelism. Previously we used to preach that you were going 
to hell if you did not repent. Now we can invite people on a journey to get to know Jesus. We can also use the 
method of blessing others to show that we are people of God and that we care. We can go from judging people 
to blessing people.” 

To conclude here is one testimony out of the recent training in Calgary: “Most everyday, as part of my quiet 
time, I go through the daily rhythms praying all the verses and repeating and praying over the 7 sayings. I find 
this is doing 2 things in my life: 1 - it is quietly changing my spiritual DNA to be like Jesus’s. For instance, often 
when I’m ready to react to something the thought comes to my mind - I am learning to be like Jesus in my 
attitudes…I ask Jesus how he feels about it and how I should respond and my heart is changed. 2 - it gets me 
ready to face the day: following, depending, blessing, loving and living like and for Jesus. And maybe the best 
thing is what it is doing for my wife! She is in the handbook everyday and absorbing; she loves the Way of Jesus. 
I am seeing her encouraged by it, living it and it truly does anchor both of us when life happens. Thanks to Phil, 
you Brian and all the folks that have helped us in this simple path of living and bearing fruit in our lives.” 

We are doing a training for 32 in Winnipeg.  Another training is to begin at Church at the Mission (Yonge Street 
Mission, Toronto).  We will have a number of key leaders who will take part in our next June training at EBC.  My 
prayer is that we have learned enough about what and how to deliver the training that it will have a real 
stickiness.  I am praying that it survives in EMCC beyond my tenure.   
 

1. I have begun following Jesus and am depending on the Spirit of Jesus in my journey. 
2. I am being sent by Jesus to bless others and invite them to follow Him. 
3. I am learning to be like Jesus in my attitudes, behaviours and character. 
4. I am learning to love God and to love others. 
5. I am learning the teachings of Jesus. 
6. I am helping someone and someone is helping me to be a reproducing follower of Jesus. 
7. I am participating in a community of followers of Jesus on mission to the world. 

 
Cruise Ship or Battleship?  
 
In a recent conversation with a pastor, I asked him about his congregation, ‘Do most of your people have a 
cruise ship or battleship mentality?’  In other words, do your people think that the pastor and others are there 
for their comfort, or do they see themselves as part of the team on mission to the world?  His candid answer 
was that the cruise ship mentality still prevails.  This is really the key to being part of what God wants to do from 
sea to sea and to the ends of the earth.  We need to understand that the church is not there for us, but that we 
are the church, and that we are on mission to the world.  We have seen that the Way of Jesus has proven to be 
measurably effective in changing this fundamental perception.  It is with this thought and this hope that we pray 
that God will move us.  I believe that we do want to live ‘like Jesus, for Jesus and in the power of the Spirit of 
Jesus.’ 
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Farewell 
 
I have been asked many times what my plans are for the future.  I really don’t know.  There is a song by A. B. 
Smith that goes like this: 

I know who holds the future, 
And I know who holds my hand, 

With God things don't just happen, 
Everything by Him is planned; 

So as I face tomorrow 
With its problems large and small, 

I'll trust the God of miracles- 
Give to Him my all. 

 
So, like you, I step into tomorrow not knowing what the future holds, but I do know who holds my hand.  “He 
leads me in paths of righteousness for His name’s sake.” 
 
Thanks for letting me journey with you for this last little while.  God bless you all. 
 
Your servant in Jesus, 
 
Phil Delsaut 
pdelsaut@emcc.ca  

General Assembly 2017 41



	
	

ADJUNCT REPORTS 
REGIONAL MINISTER REPORT 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________	
Reporting: Joel Zantingh 
Position: Regional Minister Team Leader 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________	
	
The RM Team exists to help leaders follow Jesus on mission by modeling, coaching, catalyzing, resourcing, and 
networking. We will see disciples making disciplers, leaders reproducing leaders, and congregations multiplying 
new groups for new people. 
 
Alongside Support for Pastors and Leaders 
We want to give you a window into the work of the Regional Minister (RM) Team over the past two years. 
Coaching and resourcing, our main tasks, are never ‘hollow, mindless exercises’, but are encounters of listening 
to the Spirit of Jesus together. Conversations with most of our pastors and leaders help us stay in tune with 
where God is at work in our midst, and the “collective story” we are a part of in response to His leading. What a 
joy to listen together to the Lord as He leads the EMCC. 
 
I’m proud of the hard-working dedication of each one on the Regional Minister team, making our events better, 
reviewing resources to share with others, covering off “first response” for one another as needed, particularly 
during Joel’s Sabbatical in 2015 and Lynn’s in 2016. 
 
And we also share the task of modeling a life of following Jesus. Our accountability for the personal call to be 
and make disciplers is always before us, helping us to be practical in inspiring others in our denomination to 
pursue the Great Commission call. Below you will read about some of the advancements being made in 
cultivating a “disciple-making” ethos. 
 
The ethos of “Disciples making Disciplers” is steadily growing 
Each RM is living a life of blessing and witness with neighbours and friends, sharing what our life with Jesus 
means and is accomplishing in us. 
 
There are monthly reports of new followers of Jesus discipling the “next generation” (spiritually). We held 8 
“Way of Jesus” events to inspire Disciple-making (Kitchener ON, Rivers Edge Camp AB, Charis Camp BC, 
Breslau ON, Macoun SK, Edmonton AB, Winnipeg MN, Toronto ON), with over 140 participants. We have 
engaged in Life-on-life leadership development with young leaders, including Bible College students. The 
Gener8 young leaders’ forum (Jan 2016) was again an opportunity to see God shaping the lives of next 
generation leaders.  The Regional Ministers are deeply involved in our common life.  Over the last two years 
there have been 8 pastors’ retreats in which the flavor of each part of our great nation is reflected as well as 
the common challenges.  The mutual encouragement and the refreshing from these gatherings is truly life-
giving to our pastoral leaders. 
 
At Assembly a number will share stories of disciple-making.  When we began this journey of intentionally 
focusing on disciple-making more than a decade ago, the stories were hard to come by.  We are seeing a 
change in our culture. More and more EMCC pastors and leaders have intentionalized a life of blessing others, 
investing in the lives of others, inviting others into their lives, and helping others to be reproducing followers of 
Jesus. 
 
More EMCC pastors and people are thinking about leadership through a disciple-making lens.  Our role is in part 
catalytic in nature as it relates to our congregations and pastors.  We have been part of creating an 
environment where making disciples who make disciples is on its way to becoming the norm.  We have seen the 
Way of Jesus begin to deeply shape some of our pastoral leaders, who are now making this platform the ‘core 
value’ for their ministry.  
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One pastor writes, ‘I look forward to continue building The Way of Jesus into my ministry here in BC.’ Another, 
‘We have made some good initial steps as various people in the congregation have been ‘infected’ with the Way 
of Jesus, but we/I need to lead and live in an even more intentionally clear way.’ 
 
Pastors and Leaders Becoming Better Question-Askers 
A “coaching culture” is continuing to grow among EMCC pastors and leaders. For pastors, processing what God 
is saying to them with a neutral, outside voice, helps immensely. We continue to conduct GC2 coaching skills 
training even though we have been at it since 2000.  Empowering through the asking of good questions is a 
skill that is much sought after and we have developed our skill in training others.  We have also seen the 
Coaching Skills extend into the development of board chairs.  John Cressman has now held several conference 
call based cohorts for the development of board chairs with very encouraging results.  And there are the many 
coaching conversations that we as Regional Ministers have. Here are a few numbers:  725 recorded face-to-
face RM Coaching conversations with pastors in 2015-2016; 2 GC2 Coaching Skills 1-Day Workshops held for 
local churches to 30 Leaders; 2 GC2 Coaching Skills 2-Track Training provided to 45 Leaders. 
 
We have helped catalyze new groups for new people 
We have articulated a new paradigm for ‘church planting’ that we call ‘new groups for new people.’  We want to 
see new disciple-making communities established.  Not all of our new groups have a clear understanding as 
they start of what this means but we work with them to help shape their operative paradigm.  Here are a 
number of new groups:  

• Happy Family Christian Ministries (Liberian), Calgary AB 
• Livingstones (developed from a MoveIn Patch), Oshawa ON 
• Rhema Church Satellite, Montreal, QC 
• Reverent Church, Halifax, NS 

 
We have assisted our new Associate Churches towards becoming Full Member EMCC Congregations 
We have a developmental path in which new groups are encouraged to become sufficiently organized to be self-
supporting, self-directing and self-propagating.  A formal step of encouragement is ‘Associate’ status. Here are 
a number who are now so recognized.  We are thankful to the Lord for what this list (and the one above) 
represents in terms of faith, courage, vision, passion and perseverance:  

• Abundant Life Chinese EMC, Toronto ON 
• Café Church, Kingston, ON 
• Dominion Chapel, Yorkton, SK 
• Hope City Church, Barrie, ON 
• Multicultural Christian Church, Edmonton, AB 
• New Life Community Church, AB 
• Yeshu Mandali, Calgary, AB 

 
We celebrate with those who’ve become Full Member Congregations 
We are stronger when we walk and work together.  A number of these full member congregations were born 
within the EMCC family and some have been adopted in.  What unites us is a common vision of ‘Following Jesus 
on Mission Together!’ 

• Mississauga Christian Family Worship Centre, Mississauga, ON 
• St. Clair Community Church in Sombra, ON 
• New Life CC, Stony Plain, AB 
• Romanian-Baptist EMC, Toronto ON 

 
We Worked with the following EMCC-Appointed Steering Committees for Full Member Congregations in need of 
outside Intervention 
A provision that we have made in our bylaws allows us to step in to help congregations that need a little outside 
intervention.  In some cases, this happens as we help a congregation end well its ministry, but in most cases, it 
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is a fresh opportunity to renew the ministry.  The most recent case is First EMC, Collingwood, ON, which has 
been governed by a Steering Committee over this past year and is nearing the place where it has renewed local 
leadership, a new pastor, a new hope and a new vision.  
 
Credentialing and Leadership Development for the Future  
We have screened and recommended Ministerial Credentials for 39 New Workers.  We are very thankful for the 
Credentialing Interview Teams across the country.  When we restructured in 2005 we made provision for more 
accessible regional credentialing.  Previously interviews were centralized in Calgary and Kitchener.  Over the last 
12 years a number of refinements have taken place. We are living in a day when some of the ‘givens’ of 
character and preparation can no longer be taken for granted.  As such we have continued to improve our 
‘quality control’.  We walk a delicate line as we work with local leadership who are keen to engage new pastoral 
leadership and sometimes there is a complex ‘two-step’ that is involved but we have worked hard and are 
pleased with the results to date.   
 
The Regional Ministers recognize that the credentialing threshold is a very important point as new ministers join 
the EMCC family.  As such each RM takes the time to get personally acquainted with candidates, walk them 
through the Application and work with the Credential Interview Teams (CIT) across the country, providing 
resources to assist the CIT volunteers. In 2016, we were able to do an update on our Licensed Minister 
Doctrinal Questionnaire, improving alignment with our updated Articles of Faith and Practice, approved by 
Assembly in 2013, and including questions not previously covered in interview.  
 
We have also prepared a resource to help CIT members to do their work and to standardize assessments 
across all the teams.  In particular the resource gives guidance when evaluating the responses of applicants, 
such things, as key Biblical texts, key words and concepts, alignment with EMCC Faith and Practice and stances 
on specific ‘hot button’ issues. 
 
Growth of the team  
In 2015, we added John Cressman to our RM Team in a part-time capacity. Since the beginning of 2017, he has 
been increasing his First-response capacity, and is helping with resourcing.   With the increased capacity of the 
RM Team and in the light of retirements on the World Partners side, the National Team is working through a 
new scenario for the direction of our World Partners international work that would see a higher integration with 
the Regional Ministers.  Subject to the direction of the new president, this interim configuration is expected to 
proceed on a test basis of a year.  We are looking at an October 1, 2017 date to begin this transition.  
 
For an updated listing of each RM’s First Response region, please see the listing at https://www.emcc.ca/can-
we-help/leaders/alongside-support/ 
 
You can read more about each RM at https://www.emcc.ca/who-we-are/national-team/ 
 
A word of thanks to the rest of our National Team for assisting us in nearly everything reported on here, and 
more specifically, to our Credentialing Interview Teams, the GC2 Training Team, members of EMCC-appointed 
Steering Committees, the Fall Pastors’ Retreats’ Coordinators, and our Area Network Group Leaders. 
 
The RM Team:  
Brian Archer - barcher@emcc.ca 
John Cressman - jcressman@emcc.ca  
Lynn Dietz  - ldietz@emcc.ca  
Claran Martin - cmartin@emcc.ca 
Joel Zantingh  - jzantingh@emcc.ca   
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Joel Zantingh 
jzantingh@emcc.ca 
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CREDENTIALLED SINCE ASSEMBLY 2015
First Name Last Name Credential Type Date of Approval Organization/Church Church City Prov

Anicet Batariho Certified Minister 10-Aug-16 Harvest New Life Christian Fellowship Edmonton AB
Jay Chowdhury Certified Minister 19-Dec-16 Calgary Christian Tamil Church Calgary AB
Gen Epp Certified Minister 14-Apr-16 Plattsville EM Church Plattsville ON
Ashleigh Keizer Certified Minister 17-May-15 No Organization Assigned AB
Juan Manigault Certified Minister 26-Oct-15 Rivers Edge Camping Association Cremona AB
Stewart McCann Certified Minister 26-Oct-15 Joshua Crossing EM Church Oakville ON
Leonard Sonneveld Certified Minister 1-Mar-17 Prospect Missionary Church Colborne ON
Gentry Stickel Certified Minister 20-Jan-16 Centre Street Church Calgary AB
Robb Williamson-Bynoe Certified Minister 1-Mar-17 Livingstones Community Fellowship Oshawa ON

Randall Benbow Licensed Minister 9-Mar-16 Country Hills Missionary Church Kitchener ON

Lafayette Bracewell Licensed Minister 26-Oct-15 Happy Families Christian Min. of CalgaryCalgary AB
Rob Campbell Licensed Minister 26-Oct-15 Bethel EM Church Three Hills AB
James Choi Licensed Minister 23-Jun-16 CrossRoads EM Church Red Deer AB
Barry Danylak Licensed Minister 20-Jan-16 Centre Street Church Calgary AB
Marcus Emberley Licensed Minister 1-Mar-17 Mt. Pleasant EM Church Singhampton ON
Sean Harder Licensed Minister 28-May-15 Winfield Community Church Lake Country BC
Jared Harrison Licensed Minister 26-Oct-15 Centre Street Ch,Bridgeland Campus Calgary AB
Tracy Minke Licensed Minister 16-Dec-16 CrossRoads EM Church Red Deer AB
James Phanuel Licensed Minister 17-Jun-15 Gospel Fire Evangelical Church Lethbridge AB
Nate Schultz Licensed Minister 9-Mar-16 Upper Thames Missionary Church Mitchell ON
Sara Williamson-Bynoe Licensed Minister 1-Mar-17 Livingstones Community Fellowship Oshawa ON

Transfer of LM under MOU with C&MA
Jason Erhardt Licensed Minister 29-Mar-17 Centre Street Church Calgary AB

Sam Barry Ordained Minister 31-Aug-16 Markham Missionary Church Markham ON
Don Boyd Ordained Minister 26-Oct-15 Wilmot Centre Missionary Church Petersburg ON
Randy Burtis Ordained Minister 28-Apr-16 Centre Street Church Calgary AB
Anthony Does Ordained Minister 16-Mar-16 Bethel Missionary Church Lindsay ON
Kathy Elliott Ordained Minister 15-Apr-15 House of Prayer For All Nations Kitchener ON
Dan Hamill Ordained Minister 26-Oct-15 Bethel EM Church Kitchener ON
Alison Lefebvre Ordained Minister 12-19-2016 EMCC National Team Didsbury AB
Raymond Liu Ordained Minister 31-Aug-16 EastRidge EM Church Stouffville ON
Ashwin Ramani Ordained Minister 17-Jun-15 Centre Street Church Calgary AB
Dan Sandford Ordained Minister 23-Dec-15 Nampa EM Gospel Fellowship Nampa AB
Joshua Smith Ordained Minister 25-May-16 The Link Christian Fellowship Winnipeg AB
Barron Timmons Ordained Minister 20-Jan-16 Calgary Remand Centre                                c/o Chester UszackiCalgary AB
Daniel Wallace Ordained Minister 31-Aug-16 Harmony Community Church Winchester ON

RECOGNITION OF PREVIOUS ORDINATION:
Jamie McDonald Ordained Minister 25-May-16 Hillcrest EM Church Medicine Hat AB
Bernd Rist Ordained Minister 21-Apr-15 Oyen EM Church Oyen AB
V.P. Singh Ordained Minister 28-Jul-16 Multicultural Christian Church Edmonton AB
Mark Thornton Ordained Minister 24-Mar-15 Lincoln Heights EM Church Waterloo ON
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COMMUNICATIONS REPORT 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	

Reporting: Gavin Wark 
Position: Director of Communications 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	
 
It’s my privilege to keep you up to date on EMCC’s events, resources, stories and ministry opportunities that 
advance the Kingdom. Director of Communications was a new portfolio when I stepped into the role on a half-
time basis in 2013. At that point, we had no social media presence, no visual storytelling, no fixed publishing 
schedule and no regular rhythm of communicating as a national staff. I had a lot to learn and wide open range 
to develop. 
 
The more I worked, the more work seemed to come my way. By 2015, the role had increased to a ¾ time 
position. Beginning in January 2016, my full attention was given to communications, my former responsibilities 
in youth ministry having been transferred into the capable hands of Mark Anderson.   
 
We have more ways to communicate today than ever before, which is both a tremendous blessing and a 
tremendous challenge. Getting the right message on the right channels at the right time so that it engages the 
people you are trying to reach is daunting.  I still have a lot to learn – which actually helps to keep me 
motivated, and I realize we won’t be good at everything, but we have been working diligently over the past two 
years to improve our communications in the following ways: 
 

1. New Website – This was launched on March 1, 2016. The site provides more flexibility, faster 
adaptation to changing technology, easier access on mobile devices, more ways for users to interact 
with the site (such as subscribing to our blogs), stronger visual appeal, and easier navigation. 
 

2. Updated Branding – This is reflected on our website, news items, and various publications.  The logo 
was adapted so that it is easier to reproduce in a wide range of contexts.  A new Style Guide has been 
developed to help bring consistency in the way EMCC is presented in print and digital media. 
 

3. Mobile Friendly – We recognize that people are just as likely to view our email or browse our website on 
a mobile device as on a computer. Most of our email templates are now mobile responsive and the new 
website adapts very well to viewing on mobile devices. 
 

4. More Frequent Connection – E-News, which goes to all subscribers to our general newsletter is 
scheduled 6 times/year. Common Cause News Briefs for pastors and churches that communicate 
board updates, financial updates, communication from the president, etc., are scheduled 5 times/year 
and go out more frequently as required. A digital Relief & Development letter specifically for subscribers 
who may not receive other EMCC communications is scheduled 4 times/year.  Our social media sites 
are generally updated at least a couple of times/week and have a growing following. 
 

5. Updated Resources – A number of our position papers have been updated in both content and 
branding. Samples will be available at General Assembly. Several slides that can be used in 
announcement carousels to promote the values and mission of EMCC are now available on our website. 
There will be ongoing development of these. Several resources that support the Way of Jesus training 
have been developed and used effectively.  There are a growing number of “Insight” articles on our 
website that complement the Way of Jesus Training. A script for a brief EMCC History overview video has 
been prepared and should find its way to production this year. 
 

6. Improved Storytelling – We have made a very modest investment in equipment and training so that 
whether by video, words, or images, we can share news and stories of people living on mission in a 
more engaging manner. This is an ongoing process. 
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7. More Efficient Information Management - There has been an ongoing effort to update and improve 
systems and tools that the national staff uses to collect, store and share information.  The use of 
DropBox for file sharing has been a big part of that.  Systems that would allow us to accomplish more 
tasks within a single application are under review. 
 

Sharing stories from within our extended family that inspire all of us to follow Jesus is one of my favourite 
aspects of this position. I’d love to hear the stories emerging from your congregation of people following Jesus 
on mission, and to share them with the rest of our family for their encouragement. Please don’t hesitate to 
contact me (gwark@emcc.ca) if you have a story to share, or if you would like to help us capture good stories 
within your region.   
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Gavin Wark 
gwark@emcc.ca 

 
EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY YOUTH REPORT 

_____________________________________________________________________________________	

Reporting: Mark Anderson 
Position: Director of Youth Ministries 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	
	
Modern youth ministry was born out of a passion and desire to see young people discipled in the ways of Jesus. 
For the past 50 years our youth ministry has been attempting to do just this. In the evangelical tradition youth 
ministry has largely functioned as a silo of the greater church. As a connected, but still separate entity, youth 
ministry has been expected to develop and build up young people so that they will eventually integrate into the 
‘adult’ church. This way of doing youth ministry grows out of a passion to reach the next generation when it 
seemed that the ‘church’ was unable. This model has had some successes, for example, the development of 
‘safe spaces’, culturally relevant events, and relationally focused programs. These have been helpful wins for 
Youth Ministry and for the church as a whole. Now two generations later we are seeing some of the weaknesses 
of this approach. We are now seeing that a generationally segregated church is not a healthy church. A church 
must integrate people of different generations for it to be healthy, to create the kind of community that reflects 
what unity in Jesus means.  
 
With this in mind some congregations have tried to address the silo issue by simply doing away with their youth 
pastors and youth ministries, or they have tried giving their roles new titles.  This approach has not worked well, 
because it has identified that there is an issue but not recognizing the essence of the solution.   In my view, the 
congregations that have had the most success are those that have understood that youth ministry is really 
about developing a discipling culture within their congregation. They have recognized the church exists to 
develop kingdom building disciples. Understood in these terms youth ministry is not ‘youth ministry’ but ‘next 
generation ministry’ and ‘next generation ministry is everybody’s business. How will we fulfill our mandate to 
make disciples to the fourth generation (2 Tim 2:2).  How will we pass the torch unless ‘I’ accept that the 
development of the next generation of Jesus followers is ‘my’ responsibility, not someone else’s. I must do my 
part. Every single one of us must be concerned with the next generation.   
 
It is evident to many of us in youth ministry that the ‘youth ministry of yesterday’ is gone and that integration, 
understood correctly, is a healthy aim. I encourage each church to make an effort in this. As our churches work 
to reconfigure and do things without a youth ministry silo, I ask, beg, implore, each of us to remember the heart 
of youth ministry - to disciple young people in the way of Jesus.  Following Jesus is what unites us. Following 
Jesus is what gives us life.  There are generational realities and differences but these must not obscure the 
larger reality that unites us. Our young people are attracted to others who are transparent and authentic and 
who understand that they are on the same journey. 
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I have had mentors who have modeled this for me.  I am thankful for people like Gavin Wark, who led EMCC 
Youth Ministry for a generation, and who discipled me and many others. We celebrate his new role as the EMCC 
communications director and thank him for all that he has done to develop and care for the next generation of 
Jesus followers.  
 
I am also thankful to Gavin for inviting Alison Lefebvre to become Associate Director of Youth Ministry based in 
Alberta, where she is supporting leaders who are working to develop the next generation. Alison hosted a 
Leader Reset with Mark Buchanan last year, encouraging our leaders to pause, reflect, and keep the focus on 
Jesus. She has a retreat at Rivers Edge Camp in the works, called The Weekend, where our churches can 
connect and grow together.  Alison has also been working with our Westbrook church to launch a Heroes 
program at their local school. Alison is a welcome addition to our team and we look forward to see her role and 
ministry impact grow.  
 
This year in partnership with Charis Camp, BC, we engaged Marty Bennett, on staff at Charis, to support and 
develop EMCC youth workers in British Columbia. In February, Marty gave leadership to our second annual 
LeaderFace, a weekend for young leaders at Charis.  
 
In January 2016 our EMCC National Team hosted another Gener8, at the Clarksburg Retreat in Ontario, with 
another event coming May 2017 to Rivers Edge Camp in Alberta. Lynn Dietz and Alison Lefebvre are leading 
this event with the intent of inspiring next generation leaders as they seek to follow Jesus. 
 
Jill Zettler has taken over leadership of JR Pitch, our Jr High youth retreat hosted in Stayner, Ontario. Jill has 
continued to use JR Pitch to inspire and develop young leaders. 
 
Pitch’n Praise, our Ontario high school retreat, is celebrating its 43rd year in May 2017. We are excited this year 
to have speakers such as Idelette McVicker, Drew Marshall, and Jonathan Martin.  
Visit www.pitchandpraise.com for more information on this year’s lineup. 
 
In June 2016 we wrapped up another YouthBuilder team. This team traveled across Canada spending time 
working with some of our churches in British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba and Ontario. They were also able to 
travel to Dublin, Ireland and work with Liesel Riemer, one our World Partner Missionaries.  We are already 
preparing and praying for the next team and pray that we will see young men and women from across Canada 
become a part of this next iteration! 
 
Thanks to a government grant we hired a summer intern each of the last two summers and expect to do so 
again. This has proven to be an excellent opportunity of discipling a university or college student in a more 
intense way. I would encourage every church leader to consider applying for a grant through the Canadian 
government to hire a summer student. This creates a unique opportunity to work with, disciple and train and 
invest in someone from the next generation. 
 
It has been a wonderful first year working as the Youth Director for the Evangelical Missionary Church of 
Canada and I look forward to what God will do in and through our tribe in the coming years. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Mark Anderson 
manderson@emcc.ca 
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EMCC WORLD PARTNERS REPORT 
______________________________________________________________________________________	

Reporting: Sandra Tjart 
Position: Director of EMCC World Partners 
______________________________________________________________________________________	
 
In the past two years, our EMCC International and Cross-Cultural Team’s focus in life and ministry on 
acknowledging God and Him alone has increasingly inspired me. Their faith and trust in Jesus were encapsulated 
for me in a recent Facebook video (posted January 28, 2016) by Nana Atumpan. She declares, “He is the first 
and the last, the beginning and the end. He is the keeper of creation and the creator of all. He is the architect of 
the universe and the manager of all time. He always was, always is, always will be, unmoved, unchanged, 
undefeated and never undone. He was bruised but brought healing. He was pierced but eased pain. He was 
persecuted but brought freedom. He died to bring life. He is risen to bring power and He reins to bring peace. The 
world can’t understand Him. Armies can’t defeat Him. Schools can’t explain Him and leaders can’t ignore Him.  
Herod couldn’t kill Him. Nero couldn’t crush Him. The New Age can’t replace Him and Oprah can’t explain Him 
away. He is life, He is love, He is longevity and He is the Lord. He is goodness and kindness and faithfulness and 
He is God. He is holy and righteous and powerful and pure. His ways are right. His word is eternal. His will is 
unchanging and His mind is on us. He is our savior, our guide, our peace, our joy, our comfort, our Lord and He 
rules our lives. I serve Him because his bond is love, his yoke is easy, his burden is light and his goal for us is 
abundant life. I follow Him because He is the wisdom of the wise, the power of the powerful, the ancient of days, 
the ruler of rulers, the leader of all leaders. His goal is a relationship with me. He will never leave you, never 
forsake you, never mislead you, never forget you, never overlook you and never cancel His appointment with you 
in His appointment book. When you fall, He will lift you up. When you fail, He will forgive you. When you are weak 
He is strong. When you are lost, He is your way. When you are afraid he is your courage. When you stumble he 
will steady you. When you are hurt he will heal you. When you are broken, He will mend you. When you are blind, 
He will lead you. When you are hungry, He will feed you. When you face trial, He is with you. When you face 
persecution, He shields you. When you face problems, He will comfort you. When you face loss, He will provide 
for you. And when you face death, He will carry you home to be with Him. He is everything, for everybody, 
everywhere, every time and in every way. He is your God and that is who you belong to.” 
 
I give praise to the Lord for each of our EMCC International and Cross-Cultural team members. The nature of our 
work has been shifting towards disciple-making movements and I have joy in reporting that of our 130 workers 
(EMCC World Partners and EMCC Recognized Missionaries), the majority are directly involved in making disciples 
in their context of ministry whether that be via Relief & Development, Pastoral Training, Leadership Training in a 
variety of manners, Community Development in very creative ways, Food Security issues, First Nations ministry, 
Bible Translation, New Immigrants and Francophone Ministry.  
 
We are mobilizing men and women for strategic kingdom purposes.  Our goal is to see disciple makers recruited, 
supported and sent to see that multiplication happens in every place where God wants EMCC World Partners to 
work. 
 
EMCC WORLD PARTNERS VISION: 
Following Jesus on mission together, EMCC World Partners strategically recruits, deploys and sustains workers 
globally.  
 
EMCC MISSIONS OVERVIEW 2015/2016 
 
EMCC International and Cross Cultural Workers (as of January 2017) = 130 
We touch in many countries –  

• EMCC World Partners serving in … 
o Romania  

§ Kory & Erin Sikstrom - Kory & Erin Sikstrom have been teaching character development 
in public schools through the Heroes program. Through the Heroes program, many young 
people are growing followers of Jesus, learning His teachings and helping others grow. 
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§ Dorothy Reid – Dorothy focuses her ministry to mentor and disciple Romanian Children’s 
Ministry workers. She also is involved in ministry to widows through the local church where 
she is involved in ministry.  

o Ireland  
§ Liesel Reimer - Liesel collaborates with the local church and services in Dublin’s inner-city 

with the dreams of seeing communities become vibrant places where God makes His 
home.   

o S. Africa  
§ Dan & Kerry Wiens –The Wiens have been extending training in Farming God’s Way 

(conservation agriculture) among the rural poor, with the hope of bringing food security to 
this community and many others.  

§ Nicole Jones - Nicole works in Bhekulwandle at Seed of Hope on a conservation 
agriculture-training project funded by the Canadian Food Grains Bank. Along with Dan & 
Kerry Wiens, their strategy is to raise up Godly, committed leaders in communities who 
will champion biblical food security and holistic development. 

o Brazil 
§ Ron & Jeannette Faw – The Faws serve the United Missionary Church of Brazil as part of 

a Pastoral Training Team in the SIMUB Project for the denomination. 
o Mexico 

§ Dan & Anne-Marie Chapple - Dan and Anne-Marie give oversight to and empower the 
EMCC World Partners team in Mexico. Their primary ministry is the development and 
implementation of pastoral training for the Missionary Church of Mexico and the 
Ambassadors Biblical Missionary Church using SEAN (Seminary by Extension to the 
Nations) pastoral Biblical training material. This material allows the World Partners Team 
in Mexico to reproduce themselves based on the ethos that the fruit of a disciple is 
another disciple and the fruit of a leader is another leader. Dan is also involved in training 
and equipping leaders for new church plants. 

§ Moises & Carolyn Ruiz –As part of the World Partners Missional Team in Mexico, Moises 
and Carolyn’s primary ministry is training pastors and lay leaders of the Missionary Church 
of Mexico and Ambassadors of Jesus Christ. They also visit with pastors and their families 
for encouragement, coaching and mentoring.   

§ Phil & Carolyn English – Phil & Carolyn work with the Chapples and Ruizes as a missional 
team in the Mexican context. Completing formal language and cultural acquisition has 
served to establish a strong language skill set for developing long lasting relationships 
and ongoing ministry in Mexico.  

o First Nations 
§ Stan & Sally Bragg – The Braggs work on the Saugeen First Nation Reserve, near Owen 

Sound, Ontario through ministry to children and youth and their families.   
§ Rob & Sharlene Dilts – The Dilts work with the Algonquins of Pikwàkanagàn First Nation 

Reserve near Pembroke, ON. Their ministry includes outreach to children and youth and 
a women’s prayer group. They also are directors of Traveling The River Together Summer 
Camp providing an annual Indigenous Camp at Camp Mishewah as a means to expose 
indigenous young people to the Gospel of Jesus Christ in a culturally expressive and 
respectful setting. 

o Quebec 
§ Donald & Lorraine Gingras – The Gingras are involved in disciple making and counseling 

through marriage counseling and enrichment and pastoral care ministry in Montreal and 
area. 

o Canada  
§ Ken & Carolyn Benson – The Bensons minister with MissionPrep planning and executing 

PLANTS and IMPACT programs for pre-field missionary training. 
§ Marilyn McIlroy – Marilyn serves in the capacity of Project Manager, Health and 

Community Development.  She plans and accompanies medical teams to Haiti, Tanzania, 
Romania and India to raise awareness of the physical, spiritual, emotional and mental 
health needs in these countries.  
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o India 
§ Harold Squire – (short term) – Harold, a graduate of the University of Calgary’s music 

department has recently completed a 3 month short-term ministry in Allahabad, India. 
Harold was instrumental in sharing his musical skills and gifts to enhance music ministry 
within the disciple-making movement known as Yeshu Darbar.  

 
• EMCC Recognized Missionary Workers serving in 27 countries. 
• Sensitive/Creative Access Workers serving in 6 countries. 
• Relief & Development Projects in Ethiopia, Nepal, India, S. Africa, Haiti, Romania, Ecuador, Tanzania. 
• VTeams ministering in Haiti, Tanzania, India, Mexico, Romania, Ecuador  
• World Partners International partners in Brazil, Canada, Colombia, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, 

Ethiopia, Haiti, India, Jamaica, Kenya, Malawi, Mexico, Nepal, Nigeria, Sierra Leone, USA, Venezuela, 
Zambia. 

 
In both the years 2015 and 2016 EMCC World Partners income brought in just under $2,000,000.00 annually 
that included EMCC World Partners budget, EMCC Recognized Missionary Fees, International Project Funds, 
Relief & Development Projects, Undesignated Funds and EMCC VTeams. 
 
I continue to give honour to the EMCC Constituency and each individual donor for their very faithful financial 
support to our International and Cross-Cultural Team.  
 
One of my great joys in this office is the privilege of connecting personally with our EMCC World Partners and 
EMCC Recognized Missionary Team. Since being in this role (2007 as Associate Director of World Partners – 
Community Relations and then 2009 as Director of EMCC World Partners, I have visited a fair number of our 
EMCC Recognized Workers Team. I have visited at least twice all of the EMCC World Partners workers on the field 
of their ministry.  
 
RELIEF & DEVELOPMENT 
Following Jesus on mission together, EMCC Relief & Development engages resources, networks and empowers 
people to bring change to the suffering people of this world. Our desired outcome is to see every EMCC 
congregation engaged in bringing change to the suffering people of this world.  
 
Lou Geense, Associate Director of EMCC World Partners is privileged to represent the EMCC in compassionate 
responses to crises in our world and to come alongside of national Christian leaders to assist them as they serve 
on mission. Lou continually seeks to see the strategic deployment of teams and resources for kingdom purposes.  
 
WORLD PARTNERS INTERNATIONAL  
World Partners International is the network of national churches to which the EMCC belongs. Many of these 
International Partners are the product of earlier mission efforts while others are indigenous groups that have 
found a spiritual home in this international network. WPI is the context in which international joint endeavours 
and new ministry opportunities are formed, through the networking relationship of our EMCC President with other 
National Leaders and delegates.  
 
World Partners International partners include Brazil, Canada, Colombia, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, 
Ethiopia, Guatemala, Haiti, India, Jamaica, Kenya, Malawi, Nepal, Nigeria, Sierra Leone, USA, Venezuela and 
Zambia. Phil Delsaut (Canada), Edison Grando (Brazil), David Mann (USA) and Shane D’Souza (India) comprise 
the WPI Executive Team. February 2016 found the WPI partners meeting in Chiang Mai, Thailand.  
 
TRAVELS 
With my passport in hand, over the past 2 years I have had the joy of visiting missionary personnel in India, 
Mexico, Brazil, Ireland and South Africa. I also had the joy of connecting with leadership of World Partners 
International in Thailand.  
 
Within Canada, I have had the privilege of sharing an EMCC Missions update with many of our EMCC fellowships. 
For the last 2 years, a mission focus was given at Rivers Edge Family Camp, Stayner Family Camp and Mishewah 
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Family Camp. I also have enjoyed the opportunity to share briefly at the EMCC Pastors’ Retreats. I was honoured 
to be chapel speaker at Emmanuel Bible College (Kitchener) and key-note speaker at Keenagers Retreat (Rivers 
Edge Camp, AB) in 2016. I also participated in Way of Jesus training in Kitchener (2015), Rivers Edge Camp 
(2016), Calgary (2016) and India (2016 and 2017).  
 
ADMINISTRATION 
David P. Gushee entitled an article for Christianity Today (April 26, 2007) “The Joy of Policy Manuals”. I appreciate 
the “joy” in doing this, as this is an important aspect of the administrative focus of EMCC World Partners. I am 
pleased to be diligently working on updating well-written policies and procedures that allow our EMCC World 
Partners Team to clearly understand roles and responsibilities within predefined limits. I give my thanks my 
gratitude to John Cressman for his expertise and guidance in this area.  
 
Bruna George continues to give competent and gracious oversight to the administrative focus of EMCC World 
Partners.  
 
HELLOS … 
Ben & Christa Platz (SIM Canada) - Canada - 2016 
Mark (Liyien) Howling (YWAM) – Malaysia - 2016 
 
… AND GOODBYES 
Ed & Linda Chamberlain (SIM) - Niger - 2016 
Joanne Henault (WBT) – Canada - 2016 
Marilyn Meier (PTC) – Canada - 2016 
John & Cheryl Zumbrunn (WP) – Romania – 2016 
 
WAY OF JESUS 
The Way of Jesus is essentially about our relationship with Jesus and what it means to be His follower. Crafted by 
President Phil Delsaut in the context of our EMCC National Team, this training impacts our thoughts and prayer 
lives and inspires us in our journeys. In the context of our EMCC World Partners team making disciples, we are 
endeavouring to give opportunity to resource our team with their presence at Way of Jesus. One couple writes: 
“We were challenged again in the midst of our busy culture to listen and learn daily from the Holy Spirit as we 
follow Jesus. The flexibility in the way we integrate this training is freeing and we look forward to living the way of 
Jesus with more intentionality as we depend on the Spirit of Jesus in our journey.”  
 
I have had tremendous privilege to be part of this disciple-making training team both in Canada and in India.   
 
WHAT’S AHEAD FOR EMCC WORLD PARTNERS 
As the ‘in-house sending agency’ for EMCC we have a very special opportunity and obligation. We are learning to 
be even more intentional in fulfilling the EMCC mandate.  Our goal is to deploy Canadians only in those places 
where deploying a Canadian is the best answer. 
 
We deploy Canadians in cross-cultural and international contexts only where a Canadian is the best answer to 
the strategic need or opportunity. Where there is a member of World Partners International, EMCC WP will seek 
to work with the WPI partner. Where there is an existing indigenous church planting movement and no WPI 
partner, EMCC WP will work strategically with a like-minded partner. Where there is no existing indigenous church 
planting movement, EMCC WP will consider initiating a pioneer work with the end of establishing an indigenous 
church planting/disciple-making movement. The situation will be assessed with a holistic perspective in mind.  
 
We will continue to focus on 4 DNA elements embedded in EMCC World Partners that will serve us well in our 
ministry.  

a. Making disciple-makers. The strong focus on this over the last few years with the EMCC National 
Team and World Partners has been great. We mustn’t let up. 

b. Servant leadership. We want leaders – strong leaders, with servant hearts and profound personal 
humility. We need both, not one without the other.  
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c. A very strong understanding of what the Kingdom is about. We extend God’s Kingdom primarily 
through disciple makers. But a strong understanding of the Kingdom informs and flavours 
everything. 

d. A very strong understanding of the Gospel. This is crucial. The more we think about this, the more 
we are convinced that Christian sub-culture is confused about what the gospel and the Christian 
life are about. This becomes clearer as one works cross-culturally – both because you see 
different sub-culture elements in other cultures, and because you view your own sub-culture 
through different eyes. The “Way of Jesus” focus in the EMCC, led by Pastor Phil Delsaut, has 
been great in this regard. 

 
The global trend of short term, non-residential worker ministry opportunities is increasing and the full-time worker 
placement is decreasing. Just recently we had a young man serving this way in Allahabad, India and I see that 
these short-term possibilities are numerous for the future of World Partners. 
 
In the fall of this year, I will be stepping down from my responsibilities as Director of EMCC World Partners. 
Beginning in 2007 as Associate Director of World Partners in the role of Community Relations and moving into 
the role of Director of World Partners, has brought me great personal joy as I serve the EMCC in giving oversight 
to our international and cross-cultural workers.  With the increased capacity of the RM Team and in the light of 
retirements on the World Partners side, the National Team is working through a new scenario for the direction of 
our World Partners international work that would see a higher integration with the Regional Ministers.  Subject to 
the direction of the new president, this interim configuration is expected to proceed on a test basis of a year.  We 
are looking at an October 1, 2017 date to begin this transition.   
 
Whilst I give great praise that the majority of our EMCC World Partners support has continued steadily to be over 
90%, and I praise the sacrificial giving of our EMCC constituency and individual supporters, we are in a time and 
age where financial security for our World Partners team is at risk. I want to encourage our EMCC churches to 
achieve closer to the 5% Common Cause target that has been established. It is true that if we had stronger 
participation in Common Cause, we would get to the place where the Leadership of World Partners is fully funded. 
 
THANK YOU FOR YOU PARTNERSHIP 
Our prayer focus for the past two years has been based on Col 4:2-4. “For this reason we also, since the day we 
heard it, do not cease to pray for you, and to ask that you may be filled with the knowledge of His will in all wisdom 
and spiritual understanding; that you may walk worthy of the Lord, fully pleasing Him, being fruitful in every good 
work and increasing in the knowledge of God; strengthened with all might, according to His glorious power, for all 
patience and longsuffering with joy; giving thanks to the Father who has qualified us to be partakers of the 
inheritance of the saints in the light.” (NKJ) 
 
What a glorious way to pray! What rich promises embedded in this passage! What hope!  
 
It is with profound gratefulness that I say “thank you” to our EMCC constituency. I, and each worker on the EMCC 
Global team is profoundly aware of the important role that the EMCC plays in the ongoing work of our team in 
every corner of the world. Through your intercession and giving, we have experienced “God” events in our lives 
and work. The stories our team has shared include personal faith journeys; transformed lives; victory over evil; 
God miraculously opening doors for life on mission; pastors and leaders continuing to grow in the Word of God 
and in ministry.  I am very grateful to you for your generosity. Truly, you are a valued gift. Please know that you 
may download the EMCC Missions Prayer Calendar on the EMCC website.  Thank you for your faithful prayer 
support. Please continue to pray for strength, guidance, vision and wisdom. Pray also in imploring God to divinely 
intervene in order to accomplish powerful things through the EMCC global missionary team. As Katie Peacock 
(EMCC Recognized Missionary) puts it, “What’s the phrase? ’We covet your prayers.’  Yes, that’s the one!” 
 
Live like Jesus, for Jesus and in the power of the Spirit of Jesus.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Sandra Tjart  
stjart@emcc.ca 
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MISSIONARY COUNTRY MISSION	  AGENCY SERVING	  SINCE
BENSON,	  Ken	  and	  Carolyn Canada EMCC	  WP 1998
BRAGG,	  Stan	  and	  Sally Canada EMCC	  WP 2006
CHAPPLE,	  Dan	  and	  Anne	  Marie Mexico EMCC	  WP 2004
DILTS,	  Robert	  and	  Sharlene Canada EMCC	  WP 2012
ENGLISH,	  Phil	  and	  Carolyn Mexico EMCC	  WP 2014
FAW,	  Ron	  and	  Jeannette Brazil EMCC	  WP 1972
GEENSE,	  Lou	  (Naomi) Canada EMCC	  WP 2009
GINGRAS,	  Donald	  and	  Lorraine Canada EMCC	  WP 2002
JONES,	  Nicole South	  Africa EMCC	  WP 2014
McILROY,	  Marilyn Canada EMCC	  WP 2003
REID,	  Dorothy Romania EMCC	  WP 2003
REIMER,	  Liesel Ireland EMCC	  WP 2005
RUIZ,	  Moises	  and	  Carolyn Mexico EMCC	  WP 2012
SIKSTROM,	  Kory	  and	  Erin Romania EMCC	  WP 2010
TJART,	  Sandra Canada EMCC	  WP 1984
WIENS,	  Dan	  and	  Kerry South	  Africa EMCC	  WP 2009

MISSIONARY COUNTRY MISSION	  AGENCY SERVING	  SINCE
BIBLE,	  Abe	  and	  Dianne Russia/Ukraine CBLT 1983
BROWN,	  Lorene	  (Raney) Italy CW 2000
BURGESS,	  Ann Canada/Thailand OMF 1980
CHAIMITI,	  Lucy	  (Tafadzwa) Canada AH 2002
DETTWEILER,	  Steve	  and	  Sonia Nigeria WBT 1989
DOS	  SANTOS,	  Susan	   Canada PTC 1992
ELLIOTT,	  Keith	  and	  Ruth	  Anne Ecuador CG 1979
ERION,	  Robert	  and	  Ruth Canada OMF 1975
FJELDSTROM,	  Larry	  and	  Sharon Canada WBT 2000
FRIESEN,	  Derryl	  and	  Karen Thailand WBT 1992
FULLER,	  Sarah USA LACW 2014
GAMBLE,	  Eldon	  and	  Ruth Canada CHRISTAR 2004
GIBBINS,	  Matthew	  and	  Rachel Canada EFC-‐GMR 2010
HILSON,	  Daniel	  and	  Christy Canada MGF 1996
HOWLING,	  Mark	  (Liyien) Malaysia YWAM 2016
HUFF,	  Beverly USA/Caribbean CEF 1982
HUMPHRIES,	  Shaun	  and	  Melanie Paraguay NTM 2009
HUNTER,	  Dale	  and	  Ruth USA OMS 1995
KARIUKI,	  Alex	  and	  Rachel Madagascar CEN 2015

EMCC	  -‐	  WORLD	  PARTNERS	  MISSIONARIES

EMCC	  -‐	  RECOGNIZED	  MISSIONARIES
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LOSCH,	  Dale	  and	  Jerusha USA CW 1999
MARKELI,	  Helmut	  and	  Christina Canada OMS 1976
MAYER,	  Oliver	  and	  Deborah Thailand OMF 2012
MCLEAN,	  Morris	  and	  Mary Guatemala GOM 1979
MIERAU,	  Peter Canada CEF 2008
MOHR,	  Walter	  and	  Melita Canada/Indonesia WEC 1959
MORRIS,	  Karen Spain WEC 2006
MORRIS,	  Pamela Burkina	  Faso WBT 2011
NEUFELD,	  Greg	  and	  Shelli Mexico EFCM 1999
PEACOCK,	  Wes	  and	  Katie Ghana WBT 1991
PLATZ,	  Ben	  and	  Christa Canada SIM 2016
PRIDHAM,	  Cheryl Nigeria SIM 1989
PRIDHAM,	  Donna Nigeria SIM 1990
REAUME,	  John	  and	  Wendy Nigeria PTC 1992
RITCHIE,	  Peter	  and	  Areni Angola SIM 2001
RODGES,	  David	  and	  Debra Papua	  New	  Guinea NTM 1992
ROYER,	  Kent	  and	  Brenda Canada WBT 2006
SAWATZKY,	  Rodd	  and	  Leslie Canada PTC 1993
SCHMITT,	  Marilyn Canada/Burkina	  Faso WBT 1995
SERHAL,	  Nadim	  and	  Bernice Canada PC 1994
SHERMAN,	  Jerry	  and	  Carol Canada ECC 1996
SLOSS,	  David	  (Marian) Canada BIM 2001
SNYDER,	  Mr.	  and	  Mrs.	  Dan Hungary GEM 2006
SOMERS,	  Ruth Canada WEC 1993
TALBOT,	  Chuck	  and	  Shannon Philippines NTM 2005
TAYLOR,	  Colleen Haiti OMS 2007
TIEDE,	  Art	  and	  Betty Canada GOM 1975
VAN	  DER	  WAL,	  Bill	  and	  Dianne Canada WBT 1995
VOLKMAN,	  Gordon	  and	  Lee	  Anne USA PTC 2006
WEPPLER,	  Kevin	  and	  Michelle Romania GEM 2012
WOLFRAM,	  Carolyn Ecuador RB 1991

***	  Please	  note	  -‐	  we	  also	  have	  10	  missionary	  units	  serving	  in	  sensitive	  countries.	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
This	  list	  is	  available	  upon	  request	  by	  calling	  the	  EMCC	  WP	  office.
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AH
BIM
CBLT
CEF
CENC
CG
CHRISTAR
CW
ECC
EFC-‐GMR
EFCM
EMCC	  WP
GEM
GOM
GRN
ISC
ISM
LACW
MGF
NTM
OMF
OMS
PTC
RB
SIM
WBT
WEC
YWAM Youth	  With	  a	  Mission

Wycliffe	  Bible	  Translators
WEC	  International

Overseas	  Mission	  Fellowship
One	  Mission	  Society
Power	  to	  Change

SIM	  Canada
Reach	  Beyond

Inter	  Serve	  Canada
International	  Student	  Ministries

Missionary	  Gospel	  Fellowship
New	  Tribes	  Mission

Los	  Angeles	  Catholic	  Worker

Greater	  Europe	  Mission
Global	  Outreach	  Mission
Global	  Recordings	  Network

CrossWorld
Embassy	  Connnections	  Canada
Global	  Mission	  Roundtable
Evangelical	  Free	  Church	  Missions
Evangelical	  Missionary	  Church	  of	  Canada	  World	  Partners

Baraka	  International	  Ministries
Church	  Based	  Leadership	  Training
Child	  Evangelism	  Fellowship

Christar
Camino	  Global
Commission	  to	  Every	  Nation

MISSION	  AGENCIES

Adam	  House
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REPORT FROM THE ASSOCIATE DIRECTOR OF WORLD PARTNERS 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________	
Reporting: Lou Geense 
Position: Associate Director of World Partners 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________	

 
It is my great joy to serve EMCC in the areas of Relief & Development, which includes being on the board of 
directors for Canadian Foodgrains Bank (CFGB), Global Initiatives, Volunteer Teams and EMCC Liaison for The 
Refugee Initiative.  
 

Emergency Response to Disaster 
1. Nepal: earthquake, via SARA Ministries and The Evangelical Missionary Church of Nepal - $28,762.15. 
 
2. Nepal: via SARA Ministries in conjunction with the National Centre for Rheumatic Diseases supported by 
Health Partners International Canada & EMCC. For an investment of just over $7,500 CAD we were able to send 
almost $500,000 worth of medicine to help in the recovery process in Kathmandu. 
 
3. Ecuador: We have been working with Keith Elliott & Dan Chapple from the time we received news of the 
earthquake to get an assessment of damage and needs. We sent $9,000 CAD to the IEME (Evangelical 
Missionary Church Ecuador) to assist in restoration of some of the church buildings that were damaged and for 
immediate personal needs of those affected by the earthquake. Following their report we sent an additional 
$10,000 for reconstruction of the wall at the Same Church Camp. That money has recently been received and 
work is being planned. 
 
4. Haiti & Cuba: On Oct. 4th, 2016 Hurricane Matthew pounded Haiti & Cuba with wind and rain causing flooding 
and extensive damage in both countries. As of Jan. 24, 2017 we have received from our constituency 
$15,697.43. The continual support and concern from our people continues be an amazing level of generosity. 
Thanks you to everyone.  
 

Relief and Development / VTeams / Global Initiatives 
 

India 
India and our partnership with the Sam Higginbottom Institute of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences (SHIATS) 
is one of our more active fields. The scope of ministry and the vision of the ministry arm of this group is both 
exciting and productive.  
 
In June of 2015 two people went to assess the progress of a planned restoration of an existing building that will 
house more than thirty rescued girls from the streets of Allahabad. 
 
In the fall of 2015 we formed a work team of thirteen people from four churches and three denominations to go 
do the structural work on that building. From January 8 – 24 we went to do the work and accomplished an 
amazing amount of work.  
 
It was agreed that the remaining work would be carried out under the supervision of the SHIATS with a view to 
completion by the end of March. I made an additional trip in May to help resolve construction delays. Once 
again with much intervention a new agreement was formed and signed. The new completion date was set for 
end of December when the lease at the girls’ present residence expires. The latest update came to me by mid 
January and a new completion date is end of February. 
 
Despite the typical struggles of working in a developing world culture and a culture absent of the protestant 
work ethic the possibilities for moving the gospel forward and seeing multiple disciples who will make disciples 
being trained and deployed is huge. It is my sincere opinion that this is a field filled with opportunity for 
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involvement by short term, mid-term & long-term missionaries as well as a variety of R&D projects. It is clear to 
me that the Lord has given us favor in this ministry at SHIATS University. 
 
In January of 2017 a medical team under the direction of Marilyn McIlroy is headed to Allahabad to do a 
number of mobile clinics in the region. 
 
A significant advancement for SHIATS University was to receive full acceptance and status as a full fledged 
university under the Indian Education system. This makes the Institute the first Christian University in all of India 
with this recognition. The Sam Higginbottom Institute of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences (SHIATS) is now 
officially the Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology & Sciences (SHUATS). We rejoice with the 
leadership of the University in this great accomplishment. 
 
Kolkata – Pastor Asis – toliets & wells. In the area surrounding Kolkata Rev. Asis is the Pastor to seven villages. 
We have partnered with UTurn Project (Calgary based) to assist Rev. Asis in community development and 
thereby giving him a strong platform from which to present the Good News. We contributed to a second project 
for an additional 30 toilets and two more wells in concert with UTurn. The Project was launched in late 2015 
and is now completed.   
 
Nepal  
Our work in Nepal started with our connection to Rev. Tej Rokka via the International World Partners presidents 
meetings. When the earthquake hit Kathmandu and surrounding area (April 2015) EMCC responded quickly 
and we were blessed to already have the relationship with Tej in place. Much of the funds received from our 
constituency was sent to Tej and used for emergency response issues in the area. Although Nepal continues to 
have a strong Hindu culture the municipal government did call upon Tej and his team to assist them in the 
emergency response.  
 
Tej did a good job of sending us reports and receipts for purchases. Food, clothing, blankets and tarps were 
purchased to help people stay warm & dry as the monsoon rains soon followed the earthquake. 
 
In late November I began discussions with Health Partners International Canada (HPIC) to move almost half a 
million dollars worth of medicine into Nepal. The medicine had been designated for Nepal relief and HPIC 
needed a partner both in Nepal and in Canada to help them accomplish their task.  
 
After lots of interaction with health officials in Nepal, our partner Tej Rokka received the approval for the 
medicine to be shipped. For an investment by EMCC of just over $7,500 CAD we were able to ship all of the 
medicine and see it distributed in the relief camps in Kathmandu and surrounding area. 
 
At the time of the earthquake we were in our Assembly gathering in Calgary. Matthew Brnjas was representing 
Kids Alive International Canada (KAIC) at the gathering. Kids Alive is a child support ministry for orphans and 
vulnerable children in developing countries. At the assembly I began the discussion with Matthew concerning 
the possibility of KAIC coming on line to support the orphans under the care of SARA Ministries (Rev. Tej Rokka 
ministry). That began a number of meetings and visits with KAIC and myself. From May 21 – 29 I was in 
Kathmandu to do monitoring and evaluation of the work being done for EMCC by Tej & SARA Ministries. At the 
same time I did some research on the history and the operations of SARA Children’s Home Ministry to answer a 
number of questions that KAIC had regarding the ministry.  
On Nov. 1 2016 a 14 month agreement was signed between KAIC and SARA Ministries. A Nov. – Dec. campaign 
to raise funds for the orphans in Nepal was launched and has proven to be very successful. Please check out 
Kids Alive Canada International to see how you might help support the ministry to these kids in Nepal. 
 
EMCC also supported the construction of a new home for the orphans in Kathmandu. 
 
Haiti 
Haiti has been an active field for R&D since I came into this position. We have been involved in community 
development in a number of villages. A number of rural churches have been built in Haiti because of church-to-
church relationships being established.  
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In 2011 we were asked by the AEM (Missionary Church in Haiti) to renovate a building at the La Jeune 
compound so that it could be used for a vocational school. They would start with one discipline and build the 
curriculum for additional disciplines as they moved forward.  
It took several VTeams from Canada and a fair bit of time but we did get the building completed.  
 
Over the next three years we continued to push for the opening of the school. There were a number of reasons 
for no progress on the school from the Executive Committee of the AEM, however we continued to urge them to 
move forward. 
In late August 2016 I received several pictures from Haiti of the vocational school holding classes in welding, 
auto mechanics and a driving school course. I praise the Lord for this development. We will now remain in a 
hold and wait position on further development projects until we can be assured of the school’s continued 
functioning.  
 
We do continue to support the church-to-church building projects which is primarily giving administrative 
support for the teams going. Also we will continue to assist in drilling for water in local villages as a part of 
community development and continue to send medical teams and financial support to the Gene des Nantes 
clinic. The staff at the clinic have worked very hard to become self sufficient. The demand by the government to 
have a fully licensed doctor, head nurse and lab technician has made it extremely hard for the clinic to maintain 
an income that meets their financial demands. We have agreed to a three-year plan in which each year we 
decrease our financial support as they find ways to raise more support.   
 
Homes for Haiti Phase Two is almost complete. This was a joint effort between the C&MA and EMCC to build 
houses for those living in dire situations, a number of which are still displaced by the 2010 earthquake. In total 
we have built forty two new homes through the Homes for Haiti project. 
 
If there are any considerations for new projects I would like to see them in the area of Conservation Agricultural 
practices which is such an amazing tool for small farm holders to work toward self sustainability. This could also 
be the kind of project that would interface with Canadian Foodgrains Bank (CFGB). Two people from GDN are 
planning to attend the Farming God’s Way Training in a nearby town early in 2017.  
 
Ethiopia 
In Ethiopia our work has been exclusively with The Ethiopia Kale Heywit Church and CFGB. We have signed a 
church to church partnership agreement but as of yet have not had any activity on that front.  
The agricultural work and the food aid we have been doing have been in the KUCHA area of the country. It is 
some 300 kms south of the capital Addis Ababa and is very rural and remote.  
 
Ethiopia experienced the driest year in fifty years in 2015-2016. Crops have failed drastically and has put the 
lives of people and their livestock in jeopardy. We responded in 2015 with a food aid project that was handled 
in the Food for Work format. We were able to help more than 2,000 people avoid severe hunger issues. Despite 
the extremely dry conditions those engaged in Conservation Agriculture (CA) are seeing much better results 
than those using traditional methods.  Our last report from the field states that farmers who have seen the 
results of the CA have started to adopt CA methods on their farms in hopes of increasing their crop yields. That 
is the beauty of engaging local farmers in CA projects. In 2017 we will be applying to CFGB for an additional CA 
project in the Kucha region.  
 
Presently we are in discussion with SIM Canada to consider a project to help EKHC Bible Schools and pastors to 
develop systems for self sufficiency along side of their ministry. 
 
South Africa 
Dan & Kerry Wiens have been joined by Nicole Jones and they make a formidable force on the landscape of 
Amanzimtoti, South Africa. Dan & Nicole are both well invested in Farming God’s Way (FGW) a conservation 
agriculture platform that combines good soil practices with Biblical truths and produces great crops of food.  
They are in the last year of a three year program in which Dan has shown and trained many in FGW as well as 
building strong ties to the community including the Zulu Chief. 
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Dan believes that the program supported by EMCC & CFGB will not need another term of support. He believes 
that enough farmers have been trained and are understanding the concepts of FGW. What he is praying for is 
the success of these farmers to be the catalyst for other farmers to ask why their crops are so good and then be 
willing to learn the new way of farming as well as learning that our Great God has provided all we need.  
 
Dan is seeking the Lord as to the next term on the mission field in South Africa. He is looking to remove himself 
from Seed Of Hope and concentrate more on the agricultural aspect of his ministry. Dan is already a certified 
trainer of the FGW platform and is part of a board that helps to direct the FGW platform of conservation 
agriculture in South and Eastern Africa. 
 
Tanzania 
In Tanzania our connections have been with two groups. First with the Tanzania Missionary Revival Church 
(TMTC) which has given birth to the Urafiki Health Clinic in Igoma, Mwanza region and serves a community of 
more than 80,000 people. The clinic and its work is supported by the Stouffvillle Igoma Partnership (SIP) which 
was actually birthed out of Stouffville Missionary Church. Our primary avenue of work with the TMRC has been 
in pastoral training & development and with medical VTeams that come every two years to support the work of 
the clinic. There have been some attempts at expanding the kind of support we give to the TMRC, however their 
capacity as an organization is limited at this point in time. 
 
We have also had a long standing relationship with the Evangelical Missionary Church of East and Central Africa 
which has an R&D arm called Ministry for Improvement and Boosting Organizational Services (MIBOS). They are 
very active in trying to assist local farmers to improve their farming techniques as well as finding ways to 
stimulate growth without overuse of fertilizers which are expensive and temporary in terms of  soil health and 
crop production. In late September through early October I went to Tanzania to do some very strategic 
networking with East Africa and head Office staff of CFGB with MIBOS. I had several meetings with the east 
Africa representatives of CFGB along with Hassan Rangi, MIBOS agriculturalist and team leader.  At a later date 
I also networked Hassan with the Canadian CFGB Staff that had travelled to Tanzania. 
 
I also took a few days to do some work with the staff and leadership of Urafiki Health Clinic and the Tanzania 
Missionary Revival Church. These are the ministry groups we cooperate with when we send Medical VTeams to 
Tanzania. It is also the partner of the NGO Stouffville Igoma Partnership (SIP) and that started out of the EMC 
church in Stouffville.  
 
With the help of CFGB we have carried out an organizational assessment of MIBOS to assist them in improving 
their capacity to carry out a CFGB program in the future. MIBOS has submitted a Conservation Agriculture 
proposal to CFGB in hopes of starting the work in 2017. 
 
Malawi & Zambia 
In late November President Phil and I were invited to present the Way of Jesus training in Malawi and Zambia. 
During our training we also presented the concept and benefits of Farming God’s Way conservation agriculture. 
There was enthusiastic response from almost all of the participants. We feel there is great opportunity to help 
these followers of Jesus to move toward self sufficiency with the help of Farming God’s Way.  
 
Volunteer Teams 
In 2015 we sent out twelve VTeams. Nine Teams went to Haiti for construction, medical, teaching, a 
construction team to Ecuador, a ministry team to Romania and a construction team to Mexico. 
In 2016 we sent out ten VTeams. Seven to Haiti, one medical team to Tanzania, one construction team to India 
and one ministry team to Romania. 
 
Canadian Foodgrains Bank (CFGB) 
I continue to serve on the board of Canadian Foodgrains Bank along with President Phil. I attended board 
meetings in Winnipeg as well as training in Agriculture and Livelihoods programing and development in the 
Toronto area.  
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We have just completed another Food for Work Project in Kucha, Ethiopia where the drought has taken a 
significant toll and we will be presenting another conservation agriculture project in 2017. 
 
As mentioned above I have been working for about one year on securing a Conservation Agriculture Project for 
Mwanza with MIBOS. It will be one of my goals to see that accomplished this year. 
 
Thailand 
I was privileged to travel with other EMCC leadership to the International World Partners Presidents meeting 
held in Thailand from February 15–24, 2016. I was able to share some of the work we are doing in R&D with 
the group. We also received a gift from Rev. Tej Rokka of Nepal for our support of SARA Ministries in the relief 
effort in Nepal following the earthquake.  
This time also allowed for further networking with likeminded ministry partners that are active in developing a 
variety of discipleship ministry.  
 
 

Refugee Sponsorship 
Late in September of 2015 we signed a partnership agreement with three other denominations in a joint effort 
to deal with the refugee crisis. This agreement was spearheaded by the Christian & Missionary Alliance, who as 
a denomination are Sponsorship Agreement Holders (SAH) with the Canadian government. The other 
denominations joining the agreement are the Associated Gospel Churches of Canada (AGC) and the Fellowship 
of Baptist Churches (FBC). The agreement was in effect for one year with renewal possible after evaluation at 
year’s end. 
 
This has allowed our churches pursuing refugee sponsorship a wealth of information and two staff members at 
C&MA head office to walk with them through the process of application. 
 
We did consider the possibility of applying for our own SAH status with the government, however the same route 
taken by the AGC resulted in a declined application. The leadership in the C&MA state that reading between the 
lines of the government response is that the government has been inundated by applications and have just 
ceased to approve any additional applications. 
In most recent discussions all denominations have expressed a desire to extend the agreement for an 
additional year. That agreement should be signed and in place by the time of Assembly. 
 
Additionally, I have attended two workshops on the sponsorship process and have read numerous pages of 
documentation so I can follow along and support our churches involved in the process. 
 
Retirement & Succession 
This is the year that I will step down from my responsibilities as Assistant Director of World Partners. There have 
been several discussions with the President and staff as to how and when this will take place. I would like to say 
at this point that it has been my privilege and joy to serve the EMCC in this position. I am thankful for the trust 
placed in me by our staff and by you the constituency of EMCC. I am thankful to the Lord for what He has 
allowed us to do around the world. It has been said on several occasions that EMCC has a significant footprint 
in the world through our relief & development activity. 
 
Thank You 
Finally I want to say thank you to every person and every church that has been involved in assisting the poor 
and oppressed of our world. Whether it has been through your own local church, through EMCC or another 
agency you have been actively doing the work of blessing others, especially those in need, in the name of Jesus. 
May the blessing of giving bring you great joy and blessing in your own life. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Lou Geense 
lgeense@emcc.ca 
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WORLD PARTNERS INTERNATIONAL REPORT 
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________	
Reporting: Phil Delsaut 
Position: Chair of World Partners International Executive Committee 
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________	
	
In February 2016 WPI had its first global gathering in Thailand.   This is the gathering of the Presidents and 
Missions Directors of each partner.  Thailand was chosen because it was the best destination for flights, visa 
and a proven low cost venue.  During these meetings, Associate Member status was granted to Malawi, Zambia 
and Ethiopia. The gathering was a time for report sharing about what the Lord is doing through the members of 
our international family and to bring encouragement and to explore possible collaborations.  Out of this 
gathering came opportunities to bless Malawi, Zambia, Nepal and India with subsequent Way of Jesus training 
events.  RMC president, Kerry Belt, also attended with a view to developing further sites for the Pathways 
dispersed education platform.  The reports were encouraging giving first-hand information about God at work in 
some very difficult places.  Good times of prayer and fellowship stimulated deeper connection among the 
participants.   
 
WPI has members from Brazil, Canada, Colombia, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Ethiopia, Haiti, India, 
Jamaica, Kenya, Malawi, Mexico, Nepal, Nigeria, Sierra Leone, USA, Venezuela, and Zambia. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Phil Delsaut 
pdelsaut@emcc.ca 
 

FINANCE REPORT 
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________	
Reporting: Randall Rehkopf 
Position: Director of Operations 
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
At all times and in all circumstances God is good.  He has knit us together as a body of churches of wondrously 
varied sizes and shapes, who love and support each other in unity of mission to follow Jesus together.  I 
personally thank God for my predecessors who have assisted my continued transition into the role of Director of 
Operations:  Andrew Epp, John Cressman, Wendell Schlumberger and Henry Zondervan—as well as President 
Phil.  I thank God for behind-the-scenes staff who so competently and humbly serve the Lord with their skills 
and gifts:  Jean Winker, Gavin Wark, Lotoya Mahorn, Pauline Zondervan, Pam Hicks and Bruna George—along 
with the rest of the National Team.  We are in the midst of several personnel changes as a number of our team 
retire, so we celebrate their faithful service and anticipate the future. 

 
EMCC Common Cause Contributions 
Your contributions make possible the national ministry of EMCC.  
In 2016 Common Cause saw an overall increase of $51,000 over 
2015, for a total $946,700 in 2016.  Thank you!  Last year 
EMCC’s operating costs were $998,000.  As the chart shows, 
National Team costs account for the majority of the funds.   
 
Common Cause is how we help each other as EMCC.  It is the 
covenant commitment of full member churches to contribute to 
our common ministries 5% of local church total revenue less 
capital/building expenses.  Individual churches benefit to varying 
degrees from our national resources.  While one church may not 
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be receiving a large amount of National Team support, that church’s investment to Common Cause may well be 
the reason that another of our churches survives or thrives, because it benefitted from the support it needed.  
Without Common Cause, many ministries would not be possible. EMCC is a family of churches who have this 
channel to help one another and to receive resourcing and support.  Thank you for your giving. 

 
Ministry expenses include EMCC events (Assembly, Regional Gatherings, Pastors’ Retreats, Youth events, etc.), 
ministry to pastors and local churches, and associated travel costs for National Team members.  The 
Administrative portion of the Operations budget goes toward costs related to offices, accounting, legal and audit 
fees, and EMCC Board expenses.   
 
Contributions to World Partners, Relief & Development, Bible Colleges and Camps are separate; churches are 
encouraged to give as they are able to these valued ministry partners. 
 
Summary of EMCC Revenue 
Total revenue for EMCC ministries in 2016 was $5.7 
million. We operate mostly out of Common Cause 
contributions but we do have other funds that we track 
and steward such as Benefits and missionary support. 
The chart to the right shows how revenue was distributed 
among World Partners, Relief and Development, 
Common Cause, Pension & Benefits, and various other 
EMCC ministries. These ministries are administered for 
the direct benefit of our pastors, congregations, 
missionaries, special projects recipients, and people we 
are inviting to follow Jesus. 
 
Summary of EMCC Expenditures 
Total expenses for 2016 were $5.71 million. The chart 
below shows how givings were dispersed among World 
Partners, Relief and Development, National Team, Pension & Benefits, Administration and Other Ministries. 
 

Granting and Loan Funds 
Through a variety of grants EMCC has invested 
$370,000 directly in our churches and leaders.  These 
funds include, among others: 
 
• Building Development Fund (matching grants up to 

$50,000 for capital projects). 
• Church Planting Initiatives Fund & Church Planting 

Seed Funds (funds granted for new groups for new 
people). 

• Emergency Pastor and Missionary Care Fund 
(providing pastoral care to our workers). 

• Global Christian Bursary Fund (giving opportunity for 
leaders to travel to mission fields for specific 
purposes such as teaching, medical or 

administrative roles, on a short-term basis). 
• Ministry Grant Fund (help for churches and credentialed ministers with outreach events, ministry initiatives 

intended for church growth, church planting, and vocational development). 
• Ministry Training Fund (help to licensed ministers for training opportunities). 
• Missionary Professional Development Fund (scholarships or bursaries to assist EMCC Missionaries on Home 

Assignment). 
• Pentecost Offering Fund (seed money to church plants through Pentecost Sunday offerings). 
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Relief & Development  
In the last two years EMCC invested $421,000 in Relief and Development projects for Ethiopia, Hurricane 
Matthew, Fort McMurray, Nepal, Ecuador, Haiti, South Africa, India.  As well, in the last two years we received 
$298,000 in bequests, which were distributed to various funds, such as those listed above, to bless our leaders 
and churches and ministry partners.   
 
Thanks from the EMCC National Team 
The National Team (President, Regional Ministers, Youth Ministry Staff, Admin, Finance and Communications 
Staff) regularly prays for our churches and considers it a joy and privilege to serve in the following ways:  
resourcing and coaching; communicating to pastors and churches; training pastors, boards, leaders and 
congregations; credentialing ministers; catalyzing new works; finance and administrative support; 
troubleshooting various aspects of church life; supporting churches through charitable status, bylaws and 
incorporation; administrating the group benefits plan; and investing in youth and young adults.  We are 
committed to following Jesus together and making disciples by resourcing and supporting our congregations 
and people in the ministries you are called to.  God bless you. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Randall Rehkopf 
rrehkopf@emcc.ca 
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“Dear friends, let us love one another, for love comes from God.” 1 John 4:7
In a book about the positive impact of generosity on the giver, the authors write, “…generosity is 
ultimately an expression of love…” For more than four decades, Abundance Canada has been assisting 
people with expressing their love by planning for generosity during their lifetimes and at the end of 
life. Abundance Canada is grateful for the continual strong relationships with congregations that form 
Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada. We are always open to invitations to explore with you biblical 
generosity as an expression of love.

Abundance Canada Report for EMCC January 2017

A New Name!
In October 2016, Mennonite Foundation of Canada 
became Abundance Canada.

This decision was made after an 18-month research 
process that analyzed the market, held conversations 
with clients and potential clients, and gathered input 
from a sample of the Christian population across Canada.

Abundance Canada inspires thoughts of God’s abundance, 
speaks to people of sharing God’s abundance with those 
in need, and it more accurately reflects our service, our 
ministry and our spirit of generosity.

$15.5 M 
distributed to Canadian 
charities 

968 
charities  supported by 
clients using our services

$11.59 M 
donations of stock and 
mutual funds

2016 Highlights

As each has received a gift, employ it for one another as  
good stewards of God’s varied grace.—1 Peter 4:10

Abundance Canada Offers:
• Generosity planning for individuals  

and congregations
• Lifetime giving plans
• Family foundation options
• End-of-life generosity plans
• Values-based fund management for 

congregations
• Inspiring presentations for living 

generously with gifts from God

1.800.772.3257 
abundance.ca

Because generosity changes everything

Dori Zerbe Cornelsen

Harold Penner

Mike Strathdee

Brad Friesen Kevin Davidson

Sherri Grosz

Abundance Canada Gift Planning Consultants

Marlow Gingerich

Peter Dryden
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OASIS REPORT 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	

Reporting: Ivan Preston 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
A lot has happened in OASIS since my last report in May 2015. For those who are unfamiliar with OASIS, it is a 
ministry to seniors of EM Churches in Ontario. OASIS stands for Older Adults Still in Service. Our purpose is 3 
fold. 

1. We provide venues where we meet with God for His blessing, spiritual refreshment and edification. 
2. We provide venues for fellowship with other Christians, old friends and new. 
3. We exist to encourage fruitful service, working together with God for Kingdom building. 

To accomplish the above, we crisscross our province and hold area rallies which consist of a musical concert, 
an outstanding testimony and a time to fellowship together over a full course meal. 

Each year, during the second week in June we hold a Seniors’ Camp called the Golden Getaway at Stayner. This 
has become such a blessing to our seniors. The camp is growing year by year. 

Each year we also have a Seniors’ Day at Family Camp and have had special guests like David Mainse and the 
Huntley Trio. 

Another area of ministry is taking bus trips to Sight and Sound in Lancaster Pennsylvania to see drama 
presentations portraying the life of Bible characters like Moses and Joseph. Other times we take bus trips to 
New York City to visit Brooklyn Tabernacle and Times Square churches besides some sightseeing. Needless to 
say, these trips have been a great blessing for those who were able to come. 

Many seniors are not physically able to serve and do volunteer work but they can pray and give to our projects. 
In 2015 we raised over $12,000 for projects. In 2016 giving exceeded $13,000. 

We covet your prayers for God’s blessing on Older Adults Still in Service. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Ivan Preston 
okmagay@gmail.com 
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EMMANUEL BIBLE COLLEGE 

	

 Reporting:  Dr. Mark Boughan 
 Position: President 
 

 

Emmanuel remains committed to serving the EMCC and the wider Church through the operation of an 
accredited Bible college. At the same time, EBC believes that it is called to creatively adapt to changing times in 
the provision of education and training.  

A. A RENEWED EMMANUEL 

In our last report, the college noted that it was seeking ways to bring what we believe to be its Spirit-led vision to 
reality.  That vision would lead to an expansion of ministry and discipleship training by: 1) adding distance 
undergraduate programs, 2) partnering with ministries, missions, and denominations to provide specialized 
training and resources, 3) developing non-credit adult and professional education programs, and 4) perhaps 
adding specialized graduate educational offerings. 

However, there were many obstacles and pitfalls that had to be faced. Over the course of the last year, a 
Futures Committee composed of Board and staff reviewed barriers to success and examined a wide range of 
potential options. 

i. Barriers 

The first barrier was historic debt. That came in many forms. Over the years the accumulated losses have 
became significant. At the same time the entire campus faces growing problems with years of deferred 
maintenance. Buildings are in poor repair and some have outlived their lifespan. 

The first new barrier comes from the change in our culture and churches that leaves us with a population no 
longer valuing either a general education OR a Bible college education. Recruitment numbers have been down 
for several years and we have far fewer students who come not already committed to ministry training. A 
general college education is no longer valued. 

The second new barrier comes from a decline in givings from churches. Over the past decade there has been a 
small but steady decrease in annual support from church budgets. This suggested that there was a need for 
renewal of denominational connectedness, an expansion of denominational relationships, and for new ways to 
connect with the local church. 

ii. Options 

These factors, taken together, indicated the need for either a drastic change in operations or a plan to cease 
operations within a number of years.  

Ceasing operations was a ‘non-starter’. We still had students, we had resources, the need for discipleship and 
ministry training was ongoing, and the needs of the Church and the world were only growing. 

The Futures Committee looked at every possible option and some were attractive. Moving was a possibility and 
a number of stand-alone and partnership arrangements were considered. Eventually it was determined that 
remaining on the current campus while ‘right-sizing’ and reorganizing to meet the anticipated needs of on-
campus undergraduate students, was the correct course of action. Then by selling the portion of our property 
with the dilapidated buildings we would have the opportunity to eliminate historic debt, develop the new 
programs and hire people to staff them, and redevelop the remaining land to provide the additional needed 
facilities for the future. (See accompanying diagram).  
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Land will go on sale this Spring, the entire campus will remain in use over the next year, and campus building 
and renovation will occur over the next year.  

 

2. Matters of Note 

a.  The EBC Act (1981) 

In order to move forward with the Futures Plan, EBC must renew the act of the Ontario Provincial Parliament 
that gives the right to grant degrees. We are seeking: expansion of educational authority, updating of language 
and policy that brings the college into conformity with changes to provincial legislation since 1981, and a 
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renewal of the relationship between the college and the EMCC.  At the time of writing, this process was in the 
consultative stage between EBC and the EMCC. 

b. First Professional Certification Program 

In February the college began offering a non-academic professional training program leading to certification as 
an addiction counselor by the CACCF (Canadian Addiction Counsellors Certification Federation). This is the first 
such program in a Christian institution in Canada, is much needed, and will serve as the template for future 
offerings. 

c. Denominational Connectedness 

In addition to the EMCC, Emmanuel maintains formal connections with the UBIC (United Brethren in Christ) and 
the CCCC (Congregational Christian Churches in Canada).  Over the past year we have seen the development of 
a deep working relationship with the central district of the C&MA (Christian and Missionary Alliance) through 
cooperating in the offering of a nontraditional program for pastoral training. Now we are looking forward to 
cooperating extensively with the C&MA in Eastern Canada as we serve their people through the new 
memorandum of understanding between the EMCC, the C&MA, and their respective educational institutions. 

d. Significant Personnel Shift 

Part of the Futures Plan involves dramatic shifts in the allocation of personnel resources within the college. One 
aspect of this direction involves the combining of the position of President with that of the position of Academic 
Dean into a new office of President & Dean.  Dr. Mark Boughan will complete five-year term as President by the 
time of Assembly and it has been determined Dr. Stephen Roy, currently Academic V.P., will be stepping into the 
role as of May 1. Dr. Boughan will remain as a transition consultant for 3 months. 

 

3. Program Breakdown for Winter 2017 

Note: We see a resurgence in interest in the pastoral ministry program among first year students. This will not 
be reflected in statistics until next year. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Dr. Mark Boughan 
MBoughan@emmanuelbiblecollege.ca 
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ROCKY MOUNTAIN COLLEGE REPORT 

_____________________________________________________________________________________	

Reporting: Kerry Belt 
Position: President 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	
	
It’s an honour to report to the Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada’s General Assembly.  
 
HISTORICAL PERSPECTIVE: 
 
At the writing of this report Rocky Mountain College is celebrating 25 years of ministry. RMC was formed in 
1992 by merging Mountain View Bible College and Hillcrest Christian College for the express purpose of 
discipleship and ministry training. We are ever thankful to those who pioneered that effort and for the many 
folks who have served at RMC over the years. Today, in 2017, although we have embraced a different 
methodology for delivering Christian Higher Education, those two purposes remain – discipleship and Christian 
leadership development – and RMC continues to pursue those purposes very intentionally. Below is an update 
on how that is unfolding. 
 
STRATEGIC REPOSITIONING: 
 
In February, 2010, after thorough research into the enrolment decline in the Canadian Bible college movement, 
the RMC Board of Governors approved a strategic plan that would fast forward RMC into a redesign period. That 
plan included the following: 
 

• Revamping our ministry programs with spiritual leadership development at the core 
• Entering into collaborative partnerships with ministries, churches, and Christian colleges  
• Designing leadership programs for the adult learner  
• Using Christian ministry practitioners as our primary instructors 

 
With God kindly providing the time, energy, and resources those changes were implemented.   

 
PATHWAYS: RMC’S DISTRIBUTED LEARNING MODEL 
 
As a further step forward in the 2010 strategic plan RMC has worked aggressively since 2012 to initiate a 
distributed learning model of education now known as Pathways. To launch that model we have:   
 

• Created a learning model customized for mature adult learners     
• Converted our courseware to an electronic format 
• Trained instructors to use the electronic platforms delivering those courses 
• Launched Pathways while closing our current campus based model 
• Formed partnerships with ministries, churches and colleges to distribute courses 
• Delivered our free on line Introduction to the Bible to people in twelve different countries 
• Partnered with camps to use Pathways to deliver a gap year program at their facilities   
• Created a $1.3 million ongoing fund called The Pathways Fund to be used to encourage students and 

ministries using Pathways  
 
The new model has a number of attractive features including that it uses fewer resources, it allows students to 
remain at home in their local churches and acquire training for ministry, it allows students to register and start 
courses 24/7 365 days a year, and they have the freedom to study when they want to. In addition, the model 
allows us to retain RMC’s core purposes of discipleship and leadership development.    
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NEW OPPORTUNITIES 
 
At this time it appears that our Pathways model is gaining traction. Our enrollment for this year has surpassed 
last year’s number and our student body now averages 28.6 years old and continues to get older. Student 
evaluation of the courses are very positive and many of them continue to be engaged in local ministry as they 
study. As well we continue to:  
 

• Work on our partnership with SHUATS University in northern India  
• Work with Missionary Aviation Fellowship to provide biblical training for their staff  
• Work with Canadian colleges that are using Pathways to deliver their curriculum 
• Explore opportunities with Canadian colleges seeking to deliver courses on line  
• Partnering with camps in using Pathways as a gap year program  
• Work with churches that desire to be “teaching churches” and prepare people for ministry  
• Serve mature adults who want to grow but cannot stop life in order to study  

 
We are also working to finalize a multifaceted MOU between the Christian and Missionary Alliance, the EMCC, 
Emmanuel Bible College, Ambrose University and RMC. The MOU names Emmanuel as the preferred Bible 
college of the Alliance from Ontario east, Ambrose as a preferred university for the EMCC from Manitoba west 
and RMC as the CMA’s college for distributed learning nationally. RMC and Ambrose are also exploring a 
separate partnership (with MOU) in which RMC is Ambrose’s partner in distributed learning. Please pray with us 
as we continue this journey.   
 
ACCREDITATION 
 
RMC has been an accredited institution with the Association of Biblical Higher Education since its inception in 
1992. After completing a self study process that included the new Pathways model, RMC was granted a 
continuation of accreditation until 2026.  
 
RMC also continues to be accredited with the Canadian Council of Christian Charities.  
 
FINANCIALLY 
 
As a private college in Canada RMC, like most Canadian Bible Colleges, receives no government funding. 
Therefore we rely on student tuition, personal donations and church donations as our primary revenue streams. 
When one or more of those streams struggles or falters the institution immediately feels the consequence of 
that happening and it is often painful.  
 
To alleviate some of the stresses in that scenario and create long term sustainability RMC is creating a new 
business model. A core piece of that model is the long term leasing of our campus. The revenue from the lease 
will be used to support our educational activities. This revenue, while not removing the need for tuition revenue 
or church donations and personal donations, will remove some of the pressure we have historically placed on 
those revenue streams. 
 
To that end the RMC campus, after a challenging two year development process with the City of Calgary, will be 
in a fully engaged lease as of September 1, 2017. To get to that point RMC has invested time, energy and 
finances in some major upgrades on campus to make it leasable as a multi-tenant facility.  
 
At the writing of this report we are thankful for tuition revenue and church donations that are close to what we 
targeted in our budget. However, due to the economic challenges personal donations are down substantially 
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and projected lease revenue is less than anticipated due to the City of Calgary delaying occupancy. Please pray 
with us as we ask God to care for our financial needs by June 30th.   
 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS: 
 
I want to express my appreciation to the RMC Board of Governors. They have provided good, wise and timely 
leadership during our time of major transition. Their leadership has been an encouragement to the RMC 
community. 
THANK YOU TO THE EMCC  
 
As we complete our 25th year of operations, it is encouraging to know that we have served more than 4,000 
students over the years. It is particularly intriguing to know that these students have touched over 63 countries 
around the world. Without the support of the EMCC this would never have been possible.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Kerry Belt 
kbelt@rockymountaincollege.ca 
 

CHARIS CAMP REPORT 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	

Reporting: Darren K Duncalfe 
Position: Executive Director 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	

	
There is much to be thankful for at Charis Camp.  In the last year we were able to extend the reach and scope of 
the camp.  Rev. Marty and Krista Bennett joined the team with Marty beginning the work of extending our 
connection to children and staff who attend Charis, intentionally building year round connections with emphasis 
on discipleship.  The idea is to build into lives starting from our youngest campers (seven years old) continuing 
through to those in post- secondary education (those attending Charis Pathways Bible College).  Marty also 
clearly has a mandate to serve local EMCC churches in BC through a partnership with EMCC Youth and a 
ministry sharing agreement that has him overseeing the Cross Connection (Chilliwack EMCC) youth group.  
Thanks to EMCC Youth for helping financially through this partnership.  

Krista has been working part-time as our Director of Advancement to help promote the Camp and Charis 
Pathways College.  Because the College is powered by Pathways at Rocky Mountain College, Krista has proudly 
represented the interests of RMC as well.  Much appreciation to RMC as they have helped us a great deal 
through the Pathways Fund and through the time President Kerry Belt has invested in us through his insight and 
encouragement. 

After two years of waiting lists for our children’s camps, we took the step to increase our capacity by adding an 
additional camp we called “Prospectors Camp” for nine to eleven year olds.  This camp is a genuine camping 
experience using tents.  Our staff declared it to be the best week of the summer and so this upcoming summer 
we have added a second week of Prospectors Camp.   

Last year we grew our revenue but also increased our staffing costs as we continue to plan for growth.   This 
growth includes our continued investment in preparing a retreat house in Osoyoos, BC called Charis House, 
which is managed by Charis Camp and Conference Centre.    Charis House will serve EMCC churches and the 
Kingdom by offering a place for retreat, respite and renewal.  Beyond a place for those in ministry, special 
emphasis will be placed on lay leadership who need the blessing of rest.  We also hope it will become a place 
where churches can send single parents and families in financial distress for care and restoration. Our hope is 
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to have the first phase of Charis House ready to receive guests this summer.  Many thanks to those who have 
volunteered for the clean-up and transformation so far, and a special thank you to our EMCC family for a grant 
to help us with some very significant upgrades needed.  

As our team has grown we have seen great things happen at Charis and yet together we recognize how truly 
“front-line” this ministry is.  Nearly every weekend all year round, someone (often many “someones”) is having a 
significant encounter with God.  We shouldn’t be surprised that with that kind of impact comes significant 
opposition.  When you think of us please pray for us.   

Respectfully submitted,  
 
Darren K. Duncalfe  
ridgeviewpastor@shaw.ca 
 

ECHO LAKE CAMP REPORT 

_____________________________________________________________________________________	

Reporting: Roy Hewko and Jason Bowen 
Position: Co-Board Presidents 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	

	
Greetings to you from the shores of beautiful Echo Lake, Saskatchewan. 
 
Echo Lake Bible Camp has been operating continuously since 1933 on a few donated acres of lakeside 
property near Fort Qu’appelle, SK.  Echo Lake, which is located about an hour from downtown Regina, has 
developed into a sought after recreation, resort and vacation area.  Over the years, we have witnessed 
hundreds of decisions for Christ and influenced many generations with the encouragement to walk in their faith.  
Over the last five years, we have begun the process of revitalizing and modernizing our facilities.  Our desire is 
to develop a platform to expand our camping season, increase the safety and health of campers and make the 
camp amenable to the technology of this and future generations. We would especially like to thank President 
Phil Delsaut who made himself available at a critical time and facilitated a retreat that helped us gain vision 
and impetus for the future by examining and formalizing our values.  
 
Through the generosity of our constituency and denomination and the hard work of our camp management and 
volunteers we have been able to begin the process of redevelopment.  To date, we have modernized our 
electrical supply and upgraded our trailer camping area with power and sewer to accommodate the larger 
trailers of today.  Our audio visual system has been upgraded to offer incredible quality sound and images in 
our main chapel.   We are in the process of building new three season cabins to replace our old cabins.  This will 
also increase our overall bunk capacity.  We are still working to improve and modernize our facilities (there is 
much still to do) and will continue to expand our vision as funds become available. 
 
We currently offer five camps under our direction: Kids, Youth, Young Adult, 50+ and Family.  As well, we 
continue to seek to market our camp for retreats and special events to various other organizations and 
denominations who share our values and beliefs.  Because our Saskatchewan core of EMCC churches is 
relatively small, we have already begun the process of reaching out to other denominational groups in our area.  
Some of them have had their own camps in the past but have had to close them as they were unable to keep 
their camping program viable.  We are willing to work with them as they begin to see a renewed need for camp 
ministry.  
 
Please excuse the pun, but, we are not out of the woods yet.  Like most organizations wishing to reinvigorate a 
program or a sector, we are caught in the process of needing to do more with less.  In order to grow we need  
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funds and manpower, in order to attract funds and manpower, we need growth.  Fortunately, we serve a God 
who is capable of doing the unseen and is the living promise of our faith.  We strongly believe in camp ministry 
and the ongoing ministry of Echo Lake Bible Camp. Continue to pray with us as we pursue God’s vision. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Roy Hewko pacc@sasktel.net 
Jason Bowen vpresident@elbc.co 
 

 

EVERGREEN CHRISTIAN MINISTRIES 

Stayner Bible Conference Ground and Camp Mishewah 

_____________________________________________________________________________________	

Reporting: Louise Leonard 
Position: Past Executive Director 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	

Program is first and foremost the most important element of what we do at camp.  Programming encompasses 
anything we run under the banner of ECM.  We appreciate our guest rental groups and seek to serve them with 
servant hearts.  While a large portion of our annual revenue is derived from rental groups, both Christian and 
special focus groups, our caution is to be diligent to anchor the lion’s share of our ministry in programs run and 
retreat service to the evangelical community. 

Family camps at Mishewah have reached near capacity the last two years. The camping model of tents and 
trailers is gradually shifting to motel and cabin requests.  While we have maintained a steady lineup of seasonal 
residents, the number of trailers coming in through the season is reducing.  The same is true of Stayner Camp.  
The need for accommodation demands we continue the conversation of future development. 

Decreasing enrolment at youth camps has us concerned.  With a reformatting of camper weeks in 2017 we are 
trusting the weeks will be full, and available space in unused weeks will be valuable to other endeavors. We 
value our partnership with the Indigenous Camp and are conversing with their leadership about the changes 
they are seeing.   

The largest challenge we face is enough staff to carry the year round business of running two properties.  Our 
bookkeeper is overloaded and our site director at Stayner often runs into 60-hour summer season workweeks.  
With off-season retreats growing, the workweek year round is pushed into unreasonable demands on our 
fulltime staff.  Increasing revenue to employ additional staff, and prioritizing administration will greatly assist in 
addressing this problem and is the only way forward towards long-term success and sustainability. 

The involvement of our pastors at our family camps is very much appreciated.  Mishewah benefits directly from 
their leadership at Family Camp. Stayner Camp has been blessed by a strong multi day representation of World 
Partners at family camp.  Mishewah has been a bit resistant to adding this mission element to its program, but 
we gently pushed for its inclusion and it is also slowly being accepted and the blessing realized. 

Reports from the camps encourage us knowing that we are making a difference for eternity.  Our LIT program 
running alongside Trail of the Pines has given two dozen 13-15 year olds a guiding hand into living Jesus’ Way.  
Day Camps at Stayner are resulting in young lives coming to Jesus, with the added surprise of leading a parent 
to Jesus at the end of day.  Adrianna, a camper at Mishewah, wrote that she goes home a different person, 
having been immersed in God’s love as displayed through her cabin leaders and she complimented every staff 
area at the camp with positive glowing remarks.   

The future of ECM is here!  A new Executive Director is at the helm.  With added emphasis on marketing and 
promotion we hope to keep our camps on the growing trend.  It has been a pleasure to serve with ECM and a 
pleasure to hand the reins of leadership to Tim Loveday.  My future includes supporting the ministry of camping 
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in Canada.  Giving space to Tim to soar, I now sign off as the past Executive Director of Evergreen Christian 
Ministries. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Louise Leonard 
louiseann@gmail.com 
 

RIVERS EDGE CAMP & RETREAT CENTRE REPORT 

_____________________________________________________________________________________	

Reporting: Juan Manigault 
Position: Executive Director 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	
	
God is on the move at Rivers Edge Camp & Retreat Centre! 
 
Let’s start with a sample of camp stories from Summer 2016.  These serve as a sampling of God working in the 
lives of young people and staff this past summer. The names have been removed but the stories represent the 
truth and Christ-Centred Life Change as represented by our vision statement. 
 
• “During Jr. High Camp there was amazing spiritual growth among the students. Especially during the sunset 

service. The worship was excellent, the speaker, Pastor James Choi, preached the Gospel. During this time, 
there was an altar call type thing and lots of kids raised their hands to accept Jesus for the first time or 
renew their commitment to Jesus.”  

 
• “This summer has been full of spiritual growth for me. These camps are done for the kids who came but 

they have helped me to grow in my faith. Camp life has taught me to be patient and more generous with my 
time and talents and to just spend time with and show Jesus’ love to the campers.”  

 
• “I saw God working in a young girl’s life at Jr High camp last week when a camper went to the hospital. 

Dealing with fear and anxiety about what was going on and how this camper was doing, she turned to God 
for comfort. She didn't look to her cabin leaders or even me for comfort. To see such a young person going 
to God to deal with things and just laying it as His feet is awesome! In the same instance, God used the 
same situation to work in me.  Having dealt with and still dealing with my own anxieties, God showed me 
that He can use something like that for good. I was able to comfort the young girl and pray for her with more 
understanding of what she was going through. It was an awesome reminder that in my weakest state is 
when I’m actually the strongest because that’s when God can use me and work through me.” 

 
• “Two years ago, we had a guest group come out in the fall. I led high ropes for the group and connected with 

one of the students who jumped off the trust dive and touched the buoy from ~10 feet away. One of the 
best jumps I had seen. I told him he should come out to summer camp and sure enough he did! This 
summer he came back again for Jr High Camp and I could see God softening his heart throughout the week. 
On Thursday night, Pastor James Choi invited the teens to accept Christ into their lives. One young man 
stood up and made a commitment to God that night. I see such leadership potential in him. He has a 
servant heart and I’m excited to continue to work with him and see what great things God has in store for 
his life.”  

 
• “This summer has been the most significant summer for me in the eleven summers that I’ve been here. I 

was able to make the shift of focus from program to ministry. Ministry has always been the reason why I 
work here but lots of my focus last summer was on face lifting the program. This summer was a starting 
point for me in really keeping the ministry the main thing as well as my main focus. I was able to put pride 
aside this summer and realized some of my weaknesses and expose them to my team. I want to be a 
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spiritual leader for my team and to do that well I need to spend more time in the word, seek a mentor, and 
pray more. I want to continue tracking with the team throughout the year.”  

 
• “Hello, my daughter had an amazing time at camp! She came home and was so refreshed. She is back to 

being eager to build her relationship with the Lord and maintain it. She was also encouraged to limit contact 
with friends who drag her down even while still caring about them. Before camp she did not see this and we 
as parents tried to tell her. Now her eyes have been opened.  She was very much impacted by the youth 
pastor at the camp. Could you please send him my email so we can contact him?  Thanks so much - best 
money I have spent on her for a while!  Hope to see you again next summer.” 

 
2015-16 Fiscal Year Highlights 
 
• The 2015-16 year represents a transition to a new board and executive director. A new board began its 

leadership and oversight of the organization on September 10, 2015 under board chairman Peter 
Tanasiychuk. The new board includes:  

 
o Peter Tanasiychuk (Didsbury) – Chairman  
o Ken Lehman (Red Deer) – Secretary  
o Grace Goltz (Didsbury) – Treasurer  
o Les Hengen (Sundre) - Member  
o Gerry Neufeld (Bragg Creek) – Member  
o Janice Franzen (Calgary) – Member  
o Kelly Sikstorm (Carstairs) – Pastoral Representative  
o Brian Archer (Calgary) – EMCC Representative  
o Lynn Dietz (Three Hills) – EMCC Representative  

 
• Will Born resigned as executive director at the March 2016 AGM effective June 3, 2016.  Steve Griffin was 

selected as interim executive director and completed his tenure on June 28, 2016. 
 

• Juan Manigault was selected as executive director and began his tenure on July 1st. He has the certified 
minister credential with the EMCC. He brings a wealth of knowledge in leadership, spiritual growth and 
development, fundraising. He is a former executive director of Teen Challenge Alberta and has over 25 
years in leadership positions in the for-profit, non-profit and governmental sectors in the United States.  He 
has a B.A. in English from the University of Notre Dame and a MSBA in Organizational Development from 
Indiana University. 
 

• Juan was also responsible for working with the board to develop a new set of strategic statements. These 
include:  
 
• New Vision Statement: INVITING people to experience Christ-centered Life Change.  

 
• New Mission Statement: PROVIDING OPPORTUNITIES for diverse groups to develop and grow into fully 

committed followers of Jesus Christ.  
 

• New Value Statements:  
 

• Bible-based – 2 Timothy 3:16-17  
• Integrity – Proverbs 2:20-21  
• Servant Posture – Mark 10:45  
• Team Leadership – Ecclesiastes 4:9-12 
• Excellence – Philippians 4:8  
• Relationships – Romans 12:1-2  
• Learning Environment – Proverbs 22:6  
• Fun – Proverbs 15:13  
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• Community – Hebrews 10:25  
• Unity – John 17:20-23  

 
• The Senior Management Team includes: 

 
o Juan Manigault, Executive Director 
o Terry McKenna, Administrative Services Director 
o Jesse Nickel, Program Director 
o Jordan Parker, Facilities Director 

 
• The Camp lived within its revenues for the 2015-16 fiscal year for the first time in five years.  This was a 

major accomplishment. 
 
2016-17 Fiscal Year Highlights through April, 2017 
 

• Rivers Edge applied for a $50,000.00 EMCC grant and raised the required $50,000.00 in cash match.  
These funds will be used for: 
 

o Refinishing and installing a new epoxy coated floor for the kitchen (completed December 2016) 
o Purchase and install 55 new toilets at the camp (replacements started January 2017). 
o Purchase and install 35 new windows at the Country Inn (windows purchased January 2017). 
o Purchase new computers and monitors for staff. Also, new accounting software (completed 

January 2017). 
o Redesign and renovate stairwell and offices adjacent to stairwell in the Activity 

Centre/Administration Building.  This will alleviate the steep stairs and improve the landing 
areas at the top of the stairs.  Also, replace flooring and carpet on 2nd floor and staff lounge 
area. 

o Replace kitchen roof to prevent leaking and damage to new floor. 
o Assess problems with heating systems in Administration Building and Country Inn. 
o Replace kitchen flooring and carpet in basement for residence #101.  Replace nonworking 

windows in residence #103.  
 

• Rivers Edge applied for a $121,000.00 Canada Summer Jobs Grant to assist in the hiring of summer 
staff.   
 

• The AGM is scheduled for March 11, 2017.   
 

We continue to covet your prayers for God’s wisdom and understanding as we serve Him through our work with 
campers and guest groups. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Juan Manigault 
juan@riversedgecamp.org 
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WHISPERING PINES FELLOWSHIP CENTRE AND CAMP REPORT 

_____________________________________________________________________________________	

Reporting: Janna Hickey 
Position: Executive Director 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	
	
This report presents a perfect opportunity to introduce myself (Janna Hickey) and my husband Jeff as we fulfill 
the role of Executive Directors of Whispering Pines Camp.  We started this position in October 2016 and while 
this is a new role for us, we are excited to take on this new endeavour.  I spent the past three years as the 
Director of Youth Ministry at Hillcrest Church in Medicine Hat while Jeff has worked as an Operator in the Oilfield 
for the past 17 years.  We have served at Whispering Pines in various volunteer roles for the past 8 years.  
Seeing as camp is the place where I first came to faith, we are passionate about the importance of sharing the 
hope that we have in Jesus at camp.   
 
The former camp manager, Colin Quincey, resigned in the summer of 2016 to pursue other interests.  We pray 
that Colin will be blessed as he explores new opportunities, but we are pleased to report on the success of the 
camp in 2015 and 2016 under his primary leadership and our volunteer involvement. 
 
In the summer of 2015 the camp continued to experience growth with camper registrations.  We ran 4 weeks of 
camp and enjoyed seeing the camp running at full capacity.  Approximately 30% of campers were fully 
sponsored and we are thrilled to keep reaching our community in this way.  Our activities were improved in the 
summer of 2015 with the addition of a new shaded Archery Range as well as a beautiful Pellet Park for the kids 
to play.  A fenced area for a game called “Smack It Ball” was also added and continues to be a favourite activity 
for our campers and staff.   
 
For the summer of 2016 we added a week of camp, opening the door for 50 new campers. Over the 5 weeks of 
summer camp the kitchen staff was very busy as they were cooking for an average of 100 campers, staff and 
volunteers per week. We were privileged to be able to take part in two baptisms this summer as we shared the 
love and grace of Jesus with our campers and staff. We added a game outside at our playground called 
“Rocketball” which our campers line up to be able to play.  Thanks to the generous donations from our 
supporters we purchased new mattresses for some cabins, built a new washroom facility for the summer staff 
and continue to maintain our beautiful facility.  
 
Looking forward for 2017, we have added a family camp to this summer’s calendar as well as a Wilderness 
Camp for grade 7 and 8 students (concurrent with Youth Camp).  We are pleased to announce that we have 
many new rental groups in our off season generating additional revenue to maintain the camp.  As our camp 
grows so do our needs for new facilities and the maintenance of existing ones.  Some of our current needs 
include replacing our camper washroom and showers, replacing the dining hall windows, and replacing some 
cabin roofs.  We hope one day to add a deck to our dining hall to increase available eating space while 
maximizing our use of the outdoors.   
 
We ask for your continued support in 2017 and look forward to partnering with you in the days ahead. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Janna Hickey 
wpc.edirector@gmail.com 
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NATIONAL HISTORICAL COMMITTEE REPORT 

______________________________________________________________________________	

Reporting: Ed Oke 
Position: Archivist 
______________________________________________________________________________	
	
The EMCC National Historical Committee has been working for four and one-half years at its task of collecting 
and preserving the historical records of the Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada and its predecessors: the 
Northwest Canada Conference Evangelical Church and the Missionary Church of Canada.  Our privilege is to 
complement and advance the work of the historians of the Northwest Canada Conference of the Evangelical 
Church and the work of the Missionary Church historians West and East. 
 
The members of our committee are:  David Crouse, Chair, Walter Erion, Clare Fuller, Ruth Scott, and Edward 
Oke. Some of our members are facing health issues so there will be changes. 
 
I.  The Five Denominational Collections 
The National Collection gathers the records of the EMCC and the Missionary Church of Canada and is housed at 
the Bonavista Church in Calgary. 
 
The Eastern Collection, managed by the Missionary Church Historical Trust, covers the Canada East District of 
the Missionary Church and the EMCC, and the various denominational bodies with which it partnered.  It is 
currently housed at Emmanuel Bible College along with the Emmanuel Bible College Collection. 
 
The Western Collection, managed by the EMC Historical Society (Canada West), retains records of the 
Northwest Canada Conference Evangelical Church and of the Canada West District of the Missionary Church 
and the EMCC and its predecessors.  The National and Western Collections are located at Bonavista Church 
along with the Rocky Mountain College Collection. 
 
II.  Personnel Database 
Two years ago we reported work had begun on a personnel historical database for the EMCC.  Clare Fuller has 
worked with Bettylou Ross and Jean Winker to develop the database of information about EMCC ministers and 
missionaries and their past and current assignments as well as educators, denominational and 
district/conference leaders, and lay persons who have impacted their respective bodies. 
 
There are now records of about 500 persons in the Database.  Melody Deimert is inputting information about 
former Evangelical Church pastors and missionaries.  Because the Northwest Canada Conference Evangelical 
Church did not have its own missions agency, the process involved identifying those missionaries who were 
members of the NWCC and then researching the necessary data for incorporation in the database.  Walter and 
Diane Erion provided that information. 
 
Currently, when one of the above persons (active or retired) passes on, his/her assignment history is transferred 
from the living personnel area by EMCC staff.  Two types of reports are available – a list of all workers who were 
associated with a given church or organization, and a list of all the assignments a worker had. 
 
III.  Archive Descriptions on Line 
We have established a central database for all of our archival descriptions.  “Access to Memory” is web-based 
open sourced software developed by several archivists and is free.  All of the National, Western, and Rocky 
Mountain College collections are now entered.  One can access the EMCC holdings at the site:  
atom.emccarchives.org. and use the search component.  Sensitive files are excluded from public access. 
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IV.  Current Issues 
It became necessary to relocate the National and Western collections from Rocky Mountain College because of 
the college’s new relationship with its facilities.  We examined several possibilities and moved to the Bonavista 
EMC.  The room has a cool climate, good for archival collections, and is large enough for us to bring everything 
into one space. 
 
The location of the Eastern Collection is now uncertain.  Emmanuel Bible College is revamping its facilities and 
not able to continue to house the archives.  Let us join in prayer for the MCHT and the EMCC that a suitable 
location will be found for the Eastern and EBC Collections to give permanence and security to them. 
 
We are working with the necessity of going digital. For example, we hold some 65 video tapes and some 120 
audio tapes which need to be converted to DVDs and CDs if they are to be available for future reference and, at 
some point, stored digitally. We will not be copying all of them so one of our tasks is to decide which to retain. 
 
At some point we will probably stop collecting new documents in hard copy but rather keep them digitally.  The 
EMCC office is going quite digital.  When and how do we follow? 
 
We have been working for some time with thousands of slides and with several picture collections.  An 
interesting one relates to Hillcrest Christian College.  Each year it created a framed collage of that year’s 
graduating class with the class motto also included.  One of the classes chose at its motto, “Gone Fishing.”  A 
most suitable motto when you think of it!  But, each graduate’s picture is also in the yearbook and the motto 
also recorded there, so…. 
 
In addition to the above, Clare and Ruth are working through the documents stored at the national office and 
feeding documents to the collections in which they should be described and preserved. 
 
V.  Writing of History 
We are not doing very well in encouraging the writing of history.  Biographies need to be written of pastors and 
missionaries and their families.  Pastor, missionary, why not write yours and have it preserved in the EMCC 
archives? 
 
Histories of local congregations need to be written.  As congregations close their records fade unless written in 
prose and preserved in an interesting presentation. 
 
I’m currently working with records of the first Evangelical church in western Canada—at Didsbury.  One of its 
early members collected clear pictures of people and events and we’re in the process of choosing the best and 
identifying them.  Imagine my surprise in studying a picture of some twenty ladies, mostly from the Evangelical 
church, but also with some Missionary Church people including Mrs. Alma Hallman, Mrs. Florence Finlay and 
then my own mother!! 
 
Thank you for the privilege of working at the preservation of a significant part of God’s work in His Kingdom. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Edward Oke 
twogeegees@shaw.ca 
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CHINOOK VILLAGE REPORT 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	

Reporting: Gary Sawatzky 
Position: Managing Director 
_____________________________________________________________________________________	
	
2017 is a going to be a great year!  2017 is the year Chinook Village celebrates its 25th Birthday. 

More than 25 years ago a transition was happening with Hillcrest College and a new vision was developed for 
the property and the buildings. The vision was for a 50 plus community that was faith based; able to provide for 
the needs of seniors living in the community. This vision grew and developed over time. It took close to 10 years 
to build the 6 buildings. Some were renovations of the existing school, like the old gymnasium that is now a 
banquet and meeting room.  Others were brand new as older buildings were torn down and replaced. Some 
remnants of the old college days remain, like the kitchen oven, and the Garden Lounge that was the student 
common room. Also the administration offices that used to be the Evangelical Church conference office. 

A vision so strong that today, 25 years later, Chinook Village has impacted thousands of lives -  of previous and 
current residents, and the staff throughout the years. 

As with any business that is our age there have been good years and bad years, but through it all there has 
been a solid relationship between the EMCC and Chinook Village and for this we are very grateful. 

In the past year as we look ahead to what will be we have developed a 5-year Strategic Plan. In this process we 
have asked some very difficult questions and have had to come up with answers. Questions like, ‘Should 
Chinook Village be offering higher levels of care than Level 2?’  The answer was difficult as our current building 
does not meet the Building Code to house those higher levels.  This is just a sample of some of the complexity 
that Chinook faces as we move into the future. 

We are first and foremost a housing complex and our goal is to be full. Our independent living area is doing well 
but our supportive living areas have a higher vacancy rate than we would like. Thus, we continually look for 
ways to deliver our services in the best way possible. Our focus into the future will be less on medical care and 
more on the social interaction of Seniors, nutritional, recreational and spiritual values that seniors need. 

Who is a senior? Chinook Village was built with the premise of a 50 plus person being able to reside in our 
community, but presently if you ask someone over 50 how old they feel most will say they feel quite a bit 
younger, some by as much as 15 years younger than their actual age. This means that they do not feel ready to 
move to a community like Chinook Village as they are not “old” enough. Reality is though that most wait in their 
own homes until a crisis hits and then they are forced into moving, often into a facility with higher care than 
what Chinook offers, or a couple may now be split up.  

Chinook Village is 25! Thank you to all who have supported us in prayer and in other ways through the past and 
we look forward to our next 25 and more.  

Submitted by, 

Gary Sawatzky 
gsawatzky@chinookvillage.com 
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APPENDICES 
APPENDIX 1a 

April 3, 2017 
 
From the EMCC Board of Directors 
 
Background to the Bylaw #1 Revision and Amendments to Appendix #2 Articles of Governance 
 
It is the mandate of the Governance Committee to review the governance documents prior to each 
Assembly to ensure the EMCC governing documents are up-to-date and compliant with the Act. With 
this in mind they became aware that: 
• certain requirements in the present Bylaw were not compliant with the Federal Not-for-Profit 

Incorporations Act (Canada) 
• our practice and the Bylaw and Articles needed to be aligned 
• some provisions were really policy (e.g. Mission, Objectives, Duties of Directors, Duties of the 

President)  
• some provisions are covered in the Act and do not need to be repeated in Bylaw 
 
Victor Howard, Pahl Howard LLP, was engaged to review and re-write Bylaw #1 and Appendix #2 to 
ensure these documents are in good order. Because of the many changes to Bylaw #1 a Revised 
Bylaw is being presented to the membership. Numerous amendments to Appendix #2 are being 
presented at this time as well due to the interconnectedness of these two documents.   
   
 
 
Significant changes to Bylaw #1 
 
Quorum at a meeting of the members 
New wording: 
4.05.04 Quorum 
“A quorum for the transaction of business at any Assembly shall be at least 50 persons present in 
person, each being an Individual Member entitled to vote thereat, or a Delegate for a Corporate 
Member, and representing in the aggregate not less than 10% of the outstanding Members of the 
Corporation (whether Individual Members or Corporate Members) carrying voting rights at the 
meeting. If a quorum is present at the opening of a meeting of members, the members present may 
thereafter proceed with the business of the meeting, even if a quorum is not present throughout the 
meeting.” 
 
Present wording: 
6.3.1.1.3 Quorum 
“A quorum at any General Assembly shall be the attendance in person of delegates representing at 
least 20% of the corporate members and at least 20% of individual members.” 
  
The board wants to ensure that the threshold is not so high that it could make the conduct of 
business difficult or impossible. We believe this quorum is more in line with the Assembly attendance 
trends we have seen over the past few years. 
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Board of Directors 
New wording: 
5.05 Term of Office 
All Directors (7-9 in number established in our Articles of Incorporation) will be elected by the 
members. This is compliant with the Act. 
 
Present wording: 
7.4.2.2 Of the maximum nine directors, seven (7) shall be elected by the membership. The additional 
two (2) members of the Board of Directors may be appointed from time to time by unanimous 
consent resolution of the elected directors. This is not compliant with the Act. 
 
 
Length of time before a director can come back on the Board 
New wording: 
5.07 Tenure 
…A director who has served two (2) consecutive terms shall be eligible to stand for re-election at the 
General Assembly next ensuing after expiration of his last term (i.e. after an approximately 2-year 
hiatus). 
 
Present wording: 
…A director who has served two (2) consecutive terms shall be eligible to stand for re-election at the 
second General Assembly after the expiry of his last term.  
 
The board feels that a 2-year hiatus is enough time to wait before returning to the board. 
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BY-LAW NO. 1

A By-Law to regulate the affairs of 
EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF CANADA

CONTENTS

INTERPRETATION. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
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OFFICERS. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17
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IT IS HEREBY ENACTED as By-law #1 of EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF
CANADA (hereinafter called the “Corporation” or “EMCC”) as follows:

1. SECTION ONE
INTERPRETATION

1.01 Definitions

In this by-law and all other by-laws of the Corporation, unless the context otherwise requires:

a. “Absentee Voting” shall have the meaning ascribed to that term in Section 4.09;

b. "Act" means the Canada Not-For-Profit Corporations Act, S.C. 2009, c. 23,
including the Regulations made pursuant to the Act, and any statute or regulations
that may be substituted, as amended from time to time;

c. “Annual General Meeting” means the regular meeting of the Members to be
held annually as described in Section 4.04;

d. “Assembly” means a meeting of the Members where attendance is predominantly
physical attendance by individuals (rather than through proxy representation or
Absentee Voting), being either Individual Members or Delegates of Corporate
Members;

e. "Articles" means the original or restated Articles of Incorporation or articles of
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amendment, amalgamation, continuance, reorganization, arrangement or revival
of the Corporation;

f. “Articles of Faith and Practice” means the Articles of Faith and Practice of the
Corporation attached to and forming part of these by-laws as Appendix #1;

g. “Articles of Governance” means the Articles of Governance of the Corporation
attached to and forming part of these by-laws, as Appendix #2;

h. "Board" means the board of directors of the Corporation and "Director" means a
member of the board;

i. "by-law" means this by-law and any other by-law of the Corporation which is,
from time to time, in force and effect (as they may be amended from time to
time);

j. “Corporate Member” shall have the meaning ascribed to that term in the
Articles of the Corporation;

k. “Delegates” means the representatives entitled to vote on behalf of Corporate
Members at a meeting of members as provided by the Articles of the Corporation;

l. “EMCC World Partners” shall have the meaning ascribed to that term in Gov -
1.6 of the Articles of Governance;

m. “Individual Member” shall have the meaning ascribed to that term in the
Articles of the Corporation;

n. “Officer” means any of the officers as described in Section 6.01 herein;

o. “Ordinary Meeting” means a meeting of the Members where attendance is
expected to be by a limited number of individuals who act by proxy authorization
on behalf of the bulk of the Membership, as described in Section 4.06 herein;

p. "ordinary resolution" means a resolution passed by a majority of not less than
50% plus 1 of the votes case on that resolution;

q. "Regulations" means the regulations made under the Act, as amended, restated
or in effect from time to time;

r. “Special Meeting” shall have the meaning ascribed to that term in Section 4.08
herein;

s. “Special Business” has the meaning ascribed to that term in the Act, as is set
forth in Section 4.07 herein;

t. "special resolution" means a resolution passed by a majority of not less than
two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast on that resolution.

Save as aforesaid, words and expressions defined in the Act have the same meanings when used
herein; and words importing the singular number include the plural and vice versa; words
importing gender include the masculine, feminine and neuter genders; and words importing
persons include individuals, bodies corporate, trust and unincorporated organizations.
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1.01 Conflict with the Act

To the extent of any conflict between the provisions of the by-laws and the provisions of the Act,
the provisions of the Act shall govern.

1.02 Headings and Sections

The headings used throughout the by-laws are inserted for convenience of reference only and are
not to be used as an aid in the interpretation of the by-laws.  "Section" followed by a number
means or refers to the specified section of this by-law.

1.03 Invalidity of any Provision of By-laws

The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of the by-laws shall not affect the validity or
enforceability of the remaining provisions of the by-laws.

2. SECTION TWO
ARTICLES OF FAITH AND PRACTICE and ARTICLES OF GOVERNANCE

2.01 Integrated Articles

The “Articles of Faith and Practice” which are attached hereto as Appendix #1, and the “Articles
of Governance” which are attached hereto as Appendix #2, are each an integral part of these by-
laws.   Neither may be amended, supplemented, repealed or replaced except by a special
resolution of the Members.

3.  SECTION THREE
BUSINESS OF THE CORPORATION

3.01 Head Office

The head office of the Corporation shall be located in the City of Kitchener, in the Regional
Municipality of Waterloo, in the Province of Ontario or at such location within Canada as the
Board may determine from time to time. The Corporation may establish and maintain, in addition
to its head office, such other offices, places of business and agencies elsewhere as the Board
determines from time to time.

3.02 Corporate Seal

The corporate seal shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of the Corporation
and shall have the words "Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada" endorsed thereon. It shall
be kept in the custody of the Secretary or such other Officer as may be designated by the Board.
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3.03 Financial Year End

The financial year of the Corporation shall end on December 31 in each year.

3.04 Execution of Instruments

Deeds, transfers, assignments, contracts, obligations, certificates, and other instruments may be
signed on behalf of the EMCC by any two of the President, the Director of Operations, the
Moderator, the Secretary or the Treasurer of the Corporation, subject to the policies of the Board. 
In addition, the Board may, from time to time, direct the manner in which, and the person(s) by
whom, any particular instrument or class of instruments may be signed. Any signing officer may
affix the Corporation’s seal to any instrument requiring the same.  All contracts, documents or
instruments in writing so signed shall be binding upon the Corporation without any further
authorization or formality.

3.05 Execution of Instruments - Securities

In particular, without limiting and generality of the foregoing, any two of the President, the
Director of Operations, the Secretary or the Treasurer, as authorized by the Board, may sell,
assign, transfer, exchange, convert any and all shares, bonds, debentures, rights, warrants or other
securities owned by or registered in the name of the Corporation and to sign and execute, under
the corporate seal of the Corporation or otherwise, all assignments, transfers, conveyances,
powers of attorney and other instruments that may be necessary for the purpose of selling,
assigning, transferring, exchanging, converting or conveying any such shares, bonds, debentures,
rights, warrants, or other securities.

3.06 Execution of Instruments - Cheques, Drafts, Notes, Etc.

All cheques, drafts or orders for payment of money and all notes and acceptances and bills of
exchange shall be signed by such officer(s) or person(s), whether or not officers of the
Corporation, and in such manner as the Board may from time to time designate by resolution.

3.07 Banking Arrangements

The banking business of the Corporation shall be transacted with such banks, trust companies or
other firms or corporations as may from time to time be designated by or under the authority of
the Board. Such banking business, or any part thereof, shall be transacted under such agreements,
instruments and delegations of powers as the Board may from time to time prescribe or
authorize.

3.08 Borrowing Powers 

The Corporation upon decision of the Board may from time to time:

a. borrow money upon the credit of the Corporation;
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b. limit or increase the amount to be borrowed;

c. issue debentures or other securities of the Corporation. Such securities or
debentures shall not be made as a public offering and shall be in compliance with
applicable securities law;

d. pledge or sell such debentures or other securities for such sums and at such prices
as may be deemed expedient; and

e. secure any such debentures or other securities or any other present or future
borrowing or liability of the Corporation by charge, mortgage, hypothec or pledge
of all or any currently owned or subsequently acquired real or personal, moveable
and immovable, property of the Corporation, including book debts, rights, powers,
franchises and undertakings and rights of the Corporation.

3.09 Annual Financial Statements

The Corporation may, instead of sending copies of the annual financial statements and other
documents referred to in subsection 172(1) (Annual Financial Statements) of the Act to the
Members, publish a notice to its Members stating that the annual financial statements and
documents provided in subsection 172(1) are available at the registered office of the Corporation
and any Member may, on request, obtain a copy free of charge at the registered office or by
prepaid mail.

3.10 Voting Rights in Other Bodies Corporate

All of the shares or other securities carrying voting rights of any other company or corporation
held from time to time by the Corporation may be voted at any and all meetings of shareholders,
bondholders, debenture holders or holders of other securities, as the case may be, of such other
company or corporation, in such manner and by such person(s) as the Board shall from time to
time determine.

4. SECTION FOUR
MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

4.01 Membership

The membership of the EMCC consists of both Corporate Members and Individual Members, as
those are described and delineated in the Articles of the Corporation.  Qualifications and
requirements of an Individual Member are as set forth in those Articles.  Qualifications and
requirements of a Corporate Member are as set forth in the Articles of Governance (GOV-2).

Pursuant to subsection 197(1) (Fundamental Change) of the Act, a special resolution of the
Members is required to make any amendments to the Articles or provisions of these By-laws if
those amendments affect membership rights and/or conditions described in paragraphs 197(1)(e),
(h), (l) or (m) of the Act.
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4.02 Membership Transferability

Membership, whether Corporate or Individual, is not transferable.

4.03 Termination of Membership

Membership in the Corporation is terminated, and the rights of the Member as such cease to
exist, when:

a. an Individual Member dies, resigns, or otherwise ceases to occupy the qualifying
position allowing for his or her Membership as described in the Articles;

b. A Corporate Member has relinquished or withdrawn its Membership in
accordance with the Articles of Governance (Gov - 2.9);

c. the Member's term of membership expires (if and where applicable);

d. the Member is expelled, or their membership is otherwise terminated, in
accordance with provisions in the Articles or these By-laws; or

e. the Corporation is liquidated and dissolved under the Act.

4.04 Annual General Meeting

An Annual General Meeting shall be held yearly, not later than six (6) months after the end of the
Corporation’s financial year, and no later than fifteen (15) months after the last such meeting, to
consider the following items of business:

a. consideration of the financial statements and auditor’s report;

b. election of Directors; and

c. reappointment of the incumbent auditor, or tentative appointment of a
replacement auditor (subject to ratification at the General Assembly in the
following year) where the incumbent auditor is not able or willing to continue for
the following year.

An Ordinary Annual General Meeting shall not consider any resolution or item of business other
than the foregoing, but an Annual General Meeting by Assembly may further consider any
resolution or item of business which may properly be placed before a General Assembly in
accordance with these By-laws and EMCC practice or policy, provided that any business items
transacted at an Annual General Meeting additional to those items listed above are considered
Special Business, requiring notice as described in 4.07 below. 

4.04.01 Calling and Venue of Annual General Meeting

Subject to 4.04, the Annual General Meeting shall:

a. be conducted or held every two years by Assembly in accordance with the
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procedures for Assembly described in Section 4.05, and in each alternate year by
Ordinary Meeting in accordance with the procedures for an Ordinary Meeting
described in Section 4.06;

b. be held at such time and place within Canada as the Board shall determine;

c. be convened at the discretion of the Board, in accordance with the forgoing.

4.04.02 Notice of Members Meeting

Subject to the provisions of Section 4.07 in respect of any Special Business, written notice of the
time and place of a Members’ meeting shall be sent to each Member entitled to vote at the
meeting, by one of the following means:

a. by telephonic, electronic or other communication facility to each member entitled
to vote at the meeting, not less than 21 nor more than 35 days before the day on
which the meeting is to be held; PROVIDED THAT if a Member has provided to
EMCC a written request that the notice to that Member be given by non-electronic
means, then such notice shall thereafter be provided instead as described in
paragraph (b) below; or

b. by mail, courier or personal delivery to each member entitled to vote at the
meeting, during a period of 21 to 60 days before the day on which the meeting is
to be held.

Pursuant to subsection 197(1) (Fundamental Change) of the Act, a special resolution of the
members is required to make any amendment to the by-laws of the Corporation to change the
manner of giving notice to members entitled to vote at a meeting of members.

4.05 MEETING BY ASSEMBLY

4.05.01 Provision of Supplemental Documentation and Proposed Agenda

Although not an essential part of the formal “notice” of the meeting as required under Section
4.04.02, supplemental written documentation will be provided to Members in preparation for
Assembly, containing a proposed agenda, accompanied by whatever supporting material is
deemed expedient or advisable by the Board, or as may from time to time may be required by
ordinary resolution of the Members.  Such documentation will be provided either personally, or
by otherwise sending to Members (through the post in a prepaid wrapper or letter, by facsimile,
or by email) at least fourteen (14) days (exclusive of the day of mailing and of the day for which
notice is given) before the date of the Assembly.  Delivery as aforesaid may be made to
Corporate Members for distribution by them among their Delegates.

4.05.02 Venue

An Assembly may be held in Canada, in a single venue, or at the discretion of the Board, in two
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or more venues linked in accordance with the provisions of 4.05.03 below describing concurrent
linked teleconference meetings.  Assembly also may extend over the course of several days, and
after being convened with quorum established, unless otherwise directed by the Chair of the
meeting, the sessions of the annual meeting interspersed over that period shall all be considered
continuations of the one business meeting, with breaks, recesses or other hiatuses as may be
thought necessary or desireable.

4.05.03 Mode of Multi-Venue Assembly

An Assembly may be held at two or more concurrent meeting locations linked by communication
facilities permitting all persons participating in the meeting at each of the two locations to hear
and see the business of the overall meeting and in particular:

a. to hear each person who is recognized and given the floor by the chairperson of
the meeting in accordance with rules of order for the meeting; and

b. if visual materials or presentations are being reviewed or presented, to see or be
able to concurrently view such materials or presentations.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, teleconference or internet video conferencing
achieving the foregoing shall be permissible means of holding such a meeting, and both or all of
the concurrent linked meetings shall together be considered one amalgamated meeting (including
for purpose of notice, quorum and similar technical requirements), conducted as one meeting
subject to the rules of order in accordance with the directions of one overall chairperson.  
Independent scrutineers at each linked venue, as designated by the Board, shall tabulate votes
taken at each such venue, and shall report the results to the overall chairperson of the meeting.

A Member who attends such a meeting in person, by telephone or by two-way audio-visual
conference link as aforedescribed, is deemed to have consented to the location(s) of the meeting
except when he or she attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction
of any business on the grounds that the meeting is not lawfully held.  A Member participating in
such a meeting in any of the manners aforedescribed shall be considered present at the meeting
and at the place of the meeting.

4.05.04 Quorum

A quorum for the transaction of business at any Assembly shall be at least 50 persons present in
person, each being an Individual Member entitled to vote thereat, or a Delegate for a Corporate
Member, and representing in the aggregate not less than 10% of the outstanding Members of the
Corporation (whether Individual Members or Corporate Members) carrying voting rights at the
meeting.   If a quorum is present at the opening of a meeting of members, the members present
may thereafter proceed with the business of the meeting, even if a quorum is not present
throughout the meeting.
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4.05.05 Voting

As provided in the Articles, each Individual Member is entitled to one (1) vote, and each
Corporate Member to one (1) vote per Delegate, and the number of Delegates to which each
Corporate Member is entitled is determined according to the formula of one Delegate for each
100 members of the congregation or fraction thereof.   Procedures for electing or appointing the
Delegate(s) of each Corporate Member shall be governed in accordance with the procedures set
forth in the constituting documents of each Corporate Member, or, in the absence of such
provisions, by the convention of the Corporate Member. A Member under discipline or not in
good standing within the EMCC cannot be a voting Member of an Assembly.

4.05.06 Advisors to General Assembly

The members may extend the privilege of attendance and limited participation (i.e. advisory role
only, without motion nor vote) in an Assembly to:

a. EMCC staff members and officers of the Corporation who are not otherwise
qualified as Individual Members;

b. members of committees appointed at an Assembly;

c. visitors;

d. consultants; and

e. official representatives from Missionary Churches of other nations, and from the
Evangelical Church of North America.

4.06 ORDINARY MEETING

4.06.01 Venue

An Ordinary Meeting shall normally be held at the head office of the EMCC, but it may be held
at such other location in Canada as may be specified by the Board.  Attendance by Individual
Members and by Delegates on behalf of Corporate Members may be either personally or by
proxy, but in most cases it is anticipated it will be by proxy.

4.06.02 Voting

As provided in the Articles, each Individual Member is entitled to one (1) vote, and each
Corporate Member is entitled to appoint a number of Delegates or proxies (each with one vote),
determined according to the formula of one Delegate or proxy for each 100 members of the
congregation or fraction thereof.   Proxy procedures are described below in Section 4.06.03.  It is
not necessary for a Corporate Member to appoint Delegates where it wishes to exercise its votes
by proxy at an Ordinary Meeting.
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4.06.03 Proxy

A Member entitled to vote at an Ordinary Meeting may by means of a proxy appoint a
proxyholder (who may be entitled to multiple votes on behalf of a Corporate Member, where
applicable) and one or more alternate proxyholders, who are not required to themselves be
Members but must be members in good standing of a Corporate Member, to attend and act at the
said meeting in the manner and to the extent authorized by the proxy and with the authority
conferred by the proxy.  A proxy is valid only at the meeting in respect of which it is given or any
adjournment of that meeting.  A Member may revoke a proxy by depositing an instrument or act
in writing executed (or, in Quebec, signed by the Member or by their agent or mandatary):

a. at the registered office of the EMCC no later than the last business day preceding
the day of the meeting, or the day of the continuation of that meeting after an
adjournment of that meeting, at which the proxy is to be used; or

b. with the chairperson of the meeting on the day of the meeting or the day of the
continuation of that meeting after an adjournment of that meeting.

A proxyholder or an alternate proxyholder has the same rights as the Member by whom they
were appointed, including the right to speak at a meeting of Members in respect of any matter, to
vote by way of ballot at the meeting, to demand a ballot at the meeting and, except where a
proxyholder or an alternate proxyholder has conflicting instructions from more than one
Member, to vote at the meeting by way of a show of hands.

4.06.04 Proxy Form

A form of proxy in compliance with the Act will be provided by EMCC together with the Notice
of Meeting of an Ordinary Meeting.

4.06.05 Quorum

A quorum at any Ordinary Meeting shall be the attendance in person of at least five (5)
individuals representing, whether in their capacity as Individual Members or by proxy, at least
5% of the total aggregate votes of Individual Members and Corporate Members.

4.07 NOTICE OF SPECIAL BUSINESS

All business transacted at a Special Meeting, and all business transacted at an Annual General
Meeting except those items which are set out in Section 4.04 herein, is special business, and the
notice of a meeting at which special business is to be transacted shall state:

a. the nature of that special business in sufficient detail to permit the Members to
form a reasoned judgment in connection with that special business; and

b. the text of any special resolution to be submitted to the meeting. The text of a
special resolution may be amended at the Members’ meeting at which it is
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resolved if the amendments correct manifest errors or are not material.

4.08 SPECIAL MEETING

In addition to Annual General Meetings which are to be held at the intervals and otherwise as
described above, a Special Meeting of the Members may be called by a majority of the Board at
any time, when in their discretion one or more items of urgent business requires determination or
action by the Members prior to the next scheduled General Meeting.  Such meeting may, at the
discretion of the Board, be either an Assembly or an Ordinary Meeting, to be held at such time
and place within Canada, as the Board in its discretion may designate, considering the nature of
the business or matters to be considered by the Members.  Notice shall be given as required as set
out in Section 4.04.02 for a meeting of Members, complying also with the additional
requirements for special business as described in Section 4.07.

A Special Meeting may, where the Board considers it feasible and desirable, consider all of the
items of business (as set out in Section 4.04 herein) required in that year for its Annual General
Meeting, where such business can be properly put before that Special Assembly when it is held.

4.08.01 Objection to a Special Meeting of Members by Ordinary Meeting

Where a Special Meeting of Members to be held in Ordinary Meeting format has been initiated
by the Board, if written objections to holding a such Special Meeting in that fashion are received
by the Board not later than 2 clear days before the date set for the Meeting, from more than five
percent (5%) of the aggregate Members (whether Individual Members or Corporate Members),
then the Meeting shall not proceed, and the Board shall withdraw the proposed action or
resolution, which may be subsequently considered at an Assembly at the discretion of the Board. 
A suitable form for expression of such formal objection will be made available by EMCC under
the direction of the Board, on its website, in connection with any proposed Special Meeting by
Ordinary Meeting.  Objections in such form shall be validated in similar fashion to validation of
Absentee Ballots as outlined in Section 4.09.03 herein, provided that objections received from a
Corporate Members shall be accompanied by evidence of a resolution of the board of directors of
that Corporate Member.

4.09 ABSENTEE VOTING PROCEDURE

Members who are unable to attend a Special Meeting of the Members either in person or by
Proxy, may elect to express their vote(s) on matters which are to come before that meeting, by
submission of an Absentee Vote, in accordance with the following procedures for submission,
collecting, counting and reporting the results of any such votes.

4.09.01 Absentee Ballot Form

A suitable form of Absentee Ballot in respect of business to be considered at a Special Meeting,
shall be prepared by EMCC under the authority and direction of the Board, which shall indicate
clearly and in accordance with any other applicable provisions of these by-laws:
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i. the requested resolution for approval (including clear indication of
whether it be a final decision or rather merely advisory to the Board);

ii. the manner of validating the authenticity of the ballot on behalf of the
Member;

iii. the acceptable manners for delivery of the ballot back to the independent
scrutineers who will be appointed to confidentially verify and tabulate the
votes (so as to maintain the anonymity of those casting votes); and

iv. the closing time for the vote before which it must be received by the
independent scrutineers to be included as a valid vote at the meeting.

The form of ballot shall either be enclosed with Notice of the Special Meeting delivered to
Members, or made available on the EMCC website, which latter shall also disclose in respect of
Corporate Members, the number of votes or manner of determining the number of votes which
may be expressed by each Corporate Member in its ballot.

4.09.02 Submission of Ballot

Once a ballot has been cast and authenticated, it may be provided to the independent scrutineers
designated by the Board to receive them, either by sending through the post in a prepaid wrapper
or letter, or by email (scanned) attachment.

4.09.03 Validation of Ballot

A ballot shall be considered validated if it is cast in accordance with the instructions on the
ballot, including authentication, and it is actually received by the independent scrutineers on or
before the date of the closing of the vote. 

4.09.04 Tabulation of Ballots

The independent scrutineers as designated by the Board to receive Absentee Ballots shall tabulate
those ballots so received and report the results to the Board.

4.09.05 Amendments to Procedure

Pursuant to subsection 197(1) (Fundamental Change) of the Act, a special resolution of the
members is required to make any amendment to the by-laws of the Corporation to change this
method of Absentee Voting by members not in attendance at a meeting of Members.

GENERAL

4.10 Waiver of Notice

Notice of any meeting or any irregularity in any meeting or in the notice thereof may be waived
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by any Member, and the accidental omission to give notice of any meeting or the non-receipt of
any notice by any Member shall not invalidate any resolution passed or any proceedings taken at
any meeting of Members. Attendance by a Member at a meeting is waiver of notice of that
meeting, unless the Member attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the
transaction of any business on the grounds that the meeting is not lawfully called.

4.11 Members Calling a Members' Meeting

The Board shall call a Special Meeting of Members in accordance with Section 167 of the Act,
on written requisition of Members carrying not less than 5% of the votes that may be cast at the
meeting of members sought to be held.  If the Directors do not call a meeting within twenty-one
(21) days of receiving the requisition, any Member who signed the requisition may call the
meeting.

4.12 Chairman, Secretary and Scrutineers

The chairman of any meeting of Members shall be the Moderator and, if he or she is unavailable,
another Board member appointed by the Board, provided that, if no such Board member is
available, the Members who are present and entitled to vote at the meeting shall choose one of
their number to chair the meeting. The chairman shall conduct the proceedings at the meeting in
all respects and his or her decision in any matter or thing including, but without in any way
limiting the generality of the foregoing, any question as to the admission or rejection of a vote,
shall be conclusive and binding upon the Members. The secretary of any meeting of the Members
shall be the Secretary of the Corporation, or such other person appointed by the chairman. The
Board may from time to time appoint, in advance of any meeting of Members, one or more
persons to act as scrutineers at such meeting and, in the absence of such appointment, the
chairman may appoint one or more persons to act as scrutineers at any meeting of Members.
Scrutineers so appointed shall be Members in good standing.

4.13 Action by Members

Except where a special resolution is required pursuant to the Act or these by-laws, at all meetings
of Members every question shall be decided by ordinary resolution. In case of an equality of
votes, the chairman of the meeting shall not be entitled to a second or casting vote, and the
motion or electoral matter shall be considered defeated and recorded accordingly.

4.14 Show of Hands

Whenever a vote by show of hands shall have been taken upon a question, unless a ballot thereon
is requested or required, a declaration by the chairman as to the outcome of the vote shall be
recorded as the decision of the Members on that issue.

4.15 Ballots

A ballot requested or required at a meeting of the Members shall be taken in such manner as the
chairman shall direct.  A request for a ballot may be withdrawn at any time prior to the taking of
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the ballot.

4.16 Appointment of Auditor

The auditor(s) shall be appointed by the Members until the next General Assembly. At least once
in every financial year the accounts of the Corporation shall be examined in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

5. SECTION FIVE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

5.01 Qualifications

Every Director shall be a member in good standing of a Corporate Member, and shall:

a. be at least twenty-one (21) years of age;

b. be a resident of Canada

c. not be anyone who has been declared incapable by a court in Canada or in another
country;

d. not be a person who is not an individual; and 

e. not be a person who has the status of a bankrupt.

5.02 Powers

The Board may administer the affairs of the Corporation in all things and make or cause to be
made for the Corporation, in its name, any kind of contract which the Corporation may lawfully
enter into and save as herein provided, generally may exercise all such other powers and do all
such other acts and things as the Corporation is authorized to exercise and do.

5.03 Composition

If the articles provide for a maximum number and a minimum number of directors, unless
otherwise provided in the articles, the number of directors of the Corporation shall be determined
from time to time by resolution of the Board.  At all times, at least two (2) Directors on the Board
shall not be Officers or employees of the Corporation.

5.04 Nomination and Election

Directors shall be elected by the Members from qualified nominees presented by a nominating
committee. The nominating committee, as appointed by the Board, shall be at least five (5)
persons with two (2) members of the Board as members. The nominating committee shall solicit
and consider in good faith all nomination suggestions received from members.
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5.05 Term of Office

The terms of the elected Directors shall be determined so as to allow for staggered terms,
resulting typically in the election of either four (4) or five (5) Directors every two (2) years. The
expiry of the term for a Director may be shortened so as to achieve or re-establish staggered
terms, and shall be specified accordingly when they are elected.

Subject to shortened terms as aforedescribed to achieve staggering, each Director’s term shall be
four (4) years and shall expire at the second General Assembly after their election.

5.06 Vacancies on Board

The Board shall at all times have the authority to fill any vacancies created on the Board, for the
period remaining of the term of the director whose departure created the vacancy, provided that if
that remaining term extends beyond a meeting of Members, then continuation of the appointment
by the Board shall be subject to a ratification vote by the Members at that meeting.

5.07 Tenure

Directors may stand for re-election, provided that no director shall serve more than two (2)
consecutive terms.  A director who has served two (2) consecutive terms shall be eligible to stand
for re-election at the General Assembly next ensuing after expiry of his last term (i.e. after an
approximately 2-year hiatus).

5.08 Removal of Directors

The Members may by ordinary resolution at a Special Meeting remove any Director or Directors
from office.

5.09 Calling and Notice of Meetings of the Board

There shall be a minimum of two meetings per year of the Board, at the call of the Moderator.  A
written notice shall state the time and place of meeting and a proposed agenda, accompanied by
supporting material, as well as specify any of the following items of business if they are to be
considered at the meeting (pursuant to Section 136(3) of the Act):

a. submission to the Members of any question or matter requiring the approval of
Members;

b. filling a vacancy among the Directors or in the office of public accountant or
appointing additional Directors;

c. issuing debt obligations;

d. approving any financial statements referred to in Section 172 of the Act;

e. adopting, amending or repealing by-laws; or
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f. establishing contributions to be made, or dues to be paid, by Members under
Section 30 of the Act.

5.09.01 Method of Serving Notice

Notice of a meeting of the Board shall be:

a. delivered personally to each Director or delivered to such Director’s address as
shown in the records of the Corporation or to the latest address as shown in the
last notice that was sent by the Corporation in accordance with Section 128
(Notice of directors) or 134 (Notice of change of directors) of the Act;

b. mailed to each Director at such Director’s recorded address by prepaid wrapper or
letter; or 

c. by sending notice to each Director by telephonic, electronic or other
communication facility at such Director’s recorded address for the purpose (where
provided and authorized by such Director);

at least ten days (exclusive of the day of mailing and of the day for which notice is given) before
the date of meeting. A meeting may be held for any purpose at any date and time and at any place
within Canada without notice if all the directors are present or if all directors who are absent
signify their assent in writing to such meeting being held. 

A notice so delivered shall be deemed to have been given when it is delivered personally or to the
recorded address as aforesaid; a notice so mailed shall be deemed to have been given when
deposited in a post office or public letter box; and a notice so sent by any means of transmitted or
recorded communication shall be deemed to have been given when dispatched or delivered to the
appropriate communication company or agency or its representative for dispatch. 

5.09.02 Recorded Address of Director

The Secretary may change or cause to be changed the recorded address of any Director in
accordance with any information believed by the Secretary to be reliable. The declaration by the
Secretary that notice has been given pursuant to this by-law shall be sufficient and conclusive
evidence of the giving of such notice.

5.09.03 Omission of Notice

The accidental omission of notice of any meeting or the non-receipt of notice by any Director
shall not invalidate any resolution passed or any proceedings taken at any meeting of the Board.

5.10 Venue

Meetings of the Board may be held in a single venue anywhere in Canada, or at the discretion of
the Moderator, may be held in two or more venues linked in accordance with the provisions of
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Section 4.05.03 describing concurrent linked teleconference meetings, mutatis mutandis.
Alternatively to the foregoing, the Directors may, on unanimous consent of the Directors, meet
by means of any other telephonic, electronic or other communication facility that permits all
participants to communicate adequately with each other during the meeting. A Director so
participating in a meeting is deemed for the purposes of this Act to be present at that meeting.

5.11 Quorum

The quorum for transacting business at any meeting of the Board shall be a majority of the
number of the members on the Board, as that number is fixed from time to time in accordance
with Section 5.03 herein.

5.12 Action by the Board

At all meetings of the Board every question shall be decided by a majority of the votes cast on
the question.  In case of an equality of votes the chairman of the meeting shall not be entitled to a
second or casting vote.  The powers of the Board may be exercised by resolution passed at a
meeting at which a quorum is present or by resolution in writing signed by all the members of the
Board who would be entitled to vote on that resolution at a meeting of the Board.  Resolutions in
writing may be signed in counterparts.  All business sessions of the Board shall produce minutes
of action taken and reported for approval at its next meeting.

5.13 Committees of the Board

The Board may create committees, ministries, auxiliary organizations or such other
administrative units for development and maintenance necessary to achieve the objects of the
Corporation.

6. SECTION SIX
OFFICERS

6.01 Officers

The Officers of EMCC shall be the President, the Moderator, the Secretary and the Treasurer, or,
in lieu of a Secretary and Treasurer, the Secretary-Treasurer, and such other Officers as the Board
may determine by resolution.  An Officer may hold more than one office excepting the President
who shall hold only the one office.  Every Officer of the Corporation shall be a member in good
standing of a Corporate Member. 

6.02 Removal of Officers

Officers other than the President shall serve at the pleasure of the Board.  The President ’s tenure
shall be governed by the policies enunciated in the Articles of Governance.
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6.03 President

If appointed, the President shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and shall be
responsible for implementing the strategic plans and policies of the Corporation. The President
shall, subject to the authority of the Board, have general supervision of the affairs of the
Corporation.

6.03.01 Election of the President

The President shall be elected from among the ordained ministers of the EMCC for a four (4)
year term. For the purpose of clarity, the “four year term” shall extend from the date of the
President’s installation until the second General Assembly after that installation. The initial
election of a President shall require the majority approval of votes cast at a General Assembly
other such meeting considering the matter, as the case may be. There shall be no term limit for
the President, provided that at the expiry of each term an incumbent President shall require
approval of the Members by special resolution for re-election to a subsequent term. In the event
that an incumbent President standing for re-election does not receive the requisite number of
votes, that individual shall continue to serve as President until a replacement has been named.
Upon such an occurrence, the Board shall, as expeditiously as practical, seek a replacement
nominee for President in the manner described in the Articles of Governance and shall submit
such nominee to the Members for approval then by ordinary resolution.

6.03.02 Vacancy

In case of death, incapacity, resignation, or removal of the President, the Board shall make
satisfactory arrangements to care for the work of the President (such as appointing an interim
president) until an election can be held to fill the office.

6.04 Moderator

The Moderator of the Board shall be appointed by the Board from among its members for a
2-year term at the first meeting of the Board after each General Assembly.  The Moderator of the
Board, when present, shall preside at all meetings of the Board and of the members, and shall
have such other duties and powers as the Board may specify. The incumbent shall hold office
until a successor is elected or appointed by the Board.

6.05 Secretary

The Secretary shall be appointed by the Board from among its members for a 2-year term at the
first meeting of the Board after each General Assembly. The Secretary shall attend and be the
Secretary of all meetings of the Board, members and committees of the Board, and shall enter or
cause to be entered in the Corporation's minute book, minutes of all proceedings at such
meetings.  In addition, the Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, as and when instructed,
notices to members, directors, the public accountant and members of committees, and shall be
the custodian of all books, papers, records, documents and other instruments belonging to the
Corporation.
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6.06 Treasurer

The Treasurer shall be appointed by the Board from among its members for a 2-year term at the
first meeting of the Board after each General Assembly.  The Treasurer shall have such powers
and duties as the Board may specify.

7. SECTION 7
PROTECTION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

7.01 Indemnity

 Subject to Sections 148 - 150 and 151(3) (duty of directors and officers to act lawfully, in good
faith, and with reasonable diligence) of the Act, every Director or Officer of the Corporation, or
other person who has undertaken or is about to undertake any liability on behalf of the EMCC,
and his or her heirs, executors, and administrators, respectively, shall from time to time and at all
times, be indemnified and saved harmless, out of the funds of the Corporation, from and against
all costs, charges, expenses and liabilities whatsoever which such director, Officer or other
person sustains or incurs in, or about, or as a direct consequence of, any action, suit or
proceeding which is brought, commenced or prosecuted against him/her for or in respect of any
act, deed, matter or thing whatsoever made, done or permitted by him/her in or about the
execution of the duties of office, excepting such costs, charges, expenses or liabilities as are
occasioned by his/her willful personal neglect or default.

7.02 Limitation of Liability

No Director or Officer for the time being of the Corporation shall be liable for the acts, receipts,
neglects or defaults of any other Director or Officer or employee, or for joining in any receipt or
act for conformity, or for any loss, damage or expense happening to the Corporation through the
insufficiency or deficiency of title to any property acquired by the Corporation or for or on behalf
of the Corporation, or for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security in or upon which any of
the monies of or belonging to the Corporation shall be placed out or invested, or for any loss or
damage arising from the bankruptcy, insolvency or tortious act of any person, firm or corporation
with whom any monies, securities or effects shall be lodged or deposited, or for any other loss,
damage or misfortune whatever which may happen in the execution of the duties of his
respective office or trust or in relation thereto unless the same shall happen by or through his own
wrongful and willful act or through his own wrongful and willful neglect or default, provided
that such Director or Officer has:

a. acted honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the
Corporation or, if applicable, with a view to the best interests of such other entity
for which the individual acted, at the Corporation’s request, as director or officer
or in a similar capacity; and

b. in the case of a criminal or administrative action or proceeding that is enforced by
a monetary penalty, had reasonable grounds for believing that their conduct was
lawful.
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7.03 Director Remuneration and Reimbursement

The directors shall not be paid remuneration for their services as such, but shall be
entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable travelling and other expenses properly incurred by them
in attending meetings of the Board or any committee thereof.  Nothing herein contained shall
however preclude any director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving
remuneration therefor.

8. SECTION EIGHT
REPEAL, AMENDMENTS AND EFFECTIVE DATE

8.01 All previous by-laws of the Corporation are repealed as of the coming into force of this
by-law.

8.02 Alterations or amendments to this by-law shall require approval by special resolution of
the Members if they are “fundamental changes” as those are listed in Section 197(1) of
the Act, or if they would change existing provisions which the Articles or the Bylaws
stipulate require approval by special resolution or special majority in order to be
amended.  Otherwise, this by-law may be established, altered, amended or repealed by
resolution of the Board, subject to approval (ratification) of the Members, by ordinary
resolution, at the next meeting of Members (whether an Assembly or Ordinary Meeting),
failing which such an amendment would cease to have effect pursuant to s. 152(4) of the
Act.

8.03 This by-law shall come into force immediately upon its confirmation by the members by
Special Resolution.

MADE by the Board the ____ day of ________________, 2017.

____________________________________
President

____________________________________
Secretary

CONFIRMED by the Members by Special Resolution the ____ day of _______________, 2017.

____________________________________
Secretary
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Bylaw #1 of the Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada 

A Charitable Canada Corporation without share capital. 

This Bylaw shall be known formally as Bylaw #1 of the Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada 
and replaces and supersedes former Bylaw #1 in its entirety. 

1.   NAME 

This federally incorporated organization is named EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF CANADA 
(hereinafter referred to as the “EMCC” or the “Corporation”). 

2.   MISSION 

His Mission – Our Mission: The EMCC is passionately committed to following Jesus on mission together. 

3.   OBJECTIVES 

The principal objectives of the EMCC are as follows: 

1. to call its churches and people to their biblical mission; 

2. to train, equip and credential leaders; 

3. to promote community among God’s people; 

4. to organize and manage available resources for effective achievement of the mission of the church; 

5. to support local churches in their Christian ministries by providing common vision, spiritual 
leadership, administrative oversight and a network of resources; 

6. to stimulate the planting of  new congregations through the most strategic means, facilitating 
cooperation of churches and other agents in this task; and 

7. to establish such agencies and organizational structures as are profitable for the strategic advancement 
of church growth and multiplication and Gospel work generally in Canada and globally. 

 4.   MEMBERSHIP 

The membership of the EMCC consists of both corporate and individual members. The corporate 
members are local congregations which have met the conditions of membership and have been officially 
received in accordance with this bylaw. The corporate members are represented at meetings of members 
by delegates as defined hereafter. Such member congregations enter into an association with other 
member congregations and other EMCC entities in fulfilling the mission of the Corporation. The 
individual members are: ordained and licensed ministers of the EMCC; credentialed missionaries of the 
EMCC; the members of the Board of Directors of the EMCC, regional ministers of the EMCC, ministry 
directors of the EMCC, the President of Emmanuel Bible College; the President of Rocky Mountain 
College; as well as a delegate from each auxiliary agency approved by the EMCC as an official ministry.  

5.   ARTICLES OF FAITH AND PRACTICE 

“Articles of Faith and Practice” is an integral part of Bylaw #1 and is filed as Appendix #1.  The members 
may from time to time make, amend, repeal or replace, in addition to this bylaw, a doctrinal statement 
outlining foundational beliefs and key principles for the guidance of its members and directors (the 
“Articles of Faith and Practice”).  The making, amendment, repeal or replacement of any Articles of Faith 
and Practice shall require adoption by a two-thirds majority of the Voting Delegates at any General 
Assembly or Special Assembly (as defined hereafter) or by Alternative Measures Voting (as defined 
hereafter).  
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6.   BUSINESS OF THE EMCC 

6.1. Head Office 

The head office of the Corporation shall be located in the City of Kitchener, in the Regional Municipality 
of Waterloo, in the Province of Ontario or at such location within Canada as the Board of Directors may 
determine from time to time. 

The Corporation may establish and maintain, in addition to its head office, such other offices, places of 
business and agencies elsewhere as the Board of Directors determines from time to time. 

6.2. Governance 

6.2.1 Governance by Board of Directors 

The affairs of the Corporation shall be governed by the Board of Directors.   

6.2.2 Articles of Governance 

“Articles of Governance” is an integral part of Bylaw #1 and is filed as Appendix #2.  The members may 
from time to time make and amend, in addition to this bylaw, further articles of governance (the “Articles 
of Governance”) setting forth policies and procedures relating to the operation of the EMCC upon the 
adoption by a two-thirds majority of the Voting Delegates at any General Assembly or Special Assembly 
(as defined hereafter).  Any such Articles of Governance may detail the duties and responsibilities of the 
Board of Directors and officers of the EMCC in greater detail and, upon ratification by the requisite vote 
of Voting Delegates, the directors and officers, the member congregations and other official EMCC 
entities shall be bound to comply with the terms thereof; provided, however, that in the event of any 
conflict between this bylaw and the Articles of Governance, the terms of this bylaw shall prevail. 
 

6.3. Meeting of Members 

6.3.1 Annual Meeting 
Annual meetings of the members of the EMCC (an “Annual Meeting”) shall be either an Ordinary 
Annual Meeting or a General Assembly (each of which is described below), and shall normally be held 
at such time and place within Canada as the Board of Directors shall determine.  The specific date of 
the convening of an Annual Meeting shall be at the discretion of the Board of Directors, provided that 
the Board of Directors shall call an Annual Meeting no longer than 19 months after the last Annual 
Meeting. 

 
6.3.1.1.  General Assembly 

Every second year, the Annual Meeting to be held shall be a General Assembly, in accordance with the 
following: 
 

6.3.1.1.1. Voting 
The voting members at any General Assembly shall be all individual members and the delegates of each 
corporate member (the “Delegates”) as referred to in Article 4.  The number of Delegates to which each 
corporate member is entitled is determined according to the formula of one lay delegate for each 100 
members of the congregation or major fraction thereof. Procedures for electing or appointing the 
Delegate(s) of each member church shall be governed in accordance with the procedures set forth in the 
constituting documents of each member church or, in the absence of such provisions, by the convention 
of the member church. A person under discipline or not in good standing within the EMCC cannot be a 
voting member of General Assembly. 

 
 
 

6.3.1.1.2. Advisors to Meetings 
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The General Assembly may extend the privilege of attendance and limited (i.e. advisory) participation 
to: 
EMCC staff members and Officers who are not otherwise qualified as personal members; 
members of assembly-appointed committees; 
visitors; 
consultants; and 
official representatives from other national Missionary Churches and the Evangelical Church of North 
America. 

 
6.3.1.1.3. Quorum 

A quorum at any General Assembly shall be the attendance in person of delegates representing at least 
20% of the corporate members and at least 20% of individual members. 
 

6.3.1.1.4. Scope of Authority 
A General Assembly may consider any resolution or item of business which falls within the 
responsibilities of the Members and is properly placed before the meeting. 
 

6.3.1.1.5. Venue 
A General Assembly may be held in a single venue, or at the discretion of the Board of Directors may 
be held in two or more venues linked in accordance with the provisions of Article 6.3.1.4. below 
describing Concurrent Linked Teleconference Meetings. 
 

6.3.1.2.   Ordinary Annual Meeting 
Except where a Special Assembly is held which deals with the necessary Annual Meeting business for 
that year, an Ordinary Annual Meeting shall be held each alternate year in which a General Assembly is 
not held, in accordance with the following: 

• The matters to be considered and the business to be transacted shall be only the minimum 
which is required for an Annual Meeting, being the following: 

o Consideration of the financial statements and auditor’s report (any approval given to 
such statements and report shall be subject to ratification at the General Assembly in 
the following year); 

o If not already filled by the Board of Directors, election of any directors to fill any 
vacancies occurring from the appointments or elections made by the prior General 
Assembly or Special Assembly; 

o reappointment of the incumbent auditor, or tentative appointment of a replacement 
auditor (subject to ratification at the General Assembly in the following year) where the 
incumbent auditor is not able or willing to continue for the ensuing year. 

 
6.3.1.2.1. Voting 

The members entitled to vote or express a vote at any Ordinary Annual Meeting shall be all individual 
members as identified in Article 4, and the Delegates of each corporate member as described in Article 
6.3.1.1.1. above, provided that a person under discipline or not in good standing within the EMCC 
cannot be a voting member of any Ordinary Annual Meeting.  Attendance and voting at an Ordinary 
Annual Meeting may be given either personally or by proxy, but in most cases it is anticipated it will be 
by proxy. 
 

6.3.1.2.2. Proxy 
A Member entitled to vote at an Ordinary Annual Meeting may by means of a proxy appoint a 
proxyholder and one or more alternate proxyholders, who are not required to be Members of EMCC 
corporation, but must be members in good standing of an EMCC full member congregation, to 
attend and act at the said meeting in the manner and to the extent authorized by the proxy and with the 
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authority conferred by the proxy. A proxy is valid only at the meeting in respect of which it is given or 
any adjournment of that meeting. A member may revoke a proxy by depositing an instrument or act in 
writing executed (or, in Quebec, signed by the member or by their agent or mandatary):  

i) at the registered office of EMCC no later than the last business day preceding the day of the 
meeting, or the day of the continuation of that meeting after an adjournment of that meeting, at 
which the proxy is to be used, or  

 
ii) with the chairperson of the meeting on the day of the meeting or the day of the continuation of 

that meeting after an adjournment of that meeting;  
 

a proxyholder or an alternate proxyholder has the same rights as the member by whom they were 
appointed, including the right to speak at a meeting of members in respect of any matter, to vote by way 
of ballot at the meeting, to demand a ballot at the meeting and, except where a proxyholder or 
an alternate proxyholder has conflicting instructions from more than one member, to vote at the meeting 
by way of a show of hands;  
 

6.3.1.2.2.1.  Proxy Form 
A proxy form will be provided. Any proxy produced and distributed by EMCC with its Notice of 
Meeting shall comply with the applicable requirements of the Regulations (presently s. 74) made 
under the Not for Profit Incorporations Act.”      
 

6.3.1.2.3. Quorum 
A quorum at any Ordinary Annual Meeting shall be the attendance in person of at least five individuals 
representing, whether in their own right as individual Members or by proxy, at least 5% of the total 
aggregate votes of the individual and corporate members of the EMCC. 
 

6.3.1.2.4. Scope of Authority 
An Ordinary Annual Meeting may not consider any resolution or item of business which falls outside of 
the minimum requirements for the annual meeting as described in paragraph 6.3.1.2. above. 
 

6.3.1.2.5. Venue 
An Ordinary Annual Meeting shall normally be held at the head office of the EMCC, but it may be held 
at such other location in Canada as may be specified by the Board of Directors. 

 
6.3.1.3.   Special Assembly 

In addition to Annual Meetings which are to be held at the intervals and otherwise as described above, a 
special meeting of members of the EMCC (a “Special Assembly”) may be called by a majority of the 
Board of Directors at any time, when in their discretion one or more items of urgent business requires 
determination or action by the Members prior to the next scheduled General Assembly and the nature of 
such business is not suitable or capable of determination by Written Ballot Without Meeting as that is 
described in Article 6.3.3. below.  A Special Assembly shall be at such time and place within Canada as 
the Board of Directors may designate, and shall consider such items as the Board of Directors shall 
place before the meeting. Subject to the provisions of Article 6.3.3. the notice, form, membership, 
participation as advisors and other rules, procedure and provisions associated with a Special Assembly 
shall in all aspects correspond to a General Assembly, mutatis mutandis, provided that notice of a 
Special Assembly shall state the general nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting whether 
or not such business would require particular notice at a General Assembly. 
A Special Assembly may discharge all of the requirements of an Annual Meeting where the business 
which is required for that year may be and is properly put before that meeting when it is held. 

 
6.3.1.4.   Concurrent Linked Teleconference Meetings 
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A General Assembly or a Special Assembly may be held at any place in Canada, and may be held at 
two or more concurrent locations linked by communication facilities permitting all persons participating 
in the meeting to hear and see the business of the meeting and in particular: 

• to hear each person who is recognized and given the floor by the Chairperson of the meeting in 
accordance with rules of order for the meeting, and 

• if visual materials or presentations are being reviewed or presented, to see or be able to 
concurrently view such materials or presentations. 

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, teleconference or internet video conferencing 
achieving the foregoing shall be a permissible means of holding such a meeting.  A Member who 
attends such a meeting in person, by telephone or by two-way audio-visual conference link as 
aforedescribed, is deemed to have consented to the location(s) of the meeting except when he attends 
the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the grounds that 
the meeting is not lawfully held.  A Member participating in such a meeting in any of the manners 
aforedescribed shall be considered present at the meeting and at the place of the meeting. 
 
Both or all of the concurrent linked meetings shall together be considered one amalgamated meeting for 

purposes of notice, quorum and similar technical requirements, and shall be conducted also as 
one meeting subject to the Rules of Order in accordance with the directions of one overall 
Chairperson. 

 
6.3.2 Notice of Meeting 

 
6.3.2.1.   Notice of Time and Place of Meeting of Members 

Written notice of the time and place of a meeting of members shall be sent to each member entitled to 
vote at the meeting, by one of the following means:  

a. by email to that member, not less than 21 nor more than 35 days before the day on which the 
meeting is to be held; PROVIDED THAT if a member has provided to EMCC a written request 
that the notice to that member be given by non-electronic means, then such notice shall 
thereafter be provided instead as described in paragraph b. below; OR  

b. by mail, courier or personal delivery to that member, not less than 21 nor more than 60 days 
before the day on which the meeting is to be held.  

 
 

6.3.2.2.   Notice of Supplemental Documentation and Proposed Agenda 
In the case of a General Assembly or Special Assembly, supplemental written documentation 
containing a proposed agenda, accompanied by whatever supporting material is deemed expedient or 
required from time to time by majority vote of the membership, shall be provided either personally or 
by sending notice to each member (through the post in a prepaid wrapper or letter, by facsimile, or by 
email) at least fourteen (14) days (exclusive of the day of mailing and of the day for which notice is 
given) before the date of meeting. 
 

6.3.2.3.   Notice of Special Business 
All business transacted at a Special Assembly, and all business transacted at an Annual Meeting except 
consideration of the financial statements and auditor’s report, fixing the number of directors for the 
following year, election of directors and reappointment of the incumbent auditor, is deemed to be 
special business, and the notice of meeting at which special business is to be transacted shall state: 
 

• the nature of that business in sufficient detail to permit the Members to form a reasoned 
judgment on that business, and 

 
• the text of any “special resolution” to be submitted to the meeting.  The text of a “special 
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resolution” may be amended at a meeting of shareholders if the amendments correct manifest 
errors or are not material. 

 
6.3.2.4.   Waiver of Notice 

Notice of any meeting or any irregularity in any meeting or in the notice thereof may be waived by any 
member, and the accidental omission to give notice of any meeting or the non-receipt of any notice by 
any member shall not invalidate any resolution passed or any proceedings taken at any meeting of 
members. 

 
6.3.3 Special Limited Meeting of Members 

The Board may call a “Special Limited Meeting” of the Members to be held and conducted in 
accordance with the procedures and rules outlined below, where a specific matter(s) arises:  

requiring decision or action by the members, or  
which is, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, of such significance that the decision 
or advisement of the members should be sought;  

and the matter cannot reasonably await determination or action at a regular General Assembly but is not 
so significant in the Board’s opinion as to warrant the calling of a Special Assembly (or doing so is 
impractical).  
 

6.3.3.1.   Attendance and Voting at Special Limited Meeting of Members 
The members entitled to vote or express a vote at any Special Limited Meeting of Members shall be all 
Individual members and all Corporate Members (or their delegates as described in these 
bylaws), provided that a person under discipline or not in good standing within the EMCC cannot be a 
voting member of any Special Limited Meeting of Members. Attendance and voting at a Special 
Limited Meeting of Members may be in person, by proxy as detailed in section 6.3.1.2.2. of 
these bylaws, or by mail-in ballot as detailed in this division, but in most cases it is anticipated it will be 
by mail-in ballot.   
 

6.3.3.2.   Procedure for Holding a Written Ballot Without Meeting 
The procedure for holding a Written Ballot Without Meeting shall be the following: 

• A written notice shall be sent to each member entitled to vote not less than twenty-one (21) 
days (exclusive of the day of mailing and of the day for which notice is given) before the date 
of the closing of the vote: 
§ setting out the nature of the business which is the subject of the ballot, in sufficient detail 

to permit the Members to form a reasoned judgment on that business; 
§ setting out the text of any “special resolution” for which approval is being sought.  The 

text of such “special resolution” may be amended on an approving vote only to the extent 
of correcting manifest errors or changes which are not material; and 

§ enclosing a suitable form of ballot indicating clearly and in accordance with any 
applicable provisions of these bylaws: 
• the requested resolution for approval (including clear indication of whether it be a 

final decision or rather merely advisory to the Board); 
• the closing time for the vote before which it must be received by the Board to be 

included as a valid vote in the tabulation; 
• the manner of validating the authenticity of the ballot on behalf of the member; and 
• the acceptable manners for delivery of the ballot back to the Board. 

 
6.3.3.3.   Notice of a Written Ballot Without Meeting 

The notice shall be provided to the Members entitled to vote either personally or by sending through the 
post in a prepaid wrapper or letter, by facsimile, or by email. 
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6.3.3.4.   Submission of Ballot for Written Ballot Without Meeting 
The ballot, once cast and authenticated, may be provided to the person designated by the Board to 
receive them, either personally or by sending through the post in a prepaid wrapper or letter, by 
facsimile, or by email (scanned) attachment. 

 
6.3.3.5.   Validation of Ballot for Written Ballot Without Meeting 

A ballot shall be validated if it is cast in accordance with the instructions on the ballot, authenticated in 
accordance with the foregoing, and is actually received by the Board on or before the date of the closing 
of the vote. 
 

6.3.3.6.   Tabulation of Vote by Written Ballot Without Meeting 
In tabulating the result of a vote by Written Ballot Without Meeting, a corporate member vote shall 
express the number of votes which is appropriate to that member in accordance with the provisions of 
Article 6.3.1.1.1. above. 
 

6.3.3.7.   Quorum for Special Limited Meeting of Members 
A quorum at any Special Limited Meeting of Members shall be the attendance in person of at least five 
individuals who would, whether in their own right as individual members or by proxy, be entitled to 
vote at that meeting, PROVIDED THAT no vote or action at a Special Limited Meeting of Members 
shall be considered valid or passed, unless at least two-thirds of the members of EMCC (whether 
corporate or individual) have exercised their right to vote at the meeting, whether in person, by proxy, 
or by mail-in ballot.  
 

6.3.3.8.   Waiver of Notice of a Special Limited Meeting of Members 
A Member may waive any irregularity in the giving of notice of a Special Limited Meeting of 
Members, and the accidental omission to give notice to, or the nonreceipt of any notice by, any 
member, shall not invalidate any resolution passed or any proceedings thereby taken.  
 

6.3.3.9.   Objection to a Special Limited Meeting of Members 
Where a Special Limited Meeting of Members has been initiated by the Board, if written objections to 
holding such meeting are, by the meeting date, received by the Board from more than five percent (5%) 
of the members (whether corporate or individual) of the EMCC, then the Board of Directors shall 
withdraw the proposed action or resolution and not proceed with the meeting. Such objections shall be 
authenticated for individual members as described in Article 6.3.3.5. below but for a corporate member, 
such objection shall be accompanied by evidence of a resolution of the board of directors of the 
Corporate Member.  
 

6.3.3.10.   Procedure for Mail-in Ballots at Special Limited Meeting of Members 
The form of ballot to be provided with the Notice of a Special Limited Meeting of members shall 
indicate clearly and in accordance with any other applicable provisions of these bylaws:  

• the requested resolution for approval (including clear indication of whether it be a final 
decision or rather merely advisory to the Board);  

• where it is a ballot for a corporate member, the number of votes or manner of determining 
the number of votes which may be expressed by that corporate member in its ballot;  

• the manner of validating the authenticity of the ballot on behalf of the member;  
• the acceptable manners for delivery of the ballot back to the independent scrutineers who 

will be appointed to confidentially verify and tabulate the votes (so as to maintain the 
anonymity of those casting votes); and 

• the closing time for the vote before which it must be received by the independent 
scrutineers to be included as a valid vote at the meeting.  
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Once a ballot has been cast and authenticated, it may be provided to the independent 
scrutineers designated by the Board to receive them, either by sending through the post in a prepaid 
wrapper or letter, or by email (scanned) attachment.  
 
A ballot shall be considered validated if it is cast in accordance with the instructions on the ballot, 
including authentication in accordance with the foregoing provisions and those instructions, and it is 
actually received by the independent scrutineers on or before the closing time for the ballot votes 
specified in 6.3.3.5. above.  

6.4. Administrative Organization 

The Board of Directors may, by resolution, create committees, ministries, auxiliary organizations or other 
such administrative units for development and maintenance necessary to achieve the objects of the 
Corporation. 

6.5. Fiscal Year 

The fiscal year shall be that of the calendar year, or as determined, from time to time, by resolution of the 
membership. 

6.6. Auditor 

The auditor shall be appointed by the membership until the next General Assembly. At least once in every 
fiscal year the accounts of the Corporation shall be examined and the correctness of the statement of 
income and expenditures and of the balance sheet ascertained by the auditor(s). 

6.7. Borrowing Bylaws 

The Corporation upon decision of the Board of Directors may from time to time: 

1. borrow money upon the credit of the Corporation; 

2. limit or increase the amount to be borrowed; 

3. issue debentures or other securities of the Corporation. Such securities or debentures shall not be made 
as a public offering and shall be in compliance with applicable securities law.  

4. pledge or sell such debentures or other securities for such sums and at such prices as may be deemed 
expedient; and 

5. secure any such debentures or other securities or any other present or future borrowing or liability of 
the Corporation by charge, mortgage, hypothec or pledge of all or any currently owned or subsequently 
acquired real or personal, moveable and immovable, property of the Corporation, including book debts, 
rights, powers, franchises and undertakings and rights of the Corporation. 

6.8. Restriction on Distribution of Property 

It is especially provided that in the event of dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation all its remaining 
assets after payment of its liabilities shall be distributed to one or more recognized charitable 
organizations in Canada as designated by the members at a meeting called for that purpose. 

6.9. Banking Arrangements 

The banking business of the Corporation shall be transacted with such banks, trust companies or other 
firms or corporations as may from time to time be designated by or under the authority of the Board of 
Directors. Such banking business, or any part thereof, shall be transacted under such agreements, 
instruments and delegations of powers as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe or 
authorize. 
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6.10. Cheques, Drafts, Notes, Etc 

All cheques, drafts or orders for payment of money and all notes and acceptances and bills of exchange 
shall be signed by such officer(s) or person(s), whether or not officers of the Corporation, and in such 
manner as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate by resolution. 

6.11. Voting Shares and Securities in Other Companies 

All of the shares or other securities carrying voting rights of any other company or corporation held from 
time to time by the Corporation may be voted at any and all meetings of shareholders, bondholders, 
debenture holders or holders of other securities, as the case may be, of such other company or corporation 
and in such manner and by such person(s) as the Board of Directors shall from time to time determine.   

6.12. Corporate Seal 

6.12.1. Form of Corporate Seal 

The corporate seal shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation and shall have the words "Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada" endorsed thereon.  It 
shall be kept in the custody of the Secretary or such other officer as may be designated by the Board of 
Directors. 

6.12.2. Application of Corporate Seal 

The corporate seal of the Corporation may, when required, be affixed to contracts, documents or 
instruments in writing signed as aforesaid or by any officers, person(s), appointed as aforesaid by 
resolution of the Board of Directors. 

6.13.   Execution of Instruments 

6.13.1.   Execution of Instruments by Officers 

Deeds, transfers, assignments, contracts, obligations, certificates, and other instruments may be signed 
on behalf of the EMCC by any two Officers of the Corporation subject to the policies of the Board. In 
addition, the Board may, from time to time, direct the manner in which, and the person(s) by whom, any 
particular instrument or class of instruments may be signed. All contracts, documents or instruments in 
writing so signed shall be binding upon the Corporation without any further authorization or formality.  

6.13.2. Definition of Contracts, etc. 

The term “contracts, documents or instruments in writing” as used herein shall include deeds, mortgages, 
hypothecs, charges, conveyances, transfers and assignments of property, real or personal, immovable or 
moveable, agreements, releases, receipts and discharge for the payment of money or other obligations, 
conveyances, transfers and assignments of shares, bonds, debentures or other securities and all paper 
writings. 

6.13.3. Authorized Signatories 

In particular, without limiting and generality of the foregoing, the President, together with the Secretary 
or the Treasurer, as authorized by the Board of Directors, may sell, assign, transfer, exchange, convert 
any and all shares, bonds, debentures, rights, warrants or other securities owned by or registered in the 
name of the Corporation and to sign and execute, under the corporate seal of the Corporation or otherwise, 
all assignments, transfers, conveyances, powers of attorney and other instruments that may be necessary 
for the purpose of selling, assigning, transferring, exchanging, converting or conveying any such shares, 
bonds, debentures, rights, warrants, or other securities.  

 

 

7.  OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS 
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7.1.   Qualifications 

Every officer and director shall be a member in good standing of a full member EMCC church. 

7.2.   Removal 

Officers or directors may be removed from their position by a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of the 
membership or by an eighty percent (80%) majority vote of the whole Board of Directors.    

7.3.   Officers 

The Officers shall be the President, the Moderator, the Secretary and the Treasurer or, in lieu of a 
Secretary and Treasurer, the Secretary-Treasurer and such other officers as the Board of Directors may 
determine by resolution.  An Officer may hold more than one office excepting the President who shall 
hold only the one office. 

7.3.1.   President 

7.3.1.1. The President shall: 

1. be elected by the EMCC membership from among the ordained ministers of the EMCC; 

2. be  the Spiritual Leader and Chief Executive Officer of the EMCC; 

3. have general oversight of the entire work of the denomination, in keeping with the objectives, 
doctrines, and practice of this bylaw;  

4. seek to coordinate the work of all agencies with a view to effecting harmonious relationships and be 
available to offer counsel to officers, administrative personnel, and heads of institutions; 

5. be a member ex officio of all denominational boards without vote;  

6. offer guidance and counsel to the Board of Directors, the meeting of members and to the General 
Assembly; 

7. be charged with the general management and supervision of the affairs and operations of the EMCC;   

8. be responsible to submit a comprehensive report of the work of the denomination to the meeting of 
members; 

9. co-sign all bylaws and membership certificates together with the Secretary or other officer appointed 
by the Board for that purpose; and 

10. be directly responsible to the Board of Directors and report to them regularly of the conduct of the 
office. 

7.3.1.2. The President is elected from among the ordained ministers of the EMCC for a four (4) year term.  
For the purpose of clarity, the “four year term” shall extend from the date of the President’s installation 
until the second General Assembly after that installation. 

7.3.1.3. The initial election of a President shall require the majority approval of votes cast at General 
Assembly or by alternative measures vote.  There shall be no term limit for the President, provided that 
at the expiry of each term an incumbent President shall require the approval of two-thirds of votes cast 
for re-election to a subsequent term. 

7.3.1.4.   In case of death, incapacitation, resignation, or removal of the President, the Board of Directors 
shall make satisfactory arrangements to care for the work of the President (such as appointing an interim 
president) until an election can be held to fill the office. 

7.3.1.5. In the event that an incumbent President standing for re-election does not receive the requisite 
number of votes, that individual shall continue to serve as President until a replacement has been named.  
Upon such an occurrence, the Board of Directors shall seek a replacement nominee for the President as 
expeditiously as practical and shall submit such nominee to the members for approval (requiring a 
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majority of votes cast on the resolution) through the mechanism of an alternative measure vote established 
previously in this bylaw. 

7.3.2.   Moderator 

The Moderator shall be elected by the Board of Directors from among themselves and shall chair meetings 
of the Board of Directors and the meetings of members. The Moderator will prepare the agenda for 
meetings of the Board of Directors and meetings of the members in cooperation with the President. 

7.3.3. Secretary  

7.3.3.1. Election 

The Secretary shall be elected by the Board of Directors from among their number at the first meeting of 
the Board after each General Assembly. The incumbent shall hold office until a successor is elected.  

7.3.3.2. Duties 

The Secretary shall be ex officio clerk of the EMCC and is responsible to ensure that accurate and 
complete minutes are kept of all meetings of members and Board of Directors meetings. The Secretary 
shall give all required notices to members and to directors. The Secretary shall be the custodian of the 
corporate seal and of all books, papers, records, correspondence, contracts and other documents belonging 
to the Corporation which shall be delivered up only when authorized by a resolution of the Board of 
Directors to do so and to such person(s) as may be named in the resolution, and shall perform such other 
duties as may from time to time be determined by the Board of Directors.  

7.3.4. Treasurer 

7.3.4.1. Election 

The Treasurer shall be elected by the Board of Directors from among their number at the first meeting of 
the Board after election of such Board of Directors members. The incumbent shall hold office until a 
successor is elected.  

7.3.4.2. Duties 

The Treasurer shall cause to be kept full and accurate accounts of all receipts and disbursements of the 
Corporation and shall deposit all monies or other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the 
Corporation in such bank or banks as may from time to time be designated by the Board of Directors. 
The Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Corporation under the direction of the Board of Directors, 
taking proper vouchers therefore and shall render to the Board of Directors at the regular meetings thereof 
or whenever required, an account of all transactions as Treasurer, and of the financial position of the 
Corporation. The Treasurer shall also perform such other duties as may from time to time be determined 
by the Board of Directors. The Treasurer shall provide annual audited financial statements to the 
membership. 

7.4.   Directors 

7.4.1.   Duties 

In administering the affairs of the corporation, the Board of Directors are expected to: 

1. provide for the continuity of the organization’s existence both legally and in its mission; 

2. provide the membership with considered recommendations for deliberation; 

3. organize itself consistent with its objectives; 

4. govern the organization by broad policies and objectives in accordance with the Articles of 
Faith and Practice, this bylaw; and the Articles of Governance; 
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5. arrange for the election of a President to whom responsibility for the administration of the 
organization is delegated; 

6. acquire sufficient resources for the organization's operations; 

7. approve annual budget; 

8. account to the public for the work of the organization and expenditures of its funds. 

9. report to the membership in a timely and transparent way; 

10. oversee the affairs of EMCC World Partners; and  

11. be responsible for the formulation, revision, and articulation of the national vision which is to 
be commended to the membership. 

7.4.2.   Composition and Qualifications 

7.4.2.1.  There shall be a minimum of seven (7) and a maximum of nine (9) directors each of whom, at 
the time of election, shall be a member in good standing of a full member congregation of the EMCC, 
shall be twenty-one or more years of age and shall be a resident of Canada.  Should a director at any time 
fail to meet any one of these requirements, the office shall be forfeited. 

7.4.2.2.  Of the maximum nine directors, seven (7) shall be elected by the membership.  The additional 
two (2) members of the Board of Directors may be appointed from time to time by unanimous consent 
resolution of the elected directors. 

7.4.2.3. The Board of Directors shall at all times have the authority to fill any vacancies created on the 
Board of Directors.  If the term of office being filled by a replacement director extends beyond a meeting 
of members, the appointment shall be subject to a ratification vote by the membership.  

7.4.3. Term 

7.4.3.1. Each director’s term is four (4) years and will expire at the second General Assembly after their 
election.   

7.4.3.2. The terms of the elected directors will be staggered. On enactment of this bylaw, provision will 
be made for the staggering of terms that will result in the election of either three (3) or four (4) directors 
every two (2) years.   

7.4.4.   Election 

Directors shall be elected by the membership from qualified nominees presented by a nominating 
committee.  The nominating committee, as appointed by the Board of Directors, shall be at least five (5) 
persons with two (2) members of the Board of Directors as members.  The nominating committee shall 
solicit and consider in good faith all nomination suggestions received from members. 

7.4.5. Tenure 

Directors may stand for re-election, provided that no director shall serve more than two (2) consecutive 
terms.  A director who has served two (2) consecutive terms shall be eligible to stand for re-election at 
the second General Assembly after the expiry of his last term. 
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7.4.6.   Powers 

The Board of Directors of the Corporation may administer the affairs of the Corporation in all things and 
make or cause to be made for the Corporation, in its name, any kind of contract which the Corporation 
may lawfully enter into and save as herein provided, generally may exercise all such other powers and do 
all such other acts and things as the Corporation is authorized to exercise and do, without in any way 
derogating from the foregoing. The Board of Directors are expressly empowered from time to time to 
purchase, lease or otherwise acquire, alienate, sell, exchange, or otherwise dispose of shares, stocks, 
rights, warrants, options and other securities, lands, buildings, and other property, moveable or 
immovable, real or personal, or any right or interest therein owned by the Corporation, for such 
consideration and upon such terms and conditions as they may deem advisable. 

7.4.7.   Meetings of the Board of Directors 

7.4.7.1. A majority of members of the whole Board of Directors constitutes a quorum. No business shall 
be transacted at any meeting unless the requisite quorum shall be present at the commencement of such 
business. 

7.4.7.2. There shall be a minimum of two meetings per year at the call of the chair. 

7.4.7.3. A written notice stating the time and place of meeting and a proposed agenda, accompanied by 
supporting material, shall be served either personally or by sending notice to each director (through the 
post in a prepaid wrapper or letter, by facsimile, or by email) at least ten days (exclusive of the day of 
mailing and of the day for which notice is given) before the date of meeting. A meeting may be held for 
any purpose at any date and time and at any place within Canada without notice if all the directors are 
present or if all directors who are absent signify their assent in writing to such meeting being held.   

7.4.7.4. The accidental omission of notice of any meeting or the non-receipt of notice by any director 
shall not invalidate any resolution passed or any proceedings taken at any meeting of the Board of 
Directors. 
7.4.7.5.   A meeting of the Board of Directors may be held in a single venue, or at the discretion of the 
Chairman, may be held in two or more venues linked in accordance with the provisions of Article 
6.3.1.4. above describing Concurrent Linked Teleconference Meetings, mutatis mutandis.  
7.4.7.5.1. The directors of the Corporation may meet by teleconference provided that either a majority 
of the directors consents to meeting by teleconference or meetings by teleconference have been 
approved by resolution passed by the board of directors at a meeting of the directors of the Corporation. 
7.4.7.5.2. The directors of the Corporation may meet by other electronic means that permits each 
director to communicate adequately with each other, provided that: 

a)  the board of directors of the Corporation has passed a resolution addressing the mechanics of 
holding such a meeting and dealing specifically with the procedures for establishing quorum, and 
recording votes; 
b)  each director has equal access to the specific means of communication to be used; 
c)  each director, has consented in advance to meeting by electronic means using the specific means 
of communication proposed for the meeting. 

7.4.8.   Indemnities 

7.4.8.1. Every director or officer of the Corporation or other person who has undertaken or is about to 
undertake any liability on behalf of the EMCC and its heirs, executors, and administrators, and estate and 
effects, respectively, shall from time to time and at all times, be indemnified and saved harmless, out of 
the funds of the Corporation, from and against: 

1. all costs, charges and expenses whatsoever which such director, officer or other person sustains 
or incurs in or about any action, suit or proceeding which is brought, commenced or prosecuted 
against him/her for or in respect of any act, deed, matter or thing whatsoever made, done or 
permitted by him/her in or about the execution of the duties of office; 
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2. all other costs, charges and expenses which are sustained or incurred in or about or in relation 
to the affairs thereof, except such costs, charges or expenses as are occasioned by willful 
personal neglect or default. 

7.4.8.2. No director or officer for the time being of the Corporation shall be liable for the acts, receipts, 
neglects or defaults of any other director or officer or employee, or for joining in any receipt or act for 
conformity, or for any loss, damage or expense happening to the Corporation through the insufficiency 
or deficiency of title to any property acquired by the Corporation or for or on behalf of the Corporation, 
or for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security in or upon which any of the monies of or belonging 
to the Corporation shall be placed out or invested, or for any loss or damage arising from the bankruptcy, 
insolvency or tortious act of any person, firm or corporation with whom or which any monies, securities 
or effects shall be lodged or deposited, or for any other loss, damage or misfortune whatever which may 
happen in the execution of the duties of his respective office or trust or in relation thereto unless the same 
shall happen by or through his own wrongful and willful act or through his own wrongful and willful 
neglect or default. 

7.4.8.3. The directors of the Corporation shall not be under any duty or responsibility in respect of any 
contract, act or transaction whether or not made, done or entered into in the name or on behalf of the 
Corporation, except such as shall have been submitted to and authorized or approved by the Board of 
Directors. If any director or officer of the Corporation shall be employed by or shall perform services for 
the Corporation otherwise than as a director or officer or shall be a member of a firm or a shareholder, 
director or officer of a company which is employed by or performs services for the Corporation, the fact 
of his being a director or officer of the Corporation shall not disentitle such director or officer or such 
firm or company, as the case may be, from receiving proper remuneration for such services. 

8.  Effective Date, Repeal and Amendments of Bylaw 

All previous bylaws of the Corporation are repealed as of the coming into force of this bylaw. This Bylaw 
may be established, altered, amended or repealed by a favourable vote with at least a two-thirds majority 
of the members; provided that no repeal or amendment of bylaws not embodied in the letters patent shall 
be enforced or acted upon until the approval of the responsible Minister pursuant to the Canada 
Corporations Act has been obtained. Upon the effective date of an amendment or repeal, such amendment 
or repeal shall not affect the previous operation of such amended or repealed bylaw or affect the validity 
of any act done or right, privilege, obligation, or liability acquired or incurred prior to its amendment or 
repeal. Subject to obtaining the approval of these bylaws by the responsible Minister pursuant to the 
Canada Corporations Act, this bylaw shall come into force July 1, 2013. 
 

 

 

PASSED the 5th day of May, 2015. 
  
  
WITNESS the corporate seal of the Corporation 
  

 
                                                                                 
President                                    Secretary 
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APPENDIX #2:
EMCC ARTICLES OF GOVERNANCE 

(A Part of EMCC Bylaw #1)

GOV – 1.   RELATIONSHIPS

GOV – 1.1. RELATIONSHIP OF EMCC TO LOCAL CHURCHES

1.1.1. 1 RELATIONSHIPS

1.1 Relationship of EMCC to Local Churches

1.1.1 It is the theological conviction of the EMCC that the local church is an entity called into being by
God. The local church is part of Christ’s Church visible in a dynamic missional network of
disciples, gathered communities (local churches), and other agencies and institutions through
which the presence of Christ is mediated to the watching world. Christ has given gifts to the
Church that unify and mobilize believers for mission that transcends and extends the bounds of
localized ministry (Eph 4:11; Acts 13:1-4; 1  Cor 12:28;). It is the Spirit of God that implants the
impulse of cooperation and connection and prompts churches of like faith to make common
cause for the Great Commission. It is also our conviction that the movement of churches now
known as the EMCC has been called into being by God and is bound by a common heritage and
a common mission.

1.1.2.

1.1.2 A  “covenant agreement” in this document means a firm and binding commitment, “God being
our witness”, which includes a prior agreement not to enforce the agreement through Court or
judicial process other than, if necessary, to implement recourse to required engagement in, and
application of the dispute  resolution process and procedures set forth in Article 7 of these
Articles of Governance. A “covenant  relationship” in this document means the relationship
based on the “covenant agreement.”

1.1.3.

1.1.3 A covenant relationship contains both privileges and responsibilities. It is this covenanting
together of churches that gives rise to the existence of the EMCC. Within this family of churches
the local church has the right to be self-governing in its own affairs and to participate fully,
accepting the responsibilities of the covenant  relationship  (see Gov –Article 2.2 hereof).
Notwithstanding any provision of this document, it is understood that “covenant relationship” is
not intended, nor shall it be interpreted, in such a way as to render one party legally liable for the
obligations or actions of the other; that is, one party cannot be held  responsible if the other party
fails to follow through on its commitments, for any such failure by that other  party.
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GOV – 1.2. RELATIONSHIP OF

1.2 Relationship of EMCC TO CREDENTIALED MINISTERS

to Credentialed Ministers

Maintaining credentials in the EMCC requires and implies compliance with the Bylaw, Articles of Faith
and Practice, and Articles of Governance and National Policy of the EMCC. It also explicitly requires
signing of the Minister’s Covenant Agreement. Compliance includes submission to the discipline laid
out in this Articles of Governance and elaborated in the National Policy. Church leaders who wish to
hold the teaching and preaching office shall be examined and credentialed according to standards that
assure a unity in essentials, and evidence of Christian maturity, gifting and call.

GOV – 1.3. RELATIONSHIP OF EMCC TO THE EMCC PRESIDENT

1.3.1. PRESIDENTIAL ROLE1.3 Relationship of EMCC to the EMCC President

1.3.1 Presidential Role - The President is the Spiritual Leader of the EMCC and its Chief
Executive Officer and spokesperson.

1.3.2. PRESIDENTIAL LEADERSHIP

1.3.2 Presidential Leadership

1.3.2.1 Spiritual

1.3.2.1. SPIRITUAL

As Spiritual Leader of the EMCC, the President shall:

1.3.2.1.1 foster spiritual growth and commitment to the Scriptures and the doctrine of the EMCC;

1.3.2.1.2  provide for the pastoral care of EMCC pastors;

1.3.2.1.3 give spiritual leadership to all EMCC pastors, missionaries and churches.

1.3.2.2 1.3.2.2. GENERAL

General

As Chief Executive Officer for the EMCC, the President shall also:

1.3.2.2.1 represent the EMCC as its official spokesperson;
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1.3.2.2.2 attend as a non-voting advisor at meetings of the Board of Directors, and shall be an
ex-officio member of all other EMCC boards, ministries and committees, attending such
meetings as he considers advisable;

1.3.2.2.3 provide day-to-day supervision of EMCC Office staff and give direction in administrative
matters;

1.3.2.2.4 seek to ensure provision of care for the congregational welfare of all local churches of the
EMCC, including consultation with, and instruction of, each of them;

1.3.2.2.5 serve as a member of the board of each denominational college, either personally or by
appointing a designate.

1.3.3. ELECTION OF PRESIDENT

1.3.3 Election of President

In the event that:

(a) 1.3.3.1 an incumbent President:

(i)

1.3.3.1.1 resigns;

1.3.3.1.2 (ii) advises that he will not stand for re-election for another term;

1.3.3.1.3 (iii) becomes unable to continue as President (as determined by the Board), or

1.3.3.1.4 (iv) fails to achieve the 2/3 majority approval which is required to continue for a
subsequent term as President; or

(b)

1.3.3.2 the Board of Directors determines that it will not support the incumbent President for
re-election; or

(c)

1.3.3.3 a nominee candidate submitted for election as President by the Search Committee as
described below, fails to attain the necessary majority vote to be elected;
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the following steps shall be followed:

1.3.3.4 the Board of Directors shall establish a Presidential Search Committee of at least five (5)
persons (of whom no more than two shall be members of the Board of Directors) and
shall make such further arrangements as may be necessary for the selection of a candidate
to present  to the Membership.

1.3.3.5 The the Presidential Search Committee shall:

1.3.3.5.1 (a) solicit recommendations and suggestions from pastors, church boards and other
EMCC leaders;

(b)

1.3.3.5.2 seek applications if they deem it appropriate and desireable or the Board directs;

1.3.3.5.3 (c) keep the Board informed as to the progress of their search;

1.3.3.5.4 (d) present a single nominee, <approvedapproved by the Board,> with appropriate
background information, to the membership.

3. The; and

1.3.3.6 the membership shall be asked to vote for or against the candidate, at either a General or a
Special Assembly, provided that the Board if it considers it appropriate may authorize such
vote to be taken at a General or Special Ordinary Meeting.

The Board may from time to time establish, in National Policy, additional procedures, not inconsistent
with the foregoing, for the election of President.

1.3.4 PRESIDENT’S RELATIONSHIP TO LOCAL CHURCHES

1.3.4 President’s Relationship to Local Churches

Member and affiliate churches of the EMCC shall recognize, welcome and honour the President as the
leading elder of the EMCC. The counsel of the President is to be given due consideration in matters
relating to the health and well-being of the local church, pastoral relations and the common life of the
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EMCC. In exceptional circumstances the President may intervene in the affairs of the local church in
accordance with the provisions of section Gov-2Article 2.6 hereof.

1.3.5 PRESIDENT’S RELATIONSHIP TO CREDENTIALED MINISTERS

1.3.5 President’s Relationship to Credentialed Ministers

The President, elected as "first among equals", shall be recognized, welcomed and honoured as the
leader of the EMCC. The counsel of the President shall be given due consideration in matters relating to
the exercise of the pastoral office. Credentialed ministers exercise their ministry under the general
oversight and supervision of the office of the President.

GOV – 1.4. RELATIONSHIP OF1.4 Relationship of EMCC TO REGIONAL
MINISTERS

to Regional Ministers

The EMCC believes that the covenant relationships amongst  its pastors,  churches and people are
important to enhance and develop. For growing Gospel impact of the EMCC, the ministry personnel of
the EMCC Office are tasked with intentional networking, facilitating and resourcing. Regional Ministers
under the supervision of the President provide direct support to churches, pastors and other leaders.

GOV – 1.5. RELATIONSHIP OF1.5 Relationship of EMCC TOto RMC ANDand EBC

As the founding denomination of Emmanuel Bible College and Rocky Mountain College, the EMCC
maintains an affiliation with both colleges.

GOV – 1.6. RELATIONSHIP OF1.6 Relationship of EMCC TOto EMCC WORLD
PARTNERS

World Partners

EMCC World Partners (EMCC WP) is a ministry of the EMCC, administered through the office of the
President, under the auspices of the Board of Directors. EMCC WP facilitates the EMCC in its missional
task by encouraging and facilitating ministry in cross-cultural and global contexts.

GOV - 1.7. INCORPORATED MINISTRIES
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1.7 Incorporated Ministries

The EMCC Board of Directors may enter into bilateral agreements with other incorporated entities
consistent with its charitable purposes and objects.

GOV –1.8. RELATIONSHIP OF1.8 Relationship of EMCC WITH AUXILIARY
ORGANIZATIONS

with Auxiliary Organizations

Furtherance of the work of the EMCC is also achieved through Auxiliary organizations which are
approved as such by the Board of Directors and who report regularly to General Assembly and to the
Board of Directors.   Each such organization shall have voting representation at General Assembly by
appointment of a delegate as an Individual Member.

GOV – 2. 2 MEMBER CHURCHES

2.1 GOV – 2.1. DEFINITION

Definition

A Corporate Member, or “member church” or “member congregation”, is a local congregation which
has met the conditions of membership which are described in Gov -Article 2 of these Articles of
Governance, and which has been formally accepted by EMCC in writing as a Corporate Member.  Such
a member congregation is in a covenant relationship with the other churches and organizations that
constitute the EMCC.

GOV – 2.2. ACCEPTANCE TO MEMBERSHIP2.2 Acceptance to Membership -
COVENANT AGREEMENT

2.2.1. Covenant Agreement

2.2.1 A  church that is requesting membership shall understand that an application by them for
membership is an application to enter into a covenant agreement. Subject to GovArticle 2.2.3
hereof, that covenant relationship between a local church and the  EMCC comes into force upon
the signatures of the authorized representatives of both parties to the membership affirmation
presented by EMCC on acceptance of that local church as a Corporate Member.  In addition to
the covenant agreement as understood in this document, the use of EMCC and related trademarks
is legally limited strictly to churches and agencies in good standing and recognized by the
EMCC.

General Assembly 2017 125



-8- Articles of Governance

2.2.2.

2.2.2 In the membership affirmation, the local church shall subscribe in writing to the following
statement:

“We,  the duly  authorized  representatives of (name of local church), apply  to  become a
recognized member  of the Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada. It is our  intent to
participate in the life of this family of churches and to promote its values, advance its purpose
and  support its projects to the best of our ability. We declare our commitment to maintain
fellowship and aid other EMCC churches by making common cause in fulfilling the Great
Commission, the  Lord being Our Helper. We affirm the Articles of Faith and Practice of the
Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada and pledge to conduct the affairs of our local church
in accord with the Bylaw, and the Articles of Governance and the National Policy of the EMCC.
We affirm our commitment to being a healthy, growing, Great Commission church that
multiplies disciples, groups and  churches. We understand  that this statement constitutes a good
faith entry into a covenant agreement.”

2.2.3. 2.2.3 Local congregations which were already a part of the EMCC as at May 4, 2005 are
recognized as already being in the covenant relationship  described herein.

GOV – 2.3. PRIVILEGES

2.3 Privileges

A member church has the privileges of membership in the family of the EMCC. These privileges
include:

2.3.1 use of denominational names and trademarks;

2.3.2 the cooperation, guidance, stability, accountability and support of the EMCC organization;

2.3.3 access to trained, screened, supported and supervised ministers;

2.3.4 guidance in matters of pastoral relations;

2.3.5 the counsel, visits, encouragement and vision of the national staff;

2.3.6 participation in camping, youth or other ministries organized regionally or nationally; 

2.3.7 financial resources such as loan funds and grants; 

2.3.8 resources for church health, growth and multiplication;
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2.3.9 multiple networking for mutual support and work; and

2.3.10 participation in a national and global Great Commission vision and program.

GOV – 2.4. RESPONSIBILITY

2.4 Responsibility

Member Churches are expected to participate in the common life of the churches of the EMCC, making
common cause  and uniting in a  desire  to share  the  gospel of Jesus Christ and to fulfill the Great
Commission. It is our understanding that the following expectations will be fulfilled in our family of
churches:

2.4.1 each local church shall strive to conduct its affairs in a way that it brings no harm or disrepute
to the  EMCC family of churches;

2.4.2 each local church shall administer its affairs in accordance with the Bylaw of the EMCC;

2.4.3 each local church is to recognize and cooperate with the duly appointed officers of the
EMCC;

2.4.4 each local church shall do its best to reflect concern for global ministries through missions
support;

2.4.5 each local church shall carefully consider how best to invest in the  ministry of
denominational colleges;

2.4.6 each local church shall do its best to carry its part of the  shared ministry of the  EMCC
denominationally;

2.4.7 each local church shall send delegates to the meetings of members; and

2.4.8 each local church shall report annually to EMCC.

GOV –2.5. LOCAL ORGANIZATION

2.5.1. 2.5 Local Organization

2.5.1 It is the understanding of the EMCC that:

2.5.1.1 a local EMCC church has the right to govern its own affairs and to select its own leaders;

2.5.1.2 each local church has the responsibility to conduct its own affairs in a way compatible with
the policy and governance of the EMCC and in the spirit of the covenant relationship;

2.5.1.3 a local EMCC church shall have an Operating Bylaw that does not contravene the EMCC
Bylaw;
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2.5.1.4 the affairs of a local church are governed by its governing board as authorized by the local
church  bylaw;

2.5.1.5 the ministry of the local church is the responsibility of all its members; and

2.5.1.6 the role of the pastor is one of servant leadership.

2.5.2. 2.5.2 Minimal standards expected of a local church are:

2.5.2.1 Governing Board: The board is to administer the affairs of the local church in accordance
with its bylaw and to fulfill its fiduciary responsibilities including the matters pertaining to
finances and the  holding of assets;

2.5.2.2 Budgeting: Each local organization will have a procedure for the preparation, adoption and
control of the annual budget;

2.5.2.3 Accounting Records: A local organization will maintain records of the general ledger and
supporting journals, detailed records of pledges, investments, loans, yearly budget reports and
annual financial reports including record of annual audit or internal review;

2.5.2.4 Administrative Records: Each EMCC local organization will have securely maintained
records which include Board minutes,  personnel  files,  employment  records,  legal 
documents and all  financial  documents according to the Canada Customs and Revenue
Agency Records Retention Requirements;

2.5.2.5 Policies and Procedures: A local EMCC organization will  create,  implement  and publish
any necessary  policies and  procedures such  as job  descriptions, staff acquisition 
procedures, staff evaluations, risk management, discipline of members, etc;

2.5.2.6 Property and Facilities: All facilities will be maintained in accordance with local building and
fire codes. Adequate risk and liability insurance will be secured and periodically reviewed.
Adequate  security for the public will be provided;

2.5.2.7 Publicity and Development: Development efforts for every local EMCC organization  shall
demonstrate Biblical values, ethical standards, and responsibility to donors.  All initiatives
should  engender good public relations and confidence in both the local church and its
membership in EMCC;

2.5.2.8 Reporting: The local church shall do its best to provide to EMCC such reports as are needed
for the functioning of EMCC, including an annual update of the names and addresses of
church leaders, and of any persons who hold local church properties in trust. It is also
expected that a church will satisfy all its legal reporting obligations.

GOV –2.6. INTERVENTION BY2.6 Intervention by EMCC IN LOCAL CHURCH
AFFAIRS

2.6.1. in Local Church Affairs
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2.6.1 It is our understanding that recognized representatives of the EMCC family of churches and
recognized leaders in EMCC churches can and may exercise their Christian duty to admonish,
exhort, and counsel leaders in matters that are bringing disrepute or disharmony to the EMCC
family or the cause of Christ generally.

2.6.2.

2.6.2 A member church has a covenant obligation to conduct its affairs in a way that brings no
disrepute to the family of the EMCC and that promotes harmony among EMCC’s member
churches.

2.6.3.

2.6.3 Based on the above, unless a member congregation has already (previous to commencement of
any such intervention) adopted and communicated to EMCC in writing an alternative formal
written process for resolution of such matters which expressly waives the provisions of this
article, each member church recognizes the right of EMCC, on behalf of the EMCC family of
churches, to intervene as described herein in circumstances in EMCC’s discretion warranting the
same, which shall include, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the following:

2.6.3.1 the local church  ceases to  function  as an  organized  EMCC local church or is no longer
able to maintain the organizational standards of a local EMCC church;

2.6.3.2 the local church is at risk of, or is contemplating, closure;

2.6.3.3 the local church, according to local governance policy, by a majority vote of members or its
board in a formal resolution, invites the intervention of the EMCC, specifying in the
invitation the specific cause or reasons for such invitation;

2.6.3.4 there are reasonable grounds to suppose that the financial affairs of the church are not in
order – in which case the EMCC may audit the financial records of that church and take such
steps as necessary to set things in order;

2.6.3.5 there is a moral or ethical problem which has not been resolved by ordinary means and where
the local leadership has been unable or unwilling to deal satisfactorily with these matters; 

2.6.3.6 there has been protracted divisive or disruptive teaching or conduct which is bringing
disharmony or disrepute to the EMCC family of churches;

2.6.3.7 there have been credible reports of teachings and/or practices which are incompatible with
the Articles of Faith and Practice and which have not been amenable to ordinary means of
correction and where the local leadership has been unable or unwilling to deal satisfactorily
with these matters; or

2.6.3.8 there have been formal allegations brought against a credentialed minister, made in writing
and endorsed by two signatures, filed with both the Church Board of the local church and
with the National Office of the EMCC – in which case the EMCC shall proceed, in keeping
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with the provisions of these Bylaws governing the discipline of ministers, expecting and
receiving the full cooperation of the congregational leadership and of the congregation in
pursuing the investigation to its appropriate conclusion.

2.6.3. 2.6.4 Any such intervention shall be an interim measure taken for the purpose of returning the
local church to a condition in which it is once again able to govern its own affairs.

2.6.4.

2.6.5 Whenever and insofar as possible, intervention shall proceed in consultation with the Church
Board of the member church, recognizing that it is always preferable for any such intervention to
occur at the request of the local leadership.

2.6.5.

2.6.6 In keeping with the principles of natural and biblical justice and due process, any such
intervention by the EMCC shall be communicated in a clear and timely way together with
appropriate supporting documentation. The course of the intervention shall utilize the least
disruptive or intrusive  options possible.

2.6.6.

2.6.7 Remedies or actions available to EMCC on such intervention in respect of a member church shall
without limitation include the following:

1.

2.6.7.1 The church may be admonished or reprimanded;

2.

2.6.7.2 The church may have its vote(s) as a Corporate Member suspended for a time, or it may be
expelled from EMCC membership by action of EMCC’s Board;

3.

2.6.7.3 Upon recommendation of the EMCC Board of Directors, the church may be dissolved, either
by action of a meeting of the members of that member church where it is adequately
functional to be able to do so, or otherwise by EMCC by action taken at a meeting of EMCC
members.

4.

2.6.7.4 At the discretion of the EMCC Board of Directors the local church may be asked to reaffirm,
by official action, the commitments made in the Covenant Agreement.
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GOV – 2.7. LOCAL CHURCH PROPERTY

2.7.1. TITLE

2.7 Local Church Property

2.7.1 Title -Each local congregation shall beneficially own and hold title to all real and personal
property over which it exercises direct control and governance.  All property of a local
congregation which may be held for the time being in the name of EMCC shall be held in trust
only, and shall  be transferred to the local  church upon its satisfactory incorporation or other
organizational provision (such as by trustees) in accordance with the laws of the Province in
which it is situated.  No property owned by any local church shall be charged with or encumbered
by the debts and  liabilities of the EMCC.

2.7.2. DISCONTINUANCE OF A LOCAL CHURCH WITH PROPERTY

2.7.2 Discontinuance of a Local Church with Property - A  member congregation of the EMCC shall
have in its incorporation provisions or in its bylaw, a provision such as the following: "In the
event of dissolution or winding-up of the (name), all its remaining assets after payment of its
liabilities shall be distributed to the EMCC or its successor."

GOV – 2.8. PROCESS FOR DISSOLUTION OF A LOCAL CHURCH

2.8 Process for Dissolution of a Local Church

It is a disappointing circumstance when a local church comes to the place where dissolution is viewed as
the best course of action. However, there are times when this is the case. A member congregation
considering dissolution must:

2.8.1 notify the EMCC National Office of its consideration of dissolution at least 30 days prior to
any congregational meeting in which a motion to dissolve will be presented. Any motion to
dissolve before such notice is out of order;

2.8.2 provide at least 10 days written notice and 2 Sundays announcement of a congregational
meeting (in which a motion to dissolve shall be presented) to all members of the
congregation entitled to vote. The written notice and announcement shall state the time, place
and purpose of the meeting;

2.8.3 grant a vote to all members of the local church, present at the duly called meeting, who are
sixteen years of age or older and who have held membership for at least one year prior to the
meeting;

2.8.4 surrender organizational control to the EMCC if a motion to dissolve carries by a
seventy-five percent (75%) vote of those present;
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2.8.5 invite the EMCC to establish a transitional steering committee if the motion does not carry.

 

GOV – 2.9. PROCESS FOR MEMBERSHIP WITHDRAWAL BY A LOCAL CHURCH

2.9.1. 2.9 Process for Membership Withdrawal by a Local Church

It is desirable that people can, in good faith, walk together in the common cause of the Gospel.  History
tells us, however, that there are circumstances in which a local congregation deems that membership
withdrawal is the best course of action. The process in this Article 2.9 is established to:

1.2.9.1.1 establish good faith attempts at reconciliation and understanding;

2.

2.9.1.2 ensure, to  the satisfaction  of the EMCC, that a congregational vote to  withdraw is truly 
representative of the stakeholders in the local congregation;

3.

2.9.1.3 clarify and discharge all outstanding obligations to the EMCC; and

4.

2.9.1.4 seek to maintain a relationship of good grace that neither brings reproach upon the name of
Christ nor hinders the fulfillment of the mission of the EMCC or of the local congregation.

2.9.2.

2.9.2 A congregation may withdraw  from membership in the EMCC  in the following manner: 

2.9.2.1 congregational leaders intending to bring a motion to withdraw before the local congregation
must give  the EMCC President written notice at least 90 days before the meeting at which
such motion will be made;

2.9.2.2 at least 10 days advance written notice of such a meeting shall be given to all members of the
congregation entitled to vote.  In addition to written notice, announcement shall be made on
two (2) Sundays immediately prior to the congregational meeting at which the question of
withdrawal will be considered. The announcement shall state the time, place and purpose of
the meeting;

2.9.2.3 voting for the purpose of withdrawal will be restricted to members of the local church who
are at least sixteen years of age and who have held membership for at least one year prior to
the meeting;

2.9.2.4 a seventy-five percent (75%) majority in support of the motion to withdraw is required to
continue the process of withdrawal;
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2.9.2.5 notification of the result of the vote shall be delivered to the EMCC National Office;

2.9.2.6 the EMCC President shall assign persons to partner with the local church either to negotiate
the terms of withdrawal (if the vote did receive the seventy-five percent majority) or to seek
resolution of the issues that  led to the motion to withdraw (if the vote did  not receive the
seventy-five percent majority);

2.9.2.7 the negotiated terms of withdrawal must be approved by the EMCC Board of Directors at
their regular meeting, and then shall be communicated by the local church to its members;

2.9.2.8 following such publication of the terms of withdrawal, the local congregation must confirm
its motion to withdraw by by a seventy-five percent (75%) majority, in a duly called meeting;

2.9.2.9 any outstanding financial obligations shall be settled.  If necessary, the parties shall agree to
binding mediation and arbitration as set out in these Articles of Governance.

GOV– 3. EMCC NATIONAL POLICY

EMCC National Policy is policy of sufficient importance on a transcongregational basis to make
available to the entire constituency, which may be adopted as such from time to time by the Board of
Directors of EMCC.   Any such policy must not contravene the EMCC Bylaw, including its Articles of
Faith and Practice and its Articles of Governance.  If a vote is petitioned by 25% of the voting Members
at Assembly, an identified National Policy or Policies may be rescinded by a majority vote of the
membership at such meeting.

GOV – 4. MINISTERS 

GOV – 4.1. FOUNDATIONS

4.1.1. 3 MINISTERS

3.1 Foundations

3.1.1 Ministers are persons called of God to serve the church in an official leadership capacity.
Scripture clearly indicates (I Timothy, Titus) that there are standards against which Christian
leaders are measured and held accountable. To ensure a person's qualifications and credibility for
service, the EMCC engages in the formal credentialing of those called to serve.

4.1.2.

3.1.2 Both Biblical teaching and Christian tradition recognize the importance of those “set apart” for
the Gospel work of leadership in the Church of Christ. While history chronicles that there was a
long period in which the Church overlooked the fact that all followers of Jesus are “ministers,”

General Assembly 2017 133



-16- Articles of Governance

we in our day must be careful  that we do not overlook the fact that God calls and gifts (sets
apart) individuals for Gospel work as leaders.

4.1.3.  

3.1.3 We understand that the “setting apart” of individuals is God’s prerogative but the believing
community has been given the responsibility of examining individuals to ensure that they have
been “appointed” or “set apart” or “ordained” to a particular Christian Ministry. In short, the
biblical teaching of the “priesthood of all believers” and the gifting for service of all followers of
Jesus does not contradict the importance of recognizing  the biblical teaching  concerning 
leaders. The biblical terms of “pastor” (shepherd), “presbyter” (elder), and “bishop” (overseer),
as well as “deacon” (servant, minister), or  “leaders” generally, and other terms, such as apostle,
prophet, evangelist, teacher illustrate the richness of the terminology in the early church. 

3.1.3.1 4.1.3.1   Leadership gifts revolve around two focal points “leading” and “ministry of the
Word.” Some of the leaders were primarily local  while others were transcongregational.  The
granting of denominational  credentials constitutes recognition of this transcongregational
gifting by God.

3.1.3.2 4.1.3.2.  While it is our view that it is God alone who sets apart, we recognize that the
believing community has the responsibility of determining whether a particular individual has
been so set apart. The “credentialing process” serves as a means for the believing community
to confirm an individual’s personal conviction of God’s call to leadership ministry and the
granting by EMCC of “credentials” pursuant to that process serves as a standard of
recognition across the whole EMCC community.

GOV – 4.2. GENERAL PRINCIPLES ON CREDENTIALING

3.2 General Principles on Credentialing

Church leaders who wish to hold the teaching and preaching office shall be examined and credentialed
according to standards that assure agreement with the EMCC Articles of Faith and Practice, and
evidence of Christian maturity, gifting and  call. Only one EMCC credential shall be held by an EMCC
minister. It is our understanding that:

3.2.1 a local church has the right to select its own pastoral leaders, respecting the right of the
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EMCC to exercise its responsibility to oversee the credentialing process;

3.2.2 the EMCC has a right to credential pastoral leaders of EMCC churches;

3.2.3 our leaders who hold the teaching and preaching office (pastors and the like) shall be
examined and  credentialed according to standards that assure unity and compatibility with
the EMCC Articles of Faith and Practice, and giftedness and call to their office;

3.2.4 the calling by a congregation of pastoral staff shall be subject to credentialing;

3.2.5 all leadership ministry staff (engaged in teaching or public leadership) are accountable to the
same standards of ministerial conduct, whether or not they hold EMCC credentials;

3.2.6 a member in good standing of a local congregation may be a minister credentialed by EMCC,
although he or she  may have ministry in other groups or countries;

3.2.7 the exercise of discipline of a minister shall be the responsibility of the local leaders in
concert with the credential  granting body of the EMCC;

3.2.8 if a minister has had his or her credentials suspended the minister is also automatically
suspended from his or her duties in a member church or any other duties which would
normally be performed as a credential holder;

3.2.9 if a minister has had his or her credentials removed the minister is also terminated from his or
her duties in a member church and from any other duties which would normally be performed
as a credential holder.

GOV – 4.3. MINISTERIAL COVENANT AGREEMENT

4.3.1. 3.3 Ministerial Covenant Agreement

3.3.1 Maintaining credentials in the EMCC requires and implies compliance with the Articles of Faith
and Practice, Bylaw, and Articles of Governance of the EMCC. Compliance includes submission
to the discipline laid out therein. Ministers are required to sign a Ministerial Covenant
Agreement with the EMCC on entering a ministerial relationship with the EMCC. The substance
of this agreement consists of the declaration of the minister to adhere to the Bylaw of the EMCC
and to advance the purpose, promote the values and support the ministries of the EMCC and to
maintain the moral and ethical standards of a Christian minister. This covenant agreement shall
be  signed annually as part of the  requirement for maintaining credentials.

4.3.2.

3.3.2 It is a recognized fact among us that greater accomplishments can be achieved for the kingdom of
God by combining our efforts in a cooperative fellowship for the outreach of the gospel at home
and abroad. In the interests of furthering the work of the Church under our great  Head the Lord
Jesus Christ,  it  is incumbent upon us that we work together in mutual cooperation and harmony
making common cause for Christ. It is, therefore, right for credential holders to covenant with the
people, churches and leadership of the Evangelical  Missionary Church of Canada (EMCC).  The
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following constitutes the content  of the minister’s covenant agreement:

3.3.2.1 I  understand that my signature indicates my commitment to enter into a Covenant with the
people, churches and leadership that are corporately known as the Evangelical Missionary
Church  of Canada.

3.3.2.2 I understand that inasmuch as the credential granted makes me a representative of the EMCC
I covenant to advance the purpose, promote the values and support the ministries of the
EMCC to the best of my ability and to honour the commitments expressed in the EMCC
Bylaw.

3.3.2.3 I will endeavor to establish personal, spiritual disciplines that will foster and promote a deep,
intimate relationship with God, which is essential to effective service as a Christian believer, 
including prayer, Bible study, regular church attendance, and sharing my faith with others. 

3.3.2.4 I  understand I  am entering into an  accountability  relationship  with  the EMCC, wherein 
the officers of the EMCC act on behalf of the people and churches of the EMCC and I
covenant to be amenable to their counsel and direction.

3.3.2.5 I have read, understand and agree to comply with the provisions of the EMCC Bylaw
specifically the Articles of Faith and Practice and the standards and discipline of ministers.

3.3.2.6 I understand that the credential granted is at the continuing pleasure of EMCC, and can be
revoked for beliefs incompatible with or conduct unbecoming a minister of the EMCC.

3.3.2.7 I understand and subscribe to the theological perspectives and positions of the EMCC and am
committed to upholding these  principles in my preaching and teaching. I will not teach or
promote personal biases or interpretations which are at variance with clearly delineated
EMCC doctrine and practice. If I come to hold things at variance I agree to immediately
communicate with the EMCC in writing.

3.3.2.8 I understand that as a Christian minister I am called to a life of exemplary speech and
conduct. I  understand that the following unbecoming conduct (not an all-inclusive list) is
incompatible with Christian standards and is just cause for disciplinary action up to and
including dismissal from service and revocation of ministerial credentials:

breach of trust or confidence, theft, fraud, lying, criminal activity, marital unfaithfulness,
sexual intimacy or intercourse (either homosexual  or heterosexual) before or outside of
marriage (being the exclusive covenant union of one man  and one woman), sexual
harassment abuse or interference, substance abuse (including tobacco, alcohol or other
drugs), addictive behaviour including use of materials that devalue and debase  sexuality (e.g.
pornography), violent or abusive behaviour or speech.

3.3.2.9 I understand, in the event that my EMCC ministerial credential is revoked, that neither the
EMCC nor the local church is liable for any damages or loss that might occur as a result of
forfeiture of this credential.

3.3.2.10 I understand that in the event that disciplinary action is taken, such action shall be

136 Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada



-19- Articles of Governance

conducted in keeping  with  the principles of Biblical justice and  conduct and  in 
cooperation  with  the local EMCC congregation where I hold membership. I also
understand that my accepting this credential constitutes an implicit consent to submit to
the regular process of discipline of ministers.

3.3.2.11 I understand that signing the Minister’s Covenant affirms I have understood that
compliance with the standards and principles set out in this Covenant is a term and
condition of my credentials with the EMCC and of ministry in an EMCC congregation.

3.3.2.12 I covenant to conduct my life and ministry in such a way that Christ is honored and His
Kingdom is advanced.

GOV – 4.4. CREDENTIAL CATEGORIES

4.4.1.3.4 Credential Categories

3.4.1 ORDAINED MINISTER

Ordained Minister

Ordination is the validating action of the church in recognition of an individual’s calling, gifting, training
and personal suitability for ministry which has been proven under the review and support of the EMCC.
An ordained minister is a licensed minister affirmed in ministry by the EMCC. Ordination credentials
will remain in effect if the minister:

3.4.1.1 retains membership in good standing with a member or affiliate congregation of the EMCC,

3.4.1.2 remains active in a ministry recognized by the EMCC,

3.4.1.3 reports annually through written report to the National Office, and

3.4.1.4 Either (a) signs the Ministerial Covenant Agreement annually, or (b) has been ordained by, or
received as an ordained minister by, the EMCC, is recognized as having  retired from service,
and continues in good standing within the EMCC.

Should a minister leave a designated position and enter a field outside the categories of ministry
recognized by the EMCC, the National Office shall make a recommendation to the Board of Directors
concerning the credentials of the said minister. 

Other policies as are necessary may be approved by the Board of Directors and added to the National
Policy.

4.4.2. LICENSED MINISTER
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3.4.2 Licensed Minister

A licensed minister is a person who is examined, approved and appointed to ministry in the EMCC.
Licensing will remain in effect only as long as the person:

3.4.2.1 retains membership in good standing in a member or affiliate congregation of the EMCC,

3.4.2.2 remains active in a ministry recognized by the EMCC, 

3.4.2.3 reports annually through written report to the National Office, and

3.4.2.4 signs the Ministerial Covenant Agreement annually.

Other policies as are necessary may be approved by the Board of Directors and added to the National
Policy.

4.4.3. CANDIDATE

3.4.3 Candidate

A candidate for ministry is a person who is examined and approved as described for a Licensed Minister
above, for potential appointment to ministry within the EMCC, and is available for such appointment,
but who at the time of such approval does not have a recognized ministry assignment.  Candidate status
will remain in effect only as long as the person:

3.4.3.1 retains active membership in good standing with a member or affiliate church in the EMCC,

3.4.3.2 continues to be actively seeking appointment to ministry within the EMCC,

3.4.3.3 reports annually through written report to the National Office, and

3.4.3.4 signs the Ministerial Covenant Agreement annually.

When a candidate is unable to secure a recognized appointment within two years of the issuance of the
credentials, the candidacy shall expire.

Other policies as are necessary may be approved by the Board of Directors and added to the National
Policy.

4.4.4. CERTIFIED MINISTRY WORKER

3.4.4 Certified Ministry Worker

Certification of a Ministry Worker is a special limited credential intended for a person in one of three
categories:

3.4.4.1 a person who is not now licensed or ordained, but who will be employed in some specific
pastoral or ministry role by an EMCC Congregation or by a denominational ministry  of

138 Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada



-21- Articles of Governance

EMCC for which  credentialing is deemed advisable by both the local and denominational
leadership. It is expected that a Certified Minister will be supervised by a Licensed or
Ordained Minister and only in exceptional situations shall a Certified Minister serve as the
sole or senior pastor of a charge and only for a specified time, under the direct supervision of
a regularly credentialed minister as designated by the National Office;

3.4.4.2 a person who is a member in good standing of an EMCC congregation, and who is employed
by an educational, medical, residential, personal care, or other such institution in a  Christian
ministry capacity or who is a  missionary in a  recognized ministry for whom this credential is
deemed advisable by the leadership of both the local congregation and the denominational
leadership;

3.4.4.3 a  person who is engaged in a  ministry in a  local congregation where  the  individual is on a 
development path  of study  and  service in  preparation  for regular licensing, and  who  is
strongly  recommended and endorsed on a continuing basis by the local congregation.

This credential intends to maintain the same standards of character and conduct as required for licensing
and ordination but where the preparation in Bible and Theology is at a lower level. This credential is tied 
directly to the particular recognized ministry assignment and is not portable.

Other policies as are necessary may be approved by the Board of Directors and added to the National
Policy.

4.4.5. MISSIONARY CREDENTIAL AND RECOGNITION

4.4.5.1. MISSIONARY CREDENTIAL

4.4.5.1.1. 3.4.5 Missionary Credential and Recognition

3.4.5.1 Missionary Credential

A credentialed missionary is a person who is not otherwise credentialed and is examined, approved and
appointed to ministry under direct supervision of EMCC or an EMCC Partner Agency. The missionary
credential will remain in effect only as long as the person:

1.3.4.5.1.1 retains membership in good standing in a member or affiliate
congregation of the EMCC;

2.

3.4.5.1.2 remains active in a ministry assignment with EMCC;   

3.

3.4.5.1.3 completes an annual report; and,

4.

3.4.5.1.4 signs the Minister’s Covenant Agreement annually.
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4.4.5.1.2.

3.4.5.1.5 A credentialed missionary who retires in good standing and remains in good standing within
the EMCC shall be listed among the credentialed missionaries (retired).

3.4.5.2 4.4.5.2 MISSIONARY RECOGNITION

Missionary Recognition

A recognized missionary (ministry worker) is a person who is serving with a recognized mission agency
or organization  and  who  is not supervised  by  EMCC. This person  may  apply  to  EMCC for this
recognition. Upon approval the recognition will remain in effect as long as the person:

3.4.5.2.1 retains membership in good standing in a member or affiliate congregation of the EMCC;

3.4.5.2.2 has the continuing endorsement of the EMCC congregation where membership is held

3.4.5.2.3 remains active in ministry and remains in good standing with that agency;

3.4.5.2.4 subscribes to EMCC Bylaw and the Articles of Faith and Practice.

3.4.5.2.5 reports annually through written report to the National Office

3.4.5.2.6 pays the annual fee set by EMCC.

4.4.6. OTHER DESIGNATIONS3.4.6 Other Designations - It is the prerogative of the Board of
the Directors with the recommendation of the President
from time to  time to particularly recognize those
distinguished ministers whose specialization is commended
for exercise within the larger church as a
“minister-at-large.”

GOV – 4.5. TRANSFERS BETWEEN FRATERNAL GROUPS AND LIKE
DENOMINATIONS

3.5 Transfers Between Fraternal Groups and like Denominations

In recognition of fraternal relationships with the Evangelical Church USA and the Missionary Church
USA, the credentials of a minister shall be recognized if they are accompanied by a letter of
recommendation stating clearly that the recommendation is without reservation, and with the further
proviso that the minister will avail himself/herself of such courses and the like that will enhance his/her
appreciation and understanding of the  history and mission of the EMCC. Bilateral agreements  on
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credentials may also from time  to time  be  signed with like  denominations with the  consent of the 
President and the approval of the Board of Directors.

GOV – 4.6. APPLICANTS FROM OUTSIDE THE3.6 Applicants from Outside the EMCC

Applicants from outside the EMCC may  have their credentials recognized  following  the appropriate
review of their  application, references and history of service. Policies governing the processing of
applicants for approval of ministerial credentials shall be detailed in the EMCC National Policy.

GOV– 4.7. RESTRICTIONS ON CREDENTIALING

4.7.1. IN THE CASE OF THE SEPARATION OF MINISTER AND SPOUSE

3.7 Restrictions on Credentialing

3.7.1 In the Case of the Separation of Minister and Spouse

In the event that a credential holder becomes separated from his/her spouse the minister and the local
church (or responsible party of the mission or ministry concerned) shall report the matter immediately to
the EMCC National Office. The circumstances shall be examined without delay.  In cooperation with the
local  or ministry leadership, the National Office shall decide on the best course of action.  Every
reasonable attempt shall be made to help the ministerial couple to effect a redemptive solution. In the
event that it is judged that the minister should be placed on leave of absence the local church leadership
shall do all within its power to facilitate the leave. Where the evidence dictates the propriety of the
minister resigning, the local or ministry leadership is encouraged to consider factors of legal
requirement, and the ability to apply generosity. Where the case is judged to require it, the process of
ministerial discipline will be applied.1

1 I Tim. 3:2,4,5, 4:12, Titus 1:7

4.7.2.3.7.2 IN THE CASE OF DIVORCED PERSONS

n the Case of Divorced Persons

3.7.2.1 4.7.2.1. It is the usual policy of the EMCC not to credential persons who have been
divorced or married to a person who has been divorced.  At the sole discretion of the EMCC
(as expressed through the decisions of the President or the Board or both), however, an
applicant  may be considered for credentials where there may be extenuating circumstances,
as those are described below.  In that event, the applicant’s case will be first adjudicated by
an ethics committee and if the ruling of the ethics committee is favourable, AND the ruling is
approved by a 75% vote of the Board of Directors, the applicant may proceed to the regular

General Assembly 2017 141



-24- Articles of Governance

credentialing process.

3.7.2.2 4.7.2.2. It is further the policy of the EMCC to review the credentials of a credentialed
minister who, subsequent to credentialing, is divorced or who marries a divorced person.
Upon occurrence (or the inevitable imminence) of such an event, the credentialed minister
shall immediately surrender his/her credentials and cease ministry. The matter shall then be
investigated by an ethics committee and a recommendation brought to the Board of Directors
without delay to either confirm the revocation of credentials, or to reinstate the credentials.  A
recommendation to reinstate must be approved by a 75% majority vote of the Board of
Directors before it can become effective.

3.7.2.3 4.7.2.3. Extenuating circumstances are cases where it can be ascertained with reasonable
certainty that there has been infidelity or abandonment by the spouse of the credentialed
person, or where the divorce occurred prior to conversion of the credentialed person.  Any
recommendation to grant or reinstate credentials in such event shall be entirely contingent 
upon clear and sufficient evidence of personal integrity and marital stability of the
credentialed person, as determined at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors, requiring a
75% majority vote as referred to above.

GOV – 4.8. AGREEMENT OF MINISTERS TO SUBMIT TO THE PROCESS OF
CHURCH DISCIPLINE

3.8 Agreement of Ministers to Submit to the Process of Church Discipline

An EMCC credential implies agreement to submit to discipline as expressed in these articles. Such
agreement includes the right to appeal a disciplinary decision using the Mediation and Arbitration
Procedure of these articles.  Notwithstanding anything else contained herein, a ministerial credential is
given upon the strict condition that disciplinary proceedings and the results thereof, and of any other
proceedings or matters carried out in accordance with the EMCC bylaw, Articles of Faith and Practice,
and Articles of Governance, shall not give a minister cause for any legal action against the EMCC, or
any staff member, director or officer of the EMCC, and the acceptance of credentials shall constitute
conclusive and absolute evidence of a waiver by the minister of all rights of action, causes of action, and
all claims and demands against the aforementioned.

GOV – 5. 4 REGIONAL MINISTERS
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The EMCC will be served by regional ministers appointed on the basis of the following principles:

4.1 Regional ministers are appointed by the President after consultation with the constituency.

4.2 A minimum of three regional ministers (or the full-time equivalent thereof) shall be
appointed. 

4.3 Regional ministers are responsible to the President and serve as coaches and resource brokers
to pastors and congregations. They shall promote denominational understanding and support
for its mission.

GOV – 6. 5 DISCIPLINE

GOV – 6.1. PURPOSE OF DISCIPLINE

5.1 Purpose of Discipline

All members in the church are expected to conduct their lives according to the standards set forth in
Scripture. In the redemptive purposes of God, the church is commanded to discipline its members when
they continue in open and habitual sin1. The desired result of such discipline is to bring restoration. 
Church discipline has multiple purposes including the following2:

1. 5.1.1 encouraging sinning members to repent, thus restoring them to fellowship with Christ and
the church;

2.

5.1.2 warning other members against such sin;

3.

5.1.3 upholding and maintaining the moral purity and blameless testimony of the church.

1 Matt. 18:15-18; I Cor. 5:1-13 . 2II Cor. 2:6-11; I Tim. 4:19-20.

GOV – 6.2. DISCIPLINE OF MINISTERS

6.2.1. PREAMBLE

5.2 Discipline of Ministers

5.2.1 Preamble

Those who hold positions of ministerial leadership in the church are held to an even stricter
accountability1. Such conduct includes moral purity, personal honesty, and biblical fidelity2. Ministers
are to be consistent examples of authentic Christianity as they seek to emulate the character of Christ
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through the power of the Holy Spirit3. Furthermore, they shall promote the unity of the church rather
than seeking to divide it. The entire process of discipline shall be carried out and enforced in a spirit of
Christian love, care, and sensitivity4.

1I Tim. 3:1-7.  2II Tim. 3:14-17.  3Gal. 5:22-23.  4Eph. 4:3; Gal. 6:1.

6.2.2. CAUSES OF MINISTERIAL DISCIPLINARY ACTION

5.2.2 Causes of Ministerial Disciplinary Action

Violation of principles as stated in the EMCC Bylaw (including appendices) give just cause for
disciplinary action by the Board of Directors. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, such
causes for action may be:

1.5.2.2.1 any moral failure including but not limited to breach of trust or confidence, theft, fraud,
lying, criminal activity, marital unfaithfulness, sexual intimacy or intercourse before or
outside of marriage either homosexual or heterosexual, sexual harassment abuse or
interference, substance abuse (including tobacco, alcohol or other drugs), addictive
behaviour including use of materials that devalue and debase sexuality (e.g.
pornography), violent or abusive behaviour or speech;

2.

5.2.2.2 the propagation of doctrines and practices contrary to those set forth in the Articles of Faith
and Practice of the EMCC;

3.

5.2.2.3 a contentious, authoritarian or non-cooperative spirit;

4.

5.2.2.4 any conduct generally unbecoming a minister of the gospel. 

6.2.3. PROCESS OF DISCIPLINE 

5.2.3 Process of Discipline

5.2.3.1 6.2.3.1. GENERAL

1. General

5.2.3.1.1 Formal church discipline is to be regarded as an expedient of last resort. Only after every
reasonable effort has been made to correct any wrong and adjust any existing difficulty
should steps be taken to initiate disciplinary action;

2.

5.2.3.1.2 The teaching of the Scriptures shall inform the process. No accusation shall be entertained
against a minister unless it is brought by two or three witnesses1. Should any minister depart
from the standard of Scripture and engage in conduct which conflicts with biblical principles
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of holiness, the steps of discipline outlined in Scripture shall be followed2.

1 I Tim. 5:19. 2 Mt. 18:16-18; I Cor. 5:1-13; Titus 3:10;

3. 5.2.3.1.3 Reports or complaints shall be investigated where there is judged to be sufficient
credibility to these reports or complaints, and the matter is judged to fall within
the letter and spirit of these articles;

4.

5.2.3.1.4 The office of the president shall have jurisdiction and shall deal with the case consistent with
the principles of Scripture and natural justice.

5.2.3.2 6.2.3.2. GUIDELINE FOR DISCIPLINE 

Guideline for Discipline

The following shall be used as a guideline to the steps to be followed for the disciplinary procedure:

1. 5.2.3.2.1 A preliminary investigation to determine the source and validity of the
accusations, allegations or communicated problem;

2.

5.2.3.2.2 Where there are injured parties, the respective local church (or other agency) shall be
encouraged to take such steps as are right and possible to help these parties;

3.

5.2.3.2.3 In the event sufficient grounds are established by such initial investigation, a fuller
investigation by an appointed committee shall follow:

5.2.3.2.3.1 (1) interview with complainants. The persons involved shall be interviewed to
ascertain the facts in the case and the reasons underlying the persistence of the reports or
complaints;

5.2.3.2.3.2 (2) interview with accused minister. The accused minister shall be given an
opportunity to be interviewed to discuss the complaints received in the hope that the
matter can be resolved;

5.2.3.2.3.3 (3) signed complaints. In the event the investigation so warrants, a signed complaint
shall be filed with the EMCC National Office by each complainant describing the alleged
offence;
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5.2.3.2.3.4 (4) conditions for ministry during investigation.   Continuance of ministry may be
subject to restrictions or conditions during the time of investigation at the discretion of
the EMCC, on the basis of evidence at hand and the nature of the alleged offence. In
some cases credentials will be suspended immediately pending final outcome. Such
conditions are subject to review in 3-month intervals until the investigation has been
completed and determination made, either clearing the person of the allegations, or
finding the presence of serious offensive conduct. The leadership of the local church or
other agency shall be consulted in the process;

4.

5.2.3.2.4 In the event that the minister confesses to conduct that is clearly inconsistent with the holding
of a ministerial credential, the minister shall sign a statement of admission and sign an
agreement to come under discipline. The minister shall immediately surrender ministerial
credentials and minister’s card pending the outcome of the process;

5.

5.2.3.2.5 In the event that there is no confession, and if after due investigation it is determined that
serious offensive conduct occurred, the investigative committee shall file its report with the
EMCC National Office. The person against whom such determination has been made shall be
informed in writing by certified mail, at the last address furnished to EMCC, or the like. In
some cases credentials will be suspended immediately pending final outcome;

6.

5.2.3.2.6 In the event that the case cannot be dealt with privately to the satisfaction of all concerned the
minister shall be required to appear at a hearing in the hope the matter can be resolved. The
hearing tribunal shall be composed of three or more seasoned ministers or qualified lay
persons. The tribunal shall review the statements given, interview members of the
investigative team and hear from the accused. The individual shall be entitled to attend the
hearing and to speak on his or her own behalf. Neither the individual nor the tribunal, nor any
other party present may be represented by legal counsel. The accused may bring a fellow
EMCC minister for support. The tribunal in its sole discretion shall decide who may be
present at the hearing in whole or in part. If the accused minister does not appear at the
hearing, the accused member may be subject to further discipline for failure to appear at the
hearing. The tribunal shall deliver its decision in writing within fourteen days. This decision
shall be communicated in writing to the accused minister;

7.

5.2.3.2.7 Decision: The nature and length of the discipline shall consider the following factors: (a) the
seriousness of the case, (b) the manner and thoroughness of repentance, (c) the attitude of the
offending minister toward the discipline, and (d) the willingness to cooperate manifested.

GOV – 6.2.4. RESTORATION AND REINSTATEMENT TO MINISTRY
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5.2.4 Restoration and Reinstatement to Ministry

The EMCC recognizes the Biblical principle of justice tempered by mercy, and believes that the
redemptive purposes of God tend toward restoration. The primary purpose is to restore a person to God,
spouse and family. Where possible, reinstatement may follow. Reinstatement is a privilege granted out
of mercy and not a right to be expected or demanded. Granting reinstatement shall be at the sole
discretion of the EMCC following a process of rehabilitation.

GOV – 7. 6 MEDIATION AND ARBITRATION

GOV – 7.1. PREAMBLE

6.1 Preamble

It is our understanding that unresolved disputes and divisions amongst followers of Christ bring
disrepute and dishonour to the name and the cause of Christ. The EMCC recognizes both the duty and
the privilege  to live according to the injunctions of the Lord Jesus Christ. It is therefore incumbent upon
believers,  churches, and any other agency or party of the EMCC to seek reconciliation and resolution of
a dispute in keeping with Matthew 18:16. If a party considers that a matter cannot be forgiven and
forgotten, thereby  effecting resolution in oneself, the  following steps will guide  the  process of seeking 
resolution  and  reconciliation. The pattern of Mat 18:15-19 and the principle and spirit of Mat 5:23, 24
are commanded  and commended to us by our Lord. As such only those matters that cannot be resolved
in a more informal manner of Mediation may advance to Arbitration. In keeping with the teaching of 1
Corinthians 6: 1-6, it is also our desire and intent to honour the Lord by submitting disputes to the
judgment of Christian “judges.” It is our intent not to seek remedy for such matters in the courts of the
land, but rather where necessary, to achieve resolution through the process of mediation and arbitration
described in this Article, and commitment to the  covenant relationship shall include  commitment to
that process where  it is necessary to achieve resolution.

No matter of faith or practice of the EMCC shall be made the subject of any proceeding in the Courts by
any member of a Church nor any individual member of the EMCC.

GOV 7.2. DEFINITIONS

7.2.1. 6.2 Definitions

6.2.1 “Mediation” shall mean the process between the parties where the parties attempt to resolve
disharmony  or differences through personal meetings or by involving others to assist in
mediating a reconciliation  between the parties.

7.2.2.

6.2.2 “Arbitration” shall mean the process  between the parties  where the parties  agree to be bound or
are required by their adherence to the Bylaws of the EMCC to be bound by the decision of an
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Arbitrator or  Arbitrators acting in accordance with the defined process.

GOV 7.3. STEPS

7.3.1.

6.3 Steps

6.3.1 INFORMAL PROCESS

Informal Process

The following steps shall be taken before institution of either formal mediation or arbitration:

6.3.1.1 The Parties shall first proceed through an informal process by seeking a direct meeting to
resolve the matter so as to effect a reconciliation. Either party may initiate the contact,
preferably by defining the cause of disharmony in writing and giving an invitation to meet.

6.3.1.2 Where the opposite party declines the opportunity to meet directly, or where, in the judgment
of either party, the result of such a direct meeting is unsatisfactory, either party may involve
two or more respected “witnesses” in accordance with the Biblical directive, such persons to
act in this regard essentially as intermediaries, meeting and communicating with the same
purpose of achieving resolution and reconciliation through Mediation between the parties.

7.3.2. MEDIATION

6.3.2 Mediation

When the matter is not resolved by the informal process above, a process of formal mediation may be
initiated according to the following procedure:

6.3.2.1 The conditions of this process of Mediation are to be reviewed and agreed to by both parties.
Both parties are to read and sign that they have understood and read the provisions and the
waiver. The lead  Mediator is responsible for the safekeeping of this agreement and waiver; 

6.3.2.2 The matter shall be submitted to a panel of Christian mediators whereby each party appoints
a mediator and the two mediators so appointed jointly approve a third mediator. In the event
that a third mediator cannot be agreed upon, the EMCC shall present two names to the two
mediators, and one of the two shall be chosen, unless both names are unacceptable to both
those mediators, in which event EMCC shall present two additional names, with no further
right to reject both those names.  If the two mediators are unable to agree on a choice
between the two names so presented, the choice shall be made by lot.

6.3.2.3 Where the dispute involves multiple parties and the desire is to enter into Mediation, the
multiple parties together shall select two mediators with the third selected by the two
mediators.

6.3.2.4 The number of mediators may be reduced from three to one or two upon the agreement of
both parties;
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6.3.2.5 The mediators so appointed shall then meet with the parties to take such interviews, gather
information and if possible negotiate a mutually acceptable resolution;

6.3.2.6 All costs of the mediators appointed in accordance with this section shall be borne equally by
both parties; and

6.3.2.7 Mediators shall in no case be held liable by the parties for any material, emotional or other
distress or hardship or damages that may result from the process or decisions of the
Mediation, provided that the mediators deliberated and acted in good faith.

7.3.3. ARBITRATION

6.3.3 Arbitration

When the matter is not resolved by the mediation process above, a formal process of arbitration may be
initiated upon written agreement of both of the parties to do so. All arbitrations undertaken hereunder
shall be conducted pursuant to the provisions of applicable arbitration legislation in the province of
residence of the complainants. Every effort shall be made to  agree on a single arbitrator to minimize the
costs of the arbitration. Decisions of an Arbitrator or Arbitrators are deemed to be final and binding upon
the parties and shall not be made the subject of any proceeding in the Courts except as may be permitted
by a Court for a failure of natural justice.

GOV 7.4.   WAIVER

6.4 Waiver

Notwithstanding anything else contained herein, membership in an EMCC church and membership of a
church in the  EMCC is given upon the  strict condition that disciplinary proceedings  and the results 
thereof and any other proceedings or matters carried out in accordance with the EMCC Bylaw (including
the Articles of Faith and Practice and these Articles of Governance) shall not give any person cause for
any legal action against the  EMCC, its directors, agents, officers or members, and membership or
adherence in an EMCC church or membership of a church in the EMCC shall constitute conclusive and
absolute evidence of a waiver by the member or adherent of a EMCC church or of the Member EMCC 
church of all rights of action, causes of action, and all claims and demands against the  EMCC, its
directors, agents, officers or any member or adherent of a church in relation to disciplinary proceedings
and the results thereof and any other such proceedings or matters, and this provision may be pleaded as a 
complete estoppel (i.e., the prevention of an action in court) in the event that such action is commenced.

H:\22\22660\APPENDIX #2 Governance5.wpd

General Assembly 2017 149



APPENDIX #2:
EMCC ARTICLES OF GOVERNANCE

(A Part of EMCC Bylaw #1)

1 RELATIONSHIPS

1.1 Relationship of EMCC to Local Churches

1.1.1 It is the theological conviction of the EMCC that the local church is an entity called into being by
God. The local church is part of Christ’s Church visible in a dynamic missional network of
disciples, gathered communities (local churches), and other agencies and institutions through
which the presence of Christ is mediated to the watching world. Christ has given gifts to the
Church that unify and mobilize believers for mission that transcends and extends the bounds of
localized ministry (Eph 4:11; Acts 13:1-4; 1  Cor 12:28;). It is the Spirit of God that implants the
impulse of cooperation and connection and prompts churches of like faith to make common
cause for the Great Commission. It is also our conviction that the movement of churches now
known as the EMCC has been called into being by God and is bound by a common heritage and
a common mission.

1.1.2 A  “covenant agreement” in this document means a firm and binding commitment, “God being
our witness”, which includes a prior agreement not to enforce the agreement through Court or
judicial process other than, if necessary, to implement recourse to required engagement in, and
application of the dispute  resolution process and procedures set forth in Article 7 of these
Articles of Governance. A “covenant  relationship” in this document means the relationship
based on the “covenant agreement.”

1.1.3 A covenant relationship contains both privileges and responsibilities. It is this covenanting
together of churches that gives rise to the existence of the EMCC. Within this family of churches
the local church has the right to be self-governing in its own affairs and to participate fully,
accepting the responsibilities of the covenant  relationship  (see Article 2.2 hereof).
Notwithstanding any provision of this document, it is understood that “covenant relationship” is
not intended, nor shall it be interpreted, in such a way as to render one party legally liable for the
obligations or actions of the other; that is, one party cannot be held  responsible if the other party
fails to follow through on its commitments, for any such failure by that other  party.

1.2 Relationship of EMCC to Credentialed Ministers

Maintaining credentials in the EMCC requires and implies compliance with the Bylaw, Articles of Faith
and Practice and Articles of Governance. It also explicitly requires signing of the Minister’s Covenant
Agreement. Compliance includes submission to the discipline laid out in this Articles of Governance.
Church leaders who wish to hold the teaching and preaching office shall be examined and credentialed
according to standards that assure a unity in essentials, and evidence of Christian maturity, gifting and
call.

1.3 Relationship of EMCC to the EMCC President

1.3.1 Presidential Role - The President is the Spiritual Leader of the EMCC and its Chief
Executive Officer and spokesperson.
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1.3.2 Presidential Leadership

1.3.2.1 Spiritual

As Spiritual Leader of the EMCC, the President shall:

1.3.2.1.1 foster spiritual growth and commitment to the Scriptures and the doctrine of the EMCC;

1.3.2.1.2 provide for the pastoral care of EMCC pastors;

1.3.2.1.3 give spiritual leadership to all EMCC pastors, missionaries and churches.

1.3.2.2 General

As Chief Executive Officer for the EMCC, the President shall also:

1.3.2.2.1 represent the EMCC as its official spokesperson;

1.3.2.2.2 attend as a non-voting advisor at meetings of the Board of Directors, and shall be an
ex-officio member of all other EMCC boards, ministries and committees, attending such
meetings as he considers advisable;

1.3.2.2.3 provide day-to-day supervision of EMCC Office staff and give direction in administrative
matters;

1.3.2.2.4 seek to ensure provision of care for the congregational welfare of all local churches of the
EMCC, including consultation with, and instruction of, each of them;

1.3.2.2.5 serve as a member of the board of each denominational college, either personally or by
appointing a designate.

1.3.3 Election of President

In the event that:

1.3.3.1 an incumbent President:

1.3.3.1.1 resigns;

1.3.3.1.2 advises that he will not stand for re-election for another term;

1.3.3.1.3 becomes unable to continue as President (as determined by the Board), or

1.3.3.1.4 fails to achieve the 2/3 majority approval which is required to continue for a subsequent
term as President; or

1.3.3.2 the Board of Directors determines that it will not support the incumbent President for
re-election; or

1.3.3.3 a nominee candidate submitted for election as President by the Search Committee as
described below, fails to attain the necessary majority vote to be elected;

the following steps shall be followed:

1.3.3.4 the Board of Directors shall establish a Presidential Search Committee of at least five (5)
persons (of whom no more than two shall be members of the Board of Directors) and shall
make such further arrangements as may be necessary for the selection of a candidate to
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present  to the Membership.

1.3.3.5 the Presidential Search Committee shall:

1.3.3.5.1 solicit recommendations and suggestions from pastors, church boards and other EMCC
leaders;

1.3.3.5.2 seek applications if they deem it appropriate and desireable or the Board directs;

1.3.3.5.3 keep the Board informed as to the progress of their search;

1.3.3.5.4 present a single nominee, approved by the Board, with appropriate background
information, to the membership; and

1.3.3.6 the membership shall be asked to vote for or against the candidate, at either a General or a
Special Assembly, provided that the Board if it considers it appropriate may authorize such
vote to be taken at a General or Special Ordinary Meeting.

1.3.4 President’s Relationship to Local Churches

Member and affiliate churches of the EMCC shall recognize, welcome and honour the President as the
leading elder of the EMCC. The counsel of the President is to be given due consideration in matters
relating to the health and well-being of the local church, pastoral relations and the common life of the
EMCC. In exceptional circumstances the President may intervene in the affairs of the local church in
accordance with the provisions of section Article 2.6 hereof.

1.3.5 President’s Relationship to Credentialed Ministers

The President, elected as "first among equals", shall be recognized, welcomed and honoured as the
leader of the EMCC. The counsel of the President shall be given due consideration in matters relating to
the exercise of the pastoral office. Credentialed ministers exercise their ministry under the general
oversight and supervision of the office of the President.

1.4 Relationship of EMCC to Regional Ministers

The EMCC believes that the covenant relationships amongst  its pastors,  churches and people are
important to enhance and develop. For growing Gospel impact of the EMCC, the ministry personnel of
the EMCC Office are tasked with intentional networking, facilitating and resourcing. Regional Ministers
under the supervision of the President provide direct support to churches, pastors and other leaders.

1.5 Relationship of EMCC to RMC and EBC

As the founding denomination of Emmanuel Bible College and Rocky Mountain College, the EMCC
maintains an affiliation with both colleges.

1.6 Relationship of EMCC to EMCC World Partners

EMCC World Partners (EMCC WP) is a ministry of the EMCC, administered through the office of the
President, under the auspices of the Board of Directors. EMCC WP facilitates the EMCC in its missional
task by encouraging and facilitating ministry in cross-cultural and global contexts.

1.7 Incorporated Ministries

The EMCC Board of Directors may enter into bilateral agreements with other incorporated entities
consistent with its charitable purposes and objects.
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1.8 Relationship of EMCC with Auxiliary Organizations

Furtherance of the work of the EMCC is also achieved through Auxiliary organizations which are
approved as such by the Board of Directors and who report regularly to General Assembly and to the
Board of Directors.   Each such organization shall have voting representation at General Assembly by
appointment of a delegate as an Individual Member.

2 MEMBER CHURCHES

2.1 Definition

A Corporate Member, or “member church” or “member congregation”, is a local congregation which
has met the conditions of membership which are described in Article 2 of these Articles of Governance,
and which has been formally accepted by EMCC in writing as a Corporate Member.  Such a member
congregation is in a covenant relationship with the other churches and organizations that constitute the
EMCC.

2.2 Acceptance to Membership - Covenant Agreement

2.2.1 A  church that is requesting membership shall understand that an application by them for
membership is an application to enter into a covenant agreement. Subject to Article 2.2.3 hereof,
that covenant relationship between a local church and the  EMCC comes into force upon the
signatures of the authorized representatives of both parties to the membership affirmation
presented by EMCC on acceptance of that local church as a Corporate Member.  In addition to
the covenant agreement as understood in this document, the use of EMCC and related trademarks
is legally limited strictly to churches and agencies in good standing and recognized by the
EMCC.

2.2.2 In the membership affirmation, the local church shall subscribe in writing to the following
statement:

“We,  the duly  authorized  representatives of (name of local church), apply  to  become a
recognized member  of the Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada. It is our  intent to
participate in the life of this family of churches and to promote its values, advance its purpose
and  support its projects to the best of our ability. We declare our commitment to maintain
fellowship and aid other EMCC churches by making common cause in fulfilling the Great
Commission, the  Lord being Our Helper. We affirm the Articles of Faith and Practice of the
Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada and pledge to conduct the affairs of our local church
in accord with the Bylaw and the Articles of Governance. We affirm our commitment to being a
healthy, growing, Great Commission church that multiplies disciples, groups and  churches. We
understand  that this statement constitutes a good faith entry into a covenant agreement.”

2.2.3 Local congregations which were already a part of the EMCC as at May 4, 2005 are recognized as
already being in the covenant relationship  described herein.

2.3 Privileges

A member church has the privileges of membership in the family of the EMCC. These privileges
include:
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2.3.1 use of denominational names and trademarks;

2.3.2 the cooperation, guidance, stability, accountability and support of the EMCC organization;

2.3.3 access to trained, screened, supported and supervised ministers;

2.3.4 guidance in matters of pastoral relations;

2.3.5 the counsel, visits, encouragement and vision of the national staff;

2.3.6 participation in camping, youth or other ministries organized regionally or nationally;

2.3.7 financial resources such as loan funds and grants;

2.3.8 resources for church health, growth and multiplication;

2.3.9 multiple networking for mutual support and work; and

2.3.10 participation in a national and global Great Commission vision and program.

2.4 Responsibility

Member Churches are expected to participate in the common life of the churches of the EMCC, making
common cause  and uniting in a  desire  to share  the  gospel of Jesus Christ and to fulfill the Great
Commission. It is our understanding that the following expectations will be fulfilled in our family of
churches:

2.4.1 each local church shall strive to conduct its affairs in a way that it brings no harm or disrepute to
the  EMCC family of churches;

2.4.2 each local church shall administer its affairs in accordance with the Bylaw of the EMCC;

2.4.3 each local church is to recognize and cooperate with the duly appointed officers of the EMCC;

2.4.4 each local church shall do its best to reflect concern for global ministries through missions
support;

2.4.5 each local church shall carefully consider how best to invest in the  ministry of denominational
colleges;

2.4.6 each local church shall do its best to carry its part of the  shared ministry of the  EMCC
denominationally;

2.4.7 each local church shall send delegates to the meetings of members; and

2.4.8 each local church shall report annually to EMCC.

2.5 Local Organization

2.5.1 It is the understanding of the EMCC that:

2.5.1.1 a local EMCC church has the right to govern its own affairs and to select its own leaders;

2.5.1.2 each local church has the responsibility to conduct its own affairs in a way compatible with
the policy and governance of the EMCC and in the spirit of the covenant relationship;

2.5.1.3 a local EMCC church shall have an Operating Bylaw that does not contravene the EMCC
Bylaw;
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2.5.1.4 the affairs of a local church are governed by its governing board as authorized by the local
church  bylaw;

2.5.1.5 the ministry of the local church is the responsibility of all its members; and

2.5.1.6 the role of the pastor is one of servant leadership.

2.5.2 Minimal standards expected of a local church are:

2.5.2.1 Governing Board: The board is to administer the affairs of the local church in accordance
with its bylaw and to fulfill its fiduciary responsibilities including the matters pertaining to
finances and the  holding of assets;

2.5.2.2 Budgeting: Each local organization will have a procedure for the preparation, adoption and
control of the annual budget;

2.5.2.3 Accounting Records: A local organization will maintain records of the general ledger and
supporting journals, detailed records of pledges, investments, loans, yearly budget reports and
annual financial reports including record of annual audit or internal review;

2.5.2.4 Administrative Records: Each EMCC local organization will have securely maintained
records which include Board minutes,  personnel  files,  employment  records,  legal 
documents and all  financial  documents according to the Canada Customs and Revenue
Agency Records Retention Requirements;

2.5.2.5 Policies and Procedures: A local EMCC organization will  create,  implement  and publish
any necessary  policies and  procedures such  as job  descriptions, staff acquisition 
procedures, staff evaluations, risk management, discipline of members, etc;

2.5.2.6 Property and Facilities: All facilities will be maintained in accordance with local building and
fire codes. Adequate risk and liability insurance will be secured and periodically reviewed.
Adequate  security for the public will be provided;

2.5.2.7 Publicity and Development: Development efforts for every local EMCC organization  shall
demonstrate Biblical values, ethical standards, and responsibility to donors.  All initiatives
should  engender good public relations and confidence in both the local church and its
membership in EMCC;

2.5.2.8 Reporting: The local church shall do its best to provide to EMCC such reports as are needed
for the functioning of EMCC, including an annual update of the names and addresses of
church leaders, and of any persons who hold local church properties in trust. It is also
expected that a church will satisfy all its legal reporting obligations.

2.6 Intervention by EMCC in Local Church Affairs

2.6.1 It is our understanding that recognized representatives of the EMCC family of churches and
recognized leaders in EMCC churches can and may exercise their Christian duty to admonish,
exhort, and counsel leaders in matters that are bringing disrepute or disharmony to the EMCC
family or the cause of Christ generally.

2.6.2 A member church has a covenant obligation to conduct its affairs in a way that brings no
disrepute to the family of the EMCC and that promotes harmony among EMCC’s member
churches.

General Assembly 2017 155



-7- Articles of Governance

2.6.3 Based on the above, unless a member congregation has already (previous to commencement of
any such intervention) adopted and communicated to EMCC in writing an alternative formal
written process for resolution of such matters which expressly waives the provisions of this
article, each member church recognizes the right of EMCC, on behalf of the EMCC family of
churches, to intervene as described herein in circumstances in EMCC’s discretion warranting the
same, which shall include, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the following:

2.6.3.1 the local church  ceases to  function  as an  organized  EMCC local church or is no longer
able to maintain the organizational standards of a local EMCC church;

2.6.3.2 the local church is at risk of, or is contemplating, closure;

2.6.3.3 the local church, according to local governance policy, by a majority vote of members or its
board in a formal resolution, invites the intervention of the EMCC, specifying in the
invitation the specific cause or reasons for such invitation;

2.6.3.4 there are reasonable grounds to suppose that the financial affairs of the church are not in
order – in which case the EMCC may audit the financial records of that church and take such
steps as necessary to set things in order;

2.6.3.5 there is a moral or ethical problem which has not been resolved by ordinary means and where
the local leadership has been unable or unwilling to deal satisfactorily with these matters; 

2.6.3.6 there has been protracted divisive or disruptive teaching or conduct which is bringing
disharmony or disrepute to the EMCC family of churches;

2.6.3.7 there have been credible reports of teachings and/or practices which are incompatible with
the Articles of Faith and Practice and which have not been amenable to ordinary means of
correction and where the local leadership has been unable or unwilling to deal satisfactorily
with these matters; or

2.6.3.8 there have been formal allegations brought against a credentialed minister, made in writing
and endorsed by two signatures, filed with both the Church Board of the local church and
with the National Office of the EMCC – in which case the EMCC shall proceed, in keeping
with the provisions of these Bylaws governing the discipline of ministers, expecting and
receiving the full cooperation of the congregational leadership and of the congregation in
pursuing the investigation to its appropriate conclusion.

2.6.4 Any such intervention shall be an interim measure taken for the purpose of returning the local
church to a condition in which it is once again able to govern its own affairs.

2.6.5 Whenever and insofar as possible, intervention shall proceed in consultation with the Church
Board of the member church, recognizing that it is always preferable for any such intervention to
occur at the request of the local leadership.

2.6.6 In keeping with the principles of natural and biblical justice and due process, any such
intervention by the EMCC shall be communicated in a clear and timely way together with
appropriate supporting documentation. The course of the intervention shall utilize the least
disruptive or intrusive  options possible.

2.6.7 Remedies or actions available to EMCC on such intervention in respect of a member church shall
without limitation include the following:
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2.6.7.1 The church may be admonished or reprimanded;

2.6.7.2 The church may have its vote(s) as a Corporate Member suspended for a time, or it may be
expelled from EMCC membership by action of EMCC’s Board;

2.6.7.3 Upon recommendation of the EMCC Board of Directors, the church may be dissolved, either
by action of a meeting of the members of that member church where it is adequately
functional to be able to do so, or otherwise by EMCC by action taken at a meeting of EMCC
members.

2.6.7.4 At the discretion of the EMCC Board of Directors the local church may be asked to reaffirm,
by official action, the commitments made in the Covenant Agreement.

2.7 Local Church Property

2.7.1 Title -Each local congregation shall beneficially own and hold title to all real and personal
property over which it exercises direct control and governance.  All property of a local
congregation which may be held for the time being in the name of EMCC shall be held in trust
only, and shall  be transferred to the local  church upon its satisfactory incorporation or other
organizational provision (such as by trustees) in accordance with the laws of the Province in
which it is situated.  No property owned by any local church shall be charged with or encumbered
by the debts and  liabilities of the EMCC.

2.7.2 Discontinuance of a Local Church with Property - A  member congregation of the EMCC shall
have in its incorporation provisions or in its bylaw, a provision such as the following: "In the
event of dissolution or winding-up of the (name), all its remaining assets after payment of its
liabilities shall be distributed to the EMCC or its successor."

2.8 Process for Dissolution of a Local Church

It is a disappointing circumstance when a local church comes to the place where dissolution is viewed as
the best course of action. However, there are times when this is the case. A member congregation
considering dissolution must:

2.8.1 notify the EMCC National Office of its consideration of dissolution at least 30 days prior to any
congregational meeting in which a motion to dissolve will be presented. Any motion to dissolve
before such notice is out of order;

2.8.2 provide at least 10 days written notice and 2 Sundays announcement of a congregational meeting
(in which a motion to dissolve shall be presented) to all members of the congregation entitled to
vote. The written notice and announcement shall state the time, place and purpose of the
meeting;

2.8.3 grant a vote to all members of the local church, present at the duly called meeting, who are
sixteen years of age or older and who have held membership for at least one year prior to the
meeting;

2.8.4 surrender organizational control to the EMCC if a motion to dissolve carries by a seventy-five
percent (75%) vote of those present;

2.8.5 invite the EMCC to establish a transitional steering committee if the motion does not carry.
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2.9 Process for Membership Withdrawal by a Local Church

It is desirable that people can, in good faith, walk together in the common cause of the Gospel.  History
tells us, however, that there are circumstances in which a local congregation deems that membership
withdrawal is the best course of action. The process in this Article 2.9 is established to:

2.9.1.1 establish good faith attempts at reconciliation and understanding;

2.9.1.2 ensure, to  the satisfaction  of the EMCC, that a congregational vote to  withdraw is truly 
representative of the stakeholders in the local congregation;

2.9.1.3 clarify and discharge all outstanding obligations to the EMCC; and

2.9.1.4 seek to maintain a relationship of good grace that neither brings reproach upon the name of
Christ nor hinders the fulfillment of the mission of the EMCC or of the local congregation.

2.9.2 A congregation may withdraw  from membership in the EMCC  in the following manner: 

2.9.2.1 congregational leaders intending to bring a motion to withdraw before the local congregation
must give  the EMCC President written notice at least 90 days before the meeting at which
such motion will be made;

2.9.2.2 at least 10 days advance written notice of such a meeting shall be given to all members of the
congregation entitled to vote.  In addition to written notice, announcement shall be made on
two (2) Sundays immediately prior to the congregational meeting at which the question of
withdrawal will be considered. The announcement shall state the time, place and purpose of
the meeting;

2.9.2.3 voting for the purpose of withdrawal will be restricted to members of the local church who
are at least sixteen years of age and who have held membership for at least one year prior to
the meeting;

2.9.2.4 a seventy-five percent (75%) majority in support of the motion to withdraw is required to
continue the process of withdrawal;

2.9.2.5 notification of the result of the vote shall be delivered to the EMCC National Office;

2.9.2.6 the EMCC President shall assign persons to partner with the local church either to negotiate
the terms of withdrawal (if the vote did receive the seventy-five percent majority) or to seek
resolution of the issues that  led to the motion to withdraw (if the vote did  not receive the
seventy-five percent majority);

2.9.2.7 the negotiated terms of withdrawal must be approved by the EMCC Board of Directors at
their regular meeting, and then shall be communicated by the local church to its members;

2.9.2.8 following such publication of the terms of withdrawal, the local congregation must confirm
its motion to withdraw by by a seventy-five percent (75%) majority, in a duly called meeting;

2.9.2.9 any outstanding financial obligations shall be settled.  If necessary, the parties shall agree to
binding mediation and arbitration as set out in these Articles of Governance.
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3 MINISTERS

3.1 Foundations

3.1.1 Ministers are persons called of God to serve the church in an official leadership capacity.
Scripture clearly indicates (I Timothy, Titus) that there are standards against which Christian
leaders are measured and held accountable. To ensure a person's qualifications and credibility for
service, the EMCC engages in the formal credentialing of those called to serve.

3.1.2 Both Biblical teaching and Christian tradition recognize the importance of those “set apart” for
the Gospel work of leadership in the Church of Christ. While history chronicles that there was a
long period in which the Church overlooked the fact that all followers of Jesus are “ministers,”
we in our day must be careful  that we do not overlook the fact that God calls and gifts (sets
apart) individuals for Gospel work as leaders.

3.1.3 We understand that the “setting apart” of individuals is God’s prerogative but the believing
community has been given the responsibility of examining individuals to ensure that they have
been “appointed” or “set apart” or “ordained” to a particular Christian Ministry. In short, the
biblical teaching of the “priesthood of all believers” and the gifting for service of all followers of
Jesus does not contradict the importance of recognizing  the biblical teaching  concerning 
leaders. The biblical terms of “pastor” (shepherd), “presbyter” (elder), and “bishop” (overseer),
as well as “deacon” (servant, minister), or  “leaders” generally, and other terms, such as apostle,
prophet, evangelist, teacher illustrate the richness of the terminology in the early church.

3.1.3.1 Leadership gifts revolve around two focal points “leading” and “ministry of the Word.” Some
of the leaders were primarily local  while others were transcongregational.  The granting of
denominational  credentials constitutes recognition of this transcongregational gifting by
God.

3.1.3.2 While it is our view that it is God alone who sets apart, we recognize that the believing
community has the responsibility of determining whether a particular individual has been so
set apart. The “credentialing process” serves as a means for the believing community to
confirm an individual’s personal conviction of God’s call to leadership ministry and the
granting by EMCC of “credentials” pursuant to that process serves as a standard of
recognition across the whole EMCC community.

3.2 General Principles on Credentialing

Church leaders who wish to hold the teaching and preaching office shall be examined and credentialed
according to standards that assure agreement with the EMCC Articles of Faith and Practice, and
evidence of Christian maturity, gifting and  call. Only one EMCC credential shall be held by an EMCC
minister. It is our understanding that:

3.2.1 a local church has the right to select its own pastoral leaders, respecting the right of the EMCC to
exercise its responsibility to oversee the credentialing process;

3.2.2 the EMCC has a right to credential pastoral leaders of EMCC churches;

3.2.3 our leaders who hold the teaching and preaching office (pastors and the like) shall be examined
and  credentialed according to standards that assure unity and compatibility with the EMCC
Articles of Faith and Practice, and giftedness and call to their office;
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3.2.4 the calling by a congregation of pastoral staff shall be subject to credentialing;

3.2.5 all leadership ministry staff (engaged in teaching or public leadership) are accountable to the
same standards of ministerial conduct, whether or not they hold EMCC credentials;

3.2.6 a member in good standing of a local congregation may be a minister credentialed by EMCC,
although he or she  may have ministry in other groups or countries;

3.2.7 the exercise of discipline of a minister shall be the responsibility of the local leaders in concert
with the credential  granting body of the EMCC;

3.2.8 if a minister has had his or her credentials suspended the minister is also automatically suspended
from his or her duties in a member church or any other duties which would normally be
performed as a credential holder;

3.2.9 if a minister has had his or her credentials removed the minister is also terminated from his or her
duties in a member church and from any other duties which would normally be performed as a
credential holder.

3.3 Ministerial Covenant Agreement

3.3.1 Maintaining credentials in the EMCC requires and implies compliance with the Articles of Faith
and Practice, Bylaw, and Articles of Governance of the EMCC. Compliance includes submission
to the discipline laid out therein. Ministers are required to sign a Ministerial Covenant
Agreement with the EMCC on entering a ministerial relationship with the EMCC. The substance
of this agreement consists of the declaration of the minister to adhere to the Bylaw of the EMCC
and to advance the purpose, promote the values and support the ministries of the EMCC and to
maintain the moral and ethical standards of a Christian minister. This covenant agreement shall
be  signed annually as part of the  requirement for maintaining credentials.

3.3.2 It is a recognized fact among us that greater accomplishments can be achieved for the kingdom of
God by combining our efforts in a cooperative fellowship for the outreach of the gospel at home
and abroad. In the interests of furthering the work of the Church under our great  Head the Lord
Jesus Christ,  it  is incumbent upon us that we work together in mutual cooperation and harmony
making common cause for Christ. It is, therefore, right for credential holders to covenant with the
people, churches and leadership of the Evangelical  Missionary Church of Canada (EMCC).  The
following constitutes the content  of the minister’s covenant agreement:

3.3.2.1 I  understand that my signature indicates my commitment to enter into a Covenant with the
people, churches and leadership that are corporately known as the Evangelical Missionary
Church  of Canada.

3.3.2.2 I understand that inasmuch as the credential granted makes me a representative of the EMCC
I covenant to advance the purpose, promote the values and support the ministries of the
EMCC to the best of my ability and to honour the commitments expressed in the EMCC
Bylaw.

3.3.2.3 I will endeavor to establish personal, spiritual disciplines that will foster and promote a deep,
intimate relationship with God, which is essential to effective service as a Christian believer, 
including prayer, Bible study, regular church attendance, and sharing my faith with others. 

3.3.2.4 I  understand I  am entering into an  accountability  relationship  with  the EMCC, wherein 
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the officers of the EMCC act on behalf of the people and churches of the EMCC and I
covenant to be amenable to their counsel and direction.

3.3.2.5 I have read, understand and agree to comply with the provisions of the EMCC Bylaw
specifically the Articles of Faith and Practice and the standards and discipline of ministers.

3.3.2.6 I understand that the credential granted is at the continuing pleasure of EMCC, and can be
revoked for beliefs incompatible with or conduct unbecoming a minister of the EMCC.

3.3.2.7 I understand and subscribe to the theological perspectives and positions of the EMCC and am
committed to upholding these  principles in my preaching and teaching. I will not teach or
promote personal biases or interpretations which are at variance with clearly delineated
EMCC doctrine and practice. If I come to hold things at variance I agree to immediately
communicate with the EMCC in writing.

3.3.2.8 I understand that as a Christian minister I am called to a life of exemplary speech and
conduct. I  understand that the following unbecoming conduct (not an all-inclusive list) is
incompatible with Christian standards and is just cause for disciplinary action up to and
including dismissal from service and revocation of ministerial credentials:

breach of trust or confidence, theft, fraud, lying, criminal activity, marital unfaithfulness,
sexual intimacy or intercourse (either homosexual  or heterosexual) before or outside of
marriage (being the exclusive covenant union of one man  and one woman), sexual
harassment abuse or interference, substance abuse (including tobacco, alcohol or other
drugs), addictive behaviour including use of materials that devalue and debase  sexuality (e.g.
pornography), violent or abusive behaviour or speech.

3.3.2.9 I understand, in the event that my EMCC ministerial credential is revoked, that neither the
EMCC nor the local church is liable for any damages or loss that might occur as a result of
forfeiture of this credential.

3.3.2.10 I understand that in the event that disciplinary action is taken, such action shall be conducted
in keeping  with  the principles of Biblical justice and  conduct and  in  cooperation  with  the
local EMCC congregation where I hold membership. I also understand that my accepting this
credential constitutes an implicit consent to submit to the regular process of discipline of
ministers.

3.3.2.11 I understand that signing the Minister’s Covenant affirms I have understood that compliance
with the standards and principles set out in this Covenant is a term and condition of my
credentials with the EMCC and of ministry in an EMCC congregation.

3.3.2.12 I covenant to conduct my life and ministry in such a way that Christ is honored and His
Kingdom is advanced.

3.4 Credential Categories

3.4.1 Ordained Minister

Ordination is the validating action of the church in recognition of an individual’s calling, gifting, training
and personal suitability for ministry which has been proven under the review and support of the EMCC.
An ordained minister is a licensed minister affirmed in ministry by the EMCC. Ordination credentials
will remain in effect if the minister:
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3.4.1.1 retains membership in good standing with a member or affiliate congregation of the EMCC,

3.4.1.2 remains active in a ministry recognized by the EMCC,

3.4.1.3 reports annually through written report to the National Office, and

3.4.1.4 Either (a) signs the Ministerial Covenant Agreement annually, or (b) has been ordained by, or
received as an ordained minister by, the EMCC, is recognized as having  retired from service,
and continues in good standing within the EMCC.

Should a minister leave a designated position and enter a field outside the categories of ministry
recognized by the EMCC, the National Office shall make a recommendation to the Board of Directors
concerning the credentials of the said minister. 

3.4.2 Licensed Minister

A licensed minister is a person who is examined, approved and appointed to ministry in the EMCC.
Licensing will remain in effect only as long as the person:

3.4.2.1 retains membership in good standing in a member or affiliate congregation of the EMCC,

3.4.2.2 remains active in a ministry recognized by the EMCC,

3.4.2.3 reports annually through written report to the National Office, and

3.4.2.4 signs the Ministerial Covenant Agreement annually.

3.4.3 Candidate

A candidate for ministry is a person who is examined and approved as described for a Licensed Minister
above, for potential appointment to ministry within the EMCC, and is available for such appointment,
but who at the time of such approval does not have a recognized ministry assignment.  Candidate status
will remain in effect only as long as the person:

3.4.3.1 retains active membership in good standing with a member or affiliate church in the EMCC,

3.4.3.2 continues to be actively seeking appointment to ministry within the EMCC,

3.4.3.3 reports annually through written report to the National Office, and

3.4.3.4 signs the Ministerial Covenant Agreement annually.

When a candidate is unable to secure a recognized appointment within two years of the issuance of the
credentials, the candidacy shall expire.

3.4.4 Certified Ministry Worker

Certification of a Ministry Worker is a special limited credential intended for a person in one of three
categories:

3.4.4.1 a person who is not now licensed or ordained, but who will be employed in some specific
pastoral or ministry role by an EMCC Congregation or by a denominational ministry  of
EMCC for which  credentialing is deemed advisable by both the local and denominational
leadership. It is expected that a Certified Minister will be supervised by a Licensed or
Ordained Minister and only in exceptional situations shall a Certified Minister serve as the
sole or senior pastor of a charge and only for a specified time, under the direct supervision of
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a regularly credentialed minister as designated by the National Office;

3.4.4.2 a person who is a member in good standing of an EMCC congregation, and who is employed
by an educational, medical, residential, personal care, or other such institution in a  Christian
ministry capacity or who is a  missionary in a  recognized ministry for whom this credential is
deemed advisable by the leadership of both the local congregation and the denominational
leadership;

3.4.4.3 a  person who is engaged in a  ministry in a  local congregation where  the  individual is on a 
development path  of study  and  service in  preparation  for regular licensing, and  who  is
strongly  recommended and endorsed on a continuing basis by the local congregation.

This credential intends to maintain the same standards of character and conduct as required for licensing
and ordination but where the preparation in Bible and Theology is at a lower level. This credential is tied 
directly to the particular recognized ministry assignment and is not portable.

3.4.5 Missionary Credential and Recognition

3.4.5.1 Missionary Credential

A credentialed missionary is a person who is not otherwise credentialed and is examined, approved and
appointed to ministry under direct supervision of EMCC or an EMCC Partner Agency. The missionary
credential will remain in effect only as long as the person:

3.4.5.1.1 retains membership in good standing in a member or affiliate congregation of the EMCC;

3.4.5.1.2 remains active in a ministry assignment with EMCC;

3.4.5.1.3 completes an annual report; and

3.4.5.1.4 signs the Minister’s Covenant Agreement annually.

3.4.5.1.5 A credentialed missionary who retires in good standing and remains in good standing within
the EMCC shall be listed among the credentialed missionaries (retired).

3.4.5.2 Missionary Recognition

A recognized missionary (ministry worker) is a person who is serving with a recognized mission agency
or organization  and  who  is not supervised  by  EMCC. This person  may  apply  to  EMCC for this
recognition. Upon approval the recognition will remain in effect as long as the person:

3.4.5.2.1 retains membership in good standing in a member or affiliate congregation of the EMCC;

3.4.5.2.2 has the continuing endorsement of the EMCC congregation where membership is held

3.4.5.2.3 remains active in ministry and remains in good standing with that agency;

3.4.5.2.4 subscribes to EMCC Bylaw and the Articles of Faith and Practice.

3.4.5.2.5 reports annually through written report to the National Office

3.4.5.2.6 pays the annual fee set by EMCC.

3.4.6 Other Designations - It is the prerogative of the Board of the Directors with the recommendation
of the President from time to  time to particularly recognize those distinguished ministers whose
specialization is commended for exercise within the larger church as a “minister-at-large.”
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3.5 Transfers Between Fraternal Groups and like Denominations

In recognition of fraternal relationships with the Evangelical Church USA and the Missionary Church
USA, the credentials of a minister shall be recognized if they are accompanied by a letter of
recommendation stating clearly that the recommendation is without reservation, and with the further
proviso that the minister will avail himself/herself of such courses and the like that will enhance his/her
appreciation and understanding of the  history and mission of the EMCC. Bilateral agreements  on
credentials may also from time  to time  be  signed with like  denominations with the  consent of the 
President and the approval of the Board of Directors.

3.6 Applicants from Outside the EMCC

Applicants from outside the EMCC may  have their credentials recognized  following  the appropriate
review of their  application, references and history of service.

3.7 Restrictions on Credentialing

3.7.1 In the Case of the Separation of Minister and Spouse

In the event that a credential holder becomes separated from his/her spouse the minister and the local
church (or responsible party of the mission or ministry concerned) shall report the matter immediately to
the EMCC National Office. The circumstances shall be examined without delay.  In cooperation with the
local  or ministry leadership, the National Office shall decide on the best course of action.  Every
reasonable attempt shall be made to help the ministerial couple to effect a redemptive solution. In the
event that it is judged that the minister should be placed on leave of absence the local church leadership
shall do all within its power to facilitate the leave. Where the evidence dictates the propriety of the
minister resigning, the local or ministry leadership is encouraged to consider factors of legal
requirement, and the ability to apply generosity. Where the case is judged to require it, the process of
ministerial discipline will be applied.1

1 I Tim. 3:2,4,5, 4:12, Titus 1:7

3.7.2 In the Case of Divorced Persons

3.7.2.1 It is the usual policy of the EMCC not to credential persons who have been divorced or
married to a person who has been divorced.  At the sole discretion of the EMCC (as
expressed through the decisions of the President or the Board or both), however, an applicant 
may be considered for credentials where there may be extenuating circumstances, as those are
described below.  In that event, the applicant’s case will be first adjudicated by an ethics
committee and if the ruling of the ethics committee is favourable, AND the ruling is
approved by a 75% vote of the Board of Directors, the applicant may proceed to the regular
credentialing process.

3.7.2.2 It is further the policy of the EMCC to review the credentials of a credentialed minister who,
subsequent to credentialing, is divorced or who marries a divorced person. Upon occurrence
(or the inevitable imminence) of such an event, the credentialed minister shall immediately
surrender his/her credentials and cease ministry. The matter shall then be investigated by an
ethics committee and a recommendation brought to the Board of Directors without delay to
either confirm the revocation of credentials, or to reinstate the credentials.  A
recommendation to reinstate must be approved by a 75% majority vote of the Board of
Directors before it can become effective.
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3.7.2.3 Extenuating circumstances are cases where it can be ascertained with reasonable certainty
that there has been infidelity or abandonment by the spouse of the credentialed person, or
where the divorce occurred prior to conversion of the credentialed person.  Any
recommendation to grant or reinstate credentials in such event shall be entirely contingent 
upon clear and sufficient evidence of personal integrity and marital stability of the
credentialed person, as determined at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors, requiring a
75% majority vote as referred to above.

3.8 Agreement of Ministers to Submit to the Process of Church Discipline

An EMCC credential implies agreement to submit to discipline as expressed in these articles. Such
agreement includes the right to appeal a disciplinary decision using the Mediation and Arbitration
Procedure of these articles.  Notwithstanding anything else contained herein, a ministerial credential is
given upon the strict condition that disciplinary proceedings and the results thereof, and of any other
proceedings or matters carried out in accordance with the EMCC bylaw, Articles of Faith and Practice,
and Articles of Governance, shall not give a minister cause for any legal action against the EMCC, or
any staff member, director or officer of the EMCC, and the acceptance of credentials shall constitute
conclusive and absolute evidence of a waiver by the minister of all rights of action, causes of action, and
all claims and demands against the aforementioned.

4 REGIONAL MINISTERS

The EMCC will be served by regional ministers appointed on the basis of the following principles:

4.1 Regional ministers are appointed by the President after consultation with the constituency.

4.2 A minimum of three regional ministers (or the full-time equivalent thereof) shall be appointed.

4.3 Regional ministers are responsible to the President and serve as coaches and resource brokers to
pastors and congregations. They shall promote denominational understanding and support for its
mission.

5 DISCIPLINE

5.1 Purpose of Discipline

All members in the church are expected to conduct their lives according to the standards set forth in
Scripture. In the redemptive purposes of God, the church is commanded to discipline its members when
they continue in open and habitual sin1. The desired result of such discipline is to bring restoration. 
Church discipline has multiple purposes including the following2:

5.1.1 encouraging sinning members to repent, thus restoring them to fellowship with Christ and the
church;

5.1.2 warning other members against such sin;

5.1.3 upholding and maintaining the moral purity and blameless testimony of the church.

1 Matt. 18:15-18; I Cor. 5:1-13 . 2II Cor. 2:6-11; I Tim. 4:19-20.
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5.2 Discipline of Ministers

5.2.1 Preamble

Those who hold positions of ministerial leadership in the church are held to an even stricter
accountability1. Such conduct includes moral purity, personal honesty, and biblical fidelity2. Ministers
are to be consistent examples of authentic Christianity as they seek to emulate the character of Christ
through the power of the Holy Spirit3. Furthermore, they shall promote the unity of the church rather
than seeking to divide it. The entire process of discipline shall be carried out and enforced in a spirit of
Christian love, care, and sensitivity4.

1I Tim. 3:1-7.  2II Tim. 3:14-17.  3Gal. 5:22-23.  4Eph. 4:3; Gal. 6:1.

5.2.2 Causes of Ministerial Disciplinary Action

Violation of principles as stated in the EMCC Bylaw (including appendices) give just cause for
disciplinary action by the Board of Directors. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, such
causes for action may be:

5.2.2.1 any moral failure including but not limited to breach of trust or confidence, theft, fraud, lying,
criminal activity, marital unfaithfulness, sexual intimacy or intercourse before or outside of
marriage either homosexual or heterosexual, sexual harassment abuse or interference,
substance abuse (including tobacco, alcohol or other drugs), addictive behaviour including
use of materials that devalue and debase sexuality (e.g. pornography), violent or abusive
behaviour or speech;

5.2.2.2 the propagation of doctrines and practices contrary to those set forth in the Articles of Faith
and Practice of the EMCC;

5.2.2.3 a contentious, authoritarian or non-cooperative spirit;

5.2.2.4 any conduct generally unbecoming a minister of the gospel. 

5.2.3 Process of Discipline

5.2.3.1 General

5.2.3.1.1 Formal church discipline is to be regarded as an expedient of last resort. Only after every
reasonable effort has been made to correct any wrong and adjust any existing difficulty
should steps be taken to initiate disciplinary action;

5.2.3.1.2 The teaching of the Scriptures shall inform the process. No accusation shall be entertained
against a minister unless it is brought by two or three witnesses1. Should any minister depart
from the standard of Scripture and engage in conduct which conflicts with biblical principles
of holiness, the steps of discipline outlined in Scripture shall be followed2.

1 I Tim. 5:19. 2 Mt. 18:16-18; I Cor. 5:1-13; Titus 3:10;

5.2.3.1.3 Reports or complaints shall be investigated where there is judged to be sufficient credibility
to these reports or complaints, and the matter is judged to fall within the letter and spirit of
these articles;

5.2.3.1.4 The office of the president shall have jurisdiction and shall deal with the case consistent with
the principles of Scripture and natural justice.
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5.2.3.2 Guideline for Discipline

The following shall be used as a guideline to the steps to be followed for the disciplinary procedure:

5.2.3.2.1 A preliminary investigation to determine the source and validity of the accusations,
allegations or communicated problem;

5.2.3.2.2 Where there are injured parties, the respective local church (or other agency) shall be
encouraged to take such steps as are right and possible to help these parties;

5.2.3.2.3 In the event sufficient grounds are established by such initial investigation, a fuller
investigation by an appointed committee shall follow:

5.2.3.2.3.1 interview with complainants. The persons involved shall be interviewed to ascertain the
facts in the case and the reasons underlying the persistence of the reports or complaints;

5.2.3.2.3.2 interview with accused minister. The accused minister shall be given an opportunity to be
interviewed to discuss the complaints received in the hope that the matter can be
resolved;

5.2.3.2.3.3 signed complaints. In the event the investigation so warrants, a signed complaint shall be
filed with the EMCC National Office by each complainant describing the alleged offence;

5.2.3.2.3.4 conditions for ministry during investigation.   Continuance of ministry may be subject to
restrictions or conditions during the time of investigation at the discretion of the EMCC,
on the basis of evidence at hand and the nature of the alleged offence. In some cases
credentials will be suspended immediately pending final outcome. Such conditions are
subject to review in 3-month intervals until the investigation has been completed and
determination made, either clearing the person of the allegations, or finding the presence
of serious offensive conduct. The leadership of the local church or other agency shall be
consulted in the process;

5.2.3.2.4 In the event that the minister confesses to conduct that is clearly inconsistent with the holding
of a ministerial credential, the minister shall sign a statement of admission and sign an
agreement to come under discipline. The minister shall immediately surrender ministerial
credentials and minister’s card pending the outcome of the process;

5.2.3.2.5 In the event that there is no confession, and if after due investigation it is determined that
serious offensive conduct occurred, the investigative committee shall file its report with the
EMCC National Office. The person against whom such determination has been made shall be
informed in writing by certified mail, at the last address furnished to EMCC, or the like. In
some cases credentials will be suspended immediately pending final outcome;

5.2.3.2.6 In the event that the case cannot be dealt with privately to the satisfaction of all concerned the
minister shall be required to appear at a hearing in the hope the matter can be resolved. The
hearing tribunal shall be composed of three or more seasoned ministers or qualified lay
persons. The tribunal shall review the statements given, interview members of the
investigative team and hear from the accused. The individual shall be entitled to attend the
hearing and to speak on his or her own behalf. Neither the individual nor the tribunal, nor any
other party present may be represented by legal counsel. The accused may bring a fellow
EMCC minister for support. The tribunal in its sole discretion shall decide who may be
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present at the hearing in whole or in part. If the accused minister does not appear at the
hearing, the accused member may be subject to further discipline for failure to appear at the
hearing. The tribunal shall deliver its decision in writing within fourteen days. This decision
shall be communicated in writing to the accused minister;

5.2.3.2.7 Decision: The nature and length of the discipline shall consider the following factors: (a) the
seriousness of the case, (b) the manner and thoroughness of repentance, (c) the attitude of the
offending minister toward the discipline, and (d) the willingness to cooperate manifested.

5.2.4 Restoration and Reinstatement to Ministry

The EMCC recognizes the Biblical principle of justice tempered by mercy, and believes that the
redemptive purposes of God tend toward restoration. The primary purpose is to restore a person to God,
spouse and family. Where possible, reinstatement may follow. Reinstatement is a privilege granted out
of mercy and not a right to be expected or demanded. Granting reinstatement shall be at the sole
discretion of the EMCC following a process of rehabilitation.

6 MEDIATION AND ARBITRATION

6.1 Preamble

It is our understanding that unresolved disputes and divisions amongst followers of Christ bring
disrepute and dishonour to the name and the cause of Christ. The EMCC recognizes both the duty and
the privilege  to live according to the injunctions of the Lord Jesus Christ. It is therefore incumbent upon
believers,  churches, and any other agency or party of the EMCC to seek reconciliation and resolution of
a dispute in keeping with Matthew 18:16. If a party considers that a matter cannot be forgiven and
forgotten, thereby  effecting resolution in oneself, the  following steps will guide  the  process of seeking 
resolution  and  reconciliation. The pattern of Mat 18:15-19 and the principle and spirit of Mat 5:23, 24
are commanded  and commended to us by our Lord. As such only those matters that cannot be resolved
in a more informal manner of Mediation may advance to Arbitration. In keeping with the teaching of 1
Corinthians 6: 1-6, it is also our desire and intent to honour the Lord by submitting disputes to the
judgment of Christian “judges.” It is our intent not to seek remedy for such matters in the courts of the
land, but rather where necessary, to achieve resolution through the process of mediation and arbitration
described in this Article, and commitment to the  covenant relationship shall include  commitment to
that process where  it is necessary to achieve resolution.

No matter of faith or practice of the EMCC shall be made the subject of any proceeding in the Courts by
any member of a Church nor any individual member of the EMCC.

6.2 Definitions

6.2.1 “Mediation” shall mean the process between the parties where the parties attempt to resolve
disharmony  or differences through personal meetings or by involving others to assist in
mediating a reconciliation  between the parties.

6.2.2 “Arbitration” shall mean the process  between the parties  where the parties  agree to be bound or
are required by their adherence to the Bylaws of the EMCC to be bound by the decision of an
Arbitrator or  Arbitrators acting in accordance with the defined process.
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6.3 Steps

6.3.1 Informal Process

The following steps shall be taken before institution of either formal mediation or arbitration:

6.3.1.1 The Parties shall first proceed through an informal process by seeking a direct meeting to resolve
the matter so as to effect a reconciliation. Either party may initiate the contact, preferably by
defining the cause of disharmony in writing and giving an invitation to meet.

6.3.1.2 Where the opposite party declines the opportunity to meet directly, or where, in the judgment of
either party, the result of such a direct meeting is unsatisfactory, either party may involve two or
more respected “witnesses” in accordance with the Biblical directive, such persons to act in this
regard essentially as intermediaries, meeting and communicating with the same purpose of
achieving resolution and reconciliation through Mediation between the parties.

6.3.2 Mediation

When the matter is not resolved by the informal process above, a process of formal mediation may be
initiated according to the following procedure:

6.3.2.1 The conditions of this process of Mediation are to be reviewed and agreed to by both parties.
Both parties are to read and sign that they have understood and read the provisions and the
waiver. The lead  Mediator is responsible for the safekeeping of this agreement and waiver; 

6.3.2.2 The matter shall be submitted to a panel of Christian mediators whereby each party appoints a
mediator and the two mediators so appointed jointly approve a third mediator. In the event that a
third mediator cannot be agreed upon, the EMCC shall present two names to the two mediators,
and one of the two shall be chosen, unless both names are unacceptable to both those mediators,
in which event EMCC shall present two additional names, with no further right to reject both
those names.  If the two mediators are unable to agree on a choice between the two names so
presented, the choice shall be made by lot.

6.3.2.3 Where the dispute involves multiple parties and the desire is to enter into Mediation, the multiple
parties together shall select two mediators with the third selected by the two mediators.

6.3.2.4 The number of mediators may be reduced from three to one or two upon the agreement of both
parties;

6.3.2.5 The mediators so appointed shall then meet with the parties to take such interviews, gather
information and if possible negotiate a mutually acceptable resolution;

6.3.2.6 All costs of the mediators appointed in accordance with this section shall be borne equally by
both parties; and

6.3.2.7 Mediators shall in no case be held liable by the parties for any material, emotional or other
distress or hardship or damages that may result from the process or decisions of the Mediation,
provided that the mediators deliberated and acted in good faith.

6.3.3 Arbitration

When the matter is not resolved by the mediation process above, a formal process of arbitration may be
initiated upon written agreement of both of the parties to do so. All arbitrations undertaken hereunder
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shall be conducted pursuant to the provisions of applicable arbitration legislation in the province of
residence of the complainants. Every effort shall be made to  agree on a single arbitrator to minimize the
costs of the arbitration. Decisions of an Arbitrator or Arbitrators are deemed to be final and binding upon
the parties and shall not be made the subject of any proceeding in the Courts except as may be permitted
by a Court for a failure of natural justice.

6.4 Waiver

Notwithstanding anything else contained herein, membership in an EMCC church and membership of a
church in the  EMCC is given upon the  strict condition that disciplinary proceedings  and the results 
thereof and any other proceedings or matters carried out in accordance with the EMCC Bylaw (including
the Articles of Faith and Practice and these Articles of Governance) shall not give any person cause for
any legal action against the  EMCC, its directors, agents, officers or members, and membership or
adherence in an EMCC church or membership of a church in the EMCC shall constitute conclusive and
absolute evidence of a waiver by the member or adherent of a EMCC church or of the Member EMCC 
church of all rights of action, causes of action, and all claims and demands against the  EMCC, its
directors, agents, officers or any member or adherent of a church in relation to disciplinary proceedings
and the results thereof and any other such proceedings or matters, and this provision may be pleaded as a 
complete estoppel (i.e., the prevention of an action in court) in the event that such action is commenced.
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7 Union Street East
Waterloo, Ontario N2J 1B5
Telephone (519) 579-5520

Fax (519) 570-3611
www.csdca.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the statement of
operations, changes in fund balances and cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the  overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified audit opinion.

Continues

Proudly serving the business community since 1972
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada Continued

Basis for Qualified Opinion

In common with many charitable organizations, the organization derives revenue from contributions and
programs, the completeness of which is not susceptible of satisfactory audit verification. Accordingly, our
verification of these revenues was limited to the amounts recorded in the records of the organization and
we were not able to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to receipts, assets and fund
balances as at December 31, 2016.

As described in Note 2, the organization has the ability to exercise control over the operations of Chinook
Village Housing Society, Chinook Village Care Society, and church organizations governed by a board
appointed by EMCC as of December 31, 2016.  We are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence about the amounts reported in Notes 13, 14 and 16.  Consequently, we were unable to
determine whether any adjustments to these amounts were necessary.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
paragraphs, the statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Evangelical
Missionary Church of Canada as at December 31, 2016 and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations.

Waterloo, Ontario   CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS
March 24, 2017 LICENSED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
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Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada
Statement of Financial Position
Year ended December 31, 2016

2016 2015
General Missions Projects General Missions Projects

Fund Fund Fund Total Fund Fund Fund Total

ASSETS

CURRENT
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) $ 1,283,037 $ - $ 164,730 $ 1,447,767 $ 1,885,406 $ - $ 170,374 $ 2,055,780
Investments (Note 4) 4,270,695 863,580 3,887,050 9,021,325 3,578,065 874,764 3,989,197 8,442,026
Accounts receivable 5,359 6,093 30,944 42,396 261 4,000 58,990 63,251
Loans receivable (Note 5) 1,267,420 - - 1,267,420 1,531,547 - - 1,531,547
Prepaid expenses 6,772 8,575 1,041 16,388 3,201 11,864 - 15,065

6,833,283 878,248 4,083,765 11,795,296 6,998,480 890,628 4,218,561 12,107,669

CAPITAL (Note 6) - - 3,009,185 3,009,185 - - 3,128,371 3,128,371

$ 6,833,283 $ 878,248 $ 7,092,950 $14,804,481 $ 6,998,480 $ 890,628 $ 7,346,932 $15,236,040

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

CURRENT
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 89,260 $ - $ - $ 89,260 $ 187,959 $ - $ - $ 187,959
Due to related parties (Note 16) 77,715 - - 77,715 - - - -
Loans payable (Note 7) 5,094,237 - - 5,094,237 5,494,021 - - 5,494,021

5,261,212 - - 5,261,212 5,681,980 - - 5,681,980
FUND BALANCES (Note 8)

Unrestricted 106,404 - - 106,404 30,144 - - 30,144
Internally restricted 1,465,667 392,196 5,733,638 7,591,501 1,286,356 391,546 5,930,903 7,608,805
Externally restricted - 486,052 1,304,358 1,790,410 - 499,082 1,361,075 1,860,157
Endowment - - 54,954 54,954 - - 54,954 54,954

1,572,071 878,248 7,092,950 9,543,269 1,316,500 890,628 7,346,932 9,554,060

$ 6,833,283 $ 878,248 $ 7,092,950 $14,804,481 $ 6,998,480 $ 890,628 $ 7,346,932 $15,236,040

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Notes 13, 17)

_______________________________ ________________________________
Board Secretary Chair

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF CANADA
Statement of Changes in Fund Balances

Year ended December 31, 2016

2016 2015
General Missions Projects General Missions Projects

Fund Fund Fund Total Fund Fund Fund Total

FUND BALANCES,
BEGINNING OF YEAR $ 1,316,500 $ 890,628 $ 7,346,932 $ 9,554,060 $ 1,288,266 $ 847,872 $ 5,346,431 $ 7,482,569

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
 REVENUES OVER EXPENSES 228,438 (13,022) (226,207) (10,791) (11,078) 41,003 2,041,566 5,691,809

Interfund transfers (Note 9) 27,133 642 (27,775) - 39,312 1,753 (41,065) -

FUND BALANCES,
END OF YEAR $ 1,572,071 $ 878,248 $ 7,092,950 $ 9,543,269 $ 1,316,500 $ 890,628 $ 7,346,932 $ 9,554,060

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF CANADA
Statement of Operations

Year ended December 31, 2016

2016 2015
General Missions Projects General Missions Projects
Fund Fund Fund Total Fund Fund Fund Total

REVENUES
Contributions $ 954,133 $ 1,173,579 $ 636,877 $ 2,764,589 $ 887,748 $ 1,178,265 $ 915,815 $ 2,981,828
Investment income 321,854 7,605 63,511 392,970 188,059 7,792 55,066 250,917
Programs 39,790 - 257,772 297,562 59,984 - 259,304 319,288
Other income (Note 19) 34,846 2,300 53,778 90,924 26,911 2,622 2,039,603 2,069,136
Health and pension benefits

collected (Note 11) 2,160,042 - - 2,160,042 2,142,131 - - 2,142,131
3,510,665 1,183,484 1,011,938 5,706,087 3,304,833 1,188,679 3,269,788 7,763,300

EXPENSES
Staff costs - office 826,926 171,758 177,758 1,176,442 789,526 171,625 148,713 1,109,864
Staff costs - World Partners - 708,662 - 708,662 - 693,938 - 693,938
Field ministry - 185,352 - 185,352 - 186,177 - 186,177
Ministry projects - 1,339 688,262 689,601 - - 794,647 794,647
Home ministry assignment - 52,203 - 52,203 - 15,968 - 15,968
Church ministry 199,739 24,317 259,287 483,343 234,048 25,168 152,943 412,159
Administration (Note 2) 101,808 42,321 53,430 197,559 88,852 43,322 62,283 194,457
Interest 90,619 - - 90,619 121,946 - - 121,946
Professional fees 17,140 10,554 9,972 37,666 25,250 11,478 16,711 53,439
Amortization - - 49,436 49,436 - - 52,925 52,925
Health and pension benefits

paid (Note 11) 2,045,995 - - 2,045,995 2,056,289 - - 2,056,289
3,282,227 1,196,506 1,238,145 5,716,878 3,315,911 1,147,676 1,228,222 5,691,809

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
 REVENUES OVER EXPENSES $ 228,438 $ (13,022) $ (226,207) $ (10,791) $ (11,078) $ 41,003 $ 2,041,566 $ 2,071,491

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF CANADA
Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2016

2016 2015

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Contributions $ 2,891,982 $ 3,083,303
Interest 279,577 250,917
Programs 297,562 319,288
Other income 40,945 210,136
Employee pension premiums received 1,090,641 1,103,368

4,600,707 4,967,012

Missionary and staff costs 1,885,104 1,803,802
Field ministry and related expense 1,489,666 1,429,944
Administration 157,500 247,896
Interest 90,619 121,946
Employee pension premiums paid 1,103,987 1,119,001

4,726,876 4,722,589

Cash flow from operations (126,169) 244,423

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Sale (purchase) of investments (465,906) (935,991)
Purchase of capital assets (12,314) (10,412)
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets 132,033 1,243
Repayment (advance) of loans receivable, net 264,127 642,675

Cash flow from investing (82,060) (302,485)

FINANCING ACTIVITY
Advance (repayment) of loans payable, net (399,784) (386,240)

DECREASE IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS (608,013) (444,302)

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,055,780 2,500,082

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 1,447,767 $ 2,055,780

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

197



EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF CANADA
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2016

1.  DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION

The Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada (EMCC) is a church denomination of approximately
150 churches across Canada, organized to fulfill the Great Commandment and the Great
Commission of our Lord Jesus Christ.  The EMCC is passionately committed to introducing people to
Jesus Christ, discipling believers and facilitating the multiplication of healthy churches in Canada and
worldwide.

EMCC is responsible for the oversight of member churches, the credentialing of pastors and
missionaries, the networking of resources for both pastors and churches, and the operation of
common ministry programs such as World Partners (a missions sending agency), EMCC Relief and
Development and Evangelical Missionary Youth, Men and Seniors.

EMCC is incorporated without share capital under the laws of Canada and is registered with Canada
Revenue Agency as a charitable organization; registration number 10770 6525 RR0001.  The
organization is exempt from income tax under Section 149 of the Income Tax Act.

The ongoing operation of the organization is dependent on the continued support of churches and
constituents.

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations (ASNPO).

The financial statements include the assets, liabilities and fund balances which are controlled and
administered directly by the board of directors of Evangelical Missionary Church of Canada.  These
financial statements exclude any assets located on the various mission fields, such as cash and
capital equipment, and liabilities arising from the direct mission field operations.

Other Controlled Entities
The organization has the responsibility to provide a majority of the members on the board of directors
of Chinook Village Housing Society, Chinook Village Care Society, and Emmanuel Bible College.   As
a result, the organization has the potential to exercise control over the operations of these entities.
Chinook Village Housing Society, Chinook Village Care Society, and Emmanuel Bible College have
not been consolidated in the financial statements.  A financial summary has been included in Notes
13, 14 and 15, respectively.

The organization has the responsibility to appoint Steering Committees for Evangelical Missionary
churches which are in a period of transition.  A Steering Committee is to serve as a governing body to
a congregation during the period of transition in preparation for the time when the congregation can
organize as a self-governing EMCC church and becomes able to select its own local board.  As a
result of the relationship between EMCC and the Steering Committees, the organization has the
potential to exercise control over the operations of these congregations.  There are three
congregations governed by a Steering Committee at December 31, 2016 which have not been
consolidated in the financial statements.  A financial summary of the congregations has been
included in Note 16.
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EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF CANADA
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2016

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fund Accounting
Fund accounting is used to ensure the observance of the purposes, limitations, and restrictions on the
use of resources made available to the organization, as specified by the donors and the Board.  The
funds are summarized for accounting purposes as follows:

- The General Fund accounts for the revenue and costs related to providing the Canadian operations
and administration. The internally restricted funds include the Loans and Investment Fund, as well as
the Benefit Reserve for pension contributions and health insurance benefit premiums assessed and
expensed under the Employee Benefits plan operated for members of EMCC.

- The Missions Fund accounts for the contributions received from member churches and individuals
for the support of missionaries, mission field operating costs, and administration of missions.

- The Projects Fund accounts for the operation of various ministries including those for youth, men,
and  seniors, the development of new geographical areas for church planting, special relief and
development projects identified from time to time, volunteer teams, and short-term international
projects. The funds internally restricted for Forward Initiatives are for the purpose of advancing the
vision, development and strategic initiatives of the EMCC National team.  The Projects Fund also
includes the capital assets of the organization and any related expenses.  Funds internally designated
to the Building Development are for providing financial grants to EMCC churches and ministries for
capital projects.  Included in the Projects Fund balance are also endowment funds externally
restricted for the purposes of providing ministry scholarships.

Revenue Recognition
The organization follows the restricted fund method of accounting for contributions.  Unrestricted
contributions are included as revenue of the General fund in the year received.  Restricted
contributions for which a fund has been established are recorded as revenue in the year received.
Restricted contributions for which a fund has not been established are recorded as revenue in the
General fund in the year in which the related expenses are incurred.

Program contributions are recognized as revenue in the period which the program has taken place if
the amount receivable can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
Endowment contributions are recognized as a direct increase to the fund balance in the year
received.  Interest and other income are recognized as revenue when earned.

Contributed Materials and Services
The organization does not record the value of donated materials and services in the financial
statements.

Property Held
EMCC has title to, but no beneficial interest in, certain constituent property. When it is determined
that any constituent organization is not continuing operations, the beneficial ownership of the property
will pass to EMCC and be recorded in the Building Development Fund to be used for future property
development. When beneficial ownership passes, the assets will be recorded as a donation at the
estimated fair market value of the land only. Purchased assets are recorded at cost.
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EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF CANADA
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2016

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Capital Assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization.  Amortization is provided using the
straight-line method at rates set out below.

Building 25 years
Furniture and equipment 5 years
Vehicles 5 years
Computer equipment 4 years

Financial Instruments
Financial  instruments  are  recorded  at  fair  value  when  acquired  or  issued.  In  subsequent
periods, financial assets with actively traded markets are reported at fair value, with any unrealized
gains and losses reported in income. All other financial instruments are reported at amortized cost,
and tested for impairment at each reporting date. Transaction costs are expensed when incurred.

Cash and Cash Equivalent
The organization considers cash deposited in financial institutions and term deposits with maturities of
less than 90 days to be cash and cash equivalents.

Allocation of expenses
The organization assigns costs to three functional areas; General, Missions and Projects.  Certain
general support expenses which do not pertain specifically to a function are considered administrative
and are allocated to the functional areas based on the number of individuals working in each area.
Under this method, administration was allocated as follows:

2016 2015

General 77% 75%
Missions 14% 16%
Projects 9%  9%

Foreign currency translation
Accounts in foreign currencies have been translated into Canadian dollars using the temporal method.
Under this method, monetary assets and liabilities have been translated at the year end exchange
rate and non-monetary assets have been translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date of
transaction.  Foreign exchange gains and losses, if any, on monetary assets and liabilities are
included in the determination of earnings.

Measurement Uncertainty
Certain amounts in the financial statements are subject to measurement uncertainty and are based on
the organization's best information and judgment.  Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Examples of significant estimated include:
· the estimated fair value of the redemption note;
· the estimated useful lives of assets;
· the estimated allowance for doubtful accounts;
· the estimated accrued expenses.

200



EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF CANADA
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2016

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At December 31, 2016, the organization had cash deposited in two financial institutions of
approximately $1,403,349 (2015 - $1,651,931) in excess of the Canada Deposit Insurance
Corporation (CDIC) limits of $100,000 per institution.  The organization does not believe it is exposed
to any significant credit risk on these deposits.

The organization has a line of credit with a maximum limit of $500,000 bearing interest at prime plus
0.5% per annum.  This line of credit is secured by a general security agreement over the
organization's assets and assignment of the fire insurance.  There have been no amounts advanced
on this available line of credit as at December 31, 2016.

4. INVESTMENTS

Investments consist of the following:

2016 2015

Abundance Canada (formally the Mennonite Foundation of Canada) $ 6,855,838 $ 7,217,920
Mutual funds 38,009 38,009
Redemption note 347,500 362,500
Shares in equities 1,779,978 823,597

$ 9,021,325 $ 8,442,026

The investment in Abundance Canada consists of deposits bearing interest at 2.2% (2015 - 2.5%).

The mutual funds consists of investments primarily in Canadian fixed income and Canadian equity
securities.  The instrument has a guaranteed minimum value on maturity.  The effective interest rate
was 6.9% (2015 - 8.1%).

The redemption note is zero-interest bearing, and recorded at the redeemable amount.

The shares in equities consist of publicly listed common and preferred shares. The book value of the
shares as at December 31, 2016 is $1,710,599 (2015 - $873,499).
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EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF CANADA
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2016

5. LOANS RECEIVABLE

All loans receivable from EMCC member churches and ministries are due on demand and bear
interest at 3.5% - 4.5% with regular payments made monthly. The loans are amortized over periods
up to 25 years and are secured by real property.  At December 31, 2016, the allowance for doubtful
loans is nil (2015 - nil).  No new loans have been issued during the fiscal year. All new loan
applications are administered and funded by Abundance Canada (formally Mennonite Foundation of
Canada).

6. CAPITAL ASSETS
Accumulated

Cost Amortization 2016 2015

Land $ 2,337,480 $ - $ 2,337,480 $ 2,419,544
Buildings 896,123 242,681 653,442 689,286
Furniture, equipment and

computer equipment 253,157 237,575 15,582 15,965
Vehicles 12,269 9,588 2,681 3,576

$ 3,499,029 $ 489,844 $ 3,009,185 $ 3,128,371

7. LOANS PAYABLE

Amounts advanced to the organization from EMCC member churches, ministries and individuals are
received for the purpose of funding loans to EMCC member churches and ministries, as described in
Note 5, and capital projects of EMCC.  The loans are unsecured, bear interest at rates ranging from
1.40% to 1.90% and are due 90 days after demand by the holder. Interest rates for new loans are
based on market rates at the start of the term and are given six month rolling terms. Interest rates can
be adjusted by EMCC during the term based on changes in market rates.

8. FUND BALANCES
2016 2015

The General Fund consists of the following:
Unrestricted
General 106,404 30,144

Internally restricted
General Reserve $ 276,637 $ 276,637
Loans and Investments 63,650 (49,478)
Benefit Reserve (Note 11) 1,125,380 1,059,197

$ 1,465,667 $ 1,286,356
1,572,071 1,316,500

The Missions Fund consists of the following:
Internally restricted
EMCC World Partners Reserve $ 392,196 $ 391,546

Externally restricted
EMCC World Partners 486,052 499,082

$ 878,248 $ 890,628
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EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF CANADA
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2016

8. FUND BALANCES (Continued)

The Projects Fund consists of the following:
Internally restricted
EMCC National Ministries $ 111,489 $ 101,397
Local Church Ministry 909,346 905,119
Missions Ministry 102,860 117,030
Forward Initiatives 616,342 619,746
Capital Assets 1,146,414 1,193,961
Building Development Fund 2,847,187 2,993,650

5,733,638 5,930,903
Externally restricted
Relief and Development (Note 10) 755,290 825,246
International Projects 411,495 386,292
Volunteer Teams 137,573 149,537

1,304,358 1,361,075

Endowment Funds 54,954 54,954
$ 7,092,950 $ 7,346,932

9. INTERFUND TRANSFERS

Interfund transfers during the year have been approved by the Board of Directors.

10. RELIEF AND DEVELOPMENT

Included in the Projects Fund is relief and development amounts consisting of the following:

Balance Balance
Dec 31, 2015 Revenue Expenses Dec 31, 2016

EMCC Relief and Development $ 825,246 $ 252,658 $ 322,614 $ 755,290

The EMCC Relief and Development fund was established to provide relief aid as a short-term
response to a crisis or emergency, and to provide development aid for long-term sustainable
processes of empowering people to support themselves.  The Relief and Development projects are
intended to target the countries in the world where EMCC already has missionaries or local partners
established.  Projects of the Relief and Development fund may be undertaken by EMCC itself, or in
conjunction with other agencies such as the Canadian Foodgrains Bank.

EMCC is a member of the Canadian Foodgrains Bank (CFGB). Through this agency, EMCC is able to
develop relief and aid projects consistent with the mandate of the CFGB.  Individuals and
organizations often donate cash or grain directly to CFGB and designate the donation to EMCC’s
account.  As a result of these contributions, which are not otherwise included in EMCC’s financial
statements, EMCC has access to cash and grain resources valued at approximately $205,616 at
December 31, 2016. These assets are restricted for use in projects consistent with the objectives and
mandate of CFGB and are not available to EMCC for other purposes.
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EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF CANADA
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2016

10. RELIEF AND DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

The following is an unaudited summary of the activity within EMCC’s CFGB account for the year
ended December 31, 2016 with comparative figures for the year 2015, as reported by CFGB:

2016 2015

Revenue from all sources including CIDA $ 115,872 $ 305,701
Program expenses (285,286) (276,002)
Excess expenses over revenue (169,414) 29,699
Net transfers 9,696 74,347
Total equity, beginning of year 365,334 261,288
Total equity, end of year $ 205,616 $ 365,334

11. BENEFITS PLANS

EMCC provides health benefit plans and defined-contribution pension plans to its employees and
employees of its participating constituent churches.

(a) Health Benefits Plans
These plans provide coverage for health, dental, life insurance and long-term disability.  Health and
dental benefits for participants are through a self-funded private health services plan which is
administered by a third party administrator.  At December 31, 2016 the organization has set aside
$1,125,380 to ensure sufficient reserves are available to provide for health and dental benefits
covered by the plan.

(b) Pension Plans
These pension plans are defined-contribution plans under which participating EMCC churches
contribute 6% of the participant’s salary to either a registered pension plan or a group RRSP.
Participanting employees are eligible to make voluntary contributions in addition to those paid by
EMCC churches.

Employees of EMCC participate in the Pension Plan.  The total pension expense for the year
amounts to $89,090 (2015 - $90,878) contributed to the pension plan in respect of employees of
EMCC and is included in total staff cost of $1,885,104 (2015 - 1,803,802).

204



EVANGELICAL MISSIONARY CHURCH OF CANADA
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2016

12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The organization's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
investments, loans receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and loans payable.  Unless
otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the organization is not exposed to significant market
risk arising from these financial instruments.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a
change in the interest rates. The organization is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through its
investments, loans receivable, and loans payable as outlined in Notes 4, 5, and 7, respectively.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the organization will encounter difficulty in meeting a demand for cash,
redeeming certain investments or funding its obligations as they come due.  The organization meets
its liquidity requirements by monitoring the cash flow from operations, investment performance and
the anticipated cash flows from investing and financing activities.  The organization is exposed to
liquidity risk through its financial instruments, particularly those with stated maturities beyond 90 days.

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations. The
organization is exposed to credit risk in accounts receivable, investments and loans receivable.  The
organization monitors its credit risk with respect to amounts receivable on an on-going basis and an
allowance for doubtful accounts is established if repayment is unlikely.  There have been no
allowances recorded for potentially uncollectable amounts during the year.

As of December 31, 2016 there is some uncertainty regarding the collectibility of the redemption note,
as described in Note 4. Due to the lack of liquidity from the holder of the note, management is
uncertain whether the full face value of the redemption note will be returned to the organization. At
this time management is monitoring the situation and will make a provision for any uncollectable
amounts when the amount can be reasonably estimated.

Currency risk is the risk to the organization's earnings that arise from fluctuations of foreign exchange
rates and the degree of volaility of these rates. The organization is exposed to foreign currency
exchange risk on cash and accounts receivable held in U.S. dollars. As at December 31, 2016 the
cash and accounts receivable denominated in U.S. dollars were $30,717, and $4,606 respectively.

Except for the change in credit risk as noted above, the extent of the organization's exposure to the
above risks did not change significantly during the year.
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13. CHINOOK VILLAGE HOUSING SOCIETY

Chinook Village Housing Society (the "Housing Society"), an entity controlled by the organization, is
incorporated under the Societies Act of Alberta, and is a not-for-profit organization exempt from
income tax under Section 149 of the Income Tax Act. The Housing Society follows the restricted
fund method of accounting for contributions.

The purpose of this corporation is to:

a)  to construct, acquire, hold, sell, manage, provide and maintain clean and secure
housing for senior adults who choose to live according to a Christian lifestyle as outlined
in the Bible;

b) to buy, sell, lease, hold and build, develop or improve any lands and buildings
necessary for carrying out of the said objectives and to operate such subsidiary business
operations as it sees fit in order to support its primary mission of providing housing and
care for senior adults;

The following is a summary of this entity at its most recent reporting date, which is not included in
these financial statements:

December 31, 2015
(unaudited)

Assets $ 17,917,794
Liabilities 31,535,498
Fund balances (13,617,704)

Year ended December 31, 2015
(unaudited)

Revenues $ 1,402,191
Expenses 1,521,827
Cash flows - operating 362,098

- financing (795,141)
- investing (137,532)

Included in liabilities is promissory notes totaling $29,510,928 (2015 - $30,636,880) of which a portion
are guaranteed by EMCC.  The practice of EMCC providing these guarantees ended in March 2012.
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14. CHINOOK VILLAGE CARE SOCIETY

Chinook Village Care Society (the "Care Society") is an entity controlled by the organization is
incorporated under the Societies Act of Alberta, and is a registered charity exempt from income tax
under Section 149(1) of the Income Tax Act. The Housing Society follows the restricted fund method
of accounting for contributions.

The purpose of this corporation is to:

a)  to provide and operate non-profit residential accomodation and incidental facilities
exclusively for persons suffering from the infirmities of old age, in accordance with tenets
and doctrines of the Christian faith;

b) to provide care and support services for persons suffering from the infirmities of old
age, including personal care, housekeeping, meals, nursing, shopping assistance,
medical assistance and monitoring services;

c) to relieve loneliness and isolation of persons suffering from the infirmities of old age,
by providing recreation and other programs that promote healthy lifestyles in accordance
with the tenets and doctrines of the Christian Faith.

The following is a summary of this entity at its most recent reporting date, which is not included in
these financial statements:

December 31, 2015
(unaudited)

Assets $ 587,358
Liabilities 506,883
Fund balances 80,475

Year ended December 31, 2015
(unaudited)

Revenues $ 4,363,486
Expenses 4,344,342
Cash flows - operating 171,472

- financing (16,143)
- investing -
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15. EMMANUEL BIBLE COLLEGE

The following is a summary of the Emmanuel Bible College, a controlled entity, at its most recent
reporting date, which is not included in these financial statements:

April 30, 2016

Assets $ 4,683,827
Liabilities 2,057,576
Fund balances 2,626,251

Year ended April 30, 2016

Revenues $ 2,302,044
Expenses 2,257,329
Cash flows - operating 337,089

- financing (102,466)
- investing (23,164)

The College provides Bible-based post-secondary education equipping men and women to think, live
and serve as mature Christians in the church and in the world.  The College is incorporated under the
authority of Bill Pr 38 and is a charitable organization for income tax purposes.  The College operates
in Kitchener, Ontario.

Included in the fund balances is $236,172 of endowment funds.  Investment income on the
endowment funds are restricted specifically for scholarships, bursaries and student aid.

16. CONTROLLED CONGREGATIONS

The following is a summary of the three church organizations with a Steering Committee in place at
December 31, 2016, at their most recent reporting date, which is not included in these financial
statements:

December 31, 2016
(unaudited)

Assets $ 782,001
Liabilities -
Fund balances (782,001)

Year ended December 31, 2016
(unaudited)

Revenues $ 77,991
Expenses 81,546
Cash flows - operating (3,556)

- financing -
- investing -

Included in due to related parties is $77,715 which represents cash and other assets held by the
organization on behalf of the churches which are controlled by Steering Committees. These balances
were recorded at the exchange value of the assets, are due on demand, and bear no interest.
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17. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The organization has provided the following guarantees:

Evergreen Christian Ministry limited guarantee of $175,000 on the loan payable to Abundance
Canada (formally Mennonite Foundation of Canada). The balance of the loan payable at December
31, 2016 is $143,832 (2015 - $146,976).

Rivers Edge Camp limited guarantee of $500,000 on the mortgage payable to Abundance Canada
(formally Mennonite Foundation of Canada). The balance of the mortgage payable at December 31,
2016 is $491,239 (2015 - nil).

The organization is also liable for debt secured on the properties of constituent organizations for
which the organization holds title to the property.

18. INSURANCE COVERAGE

The organization maintains the following types and levels of liability insurance coverage:

Directors and Officers $2,000,000
Commercial Umbrella $10,000,000
Commercial Property $5,000,000
Automotive $5,000,000

19. CONSTITUENT CONGREGATION CLOSURES

During fiscal 2015 two constituent congregations under administration by a steering committee, as
described in Note 2, surrendered their charitable status'. At that time all assets were recorded as a
contribution to EMCC at their fair market value. The property received had a fair market value of
$2,039,603 and was recorded as other income of the Building Development Fund.
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